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WAR DEPARTMENT, April30, 1872. 
The Secretary of War has the honor to transmit to the House of Re­

presentatives, in accordance with the request of its sub-Committee on 
Appropriations, a report concerning the history and character of certain 
claims of the State of Texas. 

Wl\L W. BELKNAP, 
Secretary of War. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, 
Washington, D. C., April 37, 1872. 

SIR: In compliance with verbal instructions received from you, I 
have carefully examined all the evidence found concerning the history 
and character of certain claims of the State of Texas against the 
United States, and as the result of that examination I have the honor 
to respectfully submit the following report: 

The claims are for reimbursement of expenditures alleged to have 
been made for the payment and support of volunteers, or rangers, prior 
to the rebellion. 

The troops, it is asserted, were temporarily employed at various dates, 
between November 1, 1854, and some time in September, 1860, for the 
purpose of suppressing Indian hostilities on the frontiers of Texas. 

The evidence bearing upon this case is interspersed through many . 
printed public documents, and, in addition to what is contained in them, 
it forms many pages of manuscript (copies annexed) heretofore unfolded 
in any public print. · 

The merits of the claims may be the better understood, at this late date, 
by bestowing a glance at the condition of affairs which may have ren­
dered it necessary, from time to time, to employ Texan rangers, or vol­
unteers, within that State. 
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Turning to the President's Message of December 6, 1852, so much of 
it as relates to Indians in Texas reads: 

Experience has shown, however, that whenever the two races are brought into 
contact, collisions will inevitably occur. To prevent these collisions the United 
States have generally set apart portions of their territory for the exclusive occupation 
of the Indian tribes. A difficulty occurs, however, in the application of this policy to 
Texas. By the terms of the compact by which that State was admitted into the 
Udon, she retained the ownership of all the vacant lands within her limits. The 
government of that State, it is understood, has assigned no portion of her territory to 
the Indians; bnt, as fast as her settlements ad vance, lays it off into counties, and 
proceeds to survey and sell it. 

This policy manifestly tends not only to alarm and irritate the Indians, but to 
compel them to resort to plunder for subsistence. It also deprives this Government of 
that influence and control over them without which no durable peace can ever exist 
between them and the whites. I trust, therefore, that a due regard for her own 
interests, apart from considerations of humanity and justice, will induce that State 
to assigu a small portion of her vast domain for the provisional occupancy of 
the small remnants of tribes within her borders, subject, of course, to her 
ownership and eventual jurisdiction. If she should fail to do this, the fulfillment of 
our treaty stipulations with Mexico and our duty to the Indians themselves will, it 
is feared, become a subject of serious embarrassment to the Government. It is hoped, 
however, that a timely and just provision by Texas may avert this evil. * * 

(See House Executive Document No.1, second session, Thirty-second Congress.) 

Passing to a later date, January 30, 1855, it is found that the Com­
missioner of Indian Affairs remarked officially as follows: 

Texas having retained all her lands and the exclusive jurisdiction over them, it 
was impossible for the United States to exercise any supervision over the trade and 
intercourse with her Indians, or the necessary control over the latter, to prevent 
difficulties between them and the citizens of the State. Under these circumstances 
it was not in the power of the Government to manage our Indian relations there in 
as efficient a manner as it might otherwise have done. It was, therefore, in a position 
not to be held responsible for any difficulties or depredations which may have arisen 
out of such a state of things, which was made known from year to year through the 
annual reports of this office, and the necessity urged of Texas setting apart a district 
of country for the location and residence of her Indians, and the cession of sufficient 
jurisdiction over it to enable the Government to manage them and the trade and 
intercourse of the whites with them in a more efficient and proper manner. It was 
not until last year that Texas consented to, and made provisions for, such au arrange-
ment. * .,.. * * ..,. * * * 

(See House Reports of Committees No. 151, second session, Thirty-second Congress.) 

By an act of Congress approved June 12, 1858, the Secretary of the 
Interior was directed "to accept and survey the Indian reservation des­
ignated by an act of the legislature of the State of Texas approved 
February 4, 1856, and to appoint an agent for said reservation."-(330, 
Stat. 11.) 

Indian troubles in Texas seem to have commenced anew, or were con­
tinued, in 1852, as will be seen by reference to a letter (1)* from the Sec­
retary of War to the governor of Texas, explaining responsibilities con­
nected with them. 

On account of various conflicts renewed between the people of the 
State and the Indians, in the year 1854, General Persifer F. Smith, then 
commanding the Department of Texas, was authorized or instructed 
''to call upon the governor for aid should the exigencies of the service re­
quire it in repelling Indian incursions ;"(2) and be was instructed further: 
"'In such event you will make requisition for such number of mounted 
men as you may, fro.m time to time, deem necessary, who, while in ser­
vice, will be supplied with ammunition, forage, and subsistence by the 
United States," (2.) . 

. After the issues of said authority, the Secretary of War decided that 

*Figures refer to numbers on papers annexed to this statement. 
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it applied only to aid required "in repelling Indian incursions and to 
pursue and punish hostile Indians," (3 and 4.) 

The various organizations of volunteers on account of which these 
claims accrued appear to have been employed, as it were, by classes, 
under certain peculiar circumstances, at different times; they there­
fore will be classified herein as facts are developed in connection with 
their services. 

CLASS I. 

In 1854 six companies of volunteers were called into service by the 
governor of Texas, and, as State troops, were organized as follows, 
(shown by muster-rolls filed in the Adjutant General's Office:) 

;;, $ Enrolled. Mustered in. 
~ ~a) ce 

Captain. <1)0 
A .... .... 
s bi),O 

0 bll""" Where. When. Where. When. 
0 <11 

A G. S. Boggess. ........... 87 Tyler ........ - .... Oct. 16, 1854 Austin. __ ----- __ Nov. 2,1854 

~~ll~~d-0-~~~~:: ~ ~:: Oct. 16, 1854 Aust-in .... -----· Nov. 2,1854 B .J.G.Walker. ·--------- 84 
c W. R. Henry ........... 86 Oct. 20, 1854 Austin .......... Nov. 2,1854 

McKinney ........ Oct. Austin .......... Nov. D William Fitzhugh ..... 84 16, 1854 2,1854 
Cameron .......... Oct. 18, 1854 Austin ....... _ .. Nov .. E C. E. Travis. ___ ........ 80 2,1854 

F P. H. Rogers ---------- 78 Brenham .......... Oct. 18, 1854 Austin .......... Nov. 8,1854 

General Smith issued a call (4) on the 29th July, 1854, but before any 
troops were raised under it, (7) he (12) and the governor (13) were notified 
that it was not approved at the War Department, because the troops 
were .called for twelve months' service. A modification of the authority 
then ensued; the general re-issued .the call November 1, 1854, and the 
adjutant general of Texas forthwith proceded to make the musters into 
State service, as above noted. 

Before the troops could properly be held subject to military orders 
from the General Government, however, it was necessary that they 
.should first be formally received into (17) the service of the United 
States. 

That they were so received, for three months' service, there can be no 
doubt. A tabular statement, prepared from muster-rolls filed in the 
Adjutant General's Office, exhibits these facts, viz: 

Captain. 

A G. S. Boggess ... --
B .John G. Walker .. . 
C William R. Henry. 
D William Fitzhugh. 
E C. E. Travis ...... . 
F P. H. Rogers ..... . 

$ 
~ . 
bll<ll 

Enrolled and mustered into United 
States service. 

Mustered out of United States 
service. 

~~ l--------------~-------1-------------.---------
g{l:£ 

<11 
Where. When. Where. When. 

87 San Antonio . . . . . . . .. Dec. 23, 1854 Fort Chadbourne _. Mar. 22, 1855 
84 Fort Martin Scott... Dec. 1, 1854 Fort Clark......... Mar. 31, 1855 
86 San Antonio........ Dec. 14, 1854 Fort Clark......... Mar. 31, 1855 
84 San Antonio . . . . . . . . Dec. 24, 1854 Fort Chadbourne . . Mar. 23, 1855 
80 Fort Martin Scott ... Dec. 1, 1854 Fort Clark .. __ .. _ .. April 1, 1855 
78 San Antonio . . . . . . . Dec. 22, 1854 Fort Chatlbourne . . M;ar. 21, 1855 

On the ~3d January, 1855, these were believed (16) by the then Sec 
retary of War to be the only troops from the State of Texas that were 
entitled to pay for services rendered to the United States. 

Acting upon that belief, on the 24th January, 1855, a claim submitted 
on account of the services of three companies of Texas volunteers, called 
out by the governor in 1852, wa~ not then favorably considered, ( 17 ,) 
for the reason that the troops were not in the service of the Unite 



4 CLAIMS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

States. In nearly every instance where volunteer troops have been 
properly received into said service, the General Government has promptly 
awarded reasonable compensation to them. In this matter there was 
no delay concerning the above-mentioned six companies of Texas vol­
unteers. Before they were mustered out of service special provisions 
were made for them in two acts of Congress. (See Stat. 10, pp. 636 and 
673.) These companies were furnished with subsistence (99) and all 
supplies (100) required by them while they were under the command of 
General Smith, and for the whole time they were properly in the United 
States service, by muster, they were paid by United States paymasters 
or by the Second Auditor of the Treasury. April 2, 1855, found the six 
companies all mustered out, they having been suppliedw ith all neces­
saries after their last muster in, and funds were forthcoming from the 
United States Treasury for the payment of the individual members of 
the organizations. 

For these companies the total appropriated March 3, 1855, 
was ___ . ____ .... ..... _ ..... __ ..... __ . _ ..... __ ....... $162, 755 38 

Between that date and the 30th June, 1859, the total paid 
for their services and expenses was ........... _....... 93, 612 47 

On the last-mentioned date war warrant No. 7 carried to 
the surplus fund this balance ............ - ........ . _ . 69, 142 91 

CLASS II. 

Papers herewith show that this department repeatPdly (1, 13, and 17) 
advised the authorities of Texas some years ago of the general rule in 
relation to expenses irregularly incurred, on account of certain volun­
teers employed for frontier service or to give settlers a sense of security. 

The general rule was and is, in substance, that expenditures made by 
States or individuals for the support of troops who have not been actu­
ally received iuto the service of the United States will not be re­
imbursed by the General Government, except in extraordinary cases. 
Any proof of such reception and service is fatally incomplete if unac­
companied with muster-rolls duly prepared and rendered in accordance 
with law and Army Regulations. In connection with these claims of 
Texas, muster-rolls of the troops, the six companies excepted, have 
never been filed in the office of the Adjutant General of the Army. 

The rolls, so called, now submitted with the vouchers, cannot be 
classed reliable substitutes for such muster-rolls as are usually accepted 
as evidence of service. 

By reference to official correspondence, dated during the first hwlf of 
the year 1855, copies of the same being hereunto annexed, one may ob­
tain therefrom tangible ideas of the condition of military affairs in the 
Department of Texas about the time the six companies were discharged. 
Special reference may be made to General Smith's letter, dated June 2, 
1855, in which he stated: 

I have late reports from the whole of the frontier. The efforts of the troops have 
been successful in driving the Indians entirely out of that part of the State forbid­
den to them, aud the roads on the frontier are traveled with security. 

A tribe of Lipans, and three bands of Mescaleros have crossed into Mexico; the 
former are establisheil. opposite Laredo and Fort Duncan, and the others in Chihuahua, 
all under the protection of the respective State governments with whom they have 
made treaties. 

As soon as the rains shall afford water and grass, we may expect them to cross the 
Rio Grande in marauding parties. (See House Executive Document No. 1, first ses­
sion Thi1·ty-fourth Congress.) 
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On the 20th of June, 1855, iu writing to General Smith, Governor E . . 
M. Pease inclosed a newspaper slip giving an account of the murder of 

-. a citizen and of thefts committed by Indians in a locality where he 
asserted there were no United States troops; and he requested that a 
military company might be sent to that locality, (24.) 

From the general's letter (4) of July .29, 1854, it seems he was not in­
clined to credit newspaper reports concerning operations in his depart­
ment, and this may account for the absence of an immediate reply to 
the foregoing. Any how, the governor did not long remain silent or in­
active, as appears from his letter of July 5, 1855, to J. H. Callahan, who, 
by it, was auth<>rized to raise a company of mounted men to serve three 
months, (25.) 

Again, on the 25th, he wrote (27) to certain citizens, and from the 
communication it is learned that be had received a letter* from General 
Smith, dated the 15th instant, in which the general said he would send 
a party of mounted riflemen to the neighborhood where the recent dep­
redations were committed~ as soon as Major Simonson returned from 
certain duties. In this same letter the governor stated that if the com­
pany (Callahan's) alreads called out "did not prove sufficient to give 
security to settlers," he would "not hesitate to call out other volun­
teers." 

From the remark concerning '' security to settlers," it might be in­
ferred that the War Department letter (13) of August 29, 1854, was not 
particularly heeded by the governor, or that he did not really expect 
the General Government to recognize and pay for the services of Calla­
han's company. On the 5th of September, 1855, his excellency was at 
San Antonio, where he hoped, but failed to see General Smith in regard 
to certain Indian depredations. There he wrote (29) to the department 
<lommander concerning military projects, and concluded by calling at­
tention to the good which had resulted from the employment of Calla­
han's company; by dwelling upon the embarrassing position of the 
executive of the State, and by expressing distrust in relation to the 
propriety of employing volunteers. During this same month he also 
wrote several communications (30-36) to various citizens promising he 
would call out more volunteers if General Smith did not act. No evi­
dence appears in the correspondence to show that the governor actually 
wade any call within the last half of the year 1855, for ~the organization 
or service of an additional force. 

General Smith was communicating officially with the War Depart­
ment during the above-mentioned times, (26-31,) and in no case has it 
been discovered, from the tenor of his letters, that he recognized any 
actual necessity for the employment of the Callahan company, or that 
the latter acted in concert with the Government troops. The corre­
spondence, (31) however, shows conclusively, that in September, 1855, it 
was expected certain Texans would make a hostile expedition into 
Mexico, (37) 

On the night of the 1st or 2d of October, 1855, such an expedition 
was made, and J. H. Callahan was its commander. A party (38) of 
about one hundred and ten Texans (52) secretly crossed the Rio Grande, 
about three miles below Fort Duncan, to the Mexican side. The Texans 
had a fight with Mexicans and Indians, and were driven back into Pie­
dras Negras, a Mexican village opposite to Fort Duncan. While occupy­
ing that village the Texans set fire to it and burned it up; General 
Smith stated" most wantonly, for it was occupied by a poor class of 

*No copy found. 
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people generally engaged in cultivation of small plats of ground," &cr 
(For full particulars see annexed papers, dated in October, 1855.) 

The poverty of the said people may now puzzle the public mind, in 
view of the fact that, at this time, claims amounting to $11,397,988.43, 
for property alleged to have been destroyed and damages accrued from 
Callahan's operations at Piedras N egras, are pending before the Ameri­
can and Mexican joint commission at Washington, District of Columbia. 

Two other organizations, in addition to the Callahan company, were 
connected with the raid into :Mexico. They were those of Captains N. 
Benton and W. R. Henry. The latter commanded one of the six com­
panies referred to in class one. On the 14th March, 1855, members of 
his company had broken open the post-office at D'harris, and pillaged 
the town; some were discharged for misconduct on the march; the 
lieutenant, Jackson, was under arrest ; and charges were on hanp 
against the captain, for misconduct while drunk, (19.) On the same day 
when Captain Burbank was writing his report (38) at Fort Duncan, in 
relation to the Callahan expedition, the governor was writing (39) at 
San Antonio, to the lieutenant of Callahan's company. One wrote con­
cerning re-enforcements : "If the Texans shotrld persist in crossing (the 
Rio Grande) acting under the orders of the governor, as they appear to 
be doing, I have no force sufficient to oppose them, admitting it to be 
my duty to do so." The other wrote: "Your company will be mustered 
out at the expiration of three months from the day you were mustered 
. " ln. 

Upon 1·ejetTing to the Tolls the following appem·s : 

Q) Lost in Mexico. 
<:) ... 

Commander. 

..;:: m 00 
C/1 

a:> a:> ... 
~ Mustered in. Mustered out. s ..s ~ 00 0 ;n 00 s qj 0 00 c<l 

~ ~ 
a:> a:> ~ 00 ~ 'bn ... ~ ~ bJJ ... <:) "0 -~ 

l=l h bJJ 0 ~ ~ ·c ~ 
~ A <Q ~ P; U2 ~ U2 c!:l U2 

- - - - - - -
J t 
4 2 -- -· 
7 1 1 

J. H. Callahan, captain........ 88 July 20, 1855 Oct. 19, 1855 24 17 4 4 3 
N.Benton,captain .......... . 2fi Sept. 15,1855 Oct. 15,1855 7 ............ 5 
W. R. Henry, captain......... 36 Sept. 15, 1855 Oct. 15, 1855 14 . :. . 1 1 1 

Callahan's company was mustered out by John D. Pitts, as State mustering officer. Bento!l's coru­
:pany was mustered into and out of service by J. H. Callahan. Henry's company was mustered mto and 
out of service by J. H. Callahan. 

CLASS III. 

When the Texans, under Callahan, were on the Mexican side of the 
Rio Grande, before firing the village, they found themselves apparently 
under the protection of the United States artillery, at Fort Duncan,. 
Texas. (44.) Taking undue advantage (50) of this circumstance, they 
"determined to remain" (52) where they were, and sent persons over to­
Texas for re-enforcements. 

Captain Callahan, having discovered, however, that the commanding 
officer at Duncan would not protect the Texans in the stand they had 
taken, returned with _his forces to San .Antonio and the neighboring· 
towns, where, on the 14th of October, 1855, they were ''raising men to· 
return and try their fortunes again," (52.) 

On account of the events on the Rio Grande, a great deal of excite­
ment existed at San Antonio on the 17th of October, 1854, when the 
Texans were raising " a thousand men," (55.) On that date and the· 
day before, General Smith there saw parties ride into town "well-armed 
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and mounted, and of a better class of citizens than usually join such 
expeditions," (55.) 

On that same date the governor wrote to the general concerning mil­
itary operations, and suggested that an additional mounted force should at 
once be called into the field. The governor believed that if he were called 
upon by the general for such a force, sa.)' three companies from the 
militia of the State, " it would supersede the unauthorized movement 
of armed men that seemed to be now making in the western part of the 
State," (54.) From the general's reply (57) it is inferred that he did 
not favorably consider the foregoing application. In writing to this 
Department, the general referred to the correspondence above noted 
and stated: 

" I h ave b een t old by several persons, committees, &c., that if I will only call out a 
few companies of rangers, it will at once employ the most unquiet, and tranquilize the 
alarmed, and thus break up the contemplated enterprise. I refuse absolutely. I will 
exert every means I have to avoid any serious difficulty, but I will not buy the prom­
ised good conduct of such men as must necessarily enter into many of their companies · 
at any price," (58.) 

As has heretofore been remarked, nothing appears in the correspond­
ence to show that any other volunteers than the Callahan company 
were actually called out during the latter half of the year 1855; neither 
does anything appear to show that General Smith was aware of the 
existence of any of the governor's organizations of Texas troops, other 
than the Callahan company, during the said time; yet the State claim(5 
re-imbursement for payments made to no less than five companies, in 
addition to the one above mentioned. Two of the said companies are 
dealt with in class two, preceding, and three of them appear in this 
class, (three,) as follows: 

-B 
~c;i 

Employed. 

Cap tain. ~ ~ 1---------,-----­
g],;:; 

<tj 

William Tom ... . ...... . . ----- - -.--- -- ----- .. - -- - ------ 88 
W. G. T obin......... . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28 
L evi English . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56 

From- To-

October 18, 1855 kNovember 15, 1855. 
October 12, 1855 November 15, 1855. 
August 6, 1855 November -, 1855. 

* Day fixed for r endezvous (58) of the thousand (55) m en who were to invade Mexico. The project be­
came a failure. 

The heading on Captain Tom's company roll refers to an " advisory 
letter from the adjutant general of Texas," on the 17th October, 1855, 
but a copy of the letter is not found, (61.) 

William Tom's company was raised, it is asserted, at San Antonio, 
and it was supported by a vigilance committee, (61.) He figured in 
class one as second lieutenant of Henry's company; next, in class two, 
(losing his gun and a pack-horse in Mexico,) as private of Callahan's 
company, (discharged October 19, 1855,) and now in this class (three) as 
captain on the 18th October, 1855, or one day before he was discharged 
from Callahan's company. The signatures on the vouchers filed fix his 
identity as one and the same individual in connection with the above 
facts. . 

Captain Tom certifies that he mustered his company out of service 
on the 16th November, 1855, under the instructions of Uaptain H. E. 
McCulloch, (60~.) William G. Tobin's company, it is certified on the 
vouchers, was raised and organized at San Antonio. The captain class..ed 
his muster-roll as a report, "commencing on the 12th day of October, 
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1855, and ending on the 15th day of November, 1855." He swears that, 
to the best of his knowledge and belief, the men of his company were 
actively employed in the military service of the State during the above­
mentioned time, (61.) Powers of attorney, several in number, filed 
with the vouchers, give a slight explanation of one of the purposes 
for which this company was organized by stating it was to operate 
against the " Texas Indians." . 

Levi English's Gompany.-Concerning this a certificate, under date of 
December 1, 1855, states that a list therewith contains the names of men 
who were under English's command and did active service from August 
6 until November 13, 1855. To this certificate the name of Levi Eng­
lish appears as having been signed by a bold hand. Papers of a subse­
quent date show that the captain made his cross-mark in 1856 instead of 
signing his name. He, or a person of the same name, still lived in July, 
1861, and at that time made his cross-mark to an affidavit setting forth 
as follows: 

"That the members of said (English's) company received pay for one month's serv­
ice from the 6th day of August, 1855, to the 5th day of September, 1855, inclusive, 
from the treasurer of the State of Texas;" and " that said company was actively em­
ployed in the military service of said State for the time herein specified, and was sub­
sequently disbanded, there being no mustering officer, therefore no muster-out roll.'' 

The captain made a power of attorney (139) N overriber 11, 1855, and 
in so doing swore that his company served against the "Texas Indians." 
This statement is confirmed by powers of attorney made by his men. 

In a message to the State legislature, January 3, 1856, the governor 
stated that "these companies were voluntarily organized and supported 
by the citizens of the frontier for their defense." * * • 

"I think it but an act of justice that they should receive from the 
State a reasonable compensation for their services and expenses," (65.) 

CLASS IV. 

"The action of those parties" who were so much excited on the 17th 
of October, 1855, seems to have been delayed, as General Smith expected 
it would be, and the citizens thought" better of the matter and abandoned 
the expedition," once intended to follow the Callahan affair, (55.) 

From the claims submitted in this case, it does not appear that any 
volunteers or rangers were employed in Texas after November 15, 1855, 
until some time in the early part of the year 1856. 

The magnitude of claims for past services of State troops now began 
to appear in legislative acts, (137 :) One of December 17, 1855, to pay 
Callahan's party; one of .January 14, 1856, for additional pay to the ~ix 
companies called out by General Smith; and one of a subsequent date 
to pay the companies of Tom, Tobin, and English; the total appropriated 
being $87,944.51. J. H. Callahan, it appears, (64,) settled his accounts 
with the State during the winter months, and, on the 12th of :March, 
1856, he, with R. W. Johnson and others, wrote to the governor that 
unless there shall be" something done immediately for the protection of 
citizens residing on the Upper Blanco, Guadalupe, and Curry's Creek, 
and Perdinales, they will be compelled to give up their homes," (69.) 
The reply, of March 31, 1856, from the governor, contains the following: 
"I have not been unmindful of your exposed condition, and some time 
since reques1ed* the commanding general of this department to have 
mounted troops sent to your vicinity for its protection, but I have heard 
nothing from him in reply, (69.) This letter, in substance, then advised 

*No request subsequent to October 17, 1855, appears in evidence. 
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the citizens to have a mutual understanding with each other, so as to 
·organize a company of minute-men; and, at the conclusion, it stated: 
"I intend you shall endeavor by this plan to give yourselves protection 
against the Indians who may come to the vicinity of your settlements." 
In the body of the letter the governor wrote: "I shall take pleasure in 
urging the legislature to make a suitable compensation for the service 
of those who may be employed, and to pay reasonable expenses that 
may be incurred." 

Concerning these minute-men nothing further appears to have been 
done officially until August 4, 1856, when the governor, by special mes­
sage, was ('urging the legislature to make suitable compensation" to 
three companies of minute-men, one being that which he advised the 
citizens to raise, and the others his message historically mentions, (73.) 
Upon referring to the lists, or so-called rolls, of these companies, the 
dates of service and number of men appear as follows: 

$ 
ol • 
bi) Q) 

Time of service. 

Captain. ~ 8 1- --- --.-------
~~ 

..q From- To-

.J. W. Sanson ........................ _. . . . ........... . .. 14 { ;±E:H ig: ~~~~} .July 16, 1856 . 

.J. M . Davenport .. ................ .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. . 37 March 13, 1856 .June 1, 1857. 
R. W.Black ............................................ 30 .January 1, 1856 December31, 1856. 

* Governor's certificate in .January, 1861. t :Mustering officer's certificate. 

],urther evidence concerning the two companies last mentioned ap­
pears in papers herewith, (125, 126,) from which it seems that Davenport 
himself disbanded his company and that Black's company was volun­
tarily disbanded. 

CLASS V. 

In September, 1857, the commanding general of the Department of 
Texas advised the Secretary of War that a "rumored expedition" was 
preparing in the western part of Texas for the invasion of Mexican ter­
ritory, (75.) 

The War Department at once authorized the general to prevent, by 
all means in his power, the consummation of any such design, (75.) 

Ou the 3d November, 1857, the governor wrote to :Messrs. G. lVI. 
Bryan and John H. Hegan, who were then Representatives in Congress, 
that the force assigned to the Texas frontier was inadequate to its pro­
tection and that there was a pressing necessity for a regiment of volun­
teers to be there employed. To verify the correctness of his statement 
he reported : 

Within the last few months the mail train from San Antonio to El Paso was attacked 
and robbed of its animals, and I have now before me a communication just received 
from a large number of citizens residing on the waters of the San Saba and Upper 
Colorado Rivers, stating that the Indians have recently made several incursions into 
these settlements, and stolen and carried off near three hundred horses, (76.) 

On the 23d November, 1857, the governor issued letters which author­
ized in substance the following, (77 :) Thomas K. Carmack to enroll 
a company of twenty mounted men, in the counties of Erath and Palo 
Pinto; John H. Conner to enroll a company of thirty mounted men in 
the counties of Brown and San Saba; and Neill Robinson to raise a 
company of twenty mounted men in the settlements on the waters of 
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the Upper Blanco and Guadalupe Rivers. On the 7th December, 1857, 
the governor authorized (80) Thomas C. Frost to enroll a company of 
twenty mounted men in the counties of Coryell and Comanche. 

Each of the above-mentioned companies was to serve three months; 
its members to be paid by the State, at the same rates as were allowed 
to volunteers, during the Mexican war, and its lieutenant was to be 
elected and then follow written instructions which w~re, in substance, (78:) 

You will keep the whole or such portion of your company as you may consider 
necessary in active service, at such point or points upon the frontier [in the vicinity 
where raised] as will best enable them to give protection to the inhabitants against the 
incursions of hostile Indians. 

It is not intended that yon shall keep the whole or any part of your company in 
active service any longer at one time than there shall be an actual necessity for them, 
but that you shall from time to time k eep only such number actively employed as will 
give security and confidence to the settlements . you are designed to prot6ct, so as to 
make the three months of service extend over as long a period of time as possible. 

The instructions also warned the lieutenants to exercise extreme cau­
tion, so as not to give offense to friendly tribes of Indians, especially those 
on the reservations, and concluded by pointing out the mode of reports 
and accounts to be made and tram;mitted to the goYernor. 

By reference to the lists filed as substitutes for muster-rolls, com­
panies appear to have been organized as follows: 

Lieutenant. 

Thomas K. Carmack ...... . ............................... .•. 
John H. Conner .... __ ....................................... . 
JohnS. Hodges .............................. --.----- ....... . 
T. C. Frost ............. ------ ............................. . . . 

Time of service. 

l!'mm- To-

20 Dec. 
31 Dec. 
20 Dec. 
20 Dec. 

14, 1857 Mar. 
2,1857 Mar. 

14, 1857 Mar. 
21, 1857 Mar. 

14,1853 
2, 18~S 

!4, 1858 
21, 1858 

John H. Conner was elected lieutenant on the 2d December, 1857, 
and was commissioned to that office by the governor on the 19th De­
cember, 1857, (82.) 

JohnS. Hodges was elected lieutenant of the Neill Robinson com­
pany on the 14th of December, 1857, and was commissioned to that 
office by the governor on the 19th December, 1857, (81.) 

Thomas C. Frost (83) mustered his company into service on the 21st 
December, 1857. 

On the 9th January, 1858, the governor notified the department com­
mander of new depredations committed in the counties of Erath and 
Bosque, and requested that a mounted force should be sent to that fron­
tier, or that authority should be given to the State to raise two or three 
companies of mounted volunteers to meet the existing emergency. 
(House Executive Document No. 27, second session Thirty-fifth Con­
gress, page 3.) 

In a reply of the 13th he was informed that troops would be sent in 
pursuit, and the commanding general stated : "I regret to say I am not 
authorized to call for volunteers, and can only employ the force now at 
my disposal." (Ibid., 4.) 

On the same date, in reporting the above correspondence to Head­
quarters of the Army, General Twiggs wrote: "It is extremely mortifY­
ing to be placedjn this situation with an inadequate force." (Ibid., 3.) 

On the sam:e date one John Forbes, in writing, banded to the gov­
. ernor reports of the 7th and 8th January, 1858, from Lieutenants Frost 
and Carmack, the three communications stating in substance that In-, 
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dians had recently entered the counties of Comanche, Bosque; Erath, 
and Palo Pinto, on another foray, and in a bold, audacious manner com­
mitted depredations; two citizens and a negro killed, two persons taken 
prisoners, and about one hundred and fifty horses driven off. Citizens 
pursued the Indians, but failed to overtake them. Frost believ-ed the 
reserve Indians were concerned in the affair. (Ibid., 5-7.) Two days. 
later the governor wrote to Congressmen Bryan and Regan, inclosed 
copies of the latters from Frost, Carmack, and Forbes, and urged the 
members of Uongress to press action on the Government. (Ibid., 4.) 

On the 16th Janua:ry, 1858, a resolution of the State legislature was 
approved, requiring the Texas Representatives in Congress to "call the 
attention of the General Government to the frequently recurring depre­
dations committed by the Indians," * * "to urge the adoption of a 
more adequate system of protection against them," * * and "to 
assist those of our citizens whose property may have been stolen or de­
stroyed by the Indians aforesaid to enforce their claims for indemnity 
against the General Government in such manner as to them may seem 
most effective." (Ibid., 8.) 

R. H. Neighbours, superintendent of Indian affairs for Texas, to the 
Commissioner at Washington, under date of January 17, 1858, recapit­
ulated Indian <lepredations committed since November 1, 1857; traced 
guilt to northern tribes not belonging to the State·; referred to former 
reports concerning the starving condition of certain Indians; defended 
character of the tribes on Texas reserves; attributed cause of depreda­
tions to failure of the Government to place certain Indians under proper 
control, and not to a failure on the part of Indian agents of Texas or of 
military authorities to perform faithfully the duty intrusted to them; 
condemned the practice of the General Government giving, as annual 
presents, arms and ammunition to hostile Indians, and concluded by 
stating that the citizens are preparing claims against the Government 
for indemnity for losses sustained. (Ibid., 9.) 

The department commander, in transmitting to Army Headquarters. 
a copy of the superintendent's letter, stated: 

As I do not understand the policy of the Government in arming those Indians who 
it is notoriously known to be those that are harassing the Texas frontier, I do not 
complain of it, but think it strange that such things are. (Ibid., 8.) 

An extract from a publication in the Austin Intelligencer of about 
January 28, 1858, gives the following: 

The Indians.-Captain John H. Conner, who has been appointed by Governor Pease 
to look after the recent Indian depredations, came to town yesterday and made a re­
port of some skirmishes, in which he had one man wounded, and killed '' one Indian 
that he got," and perhaps one more. Five citizens of Brown County have been killed 
and three hundred and twenty-six horses driven off. The fi·ontiersmen are retreating 
to the settlements, and the greatest consternation prevails. 

* ~ * * * * 
A bill passed both branches of the legislature yesterday authorizing the governor to 

call out one hundred rangers for the protection of the fi·ontier, and appropriating 
$70,000 for the purpose. 

This is a step in the right direction. What with the Utah war and Kansas, the 
United States fails to afford Texas the protection necessary to save the scalps of our 
citizens. Let us therefore protect ourselves and charge the bill to Uncle Sam. The 
legislature has nobly performed its duty; let the governor see to getting the right sort 
of men. (Ibid., 13.) 

With the flourishing article above quoted, and in the events following 
its issue, the companies of Carmack, Conner, Hodges, and Frost, as well 
as the service rendered by them, seemingly sunk into insignificance, as 
the evidence found, and to be hereafter referred to, does not appear to 
historically bear any relation to these four companies. 
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CLASS VI. 

By an act of January 27, 1858, the legislature appropriated $70,000 
to "pay Captain John S. Ford's companies," (137) and these will pres-
ently appear in the field. -

By a joint resolution approved January 28, 1858, the State set forth 
its grievances on account of Indian forays, and from the General Gov­
ernment sought protection for the citizens, and suggested that certain 
restrictions should be enforced concerning the Indians on the Texas 
reserves. (House Executive Document No. 27, second session, Thirty­
fifth Congress, page 13.) 

On that same date the governor appointed and commissioned JohnS. 
Ford as captain, (84.) He was instructed and directed to take com­
mand of the troops in the service of the State of Texas called out to 
protect the frontier; he was authorized to organize "the one hundred 
additional men," and was ordered as follows : 

In all matters pertaining to your duties as commander of the State troops, you will 
co-operate with the officers of the regular Army, if expedient, convenient, or practica­
ble; also, with the Indian agents. The interests of the frontier require the existence 
of a good understapding between the officers of this State and those of the United 
States, as well as concert of action, when it can be had without detriment to the effi­
ciency or the good of the State service. ~ * * I impress upon you the necessity of 
action and energy. Follow any and all trails of hostile or suspected hostile Indians 
you may discover, and, if possible, overtake and chastise them if unfriendly. (Ibid., 14.) 

January 30, 1858, the department commander transmitted to Army 
headquarters an account of Indian depredations south of Belknap, and 
stated: 

All the disposable force of cavalary from Camp Verde, Fort Mason, Camps Colorado 
and Cooper have been ordered to that part of Texas, leaving other portions of the fron­
tier, in some measure, unprotected. This is all I can do with the present force. This 
is the first time in a number of years that the Indians have committed depredations in 
that vicinity. (Ibid., 12.) 

On the 2d February, 1858, the governor wrote to the department com­
mander, inclosed a copy of the orders issued to Ford, tendered the 
troops to the Government through the general, (Twiggs,) and requested 
that they be recognized and mustered into the service of the United 
States. (Ibid. 14.) The general replied on the 7th: 

There is no authority by which I can accept the services of the company of State 
troops without first referring the matter to the War Department; this reference will, 
however, be immediately made. (Ibid., 15.) 

On the 8th and 9th February, 1858, State commissions were issued to 
Lieutenants Burleson and Pitts, of Ford's company, (85.) In March, 1858, 
the governor requested the President of the United States to authorize 
the employment of Texas volunteers to take the place of regular forces 
reported as ordered to be removed from the Texas frontier at an early 
day. (Ibid., 16.) To this the Secretary of War replied: 

It is believed that the regiment of mounted volunteers authorized to be raised for 
service in your State under act of April 7, 1858, will be sufficient to replace the second 
regiment" of cavalry ordered from Texas to Kansas. (Ibid., 16.) 

The regiment of Texas volunteers authorized by the aforementioned · 
act does not appear to have been raised, for the reason that Congress 
did not make appropriations to meet the expenses which would follow. 
By reference to correspondence in January and February, 1860, it will 
be seen that the War Department was at that time asked by the Senate 
Military Committee to send in estimates of the amount necessary to pay, 
arm, and support the regiment for one year. The estimates were trans-

* This regiment continued on duty in the State July, 1858. (Ibid, 23.) 
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mitted, but no subsequent action appears to have been taken. (Senate 
Document No. 21, pages 20, 21, first session, Thirty-sixth Congress.) 

On the 21st May, 1858, Lieutenant A. Nelson, of Ford~s Texas Ran­
gers, reported two engagements in which his command operated against 
Comanche Indians, on the 12th instant, on the north side of the Cana­
dian River. Elated at a success he remarked: 

In this, as their first engagement, both officers and men under my command bore 
themselves gallantly, and as men sensible they had to maintain the character of 
Texan Rangers. (House Executive Document 27~ second session, Thirty-fifth Con­
gress, page 21.) 

The particulars of these engagements are detailed in Captain Ford's 
• report of May 22, 1858, from which it appears that his command, to­

gether with certain Indian allies from the Texas reserves, passed into 
the Indian Territory, and there the spies of the expedition, who had 
discovered Comanche Indians " running buffalo," bad gotten a correct 
notion of their camp by waMhing pack-animals as they transported 
buffalo-meat to it. The captain r~ports: 

I prepared to move upon the enemy without delay. When we reached the Fort 
Smith and Santa Fe road, we saw Comanches moving about in the valley beyoncl 
the "divide," apparently unconscious of our proximity. When they had gone we 
resumed our march, confining ourselves to the low grounds and ravines,.to keep out of 
sight. 

The next morning a small ''camp of five lodges was discovered and 
taken. Two Comanches fled toward the Canadian, and were followed 
by the whole command at nearly full speed." In pursuing the two In­
dians another camp was discovered, surprised, and the enemy routed. 
The head chief, Iron Jacket, appeared in gorgeous arra:y, but ''fell rid­
dled with balls." The second chief was also killed, and the Comanches 
were pursued and punished until the pursuers' horses were exhausted. 
To sum up the affair from the captain's remarks : 

The forces of the enemy in these two engagements amounted to upward of three 
hundred. The captured camp had seventy lodges and fires. The ot,her party num­
bered over one hundred. Our entire force was two hundred and thirteen. The loss of 
the enemy, ascertained by actual count of those remaining on the field, was as follows: 
First engagement, killed 69; second engagement, killed 7 ; total, 76. Our loss, first 
engagement, killed 1, wounded 2; second engagement, killed 1, wounded 1; total, 
killed 2, wounded 3. 

The enemy had many wounded, hut it was impossible to ascertain the number, and, 
therefore, no guess at it will be made. 

We captured over three hundred head of horses; most of them are in possession of 
friendly Iudians; some fifty or sixty are in the hands of my men. There are few, if 
any, American horses among them. We took eighteen prisoners, mostly women and 
children. 

• • • • * • ~ 

The conduct of the men under my command was characterized by obedience, patience, 
and perseverance. They behaved, while under fire, in a gallant and soldier-like man­
ner, and I think that they have fully vindicated their right to be recognized as Texas 
Rangers of the old stamp. (Ibid., 17.) 

General Twiggs arrived at headquarters and assumed command of 
the department on the 1st of June, 1858, and on the following day in­
closed to the Adjutant General of the Army a copy of Ford's report of 
the ''two engagements'' in the limits of the Cherokee country. (Ibid., 17.) 

Captain John S. Ford wrote from the Brazos agency to the governor, 
under date of July 5, 1858, referred to the arrival of two reserve In­
dians, ''who bad been sent to the tribes east of the Red River to learn, 
if possible, the parties who committed the depredations in Jack and the 
adjoining counties in May and June;') and after detailing certain reports 
obtained, he stated: 

The continued and unaccounted for absence of the Kickapoos and Keechis and other 
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~ircumatances point to these people as the prime movers of the murders and depre­
.dations recently committed in Jack and the contiguous counties. (Ibid., 29.) 

* * * * * * 
· There can be no doubt of the existence of an alliance between the renegade Kicka­
poos and Keechis and the northern Comanches in making war upon Texas. 

The two messengers als<l learned that the different bands of Comanches had recently 
held a council and agreed to consolidate the seven bands into one, under the leadership 
·of the nephew of the late chief Pa-bah-yu-cah. They have made treaties with all or 
nearly all the tribes residing east of Red River, and the head-chief has taken all the 
women, children, and old men into the Creek country, which he deems a place of safety 
for them. The other six bands are to continue the war upon the people of Texas and 
the reserve Indians. In the event of being hard pressed, they contemplate, beyond 
doubt, falling back upon their head-chief as a point inaccessible to their enemies, and 
thus they will convert the people, affording the refuge and their countenance-their 
.allies to all intents and purposes. Should I be continued in the service, I should not 
hesitate to move upon the point occupied by the head-chief of the Comanches, and 
·chastise him and any others interfering or aiding in the matter adversely. 

These facts corroborate and substantiate others already reported to you, and indicate 
the necessity of inaugurating prompt and efficient measures to give protection to the 
frontier, and to punish the parties who have grown rich by trafficking in the spoils 
wrested from our unprotected citizens. They cannot, in justice to the frontier, be 
overlooked; you will pardon me for again insisting upon the necessity of having a 
large force in the field, and the good results to be anticipated from a fall or winter 
-campaign against our combined enemies. This, in my belief, affords the only sure 
plan to secure Texas against the inroads and ravages of her savage and relentless foes. 
(Ibid., 31.) 

General Twiggs, to .A.rmy Headquarters, July 6, 1858, wrote: 
The second cavalry remains at or near Belknap. If they are intended to be placed 

under the orders of the department commander for the defense of this frontier, I would 
respectfully recommend a change of policy with the Indians. For the last ten years 
we have been on the defensive. I would suggest that it would be better not to detach 
the re·giment to the posts as formerly, but send two detachments (say four companies 
·each) into the Indian country, and follow them up winter and summer; thus giving 
the Indians something to do at home, and taking care of their families, and they might 
possibly let Texas alone. I think the experiment worth making. Guides and trailers, 
I am informed by the agent, can be bad from the Indian reservations in Texas. (Ibid., 
·,23.) 

The foregoing suggestion received the approval of the General-in-Chief 
on the 22d July, 1858. (Ibid., 23.) 

In the mean time (on the 9th July) the governor of Texas had inclosed 
to General Twiggs a copy of Ford's report of July 5,1858, and expressed 
his apprehensions that disturbances of a serious character would soon 
.arise on the frontiers from incursions of lndians, "now the more exas­
perated because of the recent retribution visited on them for the many 
·outrages perpetrated during last winter and spring." (Ibid., 27.) 

On the lOth the governor wrote to the Secretary of War, stating: 
• 'it • 

The disbandment of the little band of rangers which has been stationed on the 
frontier will take place about the 1st of August, and, I fear, will occasion great con­
.sternation and ala.rm to the exposed settlements, unless prompt action should be taken 
by the General Government in substituting an active and effective force in their 
stead. (Ibid., 26.) 

July 27,1858. General Twiggs, to Headquarters of the Army, wrote: 
I respectfully ask permission of the General-in-Chief to detach three or four companies, 

in the fall, to leave on the 15th of September, to go into the Indian country and follow 
up the Comanches to the residence of their families, this command to remain some 
three or four months, or until spring. It is necessary to have the order of the General­
in-Chief, as the command might find it necessary to follow the Indians into another 
department. 

I intend, if the permission is given, to put the commancl under Major VanDorn. 
The Second Cavalry being concentrated at Fort Belknap has, in my opinion, re­

strained the Indians from retaliating on the settlements for the attack on them by the 
Texans lately. (Ibid., 24.) 

The Dallas Herald published a communication of July 20, 1858, from 
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A. 0. Love, Oil Springs, Chickasaw Nation. The editor, in comment­
ing upon the affairs set forth, stated: 

We think that a vigilant lookout ought to be kept up, and that the movements of 
the northern Comanches ought to be watched constantly. The Indians are exasperated 
.at their defeat by Captain Ford. They must be "wiped out," as Mr. Love expresses it, 
-<>r they will hava terrible revenge. (Ibid., 32.) 

Further propositions were submitted by General Twiggs to Army 
Headquarters under date of August 4, 1858, in relation to offensive ope­
rations against the Indians. (Ibid., 25.) 

August 9, 1858, the governor inclosed to the Secretary of War a copy 
of Captain Ford's report and suggestions of the 5th ultimo, and, as the 
.executive of the State, demanded from the general government protec­
tion for the citizens on the frontiers of Texas. He wrote: 

The existing state of affairs cannot be endured, and Texas will not much longer 
.acquiesce in silence, little as it may be believed by those from whom she claims a 
proper consideration. (Ibid., 29.) 

From the rolls filed with the vouchers it appears that Ford's command 
was as follows : 

Officer. 

.JohnS. Ford, captain, and four lieutenants ...................... . 
. .John Williams ... ...... ------.-------------------------·------.--
William G. Preston ......................... ------ ... ...... . ..... . 
W. N. P. Marlin .... .... .......................... --------··------

Time of service. 

From- To-

135 .Jan. 10, 1858 Aug. 10, 1858 
*20 May 24, 1858 .July 24, 1858 
24 April 20, 1858 .June 30, 1858 
34 .July 15,1858 Nov. 15, 1858 

.. This company the governor specially authorized (86) in May, 1858, and disbanded (89) in .July, 1858. 

Further evidence concerning the history of the foregoing organization 
is not found. 

CLASS VII. 

August, 1858. 

9th.-Captain William E. Prince, United States Army, to Texas de­
_partment headquarters, wrote: 

"Wichita chiefs report that large bands of Comanches, Apaches, Cheyennes, and 
-other wild tribes of Indians are collected on the Canadian, near the Antelope Hills, 
professedly for hostile purposes, and" * " " to make an incursion upon the frontier of 

'Texas." (Page 35 of House Executive Document No. 27, Thirty-fifth Congress, second 
.session.) 

9th.-General Twiggs renewed his remarks concerning the proposed 
VanDorn expAdition, and stated: 

"For the last ten years the troops in this department have been acting mostly on the 
defensive. The Indians will not remain quiet, and they must be made to feel the power 

-of the United States." (Ibid., 24.) 
12th.-The governor inclosed to the Secretary of War the (Love) slip 

from the Dallas Herald in regard to the intended movements of the In­
·dians. (Ibid., 31.) The receipt of this was acknowledged by the War 
Department on the 28th following. (Ibid., 34.) 

24th.-General Twiggs sent to Army Headquarters the Prince letter 
of the 9th, and inclosed a newspaper paragraph headed, "Indian depre­
dations; four men killed;" occurrences near Fort Davis. 

The general stated : 
Fort Davis is one hundred and eighty miles from Fort Lancaster. Thjs extreme dis­

tance is without any military post. It is between these points most of the depreda­
tions on this road are committed. The road from this to El Paso is traveled almost 
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daily, amllarge amounts of property transported on packs and trains. The San Diego 
mail makes two trips a month to San Diego from thi~::~ place, (San Antonio.) It is im· 
portant that this road be well guarded, but I have not the force to do it. (Ibid., 34.) 

September, 1858. 

2d.-Lieutenant Van Camp, United States Army, reported concern­
ing his attempt and failure to enforce order at the Comanche agency 
on the Clear Fork of the Brazos. (Ibid., 38.) 

17th.-General Twiggs, to Army Headquarters, wrote: 
Indications along the frontier, as well in Texas as outside, augur a general war with 

the Comanches, Kickapoos, and such other hostile tribes of Indians as they can induce 
to join them, and that they will operate united against the frontier of Texas. It is 
said a council of the different tribes has been held this summer, and such was the 
determination. 

:From the Rio Grande reports are numerous of depredations and murders in Mexico. 
The river is, of course, no barrier to their crossing on this side, as the Rio Grande can 
be forded at this season of the year anywhere. Major VanDorn's command is smal~r 
than I could wish, but it is all that he can be safely spared from the department at 
this time. The inclosed report, from Lieutenant Van Camp, of the Second Cavalry, 
shows the feelings of the Comanches on the reserve. (Ibid., 36.) 

18th.-Sixty-one citizens of Wise and Montague Counties joined in 
a petition, representing the deplorable condition of affairs in their sec­
tion of country; referring to Indian depredations committed upon the 
settlers, to their "having despaired of receiving protection from the 
United States," to the depopulation of Montague County, and to the 
general distress prevailing about their neighborhoods. The citizens 
concluded by announcing their determination to organize a company 
for "self-protection;" but they desired the governor's sanction and co­
operation in the mat.ter. (Ibid., 61.) The petition waR inclosed to the 
governor in a letter from H. Bishop, indorsed by H. H. Gaines, giving 
additional particulars. (Ib,id., 62.) 

26th.-VanDorn's command was at a camp on Otter Creek, Cherokee 
Nation, and from there the major reported as to his intentions. (Ibid., 
48.) 

October, 1858. 

1st.-The command had an engagement with the Comanche Indians. 
Lieutenant Van Camp and three men were killed, and VanDorn, Cap­
tain Ross, and eight soldiers wounded; forty-four Indians were killed 
and some women and children taken prisoners. (Ibid., 49-50.) 

4th.-One hundred citizens of Cook, Montague, and Wise Counties 
joined in a petition to the governor, setting forth that murders and 
thefts bad been committed in their vicinities by Indians, and asked for 
a company of a hundred men to range in these counties. (Ibid., 64.) 
This petition was inclosed to the governor by his friend, E. 0. Palmer, 
who stated: 

There is no hum bug about it. It is all the men can do to protect their stock and their 
families; the:v cannot go out after the Indians; they are all looking to yon for a little 
help immediately, and you will gain a great credit by assisting. It is their wish that 
you send Captain Ford, if he is convenient, with orders to enlist a company in these 
or the adjoining counties. This country is settling up very fast; a large emigration 
is expected .from Missouri, and the slave-holders from Kansas." (Ibid 66.) 

4th.-The petition of September 18, 1858, having reached the governor, 
he wrote to Colonel James Bourland, of Cook County, expressing pleas­
ure at an article in the Dallas Herald, showing that the colonel bad taken 
the matter of protection in hand, and, with a number of citizens, "had 
determined to follow up and punish the Indian enemy." (Ibid., 42.) 
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The governor inclosed to the colonel a commission ( 91) as captain, 
and authorized him to raise a company of seventy-nine men, rank and 
file, and delegated to him powers of an extraordinary character; for 
which see pages 41 to 43 of House Executive Document No. 27, of the 
Thirty-fifth Congress, second session, or the papers hereunto annexed, 
numbered 90 and 91. 

5th.-VanDorn, having sufficiently recovered from his wounds, wrote 
a detailed report of his engagement of the 1st instant. (Ibid., 51.) 

7th.-General Twiggs apprehended that a" serious blunder" had been 
made somewhere, as he had learned that a treaty was made with the 
Comanches, Wichitas, &c., while he was fitting out an expedition against · 
them. (Ibid., 40.) 

14th.-Ben. Hubert offered observations of depopulated counties. 
(Ibid., 66.) 

18th.-General Twiggs forwarded to Army Headquarters Van Dorn's 
report and commented thereon. (Ibid., 48.) 

18th.-James Bourland accepted the commission from the governor 
and reported Indian depredations, asserting that the Comanches were 
fearfully in earnest concerning their warfare against Texas. (Ibid., 55.) 

Van Dorn's command rested at camp on Otter Creek, Cherokee N a­
tion. (Ibid., 58.) 

22d.-General Twiggs, to ~4...rmy Headquarters, wrote : 
I consider there is now a crisis in the Indian affairs of this frontier, and if I had the 

means to prosecute a vigorous campaign against them, much good would be the result. 
The Comanche Indians should be thoroughly chastised, or tllere will be no peace or 
security to Texas. (Ibid., 53.) 

25th.-Reports made to the governor: Joshua Jackson, wife, daughter, 
and a child murdered, and two girls of the same family carried off by 
Indians. (Ibid., 67 and 68.) Fifty-five citizens of Lampasas County, 
citing the above, petitioned the governor to grant them a company. 
(Ibid., 70.) 

27th.-The governor wrote to the Secretary of War, hoping the Gen­
eral Government would provide to meet the expenses of Bourland's 
company, (Ibid., 54,) and to General Twiggs concerning the Jackson 
murders, and aid required. (Ibid., 57.) 

28th.-A district court adjourned, "and the court and juries and many 
citizens" started in the pursuit of Indians. (Ibid., 69.) 

30th.-Business suspended; families '~ forted;" a young lady found 
butchered; Indians pursued, one killed; some clothing of Jackson family 
recovered; alarm and confusion prevailing. (Ibid., 70.) 

30th.-General Twiggs transmitted to Army headquarters the gover­
nor's request of 27th, and stated: "No troops available" to meet the 
request except one company of cavalry supposed to be already "in pur­
suit of those Indians.'' (Ibid., 56.) 

November, 1858. 
lst.-General Twiggs reported Van Doru's position; had sent re-en­

forcements; action and energetic operations necessary? frontier stripped 
of nearly aU the mounted force; a very hazardous move; understood 
Uomanches crossed into Mexico; shall pursuit follow into Mexico~ In 
absence of instructions will order them pursued acr.oss the Rio Grande. 
(Ibid., 57.) 

2d.-Governor authorized John S. Ford to raise a company of rangers, 
to rendezvous at Austin. (Ibid., 71.) 

Governor, to Secretary of War, inclosed evidence of depredations, 
H. Ex. 277--2 
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and "letters of Captain John Williams and Lieutenant Cowan, officers 
of a company of volunteers organized for the immediate protection of 
their homes." He stated : · 

I have, therefore, under the existing emergency, authorized, in addition to the order 
issued to Captain Bourland, Captain John S. Ford to raise a company of eighty-nine 
men, with instructions to repair without delay to the point of danger and give such 
protection to the inhabitants as he may be able therewith. In conclusion, I can but 
express the hope that the Government will recognize these companies and cause an 
appropriation for their pay and subsistence to be made by Congress at its present ses­
sion ; and, if not, that such other effective measures may be adopted at an early day as 
will render their presence no longer necessary in the field. (lbid.,60.) 

9th.-General-in-Ohief, to Twiggs regrets additional troops cannot be 
sent to Texas; purposes to send recruits. (Ibid., 54.) 

lOth.-Ford and his lieutenants commissioned, (94.) 
15th.-VanDorn expedition heard from. (Ibid., 72.) 
18th.-General Twiggs wrote : 
The experiment of following the Comanches into their country so far is attended 

with good results. None have been on the frontier since Major VanDorn went into 
that country, with one exception, and that was the party that murdered the family in 
Brown County. (Ibid., 73.) 

19th.-General-in-Ohief, to General Twiggs, sanctioned the pursuit, if 
necessary, of hostile Indians into "another department" by troops of 
the Department of Texas. (Ibid., 59.) 

26th.-General Twiggs expressed regret at not being able to obtain 
re-enforcements; Van Dorn's horses, much reduced, to be recruited ; 
Comanches out of reach; will probably remain so until the cavalry leaves 
their country, "when the same scenes will be enacted over again that 
have been on the Texas frontier for the last ten years. The inhabitants 
of Texas cannot be protected by the present force in the department." 
(Ibid., 73.) · 

·26th to 28th.-Van Dorn's command to be in the saddle on the 1st 
proximo (Ibid., 73) to "hunt" Indians. (Ibid., 74.) 

December, 1858. 

8th.-The Comanches will in all probability not trouble the frontier of 
Texas this winter. Permission given to Van Dorn to winter at Fort 
Belknap with a portion of his command. · (Ibid., 76.) 

9th to .l2th.-Scouting parties sent out from VanDorn's command; 
no Indian signs. (Page 356, Senate Document No.2, Thirty-sixth Con­
gress, first session.) 

13th.-General Twiggs reviewed his past reports and submitted plans 
for future operations. Purposed to next spring break up all the posts 
except those on El Paso mail~route and to concentrate the infantry at 
some point near the Indian country. Expressed his views in relation to 
the Comauche Indians. (Page 76, House Executive Document No. 27, 
Thirty-fifth Congress, second session.) 

January, 1859. 

13th.-General Twiggs's plans submitted to General Scott, in sub­
stance; to break up posts at Fort Brown, Ringgold Barracks, and Fort 
Mcintosh; increase garrison. at Fort Duncan; part of infantry to pro­
tect San Antonio and El Paso mail-route; rest to be concentrated at 
Camp Cooper, on Comanche reservation; suggested that, in order to 
govern Comanche"s near Chihuahua, in Mexico, where " there is now 
no government," a portion of her territory should be taken possesion 



CLAIMS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 19 

of b.v the United-States. (Page 5, House Executive Document No. 52, _ 
first session Thirty sixth Congress.) 

13th.-General Scott forwarded the plans above mentioned for execu­
tive consideration, and approved the suggestion in relation to the 
Comanches. (Ibid., 6.) 

19th.-The Secretary of War instructed General Twiggs "that it is 
inexpedient to allow the troops in pursuit of the Indians to pass beyond 
the borders of the United States." (Page 355, Senate Document No.2, 
Thirty-sixth Congress, first session.) 

30tb.-Fort Belknap to be broken up by command of General Twiggs. 
(Ib,id., 355.) 

31st.-The latter suggested the enforcement of an order " declaring 
the Comanches hostile whenever found off the limits of their reserva­
tions without proper permission, and requiring the troops to punish them 
accordingly." (Ibid., 355.) 

February, 1859. 

5th.-General Twiggs wrote: 
It is known that a portion of the Indians that were attacked by Major VanDorn, itJ 

October last, crossed the Rio Grande into Mexico. They are located on a lake eight.v 
miles southeast of Chihuahua. The number of Comanche warriors around that lake is 
estimated from seven to eight hundred. It appears there is a tacit understanding be­
tween them and the Mexicans not to molest each other except in extreme cases. They 
will, no doubt, commence their operations on the Texas frontier as soon as the grass 
will subsist their animals. These Indians ought to be broken np and be made to feel 
t hat the only security for them is in their good behavior. (Ibid., 358.) 

5th.-Captain Lee reported five Government mules stolen from Fort 
Quitman last night by IndianEl, who fled across the Rio Grande. (Ibid. ,_ 
360.) • 

5th.-Ringgold Barracks and Forts Mcintosh, Mason, and lVIcKavett 
to be abandoned by order of General Twiggs. (Ibid., 259.) 

6th.-Fifty-eight horses stolen from Dr. Isabel in the Frio Canon by: 
Indians, whom a detachment of regulars pursued on the 9th and overtook 
on the 13th. Three of the six thieves were killed. Of the horses, forty­
nine were retaken and nine were killed. (Ibid., 361.) 

16th.-Indians on the other side of Rio Grande turning their atten-­
tion to the El Paso road. (Ibid., 360.) 

21st.-The chief justice of Mason County complained of Indian visits 
made to his county after Fort Mason was broken up, and asked the­
governor for troops. (Page 9, House Executive Document No. 52, 
Thirt:y-sixth Congress, first session.) 

22d. An engagement reported between regulars and Indians on· th& 
San Diego mail-route about seventy-five miles northwest from El Paso. 
"This is the third time, within the past thirty days, that Indians \vho 
are in communication with Mexico have made their appearance at dif­
ferent points along this route." (Page 361, Senate Document No. ::!, 
Thirty -sixth Congress, first session.) 

24th.-Comanches near Fort Arbuckle; two killed by detachment oi 
regulars. (Ibid. 1 381.) 
~4th.-John S. Ford, at Brazos agency, was preparing to pay off Lieu­

tenant Marlin's command; heard of a party of Indians passing up country 
with about one hundred and twenty horses stolen from Caddo Indians; 
at once commenced to organize an expedition; enlisted Lieutenant Mar­
lin and some of his men for the trip; American horses also stolen. (Page 
10, House Executive Document No. 52, Thirty-sixth Congress, first ses­
sion.) 
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27th, 28th.-Comanches near Fort Arbuckle committing depredations. 
(Pages 381, 384, 385, Senate Document No. 2, Thirty-sixth Congress, first 
session.) 

28th.-More Comanches killed by regulars near Fort Arbuckle. (Ibid. , 
385.) 

J.l1.arch, 1859. 

4th.-James Bourland reported concerning the operations of his com­
mand. (Page 10, House Executive Document No. 52, Thirty-sixth Con­
gress, first session.) 

9th.-Citizens of Brownsville petitioned the Secretary of War to gi \re 
them security of life and property by ordering there-occupation of Fort 
Brown and Ringgold Barracks by United States troops. (Ibid., 12.) 

15th.-The governor desired the Secretary of War to adopt measureR 
for the payment of the companies of Ford and Bourland~ they to be kept 
in the field. (Ibid., 8.) 

18th, 19th.-Governor communicated with General Twiggs, who replied 
that the settlement of "the existing difficulties between the citizens of 
Texas and the reserve Indians, who are known to be friendly, is a purely 
civil matter, with which I have nothing to do further than to aid the 
proper officers in carrying out the laws." (Pages 362, 363, Senate Doc­
ument No.2, Thirty-sixth Congress, first session.) 

19th.-Governor communicated with Bourland about rolls and recruits, 
(103.) 

21st.-l\Iessrs. Hemphill and Ward, to the Secretary of"\Var, believed 
there were "mischief and calamities likely to follow the removal of the 
troops from Fort Brown, Ringgold Barracks, and Fort Mcintosh." (Page 
11, House Executive Document No. 52, Thirty-sixt.h Congress, first ses­
sion.) 

24th.-R. S. Neighbours apprehended that a party of Texans contem­
plated an attack on the Indians at the Brazos Agency. (Page 363, Sen­
ate Document No. 2, Thirty-sixth Congress, first session.) 

28th.-General Twiggs explained about posts broken up, and state<l: 
There is not nor ever has l>een any danger of the Mexicans crossing on onr side of 

the river to plunder or disturb the inhabitants, and the outcry on that river (the Rio 
Grande) for troops is solely to have an expeuditure of the puulic money. At every 
post that has been abandoned in Texas an outcry has been raised, and plenty of Indian 
signs seen; the citizens in the vicinity of those posts are ve1·y nnwilliug to lose the 
opportunity of handling a portion of the money necessarily expended by the Goveru­
ment and troops. (Ibid. , 362.) 

28tb.-Reserve war over for the present; "men embodied was about. 
one hundred, from Jack, Palo Pinto, and Wise counties." (Ibid., 363.) 

.April, 1859. 

5th.-The Secretary of \Var authorized General Twiggs to enforce 
hostilities against all Indians found off their reseryes within his depa.rt­
ment. (Ibid., 357.) 

JJfay, 1859. 

13th.-Regular troops operated successfully against Indians. (Ibid., 
365-368.) 

21st.-Citizens again in arms against the Brazos reserve Indians·; 
one of the latter hanged; ex-Indian Agent John R. Baylor commanded 
the citizens; ''had determined to destroy the Indians on this and the­

. upper reserve if it cost the life of every man of his command;" citizens 
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withdrew to Marlin's ranch; "it was believed that Baylor would join 
with Nelsou," and attaek the Comanche reserve. 

26th.-Major George H. Thomas, at Camp Cooper, Texas, wrote: 
I was told this morning, by a gentleman wllo resides near Austin, that there was tlle 

great1~st excitement throughout the lower counties and that the people were arming 
with the avowed intention of attacking and breaking up both reserv('s. All civil au­
t hority seems to be at an enJ. The Ma.y term of the district court of Young County 
cannot be held, the judge and other officers of the court fearing to travel through the 
excited district. (Ibid., 373.) 

27th.-" I received additional information this morning that over two 
hundred men were on the road between this and Belknap, and that 
they were eoncentrating to attaek this resen·e," (the Comanehe.) (Ibid., 
374.) 

31st.-Reporterl that two hundred Comanches came over from Mexieo, 
and were seeu near Comanche spring, on the El Paso road. (Ibid., 375.) 

June, 1859. 

2d.-General Twiggs, to the governor, referring to the deplorable 
state of affairs at the Indian reservations, wrote: 

Nearly all of the United States troops under my command, as yon are well aware, are 
now engaged in active operations in the field against hostile Indian tribes, so that, 
were it their province, I have but a small number left to keep the citizens of Texa~ 
from exterminating Indians who are known to be friendly, and who have furnished 
from their tribes about a hundred warriors to accompany the troops as guides in the 
field. (Ibid., 374.) 

6th.-The governor appointed a board of five peaee commissioners to 
represent the State of Texas and peaeeably and lawfully adjust the 
difficulties at the Brazos agency. He authorized the board. ''in the 
last resort, to call iuto the military service of the State one ·hundred 
men, for the purpose of preserving the peace and preventing violations 
of the law between the parties," (105, 106.) 

9th.-General Twiggs instructed to furnish an eseort for the removal 
of Indians from Texas reservations to the country leased from the 
Choetaws and Chickasaws. (Page 364, Senate Document No.2, Thirty­
.sixth Congress, first session.) 

11th.-The department commander to General Scott reported con­
cerning the Comanehes seen near Comanche spring, on the El Paso 
road, and stated : 

So long as these Indians know that the Rio Grande is the limit beyond which the 
United States troops cannot pursue them ''"ill the State be infested by these marau­
ders from foreign territory. (lb'id., 375.) 

22d.-General Twiggs acknowledged reeeipt of order of 9th instant, 
and wrote: 

A compliance with the instructions will necessarily leave a portion of the frontier 
without adequate protection. (Ibid., 375.) 

25th.-General Twiggs, to the Adjutant General, wrote: 
I am at a loss to know what kind of a guard to send with the reserve Indians, 

whether cavalry or infantry. If it is to protect them from Texans, a small detacll­
ment is sufficient, as the Texans will not follow the Indians out of the limits of the 
State; if from the Indians on the prairie, less than four companies will not be suffi­
cient. I do not wish to break up any of the posts on the El Paso road, as the Iudiaus 
in Mexico, across the Rio Grande, ought to be kept in check, if possible. I do not 
think there are twenty hostile Comanches in Texas, but they can come in a few hourt~ 
from the other side of the Rio Grande. (Ibid., 376.) . 
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July, 1 8.59. 
6th.-General Twiggs wrote : 

I do not believe there is at preAent in this State any considerable number of 
Comanche Indians; there may be some small parties for horse-stealing, &c. (Ibid., 376. ) 

8th.-Inquiry, concerning disposition to he made of six Comanche 
prisoners, answered August 5, 1859. (Ibid., 377.) 

13th.-Disturbances at Brownsville, in executing a warrant, will pres­
ently be specially referred to under a heading, "J nan N. Cortinas." 

14th.-The War Department decided to protect the reserve Indians 
by force, if necessary, (107.) 

16th. General Twiggs notified of the decision of the 14th, (page 365, 
Senate Document No.2, first session Thirty-sixth Congress,) and in­
structed to send two companies with the reserve Indians. (Ibid., 375.) 
(108.) 

Beptember, 1859. 

1st.-Indians reported to be near Loredo, "exhibiting no fear what­
ever." (Page 30, House Executive Document No. 52, second session 
Thirty-sixth Congress.) 

8th to 9th.-Indians appeared on the Pendencia, thirty-five miles south­
west of Eagle Pass, where they destroyed everything in and about two 
houses·, occupied by three families; killed a Mr. Warman; ravished two 
daughters, one of six and the other of ten years, in presence of their 
mother, (Mrs. Hunter;) beat out the brains of the three females; crushed 
an infant to death, and, taking its mother with them, crossed the Rio 
Grande. The reporter (William Stone) concluded by stating: 

While there were troops at Fort Duncan, there was never an instance of women and 
children being massacred, at least not in this vicinity.-Eagle Pass. (Ibid., 17-28.) 

lOth to 15th.-Two companies, one of twenty-two, the other of eighteen . 
citizens, sent in pursuit of the Indians. (Ibid., 29.) 

16th.-General Twiggs reported to Army headquarters the murders 
above referred to. (Ibid., 16.) 

17th.-Three parties of Indians reported near Loredo, committing 
depredations, and volunteers organizing to drive them out of the country. 

22d.-Dallas Herald. William Stone, captain of volunteers, in pur­
suit of Indians. " The merchants at Eagle Pass threw open their stores 
and generally told the volunteers to help themselves to supplies." 
(Ibid., 19.) 

22d.-William Stone, reporter of the outrages on the 8th and 9th 
instants, "is a man whose statements may be relied on." 

'"This, in my opinion, is only the commencement of outrages by In­
dians from the Mexican side of the Rio Grande."-General Twiggs. 
(1bid., 16.) 

October, 1859. 

lst.-John L. Haynes dwelt upon the early history of operations on 
the Rio Grande, and urged the re-occupation of certain military posts . . 
(Ibid., 24.) 

6th.-Hon. John Hemphill, to the President, submitted the foregoing 
of the 1st instant, with comments. (Ibid., 23.) 

7th.-General Twiggs reported concerning small parties of marauding 
Indians, supposed to be from across the Rio Grande. (Ibid., 31.) 

Here the chain of evidence concerning current events connected with 
. Indian operations appears broken, leaving a b1ank covering several 
months' time. 
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Referring to the lists or rolls of troops pertaining to this class, the . 
following appears : 

Enrolled. Discharged. Died. 

Officers. 
:No. When. No. When. When. 

Captain James Bourland ___ ......... ------ 1 Oct. 4, 1?58 1 Unknown. 
First Lieutenant E. C. Perry_ ... _._ ........ 1 Oct. 28,1858 1 Unknown. 
Second Lieutenant A. Boutwell ...... -..... 1 Oct. 28,1858 1 Jan. 28,1859 
Third Lieutenant G. H. Fitzhugh. ____ .. _._ 1 Oct. 28,1858 1 U11known. 
Enlisted men .... ________ . __ ...... -- .-- .... 63 Oct. 28,1858 1 Nov. 29,1858 
Recruits ..... _ ..• __ .... _._ .. _ .. ........ ---- 2 Nov. 10,1858 f 1 Dec. 22,1858 

1 Dec. 25,1858 

{ 5~ 
.. . .. - ~ .... - .. - .. - ..... Jan . 11, 1859 

Recruits _ .. _ .. _ ...... _ .................... 11 Nov. 13,1858 Jan. 28, 1859 
......................... Feb. 27,1859 Recruit . . ___ . _. _. _ .. __ . _. _. ___ .. ___ . __ . __ . _ Nov. 29,1858 1 Feb. 28,1859 

Recruit 1 Dec. 22,1858 1 .......................... Mar. 27, 1E'59 .............................................................. 1 Mar. 28, 1859 
Recruits_. ___ ... _ .. __ .. __ .. ____ ..... ----.- !) Jan. 28,1859 2 April 6, 1859 
Recruits ............ _ ........... ____ ...... 4 Feb. 7,1859 :n April 28,1859 Recruits_. ___ .. __ .. __ . ___ ... _____ . _. _ .. ___ 2 :Feb. 13, 1859 ........... ............................... 

Captain JohnS. Ford ......... _ .. ----- ... -- 1 Nov. 10, 1858 1 May 10,1859 
Lieutenant J. R. Gibbons ................ -- 1 Nov. 10, 1858 1 May 10,1859 
Lieutenant Aaron Burleson __ ... _ ........ _ 1 Nov. 10, 1858 1 May 10, 1859 
Enlisted men .............................. 87 Nov. 10,1858 f 8~ May 10, 1859 

Feb. 10, 1859 
Lieutenant W. N. P.Marlin _ ·------------- 1!2 Feb. 24,1859 22 April 4,1859 

Captain J. H. Brown, (commissioner) ___ . __ 1 June 28,1859 1 Sept. 12,1859 
First Lieutenant J. W. Newlin * . __ . ___ .. __ 1 ............................. 1 Sept. 1,1859 
Second Lieutenant J. Y. Carmack*._ .. _. __ 1 .............................. 1 Sept. 1,1859 
Surgeon W. E. Oakes* ___ ... __ . __ .... _ ..... 1 .............................. 1 Sept. 1,1859 
First Lieutenant W. H. Whitet ............ 1 ............................ 1 Sept. 12, 1859 
Second Lieutenant J.D. Bell t . _ ......... _ 1 ............................... 1 Sept. 4, 1859 
Surgeon H. Bradford t ............ ___ ...... 1 ............................. 1 Sept. 4, 1859 
Enlisted men. __ . ... .. __ .. _ ... __ ........... 55 ............................... 1 ............................. Aug . 15, 1859 
l~ecruits ...... __ ......... _ ................ 4 July 4,1859 { 1~ Aug. 21,1859 

Aug. 23, 1&59 

Recruits ...... _ ........................... 14 July 7, 1859 { 1~ Aug. 25,1859 
Sept. 1,1859 

Recruits ... 4 July 18, 1859 { 36 Sept. 4,1859 ........................................................ 1 Sept. 12, 1859 

*First detachment. t Second detachment. 

Bourland's company was the one authorized by the letters of October 
4, 1858, and March 19, 1859, from the governor, who acknowledged re­
ceipt of its rolls on the last-mentioned date. Concerning the services 
of this company there is nothing found further than what appears in 
Bourland's communications of October 18, 1858, and March 4, 18.59. 
Its existence, otherwise than on paper, was apparently unknown to the 
United States military authorities in Texas. 

Ford's company was the one authorized by the letter of November 2, 
1858, from the governor, who commissioned its officers on the lOth of 
the same month. Nothing further appears concerning the services of 
this company than is found in ~"ord's report of February 24, 1859. 

Brown's company was one which the peace commissioners on the part 
of the State were authorized to call out in the last resort to settle the 
difficulties at or near the Brazos agency. One of the commissioners, 
John Henry Brown, became captain of the company, and concerning 
its services nothing further appears. 

CLASS VIII. 

The history of the troops employed under this classification renders 
it necessary to turn to certain records of Congress and trace events 
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therein noted. For convenient reference let marks appear, to represent 
the bookR selected, as follows : 

A.-Senate Document No. 21, first session Thirty-sixth Congress, vol. 9. 
B.-Report of Committees (H. R.) No. 535, first session Thirty-sixth Congress, 

vol. 4. 
C.-House Executive Document No. 52, first session Thirty-sixth Congress, vol. 8. 
D.--House· Executive Document No. 81, first session Thirty-sixth Congress, vol. 12. 
E.-Senate Document No.2, first session Thirty-sixth Congress, vol. 2. 

Let numbers hereinafter specified be applied to the pages bearing 
upon the history of this class in connection with Juan N epomuceno Cor­
tinas. This extraordinary character was a soldier under General ·Arista 
at the time General Taylor's army arrived on the Rio Grande, (D, 2 ;) 
was at one time lieutenant under Garcia, but being detected selling 
horses given him for a remount, was dismissed, (D, 3 ;) murdered his em­
ployer, Mr. Somerville, in 1847; committed robberies in Texas in 1849, 
(C, 125 ;) had an indictment pending against him in 1850 in the Cameron 
County co\}rt of Texas, (C, 123 ;) continued to commit depredations in 
Texas in 1858 ; was then an outlaw, and for his numerous robberies was 
again indicted in the Cameron County court in the spring of 1859, (A, 
13 ;) the indictments were hushed or looked over; be visited .Browns­
ville two or three times a month, walked publicly in the streets, and 
went where he pleased, (A, 12 ;) when he came to town he was always 
well armed or bad some of his friends around him, making it dangerous 
to interfere with him, (D, 2; C, 21.) 

In the spring of 1859 a number of Mexicans, of reputed bad character, 
who infested certain sections of country bordering on the Nueces River, 
were driven away by a vigilance committee. These Mexicans banded 
together with Cortinas, and committed depredations thereafter, (A, 15.) 
He had a ranch, called San J m;e, a few miles from town, and whenever 
there was any danger of arrest, he would retire to that place and keep 
himself surrounded by a band of outlaws as desperate as himsP.lf, (D, 2.) 

July, 1859. 

13th.-Robert Shears, city marshal of Brownsville, was in the act of 
executing a warrant for the arrest of a disorderly Mexican, when Corti­
nas appeared, shot the marshal, took the Mexican, set him up on behind 
his horse, and rode off· unpursued. To the marshal, Cortinas subse­
quently sent messages that he was in command of a company of soldiers 
at Matamoras, and he offered money to reconcile and compromise the 
shooting affair; (A, 17.) 

September, 1859. 

28th.-Cortinas and his band entered Brownsville early in the morn­
ing, murdered five citizens, including· the jailer, and released ten or 
twelve murderers or robbers from the jail, (C, 31.) "The immediate 
object of the gang seemed to be to execute summary vengeance on all 
toward whom either Cortinas or any of his gang had private grudge. 
The party remained several hours in the place, charging through the 
streets in a most savage manner, calling for many persons whom they 
did not find, the gang shouting, ' Death to the Americans-viva. la 
republica Mexicana,' and threatening to hoist the Mexican flag on the 
staff· of our deserted garrison," (C, 20.) 

Cortinas made his headquarters in the deserted garrison of Fort 
Brown, and sent mounted men hunting up their enemies. He himself 
rode up to a store and called for spirits of turpentine. At this time 
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General Caravajal made his appearance ; sent for Cortinas, had a talk . 
with him, and, with the assistance of Don Manuel Tresino, induced the 
villain to leave town, (D, 4.) 

The gang rendezvoused at the ranch of Cortinas's mother, located a 
few miles above Brownsville, (D, 4.) From that place Cortinas issued 
a proclamation on the 30th of September, 1859. (For a copy, see C, 70.) 
General- TwiggR was written to for assistance, and was informed of the 
prevailing opinion at Brownsville: "That if there had been Govern­
ment troops in the garrison, such a number of men "-between fifty and 
a hundred-" could not have been induced to have entered the town," 
(E, 397.) 

Octobe1·, 1859. 

2d.-Eleven citizens of Brownsville recounted the Cortinas affair of 
September 28 and wrote: 

So long as the General Government kept a show of its authority by the occupation 
of its frontier posts along the river, we had no complaint for want of public order or 
the necessary municipal protection. Now it is different; we have seen that a single 
Mexican outlaw can raise a crowd in our midst of several hundred desperate, lawless, 
and licentious beings, and offend with impunity the most sacred laws of security, peace, 
public order, and civilization itself, (C, 20.) 

8th.-These statements were reported to the President, (C. 33, 34, 35.) 
lOth.-.A guard of twenty-two paid men were kept at Brownsville, 

(C. 40.) 
13th.-The governor gave W. G. Tobin authority to raise a company 

of ''one hundred men, for the purpose of assisting the civil authorities 
in the county of Cameron in quelling the lawless and bloody disturb­
ances at the city of Brownsville." (See annexed paper, 109.) During 
this time Cortinas continued to rob settlers to supply the wants of his 
command, &c., (A, 18.) Upon visiting Mexico he was treated well by 
its people, (A, 15.) 

23d.-He fortified his position and stopped travel, (C, 47.) 
24th.-A force composed of Americans and Mexicans attacked him 

and was defeated, losing two pieces of artillery, (C, 44 and 68.) 
25th.-The War Department directed General Twiggs to "issue the 

necessary instructions for the immediate re-occupation o~ Fort Brown 
by two companies of artillery," (C, 36.) 

25th.-N ew Orleans citizens petitioned the President "for immediate 
Government interposition," (C, 36.) 

26th.-Cortinas threatened to batter down the houses at Brownsville, 
if certain enemies were not delivered into his hands, (C, 69.) 

November, 1859. 

lst.-Two companies of regulars at Fort Clark notified to be in readi-
ness to re-occupy Fort Brown, (C, 41.) 

1st.-" The enemy daily increasing,'' (C, 49.) 
5th.-Mails stopped and inspected, (U, 52.) 
7th.-Tobin's company en route, (C, 52.) 
7th.-Exaggerated statements, (C, 49.) 
9th.-War Department, by telegraph, ordered a company from Baton 

Rouge to Fort Brown, (C, 54.) 
llth.-General Twiggs magnified the distresses, (C, 56.) 
12th.-Regulars to move in force ; Major Heintzelman to command, 

(01 54.) . 
12th.-The grand jury of Cameron County reported "on the disturb­

ances," (C. 92.) 
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12th.-Brownsville is safe; one hundred and twenty Texas rangers 
arrived, (C, 61.) 

14th.-General Twiggs wrote : 
Carbajal has five hundred men opposite the town of Rio Grande City, and is always 

Teady to join any side, (C, 56.) 

17th.-United States troops under Captain Ricketts arrived, (C, 62.) 
21st.-General Twiggs wrote: 
The reports concerning Cortinas prove to be mostly false. The order sending the 

troops to Brownsville has been countermanded, (A, 3.) 

21st.-Appraiser General W. P. Reyburn reported the actual condi­
tion of affairs, as they appeared to an "eye-witness," (C, 64.) 

22d.-The prompt action of the War Department in dispatching 
troops reflected honor upon the Government.-Hatch, (0, 64.) 

22d.-Rangers under Tobin, about 250, including Captain Kennedy's 
and the Indianola company,'~ again started out to exterminate Cortinas," 
but were not successful, (D, 6.) 

23d.-"The Cortinas affair is over."-Twiggs, (C, 73.) 
23d.-Cortinas proclaims, "I am ready for the combat," (0, 80.) 
23d.-Herald extra: "Cortinas is still carrying on his high-handed 

outrages." Full particulars, (C, 82.) 
25th.-Letter of this date from Brownsville, (C, 84.) 
26th.-Editorial on Cortinas's last proclamation, (C, 78.) 
28th.-" Nothing reliable from· Cortinas."-Twiggs, (C, 73.) 
28th.-Reliable gentlemen reported particulars to the President, 

(C, 74.) 
JJecernbm·, 1859. 

lst.-Captain James B. Ricketts, First Artillery, wrote from Fort · 
Brown, (C, 76.) 

4th.-Commissioner Navarro reported that on this date Major Heintzel­
man "completely routed Cortinas's force," (A, 9; but see 14th.) 

5th.-Major D. D. Vinton reported information obtained through 
spies, (C, 77.) . 

5th.-Major Heintzelman, with his command of five officers and one 
hundred and seventeen men of the Regular Army, entered Brownsville. 
In Fort Brown were Captain Ricketts and forty-eight men of the First 
Artillery, (D, 7.) 
. 6th.-Captain Tobin, with about one hundred and fifty rangers, placed 
himself under Major Heintzelman's command, (D, 7.) 

lOth.-" Cortinas has two hundred and fifty men from Mexico, and is 
in a stockade nine miles above Brownsville," (C, 86.) 

14th.-Return of troops of the Brownsville expedition, (D, 7 4, or C, 
91.) Regulars, aggregate, 165; Captain Tobin's company Texa~ Rangers, 
65; Captain Tomlinson's company Texas Rangers, 35; Captain Hamp­
ton's company Texas Rangers, 20. 

14th.-Expedition moved against Cortinas's bands, and "routed his 
camps," (0, 87, 89.) 

15th.-Expedition returned to Fort Brown, (C, 87.) 
16th.-He-enforcements of regular troops ordered to Brownsville by 

department commander, (C, 88.) · 
19th.-Scouts reported "no signs of any of Cortinas's people," (C, 96.) 
21st.-Expedition left Fort Brown with additional forces, viz, (C, 97:) 

:Major Ford's company of Texas Rangers, 55; Captain Herron's company 
of Texas Rangers, 30, (D, 72.) The enemy was routed, and Major 
Heintzelman reported "the whole country is laid waste. * * In 
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Rio , Grande City Cortinas plundered the stores and murdered several 
Americans," (C, 98.) 
. 27th.-Uortinas's band supposed to be broken up, (A, 9.) 

27th.-Field return of expedition, (D, 72.) 
28th.-Re-enforcement referred to on 16th ordered relieved from the 

operations of the order of that date; (C, 98.) 
30th.-" No more definite intelligence as to the whereabouts of Cor­

tinas," (C, 99.) 
Jmvuary, 1860. 

12th.-lVIajor Tobin ordered by State commissioners to Brownsville. 
His command to be mustered out, (C, 116.) It was "without organiza­
.tion, muster-rolls, or anything· like discipline," according to the commis­
sioners' report to the governor, (A, 10.) 

12th.-The State commissioners asked advice of Major Heintzelman 
concerning the muster-out of Tobin's Texas volunteers, (A, 6.) 

13th.-Evidence of depredations committed by Cortinas's bands, (C, 
123, 127, 128, 129, 130.) 

15th.-Heintzelman reported : 
The country is full of all sorts of rumors abont Cortinas, but they do not merit 

repeating. Thus far I have not been able to ascertain of there being any force em­
bodied, or even of his having been on this side of the river since the day of his defeat, 
(C, 105.) 

21st.-Major Heintzelman reached Fort Brown, (C, 106.) . 
29th.-He reported the condition of affairs and decided to remain at 

Fort Brown until the country became more quiet, (C, 106.) 
3lst.-State Commissioner Navarro reported to the governor regard­

ing the situation, (A, 4, or C, 117.) 

February, 1860. · 

2d.-State commissioners asked Major Heintzelman's opinion "as to 
what force of Texas rangers will, for the present, be necessary to be 
kept in service for the protection of the frontier," (C, 118, or D, 62.) 

2d.-Answer to above: "In my opinion, the two companies of rangers 
now in the service of the State are sufficient. I have but one company 
of cavalry at my disposal, and this force I consider entirely inadequate 
for the security of the frontier."-Heintzelman, (0, 118, or D, 62.) 

2d.-State commissioners issued special order to JohnS. Ford, com­
manding Texas rangers on the Rio Grande frontier: ''From and after 
this date your movements, and the troops under your command, will be 
directed by · Major Heintzelman, or other commanding officer of the 
United States Army on this frontier. You will therefore obey all orders 
emanating from such officer," (C, 119, or D, 62.) 

2d.-Major Heintzelman acknowledged two volunteer ·companies of 
Ford and Littleton as placed under his orders, (C, 115.) 

2d.-Also reported: "With Captain Stoneman's company, and two 
companies of rangers in service of the United States, I am endeavoring 
to protect the country as far as Ringgold Barracks." Had "received 
instructions from the commander of the department to collect the names 
of the killed and ascertain the damage done by Cortinas and his com­
mand," (0, 109.) 

4th.-Cortinas on the Mexican side fired on Ford's men at La Bolsa; 
also, upon the steamer Ranchero about half amile above. Ford decided 
to cross the Rio Grande, (C, 114, or D, 63.) 

4th.-Heintzelman instructed Ford, (D, 96.) 
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4tb.-Some rangers under Major Tobin and Captain Tomlinson were 
fired upon from the Mexican side, (0, 115.) 

5tb.-Ford crossed into Mexico; but, upon request of General Garcia, 
was ordered to return to the Texas side. Garcia was asked to co-op­
erate with United States forces and in putting down the marauders, (C, 
113; D, 66.) 

5th.-About this time Cortinas retired to La Mesa, six miles back 
from the river, (C, 137.) 

5th.-General Garcia expressed "the strongest desire to do all in his 
power to arrest Cortinas and break up his forces," (0, 111.) 

5th.-Ford recrossed his forces; they and the regulars all camped 
together, (D, 70.) 

6th.-Tomlinson's company kept in service by State commissioners. 
Detachments from it accompanied Ford to Mexico, (C, 119, 120.) 

6th.-Cortinas said to be at Bengos, some ninety miles back of Rey­
nosa, (D, 97.) 

6th.-'robin to the governor reported concerning his command, (C, 119.) 
6th.-Maior Heintzelman wrote to the Mexican military comma;ndant 

at Matamoras, (D, 67.) 
8th.-The governor issued "general orders to all Texans in the serv­

ice" concerning the loss of horses or arms, and the enforcement of dis­
cipline, (C, 144.) 

9th.-Major Heintzelman exposed the absurdity of "reclamations'' 
made by a Mexican commandant for certain jacals burned in Mexico, 
(D, 9'7.) 

10th.-Additional regular troops placed at the disposal of Major Heint­
zelman, (C, 112.) 

14th.-Texas had at this time in the field ''a force supposed to amount 
to near or quite a thousand men, at State expense," (State resolution, 
B, 2.) 

15th.-The governor, to the Secretary of War, wrote of the deplorable 
condition of affairs in the State. Indian troubles unexampled in the 
last ten years, forays from Mexico, and an empty treasury. Appre­
hended serious results, '' should not the Federal arm be speedily raised 
and extended in behalf of our suffering frontier," (A, 19, or C, 116.) 

15th.-State commissioners to the governor reported the causes, origin, 
and progress of the disturbances on the Rio Grande, (A, 9, or C, 120.) 

20th.-The governor to the President, through the Secretary of War, 
referred to the above report of the 15th, and besought the immediate 
interposition of the Federal arm in behalf of Texas, (0, 131.) 

2lst.-The Secretary of War directed the commanding officer at Fort 
Bliss, Texas, to protect American citizens in the vicinity of that post 
against the banditti, (0, 131.) · 

24th._:_Oolonel R. E. Lee, commanding Department of Texas, ordered 
to resort to the most vigorous measures for the capture of Cortinas and 
his band, and, if necessary, to pursue them beyond the limits of the 
United States, (0, 133.) 

24th.-Captain Ford reported: 
Cortinas is not at Mesa at present. He received a notice from Matamoras to enable 

him to be out of the way when the troops from that point should arrive. They are now 
almost opposite this camp, and will doubtless report their inability to find the redoubt­
able bandit general. The same farce was enacted by General Garcia, who, notwith­
standing he had an interview with Cortinas, avowed ignorance of his whereabouts, 
(D, 71.) 

28th.-The governor notified : " An officer of great distinction and 
ability has been dispatched to take command of the Department of 
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Texas. Strong reinforcements will be sent into Texas soon, (Annexed 
paper, 112, or C, 134.) 

Major Heintzelman reported on the dates following, viz : 
29th.-" Cortinas and his followers have dispersed, and I do not believe 

that another effort will be made by him to collect a force," (C, 137.) 

March, 1860. 

lst.-Full statement of operations on the Rio Grande expedition. 
"Cortinas was now a great man," (D, 2.) 

lst.-List of persons killed by Cortinas, (D, 75.) 
lst.-Damages accrued, $336,826~21, (D. 13,) or $336,879.21, (D, 77.) 
2d.-Colonel R. E. Lee, commanding Department of Texas, directed to 

" notify the Mexican authorities on the Rio Grande frontier that they 
must break up and disperse the bands of banditti concerned in the out­
rages which have been committed for some time past in that quarter 
upon the persons and property of American citizens; and, further, that 
they will be held by you responsible for the faithful performance of this 
plain duty on their part," (C, 134.) 

3d.-The colonel was further directed to employ force to break up the 
banditti on the Mexican side, if the .1.\Iexican authorities failed to do so, 
(C, 134.) 

5th.-The President sent to the Senate of the United States a commu­
nication from the Secretary of vVar concerning the hostilities on the 
Rio Grande, (A, 1.) 

7th.-Reports at Fort Brown "that Cortinas is at the rancho of Reys­
tano, a few leagues above, collecting men to cross over; also, that he 
slept last night in Matamoras." " Orders to cross after Cortinas, and 
the arrival to-day of company G, Second Cavalry, have created much 
alarm in 1\fatamoras, and may induce the authorities to act more effi­
ciently," (C, 137.) 

8th.-Colonel Harvey Brown was at Brownsville and reported that 
theri. '' all was quiet on the frontier." The disturbances were believed 
to be over and Cortinas to have given up the contest and to have re­
tired into the interior of Mexico. Major Heintzelman has officially re­
Jlorted the war to be ended, (C, 139.) The correctness of Colonel 
Brown's report was doubted, (D, 93.) 

8th.-The governor of Texas tendered to the War Department the 
services of five thousand Texas volunteers, (C, 138.) 

12th.-Additional regular troops ordered to Texas, (C, 139.) 
12th.-Governor Sam Houston wrote to the President, through the 

Secretary of War, to vindicate himself from certain misapprehensions, 
and to obtain, if possible, protection for the frontier, reviewing difficul­
ties past, present, and apprehended, (0, 139.) 

12t.h.-Colonel Lee wrote: 
I shall proceed at once to the Rio Grande and use every exertion to put an end to 

these incursions, if they still continue, (C, 145.) 

14th.-The United States authorities to Governor Houston, declined to 
accept volunteers, and referred to Colonel Brown's dispatch, (paper 
115, or C, 145.) 

15th.-Copies of correspondence of 28th February, and 8th and 14th 
1\Iarch, between the governor and the Secretary of \Var, sent t,o the Sen­
ate and subsequently printed. (See Senate Document No. 24, first ses­
sion Thirty-sixth Congress.) 

15th.-Colonel Lee wrote at San ~1\.ntonio: " I take my departure this 
morning for the Rio Grande," (D, 14.) 
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18th.-United States troops operating in l\Iexico, (D, 79, 80, 81.) 
20th.-All quiet in the section of countr.v near Fort Duncan, (D, 82.) 
21st.-The United States troops returned to the 'rexas side. Cortinas 

at Reynosa, (D, 82.) · 
24th.-M~jor Tobin, of the volunteers, wrote a report to the governor 

concerning Texas troops that accompanie.d the reguhirs into Mexico, 
(D, 99.) 

26th.-Colonel Harvey Brown, at Fort Brown, set forth the correctness 
of his former report and wrote a detailed statement of the difficulties. 
Pronounced newspaper reports unreliable, &c., (0, 147.) 

April, 1860. 

2d.-Colonel Lee notified the Mexican authorities of his authority and 
of their responsibilit,y, (D, 84, 102; for reply, see D, 104.) 

7th.-He also specially notified the civil and military authorities at 
Reynosa., (D, 85.) They replied on the lOth, (D, 101.) 

9th.-He issued an order directing his subordinate officers to see 
that the Mexican authorities fulfilled their obligations, (D, 88.) 

11th.-He, having descended the left bank of the Rio Grande, "found 
the frontier on the river quiet," (D, 83.) 

11th.-The governor expressed a desire that the rangers on the Rio 
Grande should remain under Colonel Lee's orders, provided the Genm'al 
Government would assume their payment and subsistence, (D, 88.) 

Colonel Lee wrote : 
I have received no authority from the Secretary of 'Var to receive into the service 

of the United States any portion of volunteers; and tllough surry to part with troops 
that have performed good and efficient service in the disturbances on this frontier, I 
am yet unable to retain them on the conditions you propose, (D, 89.) 

The correspondence relative to this class shows that several compa­
nies of volunteers operated against Cortinas. They were commanded 
by Thompson, Ford, Herron, Kennedy, Littleton, Tomlinson, and 
Hampton, and one, in addition to these, perhaps, was called the In­
dianola company. 

Claims are submitted for only two companies, and from the vouchers 
they appear as follows : 

1. Captain J. H. Hampton's, thirty-seven men, mustered in by Tobin, 
twenty-eight on 12th November and nine on the 18th December, 1859; 
aU mustered out January 1, 1860. Concerning the nine men, a pencil­
note, which appears on the roll, reads: "By reference to Captain Little­
ton's first muster-roll it will be seen that these men are placed thereon 
for the same time of service, consequently they shorud not appear on 
this roll." Littleton's roll is not submitted. 

2. Captain H. W. Berry's, forty-seven men, mustered in by Tobin, 
November 10, 1859; mustered out December 20, 1859; organized at 
Victoria. This company is not referred to in the correspondence above 
noted. 

17th.-" The last reliable account of Cortinas was that he was retir­
ing farther into the interior of Mexico. He bad with him his family 

' and two men, and was more than one hundred miles from the frontier. 
General Garcia informed Major Heintzelman, on the 13th instant, th.::tt 
orders had been given by the Mexican authorities to arrest him (Corti­
nas) wherever found," (D, 100.) 

The origin of the Oortinas difficulties is accounted for as follows: 
"The origin of the difficulty is owing to a falling out between parties mixed np 

with private affairs, and is so complicated that it is difficult to ascertain the truth, no 
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uonbt much exaggerated, and not improved by demonstrations on the part of som e 
rangers and citizens who have effected nothing as yet."~Ricketts, Decetuber 1, 1859, * 
(C, 76.) Captain Ricketts was the first United States commandant who arriYe~L at 
Brownsville, after the disbnrbances commenced. 

CLASS IX. 

lnd,ian depredations 1860. 

February 3, "auima1s of residents in the immediate vicinity of Camp 
Colorado, driven off." 

Night of the 17th, "mule yard at Camp Cooper, over which a senti­
nel was posted, was broken in and the whole herd driven off. Twenty­
three of the animals were recovered by a party seut at daylight in pur­
suit, but the remainder, forty mules and -three · horses, were not over­
taken. The force at the post was so much reduced by scouts then out 
that tbe detachment sent uuder Lieutenant Love, adjutant of the regi­
ment, was principally composed of the band. The followiug night all 
the animals from the Indian agency, two or three miles distant from 
Camp Cooper, were stolen." * * * "A citizen residing 
within two miles of Fort Mason was shot, within one hundred yards of 
his house, by three Indians on foot." * * * " The 
troops in the department are posted over a long line of frontier, and 
yet, from the paucity of their numbers, are unable to protect the settle­
ments." (R. E. Lee, page 135, House Executive Document 52, first ses­
sion Thirty-sixth Congre~s.) 

On the 7th of this same month "there came fifteen Indians into the 
neighborhood of Robert Martin, attacking several families, which were 
defended by brave spirits of the frontier." The Indians, howfwer, killed 
two women and took two more away as captives. The latter subse­
quently made their escape, "and reached the settlements entirely 
naked." (See pages 8 and 9, House Report No. 535, of the Committee 
on Indian Affairs, first session Thirty -sixth Congress.) 

March 8, Major Van Dorn, at Fort Mason, wrote concerning reports 
of Indian depredations committed in that vicinity, and referred to the 
reduced force under his command and to their inefficiency for service. 
(Page 79, House Executive Document No. 81, first session Thirty-sixth 
Congress.) 

March 9, the governor issued an. order that "the chief justice of each 
county in danger from the Indians will organize a minute-detachment 
in his county," to protect the inhabitants of their respective counties 
from Indian incursions. (Page 143, House Executive Document No. 52, 
first session Thirty-sixth Congress.) 

March 12, the governor explained his position in relation to calling 
out vo1unteers, and wrote: 

I cannot but urge most earnestly the calling out of a regiment of rangers by the Fed­
eral Government to protect the lives and property of our citizens. (Ibid., 139-142.) 

By an act of Congress approved April 8, 1858, a regiment of Texas 
volunteers was authorized; but, as an appropriation for the support of 
such an organization did not appear, that force was not raised. Hence 
the correspondence in relation to an appropriation sought in 1859, found 
in papers 98 to 102, hereunto annexed. 

April 13, E. W. Cave, secretary of the State, wrote to Ron. John 
Hemphill: 

Notwithstanding the fact that we have now in the field a minute-detachment in al­
most every frontier county, the depredations continue. 

* We have come to the conclusion, from our observation and from testimony of divers persons. that 
the difficult.y was originally occasioned by a private feud between .Juan Nepomuceno Cortinas and suu. · 
dry individuals of thtl county of Cameron, (C, 120, 124, State Commissioners' report; also, C, 136.) 
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The utmost vigilance is kept up; active scouts are continually out in about twen ty 
counties, besides the force which has been sent from the interior, but Indians still are 
seen and losses are daily reported. 

About five hundred men will make an expedition against the Indians, starting from 
Fort Belknap on the 1st of May. 

Texas has now over one thousand men in the field. The treasury will not hold out 
long if this drain upon it continues. 

* * * * 
The people look to Congress for aid. (See page 105, House Executive Document ~o. 

81, first session Thirty-sixth Congress.) 

April14~ Governor Houston wrote a lengthy communication to the 
Secretary of \Var, dwelling upon the efficiency of Texas rangers when 
operating against Indians, showing his views of the necessity for their 
employment, and informing the General Government that the State at 
that time emplo:red the following, viz : 

23 detachments of 15 men each, with a reserve of ten men each, force.... .. .. . • 515 
3 companies of70 men each, force ......... --·...... . ........................ 210 
4 companies of 40 men each, force ........................ " . .. • .. .. .. .. .. .. .. 160 
4 companies of 90 men each, force ......... ~ _.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. . .. 360 

34 organizations, total force ............... _.. .. .. .. . .. . .. . .. . .. . . .. .. . .. .. .. 1, 305 

He deplored the misfortunes of the bleeding frontier, and stated : 
Believing that when the facts are presented to Congress, the dictates of humani t y 

will rise above all party or personal considerations, I yet look for aid from that quar­
ter. The American heart must feel for a people of like race and kindred; and though 
sectional considerations may prevail at times, they will, I believe, be forgotten when 
the catalogue of bal'barities, by which our frontier has been devastated, is rernernbcre(1. 
(lbid., 90-95.) 

Notwithstanding the statement above, that thirty-four organizations, 
making an aggregate force of one thousand three hundred and five 
men, were employed during the times referred to in this class of facts , 
yet, upon turning to the vouchers or rolls submitted by the State, only 
one company appears. It is reported as follows : 

Officers and enlisted men. .Aggregate 
force. 

I 
Enrolled or 

mustered 
in. 

----------------------------------------l---------

1 

Bet'n .Tan. 1 
and.Tune1, 

Captain Ed. Burleson . ..................................... . 

First Lieutenant .r. E. McCord ............................ . . 
Second Lien tenant .Tames Carson....... .. ...... . . . ....... . 

~~l~~~d ~;e~·-~-~~~~~- ::::::::::::::::::::::: :::~~:~:: :::: :·. 

1 
1 
1 

75 I ::~~~~~~ : : : : : . ..... do .... . 
.. .... do .... . 

Dischar ged. 

Sept. 7, 1860. 

Do. 
Do. 
Do. 
Do . 

It is stated on the roll that this company was called into the service 
of the State by order of Governor Houston. Nothing further concern­
ing the history of this company, or of the thirty-three orgauizations 
necessary to make the total employed, appears in the evidence found. 

THE ACCOUNTS. 

The foregoing remarks exhibit the character of the troops and the 
circumstances under which they were employed; also, a history of their 
services, so far as the facts are ascertained. 

With a view to a settl€ment of a part of the claims now under con­
sideration, preliminaries were entered into before the rebellion existed; 
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:and, in order to sbow bow far they were advanced, a speedy review of 
-certain facts is necessary. 

A resolution of the legislature of Texas, approved November 23,1857, 
inaugurated the project of seeking from the United States re-imburse­
ment of expenditures made by the State on account of its rangers or 
volunteers. (See paper 79.) 

The State comptroller prepared a statement 18th of September, 1858, 
showing the following amounts appropriated: 
Paid ...... __ ...... _ . _ ......... _ ...... _ .... _ ... _ ....... $148, 998 75 
Assumed by State ........ __ .................... _ .... _ _ _ 35, 545 76 

Making the claim. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 184, 544 51 
all "for the pay, subsistence, and forage of voluflteer troops called 
into service for the protection of the frontier since the 28th day of Feb­
ruary, 1855." (See pages 44-47, House Executive Document No. 27, 
second session Thirty-fifth Congress.) The governor inclosed this state­
ment to the Seeretary of War on the 8th of October, 1858, and sought 
re-imbursement to the State. (Paper 92.) 

The claim having reached the Capitol, the committees in Congress, to 
whom it was referred, called upon the Secretary of vVar for ofiieial in­
formation concerning the troops. Se\eral attempts appear to have 
been made to fnrni~h in return "a eopy of everything" connected with 
the case. (See papers 98-102, 116.) 

On the claim alwve referred to a favorable report was made by the 
Honse Committee on Military Affairs January 28, 1859, apparently 
:ignoring the fact that the six companies that were under General Smith 
had already ~een paid by the United States Government for the time 
ubsequent to muster into United States service. (See No.143,Reports 

.of Committees, seeond session Thirty-fifth Congre·ss.} 
An act of Congress shortly appeared, approved March 3, 1859, to 

re-imburse the amount paid by the State on account of the six compa­
nies called out lJy General Persifer F. SmHh. (Stat., 10.) As that act 
could not satisfy more than one-third of the claim the matter was 
again agitated during the first session of the Thirty-sixth Congress, and 
caused some correspondence. (See papers 113, 114, and 116.) Then 
appeared section 6 of the act of J nne 21, 1860, specifying that "a11 
moneys advaneed by the State of Texas in payment of volunteers called 
out in defense of the frontier of that State since the 28th of February, 
1855," shall be re-imbursed; "Provided, the Secretary of 'Var shall be 
satisfied tha.t there was necessity for calling out these troops, or that 
they were called out by coutpetent authority, and that the amount so 
·claimed was actually paid by the said State, anu that the amount here-
by provided for shall not exceed the sum of ....... . ..... $123, 544 51 '7 

This amount was specified because the appropriation of 
March 3,1859, for the six companies, covered the sum of Ill, 000 00 

And these two amounts taken together made the total 
clai rued ........ - ................ - . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 184, 544 51 

====-========== 
This Department called upon the State authorities for a full state­

m<:>nt of the aecount, sustained by original vouchers. (See ,paper 117, 
September 11, 18GO.) 

_Regarding the pro-viso to seetion 6, act of J tme 21, 1860, Secretary 
Flo;yd decided that he was "satisfied that there was a necessity for 
calling out the Texas volunteers mentioned.," and lie instructed the 

H. Ex. 277--3 
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Second Auditor to audit the State claim as soon as the proper vouchers 
were received by him. (See paper 118, of November 15, 1860.) 

The Second and Third Auditors snbmitted their reports upon charges 
in the claim pertaining to their offices, respectively, under date of Feb­
ruary, 1861. The Auditors objected to the character of the vouchers, 
and called for additional evidence or information, and their reports 
were approved by the Secretar.v of vVar during tlle same month. (See 

. papers 121 and 122.) The State comptroller asked the return of all 
the papers in the case on. the 23d of February, 1861, and nearly all of 
them were returned. (See papers 123, 124.) The breaking out of 
the rebellion shortly put au end to further negotiations, and for ten 
years the papers were buried as archives of the State. 

In 1871 they were resurrected, and the annexed papers (127-135) 
show that the official action taken on the case under the last presenta­
tion. 
The claim upon which congressional legislation was had 

up to 1861, amounted to. __ .. _ ....... _ . _ ........ _ . . . . . $184,544 51 
The abstracts now submitted ha\e dropped 

this total appropriated by the State, and in­
~tead h_ave taken up the amount paid thel'e-
from, VIZ : . • • . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • • . . . . . $ 152,27 4 6() 

To this has been added amounts not hereto-
fore considered, viz: 

For payments to companies of Bourland, 
Brown, and Ford ... . ........ . ......... - 57,382 33 

.And for advances made for services on the Rio 
Grande . __ ... _ . _____ .. _ .. ___ . . ___ . _ . . . . . 13,354 77 

Thus increasing the former claim by this 
amount .. _ ... _ . _ ........ _ ... _____ .. ___ ...... ___ . _ . _. 38,467 25 

And making the total of the present claim .. _ ... _ . . . . . . . . 223,011 76 

· Passing to the accounts, let them be audited with suppositions of the 
following: 

First. That a law autllorizes their settlement on just and equitable 
principles. 

Second. That proof of loyalty is waived by an act of Congress. 
Third. That the decision given concerning the necessity for calling 

out the troops referred to in the first claim is satisfactory. · 
With these suppositions adopted the accounts correctly audited under 

existing rules will show tlle following: 

CLASS I. 

On the 14th January, 1856, the State appropriated $61,000 on account 
of the six companies of volunteers called out by General P ersifer F. 
Smith, of the United States Army. 

On the 18th September, 1858, in remlering an abstract of the expen­
ditures made from the amount appropriated, the State comptroller rep­
resented that these companies were called into service on the date when 
they were mustered into the service of the United States ; and from said 
abstract, as printed on pages 44to 47 of Executive DocumeutNo. 27, (H. 
R') Thirty-fifth Congress, second session, it would at once be inferred 
that the State paid these companies for the identical time they were in 
the United States service, and for which, I have stated heretofore~ they 
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had been already or (up to the 30th June, 1859) were being paid by the 
General Government. 

Upon referring to the papers accompanying the claims filed, it is found 
that the State paid for expenses alleged to have been incurred prior to 
thp, said time, as an analysis of the accounts will now show: 

Captain GUes S. Boggel38's company. 
Voucher. 

1. G. S. Bog-g-ess, pay antl a.Uowances as ca.ptain for three months. Dates 
of service not. stated. Payment made Aprill, 1856. ~'\mount ....... . 

On the 4th of Fel>ruary, 1856, Boggess \Yas appointetl agent to pay 
the meml>ers of his company who were mustered into State service No­
vember 2, 1854, nuder a requisition from General Smith, they to be 
paid at the same Tate per month "as they were aJt1~nnud pa,id b~7 

the Uuite(l States while in their service." 
Iu the written instrnctions, given to thiR agent by the governor of 

Texas, the follow:ing appear::;: 
''Any assignment from ully member of said company of his pay 

which does uot show on its face t.hat the as:;;iguor knew at the tirne of 
its execution that be was entitle1l to three mouths' pay from the State 
will ouly he recognizefl as conYeying to the nssigrwe the pn.'' due the 
as::,ignor for the time he was actnally in the service of the Stn tt·, which 
time of sen'ic<-l was, for the mernben; of yonr company, one month ami 
twenty-one 1layH." ( SPe paper :No. ti6.) 

From these iustrnct.ilmH it. is iuferrctl that. the membe1·s of the com­
pany bad claims against t.be State for n time when tb<~y \Verc not in any 
t:;ervice, whi<:h tillle was prior to the dnte of Geiwral SntHh's call of 
November 1, 1854, nml that. if fillY in1liYidual, nufortnuately for him­
self, overlooked such clnims, then he W:lS to lw paid ouly for the time 
intervening between the llate of call (or the date when the organiza­
tion was accepted by the govemor) and the date of muster into United 
States service, i. e., one month aml twenty-one days, because that was 
the time he wns '· actnally in tbe service of the State." 

It is l'ema.rkable, ho\-vever, thttt not one of the members overlooked 
the importance of maldng a full chtim, or that, if be di1l so, his friend, 
who -..vas captain, paymaster, and agent, ditl not; for, witb ·powers of 
attorney from twenty-seven members of the company, the captain set 
ont by dra,wing three mouths' pa.y and allowances, and every member 
followed in his wake. As a, general rule, the Unite<l States Goveru­
ment. pays only for serYices renclerell or for t.lw time a person or party 
is actually employed in its sen~ice. As General Smith'::; call was ma<le 
on the 1st of November, 1854, and this compauy was mustered into 
State service on the day following that date, the inference to be tlrawu 
is that the United States Government, is responsible for the pay and 
allowances accruiug to the members of tLis company aud for ex­
penses properly incurred on its accouut from the 2<1 day of November, 
1854, as it was then organized and recoguized by the governor under 
General Smith's call. In view of the foregoing facts, this amount be­
ing for servicPs for one mouth and twen ~y-one days imwelliately prior 
to December 2:~," 1854, should be allowed ................ - ..•....... 
The baJancc claimed on this voucher, including 60 cents overcharged 

on servants' clothing·, being an improper charge against the Unitetl 
States, shonllt be disallowed ................................. . ... . 

2. C. J. Garri son, Recond lientewwt ................ ---· ·----· .. $338 10 
As on vouclH'r 1, except tbat this amount shoultl be allowed ....... . 
and this disa.llowed .. - ............................................ . 

3. Eli \Voo<1, first lieutenant ...... . ..... ·----· ............ ---- .$323 10 
As on voneher 1, except that thi::; amount sl.lould be snspeuded for 

want of the name anllllescription of the officer's servant ....•..... 
And this disallowed._ . ............ ............. - ••................. 

4. Pay-ron of enlisted men : 
Dates of service not stated_ ............................. $6, 355 10 
Ad<l for error, iu addition .... ---·------ ____ .. ---- .... ---- 77 10 

Amount of voucher ..........••....•................ _... 6, 432 20 
-----
~----

*Date when mustered into the United States service. 

$383 10 

216 75 

166 36 

191 25 
146 85 

182 75 
140 3 
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Voucher. 
Item 1. ·william C. ·wright, first sergeant ................ . 
Item 2. J. W. Shelton, sergeant ......................... .. 
Item 3. P. G. vVlwtstouc, sergeant ........... - .......... . _ 
Item 4. R. W. Hall, sergeant ............................ . 
Item 5. J. T. R::wkin, corporal. ......... .. .......... _ .. .. 
Item 6. Alex. Earp, corporal ........................... _. 
Item 7. George S. Powell, corporal .... _ ....... _ ...... . _ . . 
Item 8 .. James L. Powell, corporal ........... . ..... . . _ .. _. 
Item 9. G. vV. Jones, bugler ........... . ................ __ 
As on voucher 1, except that tllis amonnt shonll he nllowe(l. 

$104 50 
95 50 
95 flO 
95 50 
rl3 10 
H3 10 
8;~ 10 
tl:3 10 
80 50 

And this, disa11owed ................. .. ......................... .. 
Item 10 .• J. F. vValker, bngler .. _. _ ... __ . . . . . . . . .. .. . . . . . . $80 50 

Not receipted; mnouut not embraced iu total charged; no action 
required. 
Items 11-52, 54, G5, and G7-ss· are for pay and allo,Yat·ces for sevent;y-

tbree privates, at, $77.10 each ......................... . $5, 628 ~W 
As on voucher 1, except that this amonut shonlu be allowcu ....... . 
And this, disallowed ............ . ................................ . 

5. G. S. Boggess, services H;5 paymast,er or agent, for paying off Yolun­
teers, dates of service not stated, 5 p er cent. commission for dis-
bursing $15,114 ....................................... $755 70 
A copy of the appoiutmeut of Boggess is filed. It states that on [L 

settlement of his acconntR with the comptroller, a "reasonable com­
pensation" ·will be allowed. No receipt is submitted, but a certiticate 
of tuc comptroller states, under date of February 2B, 1860, "receipt 
of Giles S. Boggess for the abo\·e amount vf $755.70 is on file." 

The expense of employing au ageut to pay these troops for serYices 
after November 2, 1854, was a contingency necessarily conpled with 
their employment; therefore this voucher is admissible for 5 per cent. 
on the amount favorably considered by the United States on pay­
ments made by Boggess for or on account of his nnd Walker's com­
pany, as the paymaster'~:' duties specially pertained to s::tid companies. 
The amonnt found. admissible is $6,511.5:3, and the per cent. thereon 

is a proper charge, bnt should be suspended for want of a proper 
receipt and until the vouchers paid oy him are perfected ......... . 

The balance chargetl on thi3 voucher, being an improper charge 
against the United States, should be disallo,Yed .... _ ... __ ..... _ ... 

G. Tbouias M. Like11S, services rendered the Stat. 1~ of T exas in raising and 
musteri11g into service a company of nwgers in the yenr lt-!54 .. $50 

The eharge is indefiuit,e as to tho time and comp::tny. Dates of ser­
vice aml rate of compensatiou are not stat-ed, mH.l the necessity for 
the expense is not appare11 t,. The awouut slwnlll be disallowed .... 

7. 0. B. \Vade, two and one-half mo11tlls' ~ervice a:,; acting assistant snr-
geon, at ~~1 00 .................................... ____ .... $250 OU 

The receipt is inforlll:tl. Orville I3. \Vade WtUI a private in Boggess'>; 
comprmy, alHl the ehnrge fur him "·as considered as item tl5, of 
voucher 4. This amonut should be disallowed ........ _ .......... . 

8: Andrew J. Miller, services as contraet physician for Boggess's com­
p::tny, from November 2 to 17, 1854, fifteen days, at $100 per 
month . ........... ·----· -............ ·-·-·····-·-----· .... $50 00 

The original contract is filed, accompanied with a receipt of John C. 
Miller, as administrator of A. J. Miller, deceased. The charge is 
r easonable and rests within the scope of time for whicll re-imburse­

. ment of pay and allowances, on account of thL~ company, is sug­
gested, and, if that suggestion shall be fhvoral>ly cousitlered, this 
amount sllonlcl be allowed ........... _ .......................... . 

9. N. vV. Ray, three month&' extra duty, pay as blacksmith and far-
rier .• ___ , . ___ • • • . _ •• _ .• _ • _ •. ___ .•. _ ......•• _ . . .• _ • • . . • . • . $36 00 
This wan's nawe is fouud in item 11 of voucher 4. 
The duty above mentioned waR that for which Lo was borne upon 

tl1e roll, not extra duty, but regular dm,y. 
This amount, being an improper charge, should be disallowed ...... . 

10. D. M. Fields, 36 l>nshels corn, furnished for the companies of Captuins 
Boggess autl :Fit,zhugh on the 21.1 December, 18G4; price per l>nsbcl, 
$1.75 - ••• -- .• ---- •••• --- • - •. --.--. ----- .. --- ••.• - •.•• -. ·- $63 00 
In connection with this charge, the following appears in a report 

datf·d Treasury Department, Third Auditor's Office, February 2:~, 1861, 
v iz: 

"The circumstances of the rn.ising, org·anizing, and muster into ser­
vice of the above six companies are set forth in ruy report to the Sec-

$455 36 
318 54 

3, 189 37 
2,438 93 

~25 58 

430 12 

50 00 

250 00 

50 00 

36 00 
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Voucher. 

11. 

12. 

13. 

14. 
15. 
15. 

16. 
17. 
18. 
18. 
19. 
19. 
19. 
20. 
20. 
21. 
22. 

22. 

22. 
23. 
23. 
24. 
25. 

25. 

26. 

27. 

retary of vVar upon the claim of S.M. Swinson, of .Austin, Texa~, dateu 
June 5, 1855, which is snbmit.ted herewith. 

"That claim was under a contract, dated October 30, Ul54, with E. 
M. Pease, ·governor of Texas, for supplying said companies with sub­
sistence, forage and medicines, camp equipage, stationery, ammuni­
tion, and transportation, from the elate of said contmct nntil the com­
panies were mustered into the service of the United States, and was 
paid through tllis office in June and August, 1855, amounting to 
$20,990.69. 

"Of course, an~7 part of the present cJaim of the State for supplies 
tl1at were furnisl.tell said companies to the extm1t they were entitled 
to, according to existing regulation, ought not to be allowed." 

"Approved. 
"J. HOLT, SecrefaTy of Wm·." 

In view of the foregoing decision, this amount should be disallovved .. 
l\I. J. Brinson, wagon and team empioyed fi·om 1st to 22tl December, 

1854, transportation of baggage for Boggess's company, 22 days, :1t 
$7 per flay ... _ . _. _ .. _ . _. __ . _____ .. _____ . _______________ . $154 00 

George vV. Sevier, December 3, 1854, 3G bushels corn, at 
$1. 50- - - - - - - -.. - - - - - - - - - ' . - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -- - - - - - - - - - - - . G4 00 

George \V. Sevier, December 3, 1854, 600 pounds beef, at 
4 cents _ ... _ .. _ .. _ ..... - - - - .. ____ .. _ . __ •.. - - _ ... - _ .. - __ . 24 00 

As on voucher 10, FJhonld !Je disallowed.----------------------·----­
Giles S. Boggess, for transportation of company baggage from rendez­

Yous to Austin, place of muster, two teams 15 daj'S, at $6 
each.·-----·-------------------------- ----- e -----· -----· $180 00 

This charge, being for expenses incurred prior to NoYember 1, 1<::5-l, 
shonld be disallowe(l. (See also remarks on voucher 10) __ -------­

J. B. Step Leu, December, 1854, 3tH· bushels corn, at $1.25 _- _ _ $45 62 
Sil:1s Baggart, December, 1854, 3t.it hnshels com, at $1.25.... 45 95 
Silas Baggart, December, 1854, 130 pounds meal, at $1.25 per 

bushel .. ___ .. _ . _ .. _ . _____ - ., _ .. __ ..... __ . -.---. ---- .. _ ... 
E. H. Harrington, December, 1H54, 36t bushels corn, at $1.50, 
B. D. Arnold, December, 1854, 5 bushels meal, at $1.20.-.-.-
S. P. Ross, Dt>cem ber, 1854, ferriage . _. __ .• ____ .. __________ . 
S. P. Ross, :NoYember, 1~54, ferriage ..... .. ·-----------------
E. Linkenhoger, December, 1654, :36i bushels corn, at $1.25 .. 
E. Linkenhoger, December, 1854, 7 bushels meal, at $1.25 ... 
E. Linkenhoger, December, 1654, 200 pounds beef, at 5 cents. 
J.D. Blair, December, 1654, 36t bushels corn, at $1.25 ... __ -. 
J.D. Blair, December, 1854,215 pounds beef, at 10 cents ___ _ 
J. S. B!a.ir, December, 18541 15 bushels meal, at. $1.25 ....... . 
M. L. Durham, November 2ti to December 13,1854, soap, $9.50; 

vinegar, $15.75; rice, $19.12; and candfes, $9.50 . ___ . ____ _ 
Mr. L. Durham, December 10, 1854, 474 pounds beef, at 5 

3 30 
54 75 
6 00 

24 30 
35 00 
4!1 62 
8 75 

10 00 
45 62 
21 50 
18 75 

53 87 

cents. _ .. _ ....... _. __ .. _. ___ .. ___ .. ____ .. ________ .. _ _ _ _ _ 23 70 
Mr. L. Dnrham, December 10, 1854, 7:3 bushels corn, at $1.15. f:'3 95 
Simeon Mixon, December 7, 1854, 36i bushels corn, at $1.50.. 54 75 
Simeon Mixon, December i, 1854, 445 pounds beef, at 5 cents. 22 25 
W. Ferrel, December 1, 1854, 38 bushels corn, at $1.25 .. _ _ _ _ _ 47 50 
M. T. Johnson, December 1, 1854, 187t bushels corn, at $,1.50. 281 25 
1,404 pounds beef, at 5 cents .. _. __ ... __ ... _ . __ .... __ .. _ _ _ _ _ 70 20 
40 bushels meal, at $1.50 _ .. _. _ ... __ .. ____ . _ .. _ ... _ ..... ___ . 60 00 
201 pounds coffee, at 30 cents _ .... _ .............. _ ... _ . _ _ _ _ 60 30 
298 pounds sugar, at 18 cents .......... ________ .... ------.. 53 64 
140 pounds salt, at 8 cents. ____ .... ________________ ------.. 11 20 
7 pounds can<lles, at 70 cents .. ____ .. _. _. _ .. ____ ..... __ . __ .. 4 90 
14 pounds soap, at 30 cents .... _________ --·-·- ____ ·--- ---- 4 20 
As on voucher 10, should be disallowed ...... __ . __ . _. _ ... _ .... ___ .. . 
(In part.) M. 'r. Johnson, December 1, 1854, for 3! pounds 

horse-shoe nails, at 50 cents .. -·----------. ____ ------______ $1 87 
Certified to by lieutenant as quartermaster. 

Comptroller of State, iu March, 1860, certified that receipt for amount 
was on file in his office at that time. Said receipt is not submitted; 
otherwise this is a proper charge, but should be suspended for want 
of a proper receipt ... _______ --· ____ . ___ .--·_ ... ·--. ________ ·- ___ _ 

S. McElrath, services as private, formed item 53 of voucher 
4, not there paid ... __ . __ ........ ___ ... _ .. __ .. ___ ... _ _ _ _ _ $77 10 

C. H. Morrell, services as private; formed item 55, voucher 4, 
not there paid ... __ ... _____ . . _ .... ____ .. __ . _ .... ____ .. __ . 77 10 

37 

:232 00 

180 00 

1, 196 87 

1 87 
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Voucher. 
The State cOJl'lptroller, February 29, 1860, certified that receipts fol' 

the amounts paid these men were then on tile in his office. Said re­
ceipts are not produced ; othen>ise tlle remHrks on Yoncher 1 are 
applicable to these vouchers, except that thi::; amount should be 
Ruspended for want of proper receipts ........................... . 

And this disallowNl .. . .... ·- .. _ ...................... __ .... . .... _. 

John G. 1Valker's company. 
L Pay-roll of officers aucl enlisted men, dates of service not, 

stated._._ .... _ .. _. __ .... _ .... __ ...... _ ................. $6,392 20 
Heceipts for the amounts alleged to have been pa,id on this vonclwr 

do not appear. Their absence is explained by an affidavit, in which 
Giles S. Boggess, paymaster, swears that the original mnster-roll of 
John G. Walker's company ·was either stolen, taken out of his posses­
sion without his knowledge or consent, or lost, since which time be 
bas not seelf or heard of it; that the Yoncher upon which this affidavit 
is written contains a true statement of the nnmbe!.' of men and their 
names composing the said John G. Walker's company at the time the 
muster-roll was lost; also the amounts paid and amounts still due as 
set down opposite each name; and that tuis voucher is, to the best of 
his knowledge and belief, a faithful copy of said lost roll. An act of 
the legislature of 'rexas, approved Angust 25, 1856, for the relief of 
Boggess, (see paper 138,) authorized a settlement to bf\ made w·ith him 
upon his presenting, under oath, to the State comptroller the facts 
above set forth, wit,h a copy of the lost roll or voucher, Raid voucher, 
when so submitted., to be received in lieu of the original roll, and tho 
amount returned by said Boggess as paid. to be passed to hit' credit 
upon the books of the comptroller's office. 

In the act measnres were adopted to guard against fraud, and tlle 
conditions upon which Boggess \Yas to :fiud relief were complied with 
by him. 
Item 1. John G. vValker, pay and allowauces •as captain for three 

months ......... _ ... _. _ ........... __ ... ·. __ •.... __ .... ___ . $383 10 
Rema1·lcs.-Ou the 4th February, 1856, Giles S. Boggess was appointed 

agent to pay 'Valker's company at the same rate per month as" they 
were afterwarcls paid by the United States while in their service." 

In the ·written instructions given to this agent by tho governar tho 
following appears : 

"Any ass1gnment from any member of said companies of his pay 
which does not show on its face that the assignor kne·w at the time 
of its execution that he was entitled to receive three months' pay from 
the State will only be recognized as conveying to the assignee the 
pay due the assignor for the time he was actnally in the service of the 
State, wbicb time of service was, for the members of Captain Walker's 
company, one month." 

Upon referring to the remarks for voucher I for Boggess's compa,ny, 
it will be understood why the governor considered this company 
('Valker's) entitled to pay for only one month. The reason was be­

. cause he believed that this, and no more, was the time it was'' actua.lly 
in the service of tho State," though it seems he made an error of one 
day in favor of the company. . 

As a general rule, the United States Government pays only for serv­
ices reudered or for the time a person or party is actually employed 
in its service. As General Smith's call was made on the 1st November, 
1854, and this company was mustered into State service on the day 
following that date, the inference to be drawn is that the United 
States Government is responsible for the pay and allowances accrning 
to the members of this company, and for expenses properly incurred 
on its account fi.-om the 2d day of November, 1854, as it was tben or­
ganized and recognized by the governor under General Smith's call. 

Powers of attorney, filed in connection with payments made for 
members of this company, arc, in several instances, informal, in this, 
that they are not witnessed as required by law, and arc not attested 
by the certificate and seal of the clerk of a court of record to show 
the standing of certain magistrates who administered oaths. It is 
inferred tl.Jat these informalities cannot now be remedied by the State 
authorities, and, therefore, this oujection should he waived. 
Conclusion.-In view of the facts herein fonnu, t.l.Jis amonnt, being for 

services for tweuty-nioe days irumediatel.v . prior to December 1, 

$87 38 
66 82 
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'Voucher. 
1854, is admissil>Je, out should be suspended for want of a descrip­
tion of the officer's servant ::md for a proper receipt ..... ----- . -.-. 

The balance claimed on this item, including 60 cents overchargecl on 
s_ervant's clothing, being an improper charge against the Govern-
ment. Rhonld be disallowed .... - .................. - .... -- . --- ----

Item 2.' T. H. Garrett, first lientemmt ...... - .... .. ...... - ... $323 10 
For t.he rcasous set forth in the remarks for item 1, above, this cllarge 

for t.hree months' service is admissible only for the twenty-ni11e 
days immediately preceding D ecember 1, 1854. A proper rec e ip~ for 
the money is filed and t.he officer's servant is described. 
This :omo;mt slwnld be allowed _ ..........•................ - .... --. 
And this, including 60 cents overcharged on servant's clotlJiug, being 

an improper charge, shonlcl be disallowed ....... ....... ......... . 
Item3. MercerFain,secondlientenant .................. ---· $30310 
Remarks and conclusion, n,s on item 1, except that this amonnt should 

be suspended .. __ .. . .................... - .............. - - - - . - - - -. 
And this disallowed .... , .................. . .. - .... -.-- . ----- --.--
Item 4. P. H. \Vork, first sergeant ........ ... .............. $104 50 
Item 5. H. B. Pedigo, sergeant............................. 95 50 
Item G .• J. B. F. McCartney, sergeant ............ ---------· 95 50 
Item 7. L. B. \Vood, sergeant ........ :... ... ............... 95 50 
Item 8. M. J. Bean, corporal. .............. _.. . . . . . . .. . . .. . 83 10 
Item 9. William F. Scott, corporal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 83 10 
Item 10. In part, Pleasant Wright, corporal._.... . . . . . . . . . . . 27 70 
Item 11. H. H. King. corporal. ....................... . . __ .. 83 10 
Item 12. B. K. Riggs; bugler .. .. .. . . . .. . . . . . .. . . .. . .. . .. . . . 80 50 
Item 1~. F .• J. Garrett, bugler ..... _.. .. .. .. . . .. . . . . . . . .. . . . 80 50 
Jtem 14. T. M. Bnrkc, farrier and blacksmith. . .... . . . . . . . . . . 77 10 

Remarks a~ on item 1. 
Conclu.sion.-This amount should be suspended for want of proper re-

Al~tfl~fs: l)~i~~g- ;;; jllli;r.-o"p~l: ~l1~~rg~ ~g.{i~·s·t-th~ U~1it~tl.St~t~s-, -~~;~~ici 
be disallowed __ . ... . . ......... .... . . ................... ... _ .. .. . 

Items 17, 18, 20, 21, 22, 24, 25, 26, 29, :w, ~2, 33, 34, 36-52, 
64, 5!J, 56, 57 in part, 59, GO in part, 61-75, 76 in part, 
aml 78- 82, for services of Hfty-scnu privates .. -·-· .... $4,2'10 50 
Remarks as on item 1. 

Conclusion.-This amonnt, being for 57 privates, at $24.84! each, should 
be snspendecl for want of proper receipts ......................... . 

And this, being an improper charge ugainst the United States, should 
be clisal1owec1 ....... _ ..... _ . ... _. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ ... . 

Items 16, 23, aml 58, for services of three privates. . . . . . • . . . . $2~H 30 
As the names of the men charged for do not appear on rolls signed by 

mustedng officers, this amount, being an hnproper charge against 
the United States, should be disallowed ... _ ................. . .. .. 
Items 19, 27, 28, 31, 53, 60 in part, 76 in part, 84 anfl o5, represented 

to have been paid hy the Sta.te treasurer, are dcllncted; and i terns 28}, 
85, 77, and 83 are not charged on the roll; therefore, no action is here 
reqnired on them. 

-~· \Vright, Pleasant, corporal; balance of pay and allowance.... $55 40 
Favorable consideration lmving been given for the time this man ac­

tuaUy served, prior to December 1, 1854, (see voucher 1, item 10,) 
t-his amount is an improper charge against the Government, there-
fore should be clisallowerl ...... ______ ...... -----· .............. .. 

:t Bird, Milton, private, pay and allowances for three months .. $77 10 
4. Click, E. S., private .... _ ............ _ ........... _. _. .. . .. . .. 77 10 
5. Close, E. S., private .... ..................... .... _ ..... _.... 77 10 
6. Dye, .John, private ....... _...... . .... . ........ . .. . .. .. . . . . . 77 10 
7. Lyons, L. P.,private .................... -----· ........ _____ 77 10 

Remarks aR on item 1, voucher 1. 
Conclusion .-'J'he State comptroller certified in 'F'ebrnary, 1860, that 

the receipts of these parties v•ere then on file in his office. Said re­
ceipts are notprodnced. 'l'hisa.mountshonld be suspended for want 
of proper recci pts. ___ .......•...... _ ............................. . 

And this,• being an improper charge, shonld be disallowed ...... . . _ .. . 
·t;. McKenzie, G. W., private, balance of pay .... ___ ............. $51 40 
9. Wa.ldert, Ellwa:rd, private, balance of pay .... ____ ---··-----. 51 40 

As on voucher 2, except in these cases, see items 60 and 76 of voucher 
1, should be disallowed .................. ------ ................ .. 

10. Wilburn, F. G., private, pay and allowances for three months. $77 ·10 
:11. Yarborough, W,.illiam H. , private ........... _ ..... _ ..... _.... 77 10 

39 

$123 25 

259 85 

103 !)2 

219 18 

99 08 
209 02 

309 82 

593 28 

1,416 07 

2, 824 43 

231 :30 

55 40 

124 22 
261 28 

102 80 



40 CLAIMS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

Voucher. 
Remarks and conclusion as on vouchers 3 to 7, except that this amount 

should he suspended .. _ •..... _. _ ...... __ ..... _. __ ...•.. _____ ... .. 
And this disallowed .. _ ........... _. _ ..... ___ .. __ .•. .. _ . ..... ___ ... __ 

12. James R. Arnold, pay for services for enrolling, organizing, and 
mustering Captain Walker's company . ____ ... _ .... _ ..... _ .. $50 00 
The State comptroJler certified February 28, 1860, that'' receipt of 

'William C. Pollock, attorney, for the abova amount of $50 is on file." 
Said receipt is not produced. 

Governor Pease indorsed on the back of the voucher, August 16, 
1856, "General R. Amold was appointed by me to enroll the company 
of volunteers that was mustered at Nacogdoches in October, 18541 
under the call of General P. F. Smith, and performcu that duty." 
General Smith's call was made on the 1st November, 18;14, therefore 

the amount of this voucher, being for services prior to that date, is 
an improper charge against the Unitetl States, therefore should be 
disallo·wed ..... _. _ .. __ .... ... .. _. _ .... _ ..... _ .... _____ .... _ . __ _ 

13. Mercer Fain, services of wagon and team for Captain W alker's compa­
ny, from the 17th October to 30th November, 1854, iu,clush·c, 45 days, 
at $6. -..... -- .. _ .. ........ -_ ... __ .... _. _ ..... _ ... ___ .. ___ .. 270 00 

For Captain Henry's company from the 1st December to 13th Decem-
ber, 1854, inclusive, 13 days, at $6 .......... __ .. . _____ . ____ . $78 00 
Certified to as correct and just by Captains vVa.lker and Henry, and 

receipted for by A. A. Muncey, attorney. Power of attorney is filed, but 
is not witnessed, and not attested by the clerk ·of a. court of record. 
The services alleged to have been rendered prior to November 2, 1854, 
do not constitute -proper charges against the United States, and for 
transportation furnished subsequent to that date, see remarks for 
voucher 10, of Boggesrs's company. 
This amount, being an improper charge, should be. disallowed .. __ ..•. _ 

14 •• John Twohig, fuel fnrnished ... _ .. __ . __ ... _. __ .. ________ ... $207 OU 
'l'he voucher is certified to as correct and jnst by Captain Walker, 

commanding battalion Te:s:as mounted volunteers, but dates of ser­
vice are no·t stated. Comptroller Johns certified, March 1, 1860, that 
the receipt of S. M. Swinson, assignee of John Twohig, for the snrn 
of $207, was then on file; said receipt is not submitted. S. M. 
Swinson was a contractor in connection with these troops. His 
bills, to tho e:s:tent of $20,990.69, were pai«l by the United States in 
1855. (See voucher 10 Boggess's company.) The inform::tlities ap­
pearing on this voucher are sufficient to insure a disallowance of the 
amount ..• _ .•.. _. _ ... _. _ ... _. _ .... -.- .. --.- .. - _- ... __ .... --- .. -. 

15. James G. Swisher, ferriage for companies of Walker, Travis, and Ro­
gers, November 11, 1854 ..... -----------.------ -----· ------ $28 20 
Certified to by assistant quartermaster; approved by State a<lju­

tant general. 
The State comptroller certified, March 3, 1860, that a receipt for the 

amount was then on file in his office; said receipt is not submitted. 
A contractor, Swinson, was bound to furnish transportation for these 
companies after October ao, 1854, and in 1855 he was paid therefor 
by the United States. Ferriage is an item of transportation; there­
fore this amount, being an improper charge, should be disallowed. 
(See voncher 10, Boggess's company .... __ .. _ ..... __ .. _____ . ____ .. 

16. Orange Wright; services as guide and trader; dates of service not 
stated._.- .. _ . __ . _ ...... _ .... __ ..... _. __ .. _. _ ........... _. $25 00 
Captain Walker certified, April7, lr:l55, that. theservicescharged for 

were performed, "amounting to a month's time in all, and while 
stationed at Fredericksburgh." 

The original receipt is not submitted, but Comptroller Johns certi­
fie<l, March 3, 1860, "that the receipt of Orange Wright, for the sum of 
$25, is on file in said (his) office. 
The informalities appearing on this voucher are sufficient to warrant 

a disallowance of the amount ............ ·----------- ...... ------
17. John Work, surgeon: services rendered to the battalion of Texas 

mounted volunteers, three months, from 1st November, 1854, $300 00 
There is 'not.hing filed to show that be was mustered into service or 

that he was employed as a cont-ract phyt;ician, therefore the amount 
of this voucher should be disallowed .. _ .. ___ .. _ .. ___ ... _. _ .. ___ .. 

W. R. Henry's company. 

1. Pay-roll of enlisted men, dates of servjce not stated .... __ . $6,074 08 

$49 69' 
104 51 

GO 0(} 

:348 0() 

207 0() 

28 20 

25 00 

300 00 



CLAIMS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

Voucher. 
Item 1. G. B. Layton, :first sergeant, pa.y and allowances 

for three months ........ _ ........ __ .... _..... $104 50 
Item 2. vV. D. Morrow, sergeant. __ ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 95 50 
Item 3. W. B. Flemming, sergeant ____ ...... ·----------- 95 50 
Item 4. George vV. Russell, sergeant __ ..•... _ ..... _... . . . 95 50 
Item 5. R. Angnstine, corporal.......................... 83 10 
Item 6. Sanford.Brown,corporal ........... ,............ 8310 
Item 7. Riley Lewis, corporal......................... . 8:110 
Item 8. Lcmwrd Moss, corporal._ . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . .. 83 10 
Item 9. Henry Aloff, bngler ........... _ ....... _.... . . .. . 80 50 
Item 10. B . .M. Flemin~;, bugler ... __ ........... -~.... . . . . . 80 50 
Powers of attorney filed in connection with payments made for mem-

bers of this company are, in several instances, informal, in this, that 
they are 110t witnessed as required by law, and are not attested by 
the certificate and seal of the clerk of a court of record to show 
the standing of certain magistrates who a<lministered oatlls. It 
is inferred t,hat these informalities cannot now be remedied by the 
State authorities and, therefore, this objection should be waved. 
Otherwise the remarks for voncher 2 are applicable to these Hems, 
except that this amount should be allowed ..... _ .....•............ 

And this clisallowcd .............................................. . 
Items 11-37, ::19-44, 47, 49-52, 54-72,74-79, allll 81-85, for services of 68 

privates ................ __ ......... _. _ . . . . .. . . .. . . . . . . . $4,985 80 
As on items 1 to 10, next nbove, except tha,t this amount, being for 

68 privates, at $35.98 each, Khonl<l be allowed ........ _ .... _ ..•.... _ 
And this should be 1lisa!lowed ..................... ------------ ... . 
Items 38, 53, 86, aml 87, for smvices of four privates ..... ___ $203 8d 
As the names of the men ch:trgell fiJr do not appea,r on the rolls, signed 

by mustering-officers, this amonnt, being au improper charge against 
the Unite1l States, shonld be disallowed ......... _ ........... _ ... . 
Items 45, 46, 48, 7:·J, and 80, for the several amounts of which, re-

ceipts do not appear, are deducted from the roll, therefore require no 
action. 

2. W. H. Henry, pay and allo"·ances as captain, for three months; 
dates of service and ll:lllle of servant not stated; payment made 
Apr.il15, 1856 . _ ..•....... _ .. _ .....•......... _. _ .... _ ........•. _ .. 
On the lOth April, 1856, John D. Pitts was appointed agent to pay 

W. R. Henry's company, "which was enrolled at the town of Goliad, 
in the month of October, 1854, for three months' serdce,"the members 
of the company to be paid the same as allowed by law and regulations 
of the United States to mounted volunteers. In the written instruc­
tions given to this agent by tlle governor, the following appe-ars, 
(see paper 70 :) ''You will recognize no assignment from any mem­
ber of said company as conveying more than his pay for qne month 
and fourteen days, unless it shall appear from said assignment t,hat 
the assignor knew that he was entitled to receive three months' pay, 
and intended to conYey that amount." 

Upon referring to the remarks for voucher 1 for Boggess's company, 
it will be understood why the governor considered this company (Hen­
ry's) entitled to pay for only one month and fonrteen days. The rea­
son was hecA~use f,be governor believe<l that this, and no more, was 
the time it was" actually in the service of the State," though it seems 
l1e made an error of two days in favor of the coinpauy. 

As a general rule the United States Government pays only fm• ser­
vices rendered or for the time a person is actually employed in its ser­
vice. 

As General Smith issued his call on the 1st November, 1854, and this 
company was mustered into State service on the day following that 
date, the inference to be drawn therefrom is that the United States 
Government is responsible for the pay and allowances accruing to the 
members of this company, and for expenses properly incurred on its 
account from the 2cl clay of November, 1854, as it was then organized 
and recognized by the governor nmler General Smith's call. 
In view of the foregoing facts it is suggested that this amount, being 

for services for one month and twelve days immediately prior to 
December 14, 1854, should be suspended for want of a description 
of the officer's servant .. _ ....... _ ............... _. _ ..... _ .. _ ... .. 

The balance claimed on this voucher, being au. improper charge 
against t,he United States, should be disallowed _ .. _ ... _. _ .... _ .... 

41 

:3412 50 
4il 84 

2,446 64 
2,539 16 

382 50 

204 oo~ 



42 CLAIMS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

Youchcr. 

:t S.A.Jackson,firstlientcnant ·---- --- ----- ---- - ·------ ---- $322 50 
as on voucher 2, except t!Jat this amount should be suspended ____ _ 

And this disallowed _. _______ . _ ...... _ . . _ .................... _. __ . _ 
4. William Tom, sccoud lien tenant .. ____ . __ .... _ .... _ ... _.... $307 50 

as on voncher 2, except that here the officer'!::! servant is described, 
and that this amount should he allowed. __ . __ . __ .... _. _ ......... . 

Al)(l this amount should be disallowed . __ . _____ .. _. _ ... _ ...... __ .. _ 
G .. John D. Pitts, services as paymaster or agent, for paying off W. R. 

Henry's company ; dates of service not stated; 5 per ceu t. commis-
sion for disbursiug $7,280.27 ..... _ ... ___ ... _ .......... _ _ _ $364 01 

A copy of the :1ppoiutment of Pitts is tiled. (Paper 70.) It states 
that, on a settlement of his accounts with the comptroller, a" reason­
able compensation" will be allowed. A receipt for the money is Hot 
produced, but a certificate, signed by Comptroller Johns, February 
29, 1860, states: "Receipt of John D. Pitts is on file." The expense 
of employing :m agent to pay these troops for services after No>em­
ber 2, 1854, was a contingency necessarily coupled with their employ­
ment, therefore this voucher is admissible for 5 per ce.nt. on the 
amount favorably considered by the United States on payments macte 
by Pitts for or on account of this company. Of the amount paid by 
him $3,331.70 is so considered, and the per cent. thereon is a proper 
charge, but should be suspended for want of a proper receipt ..... _ 

The balance charged on tbis voucher, being an improper charge 
against the United States. should be disallowed. __ ... _._ ......... . 

6. JohnS. Ford, pay for organizing a company of Texas rangers at Go-
liad_ . _ ..... _ .... __ .. __ . _ ... _ . __ . __ .. ____ ... __ .. _. _. __ . __ . · $50 00 

Tbe charge is indefinite as to time and company, dates of service 
and rate of compensation are not sta.ted, and the necessity for tbe 
expense is not apparent. The amount should be disallowed . _ ..... 

7. James M. Latten, medical attendance on A. W. Sims aud A. J. Lefl, 
from November 7 to 20, 1854 ____ ....... __ . _ . .......... _.. $96 00 

The two men above n10ntioned were mustere(l in as privates of the 
company. The doctor swears to the correctness of his bill, and it 
bears the approval of the adjutant general of tho State. In the 
absence of a receipt for the money Comptroller Johns's certificate 
appears, under date of March :3, 18o0, tbat the receipL was then 011 

JUe iu his office. This voucher duplicates, in part, the charges in 
voucher 12, and the duplication on this voucher should be disallowed, 
for the reason that here no approval of a company officer appears. 
The charges rest within the scope of time for which re-imbun;ement 
of pay and allowances on acconnt of this company is suggested. 
This amount is deemed a proper charge, but should be suspcmled for 
want of a, proper receipt __ .. __ . _. _ .. ___ .... _ ......... --- ... __ . __ .. 

The balance, being an improper charge, should be cUsa.llowed . _ .. _ .. 
R Mrs. S .. A. Glasscock, for boarding 'Vyatt Hanks during illness, from 

November10toDecember4, 1~54 ·----- ------------------ $24 00 
Samuel January, during illness, from November 10 to 24,1854. 14 00 
The State comptroller certified, March 3, 1..,60, that a receipt for this 

amount was then on file iu his office. Said receipt is not snbmitted. 
Ranks having been been mustered into service, .. the charge for him 
should be suspended, for want of a proper receipt. (See remarks on 
voucher 7, above) ... _ .. ..... _ ...... __ . __ . ___ ... ___ .... _ .... _. __ . _ 

As Samuel January's name does not appear on the muster-rolls 
signed by mustering officers, the charge for him should be disal­
lowed, the same being an improper charge against the United States . 

9. Robert Augustiue, services as expressman ou or about NovcmbeL' 1, 
1854, under'" contract with C~tptain Henry . . . __ .. _ ... _. _ _ $:~0 00 

In the absence of a receipt for the money paid to an attoruey on 
this voucher, Comptroller Johns's certificate appears, under date of 
March 3, 1860, to show that a receipt wns then on file in his office. 
The power of attorney does uot bear the certificate and the impress 
of a seal of a court of record to show the standing of the justice of 
the peace who administered the oath. A copy of the contract is not 
1lled. As the man whose services arc charged for was borne on the 
company's roll, and an award for his services has been suggested on 
voucher 1, this clmrge should be disallowed_ .. _ ..... __ . __ . _ ... _ .... 

10. vVilliam B. Fleming, services as expressman on or about November 
1, 1854, under a contract with Captain Henry __ ...... _. _.. $30 00 

In the absence of a receipt for the money paid, Comptroller John~'s 
certificate appears, under date of March 3, 1860, to show that a m-

$150 50 
172 00 

143 50 
164 00 

166 58 

197 43 

50 00 

50 00 
46 00 

24 00 

14 00 

:30 oo · 



CLAIMS OF TilE STATE OF TEXAS. 

Voucher. 

eeipt was then on file in his office. Captain Henry certifies that 
this exrH~nse was necessary to collect his company together. Tlw 
United States Go,rernmeut should only pay for expenses incurred 
from the date the company was accepted by the governor of tbe 
State, as shown by muster-in rolls, and after that date there was, or 
should h~we beell, 110 neeessit,y for the expense charged on this 
voucher. As the man whose services are charged for was borne on 
the compan~·'s roll, and au award for l1is services has l>een suggested 
on vou·cher 1, this charge shonld be disallowed ................... . 

11. M.A. Taylor, lltedical attendance on Vvya.tt Hanks, November 1:~ to 
20' 1854- . - .. - - .. - . - - .. -... - - .. -- - .. - . - .. - - -.. - ...... - - - - $60 00 

The physician swears to the correctness of the account awl the rates 
charged, and the voncher bears the approval of a lienteuant, as as­
sistant quartermaster, and of the State adjutant general. The man 
attended and was mustered into service. J olms's certificate appears in 
the al>sence of a receipt. The charge rests within t!J.e scope of time 
for which re-imbursement of pay and allovn1nces on account of this 
company is suggested, and is considered a peoper charge, but should 
l>e suspended for want of receipt ... _ .. __ .... _ .............. _ .. . 

12. A. J. Lott and G. G. Steel, medical attendance from November 8 to 
14, 1854. 

Isaac Hickman._ .... _ ....... __ ..... _ ..... _ •. _ . _ .... .. _. . . . . $27 00 
William Lee .......... _ .......... _. . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . 28 00 
Mr. Simn1s ....................................... ... __ . . . . . 20 00 
Approved by State adjutant general and by Captain Henry . 
. Johns's certificate appears in the a-bsence of a receipt. 
Isaac Hickman's natne does not appear on the compauy roll, therefore 

the cbarge for him should be disallowed ....................... _ .. 
Lee and Simms were mnstered in as privates. This voucher dupli­

cates, in part, the charges in voucher 7 for medical attendance on 
the same men during the same time. The duplicate charges ou that 
voucher staml disallowed, for the reason that it was not approved by 
a company officer, and that t"'O physicians for one person at tho 
same time are not admissible nuder ordinary circumstances. The:;o 
charges rest within the scope of time for which re-imbursement of 
pay and allowances on accouut of this company is suggested, and are 
considered proper charges, l>nt should be suspended for want of a 
})roper receipt .............. _ ............ _ ........ .. ... _ .... _ .. _ .. 

13. S. R. Reynolds, horseshoeiug in November, 1854-
l<'or Captain Henry's comprLny. _ ....... _ .................... $72 50 
For Captain vValker's company ............ _ ............. _.. 29 55 
For Captain Hogerr>'s company .. __ ...... _ ........... __ .. _... 7 50 
I~' or Captain Travis's company ... _ ....................... _. . 1 87 
The bill for Henry's company is certified to l>y one of the lieutenanoo 

and is approved by the captain. This company had no farrier an(] 
blacksmith, and the charges rest within the scope of time for which 
re-imbursement of pay and allowances on account of this company is 
suggested. If that suggestion shall be favorably considered, this 
amount for shoeing horses of men whose names are on the company 
roll should l>e allowed ___ ..•....... _ ...... _ ..... _ ........ _ .... _ .. 

The balance charged, being for shoeing horses of men whose names do 
not appear on the company roll, should be disallowed ............ _. 

The companies commanded by Captains \Valker, Rogers, and Travis, 
each had a farrier am! blacksmith, whose duty it was to shoe the ani­
mals belonging to the said companies, respectively, and, therefore, 
the amounts claimed for shoeing flone for said companies, being im­
proper ·charges against the United St,ates, shonld be disallowed .... 

14. Joseph Lance, pay and allowances for three mQnths' service .. $77 10 
Amount received ...................... _ ....... _ ........ _... 61 40 

Difference claimed and paid on this voucher. . . . . . . . . . . 15 70 
A certificate is filed as a substitute for a receipt. 

As this man was not mustered into the Unitetl States service, this is 
an improper charge against tl:e United States, therefore, should be 
disallo,vecl ... _ ..... _ . _ .... _ •...................... _ ... _ . _ ...... . 

15. Charles E. Aikins, pay aucl allowances n.s private for three 
rnonths .... ------ ........................ ---··· ........ __ $?1 10 
A certiticate is filed as n substitute for :t receipt. 
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Voucher. 
This man'::~ name docs not appear on the company'. rolls si~ned by 

mustering oft:icers, therefore this amount, beiug an improper cba.rgo 
against the U ui ted. Stu tcs, should be disallowed .............. . ... . 

Williarn Fitzhugh's company. 

1. Wmiarn :Fitzhugh. pay and alll)wancefl as e~tptain for tlnoee lllonths, to 
December 24, 1854; paymeut made 11th March, 1H5G ...... :fi;:~S3 W 
On the 5th F ebruary, 1856, James \V. Throckmorton wa~ appointed 

agent to pay \Villiam :Fitzhugh's company, "wllich was enrolled at 
tbe town of .McKinney, in the month of October, 1tl54, for three months 
service," the memucr~ of the company tc be paid the s:tme ns :tl­
lowed by law and regulations or the United States to moun tell volnu­
tee~·s. 

In the written instructions giYen to this agent by the go\'emor, the 
following appeaxs: 

"You will recognize no assignment of :my member of sai<l cotnpany 
whicll does not show 011 its f<tce that tlhe party knew that lw was en­
titled to tilree months' pa,~'; as conveyiug a right to any more than 
one month and twenty-one days' pay. Service all over and. <tuovc that 
amount is a gr:ttuit,y from the State, a.t~<l should only be pnid to the 
party who renderefl the service, unless the said party bas assi~ned it 
with a fnll knowledge of his right." (Sec paper No. 67.) 

Upon r eferring to the rema1 ks for voucher 1 of Boggc 's's company it 
will be nnderHt.ood why the governor considered this co!upauy (Fitz­
hugh's) entitled to pay for only one month :t11<l twent.y-oue days. Tho 
reason was becnnse tlle governor belieYed that this, and uo more, \Vas 
the time it was "actually in tile service of the State." 

As a geueral rule, the Unite<l States Government pay only for serv­
ice rendered or for the time a person or party is actually employed 
in its service. 

As General Smitll issned l1is call on the 1st November, 1854, ancl this 
company '''as mustered into State service on the day follo\\'ing that 
date, tile inference to be drawn tilerefrom is that tile United States 
Government is responsible for the pay and allu\vances accruing to tho 
members of this compn.ny, and for expenses properly incurred on its 
account, from the 2d day of November, 1854, as it was then organized 
and recognized by tile goyernor unuer General Smith's call. 
In view of tile foregoing facts, this amount, being for services <luring 

the one month and twenty-one days immediately prior to December 
24, 1854, should be allowed ...... _ ............................. _ . 

Tho balance claimed on this vo11cher, being an improper cllargo against 
the United States, should be disallowed ............. _. _ ......... . 

2. :F. M. Dougherty, first lien tenant; dates of service not stateu.$323 10. 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount should be allowed ........ . 
And this disallowed ........ _ ......... -.................. -.- . - .. - .. 

3. A. J. Trussell, second lieutenant; dates of service not statod.$308 10. 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount should he suspended as 

the officer's servant is not described .........•.............•...... 
And this disallowed ................................. _ ....... _ .... . 

4. Pay-roll of enlisted men ; dates of service not stated ... _.. $6,666 90 
Item 1. John B. ·white, 1st sergeant, pay and allowances for three 

months _ ......... _ . _ ........... _ ..... _ ........ . _. , _. . . . . $104 50 
Item 2. John Scanland, sergeant.·--··· .. -----· .. .. ----.... 95 50 
Item 3. John M. Street, sergeant .................. _ . _ . . . . . . 95 50 
Item 4. William C. Lewis, sergeant ...... ------............ 95 50 
Item 5. S. G. S. McGarrah, corporal ............... _ ... _ .. _. 83 10 
Item 6. John 0. Mcintire, corporaL ... _ ........ . _ ........ _. 8!3 10 
Item 7. Larkin Ball, corporal .......... .. __ . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 83 10 
Item 8. Joshua Gorham, corporal ......... _ ... _.... . . . . . . . . ~3 10 
Item 9. John J. l\Iiller, bugler ..... 0 •••••• __ •••••••• _...... 80 50 
Item 10. Andrew J. Wisdom, bugler .............. _... . . . . . . 80 50 
Item 11. William B. Dingle, blacksmith au<l farrier..... . . . . 77 10 
The remarks for voucher 1 arc applicable to these items, except that 

this amount should be allowed ......... _ ........... _ .. _ ......... . 
And t.his disallowed ........... _ ...... 0 _ ••• _. • ••••••••••••••••••••• 

Items 12, 13, '15, 17-27, 29-35, 37-44, 46-50, 52-58, 60-67, and 69~5, 
for services of sixty-six privates_ ....... _ ... . _. _ . • ...... $5,088 60 

$77 10 

'2Hl 75 

166 35 

182 7G 
140 35 

174 2;) 
1:l3 85 0 

544 ~) 
416 65 



CLAIMS OF THE STATB OF TEXAS. 

Voucher. 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount, being for sixty-six privates, 

at $43.69 each, should be allowed .........•....... __ ..... -~ ..... . 
And this should be disallowed..... . .. . . . . .. . . .. . ................ . 
Items 14, 1G, 28, 36, 45, 51, 59, and 68, for services of eight pri-

vates...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $616 80 
As the names of the meu charged for do not appear on the rolls signed 

by mustering of-ficers, this amount, being an important charge 
against the Uniiied States, should be disallowed. ................... . 

5. James ,V. Throckmorton, pay as mustering officer of Captain \Villiam 
}'itzhngh's company; $50. This voucher is simply a requisition made 
by James Vil. Throckmorton for the money. It is not approved by 
any State official, and Comptroller Johns's certificate of February29, 
1860, appears as a. sul)stitute for a receipt. The company was mus­
tered iu first by the adjntaut general, and afterwards by an officer 
of the Army ; therefore this expense was unnecessary, and, being an 
improper charge against the United States, the amon11t should be 
clisallO\Yed ....................... - ........ _ .......... - .. . __ . . ___ . 

6. .James W. Tl1rockmorton, for disbursing $7,7:H.20 in paying off Cap­
tain '\\Tilliam Fitzhugh's company of mounted voluuteers, at 5 per 
cent., $3811.56. Dates of service are not stated. A copy of the appoint­
ment of Throckmorton is filed. It states that on settlement of his pro­
ceedings under this appointment a "reasonable compensation" will 
be allowed. A receipt for the mone.v is not produced, but a certificate, 
signed by Comptroller .Johlls, February 28, 1850, states: "Receipt for 
the amount of $386.56 is on 1ile." 
The expense of ernployiug au agent to rmy these troops for services 

subsequent to November 2, 1854, was a contingency necessarily coup­
led with their employment, therefore this voucher is admissible for 
5 per cent. on the amount found. admissible by the United States on 
payments made by Throekmorton for or on account of this company. 
Of the amount paid by Throckmorton this is favorably conRidered, 
$4,002.14, anu the per cent. thereon should also be favorahl.v con­
sidered, but should be suspended for \\ant of a proper receipt ...... _ 

The balance charged on this voncber, being an improper charge 
against the United States, should be disallowed ... ...... _ ........ . 

7. \Villiam ,y_ Payne, medical aid rendered to James Everitt, Captain 
Fitzhugh's company, from December 16 toDecember25, 1854.$38 00 

Everitt's name docs not appear on the rolls signed b,y mnsterh1g 
officers of the Army, and it is not shown that he was a contract 
physician, therefore the amount of this voucher, being an improper 
charge against the United States, should be disallowed ....... ___ .. 

B. H. F. Hodgecoxe, transportation of baggage for Captain Fitzhugh's 
company from Austin to camp, and return, 24 days, at $6 .. $144 00 
Dates of service not stated. The remarks on voucher 10, Captain 
Boggess's compan:y, are applicabk to this voucher, tl,J.e amount of 
which should be disallowed ...................... ------ .... ----"' 

9. }'. M. Dougherty, wagon and team employed from the 16th day of 
Oetober to tho 2cl of December, 11:l54, in transporting baggage for 
Captain Fitzhugh's company, 16 days, at $6 per day ...••... $96 00 

A certificate is submitted in place of a receipt. As on voucher 13, 
'\\Talker's company, shonld be disallowed ............ _. _ .. __ ...... . 

10. I<'elix ~Ic:Ket,rich, Ul days' rations, from November 26 to December 1~, 
1854: Soap, $fi ; cntHlles, $5 ; vinegar, $15.75; rice,$19.12 ..•. $44 87 

As on voucher~, should be tlisallowecl. __ .... _ ........ _ ..... _ .. _ ... . 
11. 'f. H. Turney, expenses in the burial of James Everitt, December 25, 

1854 . - - .. - - - - .. - - - - - - . - . - ... - - - .. - - - -. . - -- - .. - .. - ... - . - . - . $~2 00 
A. certificate appears in place of a receipt. As stated ou voucller7, 
~ · Everitt's name uoes not appear on the rolls signed by a mustering 

officer of the Army, therefore the amount of this voucher, being an 
improper charge agaim;t the United States, bhould be flisallowed .. . 

12. Latimer &. Swi1Hlcll, advertising "notice to rangers," February 9, 
1856. - - . - .. - - . - .. - - -.- . - - - ... -- .. - - -- .... - . - .. - .. -- .. -. . . $15 00 

Approvetl by the govemor, to bo paid ont of the appropriation for 
the paymeut of t.lte volunteers mustered in the fall of 1tl54. 

,Tames \V. Throckmortcm, who paid this expense, ·was appointed 
paymaster on the 5th of February, 1856, alltl instructed to pay this 
company, which was !1isuanded in 18fl5 . Directly after the date of 
his appointment" notices to rangers" appear elwrged for. In the 
absence of copies of the notices it is inferred that they -were issued 
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46 CLAIMS OF THE STATE OJ<, TEXAS. 

Voue.her. 

as a measure necessary to the paymaster's duties. If the suggestion 
made on voucher 6, in regard to paying these troops, shall be favor­
ably considered, this charge should be allowed .. .. _ ......... . . ...• 

Charles B. Tmais's company. 

1. Charles B. Travis, pay and allowances as captain for three mouths. 
Dates of service not stated, and servant not described. Payment 
made May 27, U356 ... _ ........... _ .. __ .................. $:~83 10 
On the 1st May, 1856, James H. Raymond was appointed agent to 

pa.y CLades E. Travis:s compauy, and be paid the members thereof 
fur three mouths' service. 

As <t general rule, the Unitetl Stat.es Goverument pays only for 
:-;ervice~-; rendered or for the time a, person or party i,; actna.lly em­
ployed in its service. 

As General Smith issued his call on 1 he 1st of Novcmlwr, 1834, and 
this company was mnstere(l into State service on tho day follow­
ing that date, the infcreuce to Lc <lra,wn thet't"from is that t.he 
United Statl"S Government is respcmsible .for the pay and <Lllowances 
accruing to the memucrs of this colllpany, and for expenses properly 
incm'Te<t on its account from the 2tL day of November, lt354, as it 
was theu organize<L a.ml recoguize<l by tue goverum· under Geueral 
S111itu'::; call. 

Powers of attorney 1il etl in comwdi(Jn with payn1Pnts made for 
members of thi::; company a.re, in se,·eral instances, informal , in tLis, 
that they are not witne:ssed as required by hLw, :LtHl a.re not attested 
by the certificate and seal of the clerk of a court of record to show 
the standing of certa.in magistrates \Yho administered oa.ths. It is 
inferred that these informalities ca,nuot now be retuedied by the 
State authorities, a.ud therefore this objection shonld be waived. 
In view of the foregoing facts it is suggested tllat this amount, being 

for services dnriug the twenty-nine days immediately JJrior to 
Decem her 1, 1854, is a proper charge, but should ue suspended for 
want of :t d escription of the ot-llcer's servant ..................... . 

The balance claimed on this youcher, iucludiug an overcharge of GO 
cents on servant's clothing, being au impl'UJJer charge against the 
United States, should ue disallowml. ......................... . .. . 

2. G. W. Chapman, 1irst lieutenant. Servant is clescriued .. .. . . $3t:J 10 
As on voucher 1, except t.hat this :11nouut should be allowed ........ . 
And this disallow eel .................. _ .................. .. ....... . 

3. J. D. Scott, second lieutenant. Servant not describetl. ...... $102 70 
As on voucher 1, e,·cept that this arnouut should ue suspended ...... . 
Ancl this disallo\ved ............ _ ..... _ ........... __ .............. . 

4. Pay-roll of enlisted rnen. Dates of service not stated .. _ .. $6, 93~ 2:~ 
Item 1. \Villiam B. Covingtou, first sergeant, pay and allowances 

for three months . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $104 50 
Item 2. D. M. Dean, sergeant.............................. 95 i'>O 
As the names of these t",ro men do not appear on rolls signed by oms­

terlng officers, the amount charged for in the above two items, lleiug 
jln improper charge against the United States, should Le disallowed. 

Item 3. 'William Webu, sergeant. ......................... $95 50 
Item 4. 1~. M. \Vhite, sergeant. . . . . . . . . . . .. .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 95 50 
Item 5. John I<\ Jones, corporal .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . .. . . . . 83 10 
Item (). J. C. C. Bonner, corporal ............ _. . . . . . . .. . . . . 83 10 
Item 7. \V. H. \Vood, corporal. ............ ---- ·· ·-·· ...... 8:~ 10 
Item 8. F. C. Stewart, corpoml . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . s:3 10 
Item 9. J. N. Hooks, bugler . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . 80 50 
Item 10 .. J. F. Roberts, Lngler .......................... _.... 80 EO 
Item 11. E . B. \Vade, farrier .... . .. _ ... _.... . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . 77 lU 
As on voucher 1, except that· this amount should be allowed ...••.. 
And this di. allowed ....................... -··-- · ...... ...... -----· 
Items 1~--16, 18-23, 26-40, 42, 44-52, 54-60, 62, 64-84, for services of 

one sergeant•and sixty-four privates.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $5, 029 90 
As on voucher 1, except that this aruouut should be allowed.-----· __ 
And tbis di sallowed ............ _ ................ ___ ........... _-·· 
Items 17, 24, 41 ani!. 63, for services of four privates ...... _ ... $308 40 
As ou items 1 and 2, tlw amount of these four items should be dis-

allowed ....••••....••.. _ .........•..•...........•..• ....... .••.. 
Item 25. E. T. Everly, private ......... _ .................... $77 10 
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CLAIMS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

Voucher. 
This man's name does not appear on the muster-in roll, uut the 

muster-out roll shows tllat he ''joined as recrnit.for service Decem­
ber 22, 1854." The amount charged for in the above item, being for 
services prior to ''joining as recruit," is an improper charge against 
the Unite<l States, therefore should be disalloweu ....... _ ...... __ . 

Items 43, 53, and 63, for services of three privates.. . . . . . . . . . $~31 :30 
Not receipted for on pay-roll, therefore this amonnt shonlll ue disal-

lo\ved ................. _ ..... .. ......................... · ....... . 
'fhe correct total of the pay-roll for this company is $6,608.20, or 

$324.03 less than the amonnt carried to the abstract; therefore this 
discrepancy, being an improper charge against the United States, 
should be disallo\~ ed ....... _ ....... __ ... __ _ . ___ .. ___ . ____ ... __ . _ 

5. E. B. Wade, farrier, services as private ........ : . ...... _. _ .... $i7 10 
.For extra services as farrier to company, 90 days, at 18 cents. 16 20 

9:~ 30 
Paiu, as per pay-roll on file ..... . . _. _ ...... _. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 77 10 

16 20 
Comptroller Johns certified, February 20, 1850, that "receipt of 

Edward B. Wade for said $16.20 is on file." Said receipt is not 
submitted. 
The roll shows that this man was mustcrNl in as farrier and black­

smith. He wa~::; not entitled to extra-duty pay for extra services iu 
the business for which he was mustered. This ~tmount should he 
disallowed ... _ ..... _ .......... _ .... ___ .... __ ......... __ . _ .... _ .. 

6. James S. Gillett, mustering into service volunteers at Cameron, 18th 
October, 1854 ... _ ........ __ ......... __ .. _ ....... _ .. ___ ._ .. $50 00 

Comptroller Johns certified, February 27, 1860, that "receipt is on 
file in this office." Said receipt is not snumitted. The secretary 
of state cert,ified, Austin, February 20, 1856, that Gillett was ap­
pointed on the 11th October, 1854, to enroll ~tnd inspect the volun­
teers that were to present themselves at Cameron on the 18th 
October, 1854. This amount for services renuered prior to Novem­
ber 2, 1864, the date of muster into State service, being an improper 
charge, shonld be disallowed ........................ ------ ·-----

7. :Ford and Jones, advertisement of pay to volunteers, Captain Travis's 
company, May 10, H:l56 ...... ___ ... __ . _ ...• _ ... _ ..• __ ... ___ . $4 50 

Certified to as correct by the treasurer, and approved by the gov­
ernor. Comptroller Johns certified, February 2H, 1860, that "receipt 
for the above amount of $4.50 is on file." Said receipt is not sub­
mitted. James H. Haymoml was appointed paymaster on the 1st 
May, 1856, and instrncte(l to pay off this company, which '.Vas dis­
banded in 1855. Directly after the date of his appointment, the 
services charged for in this voucher, it appears, were rendered. In 
the absence of a copy of the advertisement, it is inferred that this 
expense '.vas necess~try to enable the paymaster to perform his 
duties. If the suggestion made on voucl.Jer 8 in regard to paying 
these troops shall IJe favorably considered·, this charge may ue ad­
missible, but the amount should be suspended for want of a proper 
receipt ............. - ........... -- ... - ........ - .... - ........ - . ---

8. 1st part. James H. Raymond, services rendered as paymast~Clr in paying 
off Caphtin Tmvh;'s company ... . _ ............. __ ... _ .... $376 35 
Comptroller Johns certiiied, February 29, 1860, that "Receipt of 

James H. Rn.ymond for said amount of $~76. 35 is on :file." Said re­
ceipt is not submitted. 

The appointment of Raymond is filed. It states," Your compensation 
fm· said service ·will be the same as ma.y l.Jereafter be allowed to the 
persons appointed to pny off the other companies." 
It was suggestetl to allow the paymasters of other companies 11 com-· 

pensation of 5 per cent. on so mnch of the amount 1mid by them as 
should IJe [tllowablc by the United States. That suggest.ion, favora­
bly considered, wonhl entertain the same rate of compensation in 
this case. Therefore, this amount being 5 per cent. on $2,196. 87, is 
considered admissible, but should be suspended, for want of a proper 
receipt .. __ ..................................... __ ... ___ .. _ ..... . 

The balance, being an improper charge against the United. States, 
should be disallowed . . __ .... _ ..... _ .......... _ ....•......... _ .. . 
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48 CLAIMS OF THE ST.A'l'E 01<, TEXAS. 

Voucher. 
8. 2d part. James H. Raymond, for services rendered as paymaster under 

appointrnent of Governor E. M. Pease in paying companies· of Cap­
tains William Tom, Levi English, and William G. Tobin, expenses 
included . ____ ... _ ..... _ ............................. __ .. $100 00 

This charge being for services rendered in connectiOn with a class 
of troops to be hel'cafter referred to, is here disallowed, aud will be 
transferred to class three .. _ •.... _ .........................•....•. 

P. H. Rogers's company. 

1. 1'. II. Rogers, pay and allowances as captain for three months: from 
8th November, 1855, to Sth February, 11'356, payment made March 31, 
1856 . - ... - -.-. --- .. --.-- ---- --- .. . - ..•.. ---- . ----- . . . . . . $:383 10 
On the 2211 March, 1856, A. M. M. Upshaw was appoiuted a,gent, to 

pay P. H. Rogers's company, "v.·hich was enrolled at the town of 
Brenham, iu tbe month of October, 1854, for three months' service," 
the members of the company to he paid tbe same as allowed by 
law and regulations of the United States to mounted volunteers. 

In the written instructions given to_tbis agent by the governor, the 
following appears : . 

"You willrccognizenoassignmeut from::mymember of saideompany 
as conveying more than his pay for ouc month and twenty-two da,ys, 
unless it shall appear from said assignment that the assignor knew 
that he was entitled to receive fnll three months' pay, and intends 
to COlHey that amount/' (See paper .No. 68.) 

Upon referring to the remarlu; for voucher 1 of Boggess's comp:my, 
it will uo understood why the governor considered tbit~ company 
.(Rogers's) entitled to pay for only oue month and twenty-two llays. 'fhl:l 
reason was because the governor believed that this, and no more, 
was the time it was'' actually in the service of the State," though it 
seems he made an error of eight days in favor of the company. 

As a general rule, the United States Governtnent pays only for senrices 
retHlere<l or for the time a person or party is actually employed in 
its scn·ice. 
. As Gm1eral Smith issncd his call on the 1st November, 1854, and this 
company was mustered into State serv.ice on the 8th of November, 
the inference to IJo drawn therefrom is that the United States Gov­
ernment ma~"' Lo responsible for tbe pay a])(l alhnnmces accruing 
to the meml.lers of this company, an<t tor expeul'cs properly in­
cnrred ou its acconut from the 8th da.) of NoveHtbcr, 1854, as it was 
then 01~anized aud recoguize1l by the gO\'ernor uude.r General 
Smith's call. 
Iu view of the foregoing facts, it is suggested this amonnt, bl'ing for 

services for one mouth and fourteen days iunrwdiately prior to 
Deccml.Jcr 22, 1854, should. ue allowed ............................ . 

The balance claimed on this vouclwr, including an overcharge of 60 
cents on servaut's c1ot.hiug, heing an improper charge against the 
United States, sbonhl l.Je disallowed ...... ........... .... ......... . 

~. Alexander S. Wright, first lieutenant ....... _ ............... $323 10 
3. E. W. Rogers, second lieutenant............................ 308 10 

As on voucher 1, except that this amount should. ue allowed ......•.• 
And this disallowed ...•.•..•...................................•.. 

4. Pay-roll of enlisted men; dates of services not ::;tatetl; abstracted 
for .......•....................•..............•........ $3,976 51; 

The roll was made up for .. _... . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,957 26 
The amount not receipted for is ........•..•.... 1,023 23 
Sbowing this amount actually pa,i<l, viz ................... 3,94-1 03 
This difference, overcharged, should be disailowcd ...............••• 
Item 1. ·william M. Bennett, first sergeant, pa.y and allow-

ance for three months .................................. . 
Item 2. David Smith, sergeant ..•......................... 
Item 3. Tllomas W. Rogers, sergeant ...........•......•... 
Item 4. Ezekiel White, sergeant ......•......•...•..•..... 
Item 5. John F. Knffington, corporal ..................... . 
Item {), In part, Alexander D. Davis, corporal. ............ . 
Item 7. \Villiu,m M. Kusee, corporal ..•.•........••..•.••.. 
Item H. J. H. Hutchison, corporal ...•.....•..... ---~ ..•••• 
Item 10. Charles H. Allen, bugler ......................... . 
.Item 11. Jacob Benson, farrier and blacksmith ........••••. 

$104 GO 
95 50 
93 flO 
95 50 
H3 10 
54 40 
t<3 10 
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CLAIMS OF THE STATE OP TEXAS. 

Voucher. 
l?owers of attorney filed in connection with payments made for mem­

bers of this company are, in many instances, informal, in this, t.hat 
they are not witnessed as required by law and are not attested by 
the certifieate and sr.al of the clerk of a court of record to show the 
standing of certain magistrates who administered oaths. It is in­
ferred that these informalities cannot now be remedied by the State 
authorities, and therefore this objection may be waived. Other­
wise, the remarks for voucher 1 are applicable to these items, except 
tbat this amount should be allowed ............... _ ........... _ .. 

And this disallowed .............................................. . 
Items 12-14, 16-20, 21 in part, 23, 24, 26, 2~ in part, 

28, 29, 30, 31 in part, 32 in part, 3~-41, 43, 44, 45, 47, 
50 in part, 51-55, 56 in part, 57, 59, 60 in part, au<l 61 

in part, for services of 42 privates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,977 80 
M on items 1-8, 10 and 11 above, except that this amount, being 

for 42 privates, at $37.69t, should be allowed .......... __ ......... . 
And this disallowed .................... _.- ....................... . 
Items 62 and 64, for services of two privates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $113 !:J3 
As the names of the men charged for do not appear on rolls signed by 

a mn~-;tering officer, this amount, being an improper charge against 
the United States, should be disallowed------ ................... . 
Items 6 in part, 9, H>, 21 in part, 22, 25, 27 in part, 31 in part, 32 in 

part, 42, 46, 48, 49, 50 in part, 56 in part, 60 in part, 61 in part, and 
63, for the several amounts of which rec«:;ipts do not appear, are de­
ducted, tllerefore require no action. 

5. A. 1\I. Up.;hur, pay for enrolling and organizing Captain P. H. Rogers's 
company in Octo.ber, Hl54, ............................... _ $50 00 

This voucher, being a charge for services rendered prior to the date of 
muster into State service, should be disallowed ....... _ ......... . 

6. A.M. Upshur, services as paymaster, for paying off Captain P. H. Rog-
ers's company-dates of servif'e not stated ................ $299 08 
A copy of th~ appointmentof Up3hur is file 1~. It stat.ecl that on set­

tlement of his account with the comptroller a reasonal>le compen­
sation would be allowed. 

Comptroller Johns, February 28, 1860, certified that ·receipt for the 
above amount of $299. 08 was then on file in his office. Said receipt 
is not submitted. 

The remarks for voucher 6 of Pitzbuo-h's company are applicable 
to this voucher, of which this amount,$118. 37, being 5 per cenu. on 
$2,367. 49, favorably considered, is admissible, hut should be snspended, 
for w aut of proper receipt ....................... _ ................ . 
The balance charged on this voucher, being ~1n improper charge against 

the United States, should be disallowed ...... . .................. . 
7. Bennett P. Henderson, private. Balance of pay, &c ... _ ....... $:32 55 

Charles Hnman, private, Balance of pa.y, &c .............. $32 55 
8. As allowances for the full time these men were actuallv in t.he service 

of tlle State have been suggested on itemA 27 and :h of voucher 4, 
this amount, paid on their account, should be disallowed ...• , ..... 

9. Andrew B. Eckles, private. Pay and allowances for thrPe 
months .. .................................•.... _ •... _. __ .. $77 10 
Comptroller Johns certified, February 29, 1860, that a receipt for 

tbis amount was then on file in his office. Said receipt is not sub­
mitted. 
As ou voncher 1, except that this amount should be suspended for 

want of a proper receipt ................ __ .... _ .......... _ ... _ .•. 
And this should be disallowed ........... _ .... _ ............ _ .... __ . 

10. Tbomas A. Evans, private. Bala,nce of pay .................. $32 55 
As on vouchers 7 and 8 (except, in tbis case, see item 21 of voucher 
4,) this amount shonlcl be disallowed ...................... _ .... _. _. 

11. George W. Parks, private. Pay and allowances for three 
months .. _ .. _. _ ..... _. ~ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $77 10 

As on voucher 9, except tha.t this amount should be suspended . . .. _ •. 
And this should b e <lisallowed .................................... . 

12. Samuel A. Terrell, private. Balance of pay ............. _ .. $32 55 
As on vouchers 7 and 8, (except in this case sPe item 56 of voucher 
4,)theamount of this voueher should be disallowed .............. . 

13. A. H. Mott, private. Pay and allowances .......... ____ ...... $77 10 
As on voucher 9, this amount should l>e snspende1l. •................ 
And this <lisallowe1l .... _ .................. _ ................. ,. .•.. 

H. Ex. 277--4 
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50 CLAIMS OF TilE STATE OF 'fEXAS. 

Voucher. 
14. T. M. Pettey, private. P[LY and allowances .................. $77 10 

As on items 1 to 11 of voucher 4, except that this amount should be 
allo\ved ...........•....................•.......................• 

And this disallowed .................................... . .......... . 
15. E. P. Carver, pri,ra,te. Pay and allowances .................. $77 10 
16. 1!,. N ord!J U('S, bugler. Pay and allowances. . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . 80 50 

As on voucher 9, except that t!Jis amount should be suspended ...... . 
And this disallowed .............................................. . 

17. Mercer Fain, use of wagon and team six days, at $£i , uates of service 
not stated . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $36 00 

18~ 0. Evans and Hanson, 711 tations subsistence, at 39 cents, from 
Deceml>er 15 to 2.), 1H54, $277.29; seven hundred and eleven rations 
forage, at 31 ceuts, from December 15 to 23, 1t:l54, $220. 41 .. ~ ..... . 

The remarks on voucher 10, Boggess's company, are applicable to these 
vouchers, the amount of which shoul<l be disallowed ............. . 

19. E. Krausko:ff, gunsmith work in l\·ovember, 1854, Captain Roger's 
COnlpany.... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $68 50 

Captain Walker's company...... .. .. . . .. .. .. .. .. . . .. .. .. .. . . 13 75 
Captain Henry's company . .. . . .. .. . .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. 4 00 

The accouut for Rogers's company is certi:fieU. to as correct and ne­
cessary, by the first lieutenant of the compauy, and is approved uy 
Lieuteuaut Garri~:~on, assistant quartermaster, Texas rangers, and is 
receipted Ly A. A. Muncey, attorney for Krausko:ff. The other ac­
counts are certified to as correct :.tnd necessary by Captains Walker 
and Henry, respectively, but are not receipted. Comptroller Johns 
certified, March 1, 1860, that the receipt of A. A. Muncey, attorney 
for E. Krawskoff, for the sum of $86.25, was then on file. Said receipt 
is not sul>mitted. 
If the suggestion made in regard to awarding re-imbursement on ac­

count of these troops should ue favorably considered, this amonnt 
Leing properly incurred in arming and equipping the same, and be-
ing supporteti. by proper vouchers, should be allowed ............. . 

TLis amount, charged on accouut of H. Lehman, whose name does 
not appear on the rolls sigued by a mustering officer, should ue dis-
allo\ved .................................... __ ..........••....... 

And this amount sboultl be suspeudecl for want of proper receipts ... 
2V. Samtwl Stoue; Captain Rogers's company in November, 1854, ferriage 

for 5 days ........................ __ .. . . .. . . .. .. .. .. . . . .. . $30 00 
Captain Walker's company, ferriage........................ 6 00 
Captain Henry's company, November 3 to 2:3, 1854. 

Attention and hospital service renuered to the sick of this company, 
viz: 
Simms, Lee, Hickman, Reyuurn, and York, at $25 ..•....••.• 
Boarding six horses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ............ . 
Attention aud funeral expenses of Hickman ............... . 
l!,erryiug sundry tillleS to and from town .................. . 
Board aud attention of Hauks aud horse ................... . 

$125 00 
GO 00 
60 00 
10 00 
25 00 

280 00 

Tlle snb~voucbers are certified to as correct and necessary by the 
captains anu approved by the goveruor. 
The remarks of voucher 7 of Henry's company are applicable to the 

charges for board and attention to sick on this voucher, of which 
this amount should be allowed .................................. . 
The balance should be disallowed for the following reasons, viz: 

The charge on Hanks's account is a duplicate of voucher 8, Captain 
Henry's account; Hickman's name does not appear on Henry's rolls 
signed l>y a mustering officer, and the remarks to voucher 10, of 
Boggess's company, are applicable to the charges for boarding horses 
and ferriage, therefore this amount should be disallowed ......... . 

RECAPITULATION. CLASS I. 

The absiract for payments made to the six compames 
callsfor ............................................. 50,109:32 

$:~7 69 
;~9 41 

77 Oo 
HO 54 

497 70 

()8 50 

25 
17 50 

100 00 

216 00 
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Voucher. 
To this shoulrl be arlded, for an error in adilition in Bog­

gess's roll, the sum of $77.10, less 25 cents for an error 
in abstractiug voucher 23, same company...... . . . . . . . . $7G 85 

Correct amount of account ....... _........ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50, 186 17 
which is disposed of, in the foregoing analyses, as fol-
lows: 
Amount which should be-

Allowed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . "$16, 283 21 
Suspended . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . "3 942 14 
Disallowed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . 29: 960 82 

Total. ............................................. 50,186 17 

CLASS II. 
Callahan's partl}. 

1. J. H. Callahan ............................................ $409 40 
This voucher is simply a receipt for this aruonnt paid the captain for 

three months' service, viz, from July 20 to October 19, 1855. Items 
are not stated in detail; tbe officer's servant is not described; and an 
excess beyond what was allowed by law and Army regulations ap­
pears in this charge. Said excess amounts to $6.90, which should be 
disallowed ... _.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ........................... . 

Any action that will allow re-imbursement of any expenditure on ac­
count of this company will favorably cm.sider this amount, su!Jject, 
however, to suspe11sion until the voucher shall be perfected ...... . 

2. vVilliam Kyle, second lieuteuant ........................... $332 72 
3. Ed. Burleson, first lieutenant and assistant quartermaster... 408 06 

As on voucher 1, next above, except that here the excessive are 
Kyle $5.22, and Burleson $65.56, which should be disallowed ..... . 

The lmlance, as on voucher 1, suspended .......................... . 
4. Pay-roll of enlisted men ................................. $7, 481 68 

Items 1 to 83 aud 85, for services of t-l2 men from July 20 to October 19, 
1tl55, and of~ men from July ~0 to October 3, 1855 ....... $7, 390 26 
A muster-roll, certified to by Callahan and mustering officer J.D. 

Pitts, bears the items and receipts pertaining to this amount. 
Any action that will allow re-imbursement of any ~xpencliture an ac­

count of this company will favora!Jly consider this amount, subject to 
peUy deductions .. ___ .. ____ ... _ ..... _ .... - .. - .. _- ... - .. -.- . ----. 

Item 84, for services of an enlisted man .. ___ ... _. _ .. _ . __ ..... $91 42 
No receipt appears for this, therefore the amount should be disal-

lowed . _ ... _ ....... - .....•..... - ... --.- .... --- .. - -- ... -- · -- · · · · ·-
5. Pay-roll for property lost by enlisted men while iu Mexico; items 1-22, 

and 24-29 ... _ ....•.... ____ .. _ ... _ •.............. _ ...... $2, 21:3 00 
Each item is supported by an affidavit made by the captain of t.he 

company, and the articles and Yaluation charged compare favorably 
with remarks on the company-roll. 
Remark. Any action that will allow re-imbursement of any expendi­

ture m::tde on account of this company will ff1Vorably consider this 
atnount . __ .... _ .. _ ... _. _ .. _. __ .. _ ..... ____ .... _ .......... _ ... _ .. 

Item 2:3. The amount of this ha'3 been deducted from the claim, there­
for requires no action. 

5. Made up of various items, to be dealt with separately. 
Item 1. John Hiley, 326 bushels of corn, at $1.10, October 11, 

1855 . - - - - .. - - - -... - - -... - - - ....... - - - .... - ... - - - - ... - . . . $358 60 
This bill, approved by Captain Callahan, bears the certificate of 

Lieutenant Bnrleson, assistant quartermaster, that the corn was de­
livered and that, it was actually necessary for the puulic service. 

Why the contractor, S\venson, (see item 1:3 following,) did not fur-
nish a full supply of forage, is not explained. · 
If this bill does not in fact. exhibit false signatures on its faee, then 

it is simply a copy, but is uot so marked. 
·were any of the charges in this class aJlowable,this amonnt would be 

subject to suspension for want of a proper voucher, and for satis-
factory explanation in connectiou with item 13 .•..•. _ ...... _ .... . 

$6 90 

402 50 

70 78 
(·>iO 00 

7,390 26 

91 42 

2,213 00 

358 60 

*It is respectfully submitted tl1at the sum of these two amounts (viz, $20,225.35) is all of t.he foregoing 
amount that is admissible as a proper charge against the Uuited States on account. of the six companies 
called out by General P. F. Smith in 1854. The _grf'ater part of the amount "disallowed" is composed of 
snms which tl1e :State paid to the troops as "gratuity." (See annexed paper 67.) 
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Voucher. 
Item 2. John Riley, seven weeks rent of two houses, one for commis­

sary of supplies and the other for hospital, October 15, 185[. .. $26 25 
As on item l, next above, suspended··---· ......................... ~ 
Item 3. Ed. Burleson, transportation .............. __ ....... $409 68 

This bill is as follows: ''Received, San Marcos, January 8, 1856, of 
Colonel John D. Pitts, paymaster, $409.68, for transportation to Cap­
tain J. H. Callahan's company Texas mounted volnnteers, entered 
upon rolls as pack-mules. Ed. Burleson, first lieutenant, assistant quar­
termast.er." "Witness: J. H. Callahan, capt.ain." 
The rolls submitted f1o not throw any light upon this matter, further 

than that seventeen pack-mnles, belonging to different individuals 
of the company, were lost in Mexico. The lalJk of evidence to snpport 
this charge will warrant a disallowance of this amonn t ......... _. _ 

Item 4. T. C. Doss, 560 bnshels corn, at $1.10, October 15, 1855. $616 00 
This bill, approved by Callahan, bears the certificate of Burleson. Ex­

cepting that this is believed to he a genuine receipt, the remarks for 
item 1 are applicable to this anwunt-Suf;pended .. . __ .... __ .... __ . 

Item 5. Mrs. Reynolds, shoeing horses, October 15, 1855 ... __ .. $46 80 
Approved by Callahan; certified by BurleRton. The number of horses 

shod is not stated. The Teceipt is signed T. C. Doss, attorney, but_ no 
power of attorney is filed. This hill's defect.iveuess is sufficient to 
warrant a disallowance of its amount .... _ .... _ ...... _ ... ____ ... . 
(See remarks for items 9 and 10 following.) 

Item 6. James H nn ter, 54 bushels corn, October 13, 1R55 ... _ . . $72 20 
As on item 1 of this voucher-suspended .. . __ ..... __ .... . .... _. __ .. . 
Item 7. Ed. BurlAson, transporta,t,ion of baggage.... . . . . . .. . . . $36 00 

Claimant Burleson explains: ''I certify that the foregoing account 
is correct and just; that I have actually performed the journey herein 
charged for, in obedienee to the authority hereunt.o annexed, which 
was received by me when in act.ual duty; and that I have receivecluo 
public transportation, or money in lieu thereof, for any part of the 
above amount; and that I am not in arrear.':! to the SLate of Texas on 
any account whatever." 
An order for the journey is not submitted, dates of service are not 

staterl, and the charge i~:; ftJr transport~1tion of baggage, au<l is not, 
as certified, for transportation of t.he officer. For these rensons, and 
in addition see remarks for item 3, this amount should he disallowed 

Item 8. J. G. Barbee, services as surgeon for three months ... $300 00 
Approved by Callahan, approvNl by Bnrleson. . 
The doctor's name does not appear on the rolls, and he was not a con-

tract physician, therefore this amount should be disallowed ... _ .. ~ 
Hem 9. Harmon Willie, shoeing horses . _. _. _ .. __ .... _. _ .... $41 50 
Item 10. James Brown, shoeing horses ... __ .... __ .... _ ... _... 50 50 
Approved and certified as on item 1. The necessity for so much horse-

shoeing on the 15th October, 1855, (see item 5,) is not explained. 
Eighty-eight were t.he aggregat~ nnmber of perso11S in the company, 
and of the animals employed with them, forty-one were lost in 
Mexico early in Octouer, ltl55. The eompany officers having been 
notified October 4, ltlfi5, that they woulti be mustered out October 
19, 1855, the expenses inenrred by them four days before muster-out 
were extraordinary in character and a.monnt. The total absence of 
full and satisfactory explanation concerning these items warrants 
their disallowance . ·---- .......... -----------· .................. . 

Item 11. Russell Varnell, services as guide __ .. _ .... _ .... _. _ .. $40 00 
Approved and certified as on item 1. Dates of serviee are not speci­

fied. If this company was ever properly and lawfully employed, it 
was when in a section of country with which its members must 
have been familiar, needing no guide. If a guide was necessary, 
.then the organization was ont of its proper element, and the expenses 
incurred in snch an event should be disallowed .... - _ ....... . .... -

Item ht J. H. Callahan advances, October 12, 1855.---- .••••• $57 00 
This amount is made up of $23 for fora.ge, $20 for corn, ami. $14 for 

horseshoeing for a scout, while out of reach of smiths, who were doing 
the company work, the captain asserting by certificate that he paid 
the money out of his own private means. 
Receipts of the parties paid by Callahan are not filed , and the corre~t­

ness of the hill is not veritied hv affidavit. .As snbmittfld, this sub­
voucher is fatally defective, ancl its amonut should be disallowed .. 

$26 25 

409 68 

616 00 

46 80 

72 20 

36 00 

300 00 

92 00 

40 00 

57 00 
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Voucher. 
Item 13. S.M. Swanson ...... ---------··-----·----- ...... $2,746 00 

This charge embraces items of subsistence, forage, medicines, ammu­
nition, scales and weights, stationery, camp equipage, and transporta­
tion. 

Reference is made to contract marked No.1, dated August 3, 1855; 
also to contract marked No.2, elated October 30, 1i:l54, and accounts 
marked Nos. 3 and 7. 

The contracts and accounts referred t.o in the foregoing memoranda 
on the bill are not submitted, dates of thiR account a.re not submitted, 
the correctness of this account is not certified to, dates of service are 
not specified, and articles of property not perishable are not accounted 
for. 
Upon the evidence snbmitted this item of items is inadmissible; there-

fore should be disallt>wed . . . . . . . . . . .. .. .. .. .. . . . .. . .. . . . . . . .. . . . . $2, 7 46 00 
Item 14. Gastin Barbee, services rendered to men wounded in bat-

tle ... __ .. ___ ... ___ ..... __ .. __ ............. _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $67 50 
This bill, approved by Callahan, bears the certificate of Burleson 

H that the above account is correct and just.; that the said Barbee did 
attend the men, and that be did it at the request of Captain James H. 
Callahan, with tlJe promise of having his claim properly presented to 
the State of Texas." 
Dates of service are not staten. This doctor, Barbee, is supposed to 

be the same as figured in item 8; therefore this seems to be a 
double charge. If any amounts were allowable on this class, this 
item would be snhject to suspension for want. of satisfactory explan­
ation, and then it might be disallowed for the reasons stated in item 
8. . . - . . - - - - . . - - - - . . - - - - - .. - - .... - - - - . - - . - . . . - - - . . - - - - - • - - - • - - - - - 67 50 

Item 15. Thomas Dnrharn, 2,263 rations of subsistence, at 39 cents, 
July 20, 1855 .................. ------ ........ ·----· ·----- $882 57 
This hill, approved by the governor, bears the certificate of Lien­

tenant Burleson, that the account is correct and the rations were 
furnished. 
The necessity for so many rations for so few men in one day's time is 

not explained; nbstracts of issues are not submitted; this charge 
is not submitted by a proper voucher, and if a.ny amounts should be 
allowable in this class, this item should be suspended for want of 
sat.isfactory explanation ......... __ ... __ ................ _. . . . . . .. 882 57 

Benton's company. 

1. Roll of pay nnd allowances from September 15 to October 15, 
1855 ...... - ·----· ·----· ·----· ·----· ·- ···--· ...... ·---·· $1,574 83 

Item 1. Nat. BPnton, captain ...... _...................... 191 35 
Item 2. H. B. King, first lieutenant·---··................ 161 88 
Item 3. Ch::.rles A. Read, second lieutenant.. . . . • • . . . . . . . . . 140 00 
An excess beyond what was allowable by law and Army Regulat.ions 

was grauted to each indivirlua.l above named. Said excess for 
Benton, $57.85; for King, $4~.3/'i; and for Read, $31.50, should be 
disallowed ... _ ..... _ ......... _ ...... _ .. . ... _.. . . . . • . .......... . 
Items are not stated iu detail7 aml descriptions of the officer's serv­

ants are not given. 
Any action that will allow re-imbursement of any expenditure on ac­

count of tH.is compa.ny will favorably consider this amount subjec-t 
to suRpension until the voucherR are perfected .•.................. 

Item'3 4-26. For services of 23 enlisted men.... . . . . . . . . . . . $1,081 60 
Amounts paid exceed~ in every instance, the amounts of the items 

given to form the total, the latter being excessively stated. Powers 
of attorney filed in connection with payments made for members of 
this company are informal in several instances. 
The erasures, overcharges lack of detailed statements of items to make 

the total paid, and the remarkable uniformity of handwriting of all 
the men, whose names stand as having been signed by the iudivid­
nals themselves, are all fatal defects on this voucher, and they will 
warrant a suspension of this amount ............................ .. 

2 .. Roll of payments made for property lost in Mexico ....... _.. $935 00 
Items of cbarge are certitierl under oath, and they and the amounts 

compare favorably with articles and valuations on the company-roll. 

137 73 

355 50 

1,081 60 
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Voucher. 
Remark as on voncher 5 of Callahan's company, except that item 1 

in this case requires a power of attorney, and that this is the amount 
to be disposed of ...•.....•...................................... 

3. J. H. Callahan.... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $57 00 
This duplicates the charges composing item 12 of voucher 6 for Calla­

han's company, therefore should be disallowed ......... ..•....... 

Henry's cornpany. 

1. Roll of pay and allowances from September 15 to October 15, 
1l:i55 --.-.- . --.- .. -.--- -.-.- -... -- -- ------ . - .• -- ------ $3,112 60 

Item 1. W. R. Henry, captain............................. 178 00 
Item 2. Houston Tom, first lieutenant . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 150 00 

As in items 1 to 3 of voucher 1 for Benton's company, except that 
here the excessive charges amount to $81, which should be disa1lowed. 
And the balance subject to suspension is ........................... . 

Item 3 is not receipted f<.?r, and the amount has been deducted from 
the roll. No action required. 

Itcms4-36. Enlistedmen ............................. $1,494 60 
Powers of attorney filed in connection with these p::tyments are 

informal, as in cases heretofore noted. 
Any action that will allow reimbursement of any expenditure on 

account of this company will favorably consider this amount ...... . 
2. Roll of payments made for property lost in Mexico ........ $1, 290 00 

As on voucher 5 of Ca.llahau's company ............................ . 
I. John D. Pitts, paymaster ......................... .. ........ $100 00 

This charge appeared as voucher 5 for Henry's company, in class 
1; but from there was transferred to be dealt with in this class, 
the voucher being for services as paymaster for the companies in this 
class. 

Comptroller Johns certified, February 29, 1860, that the receipt of 
John D. Pitts wail then on file. Said receipt is not submitted. 
Any action that will allow re-imbursement of any expenditure on 

account of tllis company will favombly consider this amount, 
subject to suspension until a proper receipt is presented .......... . 

RECAPITULATION. CLASS II. 

If a United States law authorized and directed the Secretary of 
War to settle and adjust, ''on jnst and equitable principlt's," the 
claims submitted in connection with the companies of Callahan, 
Benton, and Henry, an enforcement of the rules of the War Depart­
ment would leave the aeconnts as follows: 

Amount which should be-
Allowed ...... _ ............................. $13, 322 86 
Suspended . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4, 879 72 
Disallowed .................................. 4,172 31 

Brought down from class 1. ......... _ ................. . 

CLASS III. 

1'om'8 company. 

$22,374 89 
50,186 17 

It is asserted that this organization was employed from October 18 
to November 15, 1855. For what purpose it was employed does not 
appear in the evidence. Tbe vouchers do not state the dates of service, 
bnt otherwise are as follows: 

1. William Tom, pay anrl allowances as capta.in ................. $133 70 
Overcharged on servant's pay 20 cents, which should be disallowed .. 
Remark.-Any action that will allow re-imbursement of any expendi­

ture on account of this company will favorably consider this 
amount ................................................... ------

2. Robert E. Jones, first lieutenant . ............................ $13 70 
3. W.M.Rust, second lieuteuant ...... -----· ............ __ ..... 108 70 

As on voucher 1, next above, except that this should be disallowed ... . 
And this is the balance to be disposed of. .................. _ ....... . 

07 00 

81 00 
247 00 

1,494 60 

1,290 00 

100 00 

20 

133 50 

40 
222 00 
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Voucher. 
4. Pay-roll, items 1-14, 16-26, 28, and 30-45, pay and allowances to en-

listed men--·----- ...... ---- ............ ................ $1,112 92 
The powers of at.torney, submitted in connection with these items, 

are informal, as i u othAr cases heretof(,re noted. Otherwise the re­
mark on voucher 1, preceding, is applicable to this amount to be 
disposed of...................................................... $1,112 92 
Items 15, 27, and 29, for the several amounts of which receipts 

are not produced, are deducted from the roll, therefore reqnire no 
action. 

{). Ezra Keyser's account with a vigilance committee, for cash paid by him 
for forage and subsistence furnished Tom's company ........ $40t:l 97 
This bill was paid by the committee, and the State reimbursed the 

amount, per receipt of "E. Jones, chairman of the vigilance com­
mittee." 
'l'he quantity and price of each article is not stated, and the receipts 

of the parties paid by Mr. Keyser are not submitted. The infor­
mality of this voucher is sufficient to warrant a disallowance of its 
amount.... . . . . . . .......................................... _. _. -108 97 

G. George Lee, private ...................... -----· ...... . .. . .. $25 70 
A receipt for this is not filed, therefore the amount should be dis-

allo"•ed ........................................... _.. . . . . . . . . . . . 25 70 

Tobin's company. 

It is asserted tl1at this organization was employed from October 12 
t o November 15, 1855. 

}'or what purpose it was employed is not clearly stated, unless it 
was to serve against Texas Indians. The vouchers are as follows: 

1. William G. ToLiu, (called captain,) pay and allowances as second lieu-
tenant ........................ -.-.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . ........... $108 70 
As on voucber one of Tom's company, except that this amount should 

be disallowed . __ ..................... _ ....... _ ...... _ ......... _. 
And this is the balance ........................ . .................. . 

2. Pay-roll, dates of service not stated, items 1-7 and 9-25, pay and 
allowances to enlisted men .................................. $808 76 
As on items for amounts paid on voucher 4 of Tom's company, except 

that this is the amount to be disposed of. ...................... _. 
Item H, not receivted, is deducted from the roll, therefore requires no 

action. 
Engli.sh'8 cornpany. 

It is asserted t.hat this organization was employed at varions times 
between AngHst. 6 and November 13, 1855. For what purpose it was 
employed is not satisfactorily. explained, tbongh the captain's power 

. of attorney asserts it was to serve against Texas Indians. (See an­
nexed paper, No 139.) The vouchers are as follows: 

1. Levi English, pay and allow~mces for one month, as first lieu-
tenant ... ---- . ............................................ $113 70 

2. Joel M. vValker, second lieutenant .......................... 108 70 
As on voucher 1 of Tom's company, except that this aJllonnt should 

be disallowed ........................................... _ ....•.. 
And tbis is the balance ................... . ... _ .... _ .......... _ .... . 

3. Pay-roll, dates of service uot stated, items 1 to 7, 9-18, 20-31, :35-39, 
and 4:t-46, pay and allowances to enlisted men ............ $1,376 46 

As on items for amounts paid on voucber 4 of Tom's company, except 
that this is the amount to be disposed of ...... ---- ............ ___ _ 

4. R. Radcliffe, private ........... : .. _ .... .' ..................... $33 20 
5. Evan Corner, private ............................... _ ...... _.. 33 20 
6. John Taylor, private ......................................... 33 20 
7. E. O'Brian, private ........................................... 3:{ 20 
8. Charles Richanls, private .......... ·----- .................... 33 20 

Mr. Jolms certified, March 10, 1860, that tbe receipts for the above 
amounts were then 011 file in the State comptroller's office. Why said 
receipts are not snbmittedis not explained. The remark 011 voucher 
1 for Tom's company is applicable to these vouchers, except that 
this amount is sn hject to susveusion, for want of proper receipts .... 
A voucher for $ l 00, paid James H. Raymond, paymaster of the com-

panies in tbis class, appears with the vouchers of Travis's company, in 
class 1. The amonnt is there disallowed. 

20 
108 50 

808 76 

40 
222 00 

1,376 46 

166 00 
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RECAPITULATION. CLASS III. 
Voucher. 

Conditions noted for class 2, recapitulation, if app liecl to this 
class, would leave the accounts submitted. for the companies of Tom, 
'£obin, and English, as follows: 

Amount which should be-- . 
Allowed .. ---· ................................ $3, 984 14 
Suspended ......................... ·_... . . . . . . 166 00 
Disallowed ----·----· ........ ---------- ... :.. 435 67 

----- $4,586 01 
Brougllt down from preceding classes . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . 7~, 561 06 

CLASS IV. 

Sansom's company. 

It was asserted that this organization was employed from Aprill6 to 
July 16, L856. It was paid for ninety day's services, under tlle gov­
ernor's certificate of employment, from April 16, though the mustering 
officer certified that it was not mustered in until April 19, 18515. It 
appears that the principal, Sansom, was paitl at the rate of $1.50 per 
day, and the men at $1 per day each, and not at the rate fixed for 
troops in the United St:ates service. 
This fact proves t.hat this company was not a military organization, 

a!Jd the amount.s paid to Its members, for services alleged to have 
been rendered as troops, should be disallowed ....... _.. .. . . . . . . . . $ t , 155 00 
NOTE.-The one voucher, tiled on acconut of this company, is certi-

fied to by the so-called captain, who asserts that he witnessed the vay­
ment of the whole company. The signatures to the receipts artl not 
witnessed, however, but all appear to have been written by ont 
hand. 

Davenpm·t's company. 

It is asserted that this organization was employed n,t various times 
between March 13, 18f)6, and June 1, 11:l57. 

1. A roll was made ont for three mouths' pay at the same rn,tes as are 
noted for Sansom's company, IJut the full amount specified as due 
was not paid. It appears that John M. Davenport and Joseph G. 
Brown, the two principals, were each entitled to $135, !Jut were paid 
only $60.39 each, and that t.he tllirty-five men were each e11titled 
to $90, but were paid o"nly $45.70 each, leaving a balance due. For 
twenty of the men the money was paid to John M. Davenport on 
powers of attorney. which do not, on sight, present a favorable ap­
pearance. One J. M. McCormick, who belonged to the company, was 
at the sarno time, or subsequently became, clerk of a conuty court 
of which James B. Davenport was chief justice. Before one of these 
two individuals the powers of attorney, in fnvor of John M. Dav­
enport, were executed. One of the documents represents that it 
was in presence of the chief justice, signed by eighteen of the men. 
If the men were not all taught pemnanship by one and the same 
tutor, then one person signed all the 11ames in this inst.auce, and the 
Davenport family thereuvon received nearly all the money paid on 
this voucher, the amount of which should be disallowed .......... . 

2. Neill Robinson, services as paymaster for the companies of Sansom, 
Davenport, and Black...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $100 00 

The unsatisfact.ory manner in which this man discharged his duties 
and rendered his accounts shonld have debarred him from obtaining 
any pay. This amonut should lJe disallowed ................. .... . 

Black's company. 

It is asserted that this company was in service n,t various times be­
tween January 1 and December 31, 1856. 

A roll was made out for two ·months' pay at the rates notecl for 
Sansom's compn,ny, bnt the full amount specified as clue to each iuui­
vidual was not pmd. 

It appears that R. W. Black and James Moseley, the two principals, 
were each entitled to $90, bm were paid only $45.70 each, and that 
the twenty-eight men were each entitled to $60, hut were pn,id only 
$30.46 each, leaving a balance due. 

1,599 62 

100 00 
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Voucher. 
For twenty of the men the money was paid to J. C. Ellis (a member 

of the company) on powers of attorney, signed by persons who ap­
parently learned to write under one and the same waster. John M. 
MciJormick, who belonged to Davenport's company, and was clerk 
of a county court, also belonged to this company, and before him 
every one of the twenty powers of attorney was acknowledged. 
Under tllese cireumstances it is difficult to determine who was in 
fact paid for services rendered in this instance; but it is suggested 
that the character of this voucher is sufficient to warrant a disallow-
ance of its amount ..... ------ .•.... -----------·-----· ........... . 

RECAPITULATION OF CLASS IY. 

The total claimed should be disallowed.... . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3, 646 60 
Brought down from preceding classes .. ------.-----·---- 77.147 07 

CLASS V. 

The companies pertaining to this class were to serve as minute-men, 
and their employment was authorized by letters from the governor. 
How or where they served i~ not dearly set forth. 

The evidence goes to show that, notwithstanding the apparent em­
ployment of this military force, Indians committed depredations in 
sorue of the very counties and during the very times in which these 
companies apparently exit~ted as protectionists. The charges for all 
the companies are from December, 1t!57, to March, 1b5o, and the 
vouchers are at~ follows: 

Ca1·mack's cnmpa·uy. 

1. T. K. Carmack, firt~t lieutenant.·----- ...... --------...... $269 00 
Any action that will allow re-imbursement of any expenditure on ac-

count of this company will favorably con~ider this amount ........ 
2. Pay-roU of enlisted men. . . . .. . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . $2, 352 30 
3. Use of pack-mnle, at $8 per month...... .. . . ... .. .. .. . . . . . 24 00 
4. Use of pack-mule, at $8 per month ....... ----· ...... ---· 24 00 
5. Use of pack-mule, at $H per mouth............. .. . . . . . . . . 24 00 
6. Use of pack-mu~e, at $8 per month....................... 2t 00 

As on voucher 1, next above ................................ . 

Conner's company. 

1. John H. Conner, lieutenant.............................. $H6 75 
As on voucher 1 of Carmack's company, except that this amount is 

subject to suspension, as the officer's servant is not described ...... . 
2. Pay-roll of enlisted men ............ _.... .. .. . .. . . .. .. . . $:3, 758 27 

3-6. Use of pack-mules, at $8 per month . .. . . . . .. .. . . . . . .. .. .. 96 00 
As on voucher 1 of Carmack's company ............................ . 

7. W. L. Williams, private, for value of one house and eqniprnents, taken 
by the Indians, while in the service of the State of Texas ... $lOG 00 
This is certified to under oath b,y Lieutenant Conner, bnt it is not 

shown at what place, upon wl.Jat date, and under what circumstances 
the horse was lost. 
As on voucher 1 of Carmack's company, except t,bat this amount is 

sn bject to snRpcnsion ........................................... . 

Hodges's compauy . . 
1. John S. Hoflges, lieutenant, for services from December 14, 1857, to 

April 26, 1rl58 . , .................. _ ....... _ .. __ .. . . . . . . . . $564 75 
As on voucher 1, Carmack's company, except that this amount is 

subject to snspensiou, as the officer's servant is not described ..... . 
2. Pay-roll of enli~ted men ............... _. __ . ___ ..... _ .... $2,384 00 

As on voucher 1, Carmack's company .............................. . 
3. John S. Hodges, re-imbursement of amount expended for ulacksmith-

ing for three months ......... _ ............ _ ................ $4 00 
Hodges's receipt for the money, or the receipt of the party paid by 

him, is uot found. 
As on voucher 1 of Carmack's company, except tllat this amount is 

snbjtlct to suspension .... ------ .... ____ ................ ------ ___ _ 

57 

$791 98 

269 00 

2,448 30 

86 75 

3,758 27 

105 00 

564 75 

2,384 00 

4 00 
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Voucher. 
4. Horseshoeing . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $51 50 

As on voucher 3, next above, suspended .......................... .. 
5-7. Use of pack-rnnles, at $8 per mouth ......................... $72 00 

As on voucher 1, Carmack's compauy .............................. . 
8. Use of pack-mule .......................................... $24 00 

The receipt of the party paid is not produced. 
As on voucher 1 of C;trmack's company, except that tllis amount is 

subject to suspension ................................ ..... . 

Frost's company. 

1. 'I'. C. l!'rost, lieutenant,.· .. ..... _ ......... _. _ . .. ............... $376 50 
As on voucher 1 of Ca.rmack's company, excbpt that this amount is 

subject to suspension for want of a description of the officer's servant. 
2. Pay-roll of enlisted men ....... _ .......................... $~, :1\:10 75 

As on VOllcher 1 of Carmack's company, except that this amount is 
subject t.o suspension for want of witnesses to receipts for tlle money. 

3. Use of four pack mules, three months each, at $8 per month .. $96 00 
.As on voncher l of Caem.tck's company, except tllat this is snlJject 

to suspension for want of powers of att.orney to support the receipts 
of the parties paid .......... ..................................... . 

RECAPITULATIOX. 

If a Uuited States law authorized and directed the Secretary of War 
to settle and adjust., "ou just and equitaLle principles," the claims 
submitted in connection \Vitl1 t.be ct•mpanies of Carmnck, Conuet·, 
Hodges, and Frost, au enforcement of the rules of tue War Depart­
ment would leave t.be accounts as follows: 

Amount wllich should be-
Allowed ................................... $11, 514 32 
Suspended.... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1, 212 50 

--- $12,726 1:5~ 
Brought down from preceding classes...... . . . . . . . . . . . . BO, 7!:13 67 

CLASS VI. 

It is alleged tllat the companies in this class were jn .·ervice at 
various times in the year 185H. Thtse organizations were a.uthorized 
by the governor, and they killed at least seventy-six. Colllanches 
during an expedition into the Cherokee country. 

The vouchers are as follows : 

Ford's company. 

1. Pay-roll, January 10, 1.o August 10, 1858 ................. $18,691 11 
The governor's instructions to Foru were, viz: 
"In all matters pertainiug to your duties as commander of the State 

troops, you will co-operate with the officers of the Regular Army, if 
expedient, convenient, or practicable." 

~51 50 

72 00 

24 00 

376 50 

2,390 7G 

96 00 

In view of this fact, it is suggested that this command was entirely 
a St.ate affair, i. e., an independent military establishment, \Vith 
which the United States authorities had nothing to do, therefore 
this amount should be disallowed .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. .. .. . . .. . . .. .. 18, 691 11 
NOTE.-Of the foregoing amount $207.94, in items 40 and 90, are r e-

ceipted by proxy, but powers of attomey are not filed. 
2. Roll of property lost by privates and paicl for b,y the State .. $56~ 00 

As on vouc!Jer 1, ahuve, and in addition: 
A power of attoruey is not filed to support a receipt by proxy for 

$194 of this amonut, which sboul1l be disallowed.............. . . . . • ;)68 00 
The followin~-mentioned vouchers are for pay anll allowances of 

officers of the Ford company from January 10, to August 5, 1858: 
3. John S. Ford, captain .............. _.. . .. .. . .. . . .. .. .. .. $1, 420 65 
4. E. Burleson, first lieutenant............................. 977 00 
5. A. Nelson, second lieutenant............................. 917 00 
6. W. A. Pit.ts, second lieutenant........................... 917 00 
7. J. H. Tankersley, lieutenant............................. 825 12 

As on voucher 1, above, and in adJition: 
Burleson and Pitts ha.vi11g been commissioned lieutenants for this 

compaHy, Nelson aud Tankersley were snpernnmerary officp,rs, and. 
should not have been paid. 'l'he whole :unonnt should be disall<.•wed. .j, 05G 77 
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Voucher. 
8. Abstract of purchases made by Ed. Burleson, lieutenant, and acting 

assistant quartermaster for Ford's companies .......... $13,095 13 
This amount embraces charges for large quantities of property not 

perishable, and not accounted for. 
AmonO' the items are six horses, thirty mules, and three wagons. The 
amo~nt of this voucher would be subject to suspension were it not 
for the remark on voucher 1, under which it should be disallowed.. $13, 095 13 

9. Transportation and repairs. . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3, 398 fl8 
10. Ordnance stores. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . 670 38 

As on voncher 1; disallowed....... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4, 068 96 
11. Ed. Burleson, mileage ............... ------ .........•........ $72 00 

As on voucher 1, and, in addition : 
Orders for the jourueys are not su bmittec1; disallowed...... . .. . . . . . • 72 00 

12. S. M. Swenson, contractor for subsistence fum ish eel. ....... $1,529 70 
As on voucher 1, and, in addition: 

The correctness of this voucher is certified to by Lieutenant Bur­
leson aud is approved by Captain Ford. Abstracts of rations re­
ceived and issued are not submitted, and the dates upon which 
the subsistence was furnished are not state<l, disallowed.... . . . . . 1, 529 70 

13. S.M. Swenson, subsistence ........... ., .................. $1,000 00 
14. S.M. Swenson, subsistence .................. ---.......... 2, 800 00 
15. S.M. Swenson, snusistence ..... , ............ -----· ....... 4,000 00 
16. S.M. Swenson, subsistence ............................... 2,135 07 

As on voucher 12, and, in ad<lition: 
Receipts for the money are not submitted; disallowed.... . . . . . . . . . . 9, 935 07 

17. Robert Cutter~ extra-duty pay as commissary clerk, at 40 cents per 
day... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • $72 80 

This man was first sergeant of the company, and under the customs 
of the military service could not have been properly det.ailed as 
clerk. An order placing him on extra duty, detached service, is not 
filed, and dates of service are not stated. Otherwise, the remarks 
on voucher 1 apply to this voucher, the amount of which should be 
disallowed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 72 80 

18. J.H. Tankersley, lieutenant ........................ · •.•.... $178 76 
As on voucher 1, and, in addition: 

This lieutenant was paid in full on voucher 7, and this is a duplicate 
19. H. R. Rnnnell's, expressage ............. . ................... $70 00 

charge, not supported by a rect>ipt; disallowed...... .. . . . . . . . . . . . . 178 76 
'fhe governor's receipt, or the receipt of the party paid, is not sub-

mitted. Dates of service are not stated. 
As on voucher 1, this amount should be disallowed. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70 00 

20. Miscellaneous expenses ................... ................ $2,220 66 
Items 1, 4-7, 9, 10, and 12, amounting to $470 98, are for expenses of 

expressmen, printing, keeping a mule, ordnance stores, and horse 
hire. Excepting items 6 and 7, receipts of the parties paid are not 
submitted. 
The remarks for voucher 1 are applicable to this amount, which should 

be disallowed........................... . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . .. . . .. .. 470 98 
Items 2, 3, 8, 11, and 15 are duplicates of payments made by items 1, 

2, 3, and 5-lt3 of voucher 1 for Williams's company; therefore the 
amount should be disallowed..... . .. . .. .. . . .. . . .. . . . . . . .. .. .. . . . . 1, 050 00 

Item 13. John Williams, pay ancl allowances as first lieutenant, two 
months, from May 24 to Jnly 24, 1858 ...................... $~87 66 

As on voucher 1 ; should be disallowed.... .. .. . . .. .. .. .. . . .. . .. .. .. 287 66 
Item 14. S. M. Swenson, 1,260 complete rations for Williams's com-

pauy, May 20, 1858 ....................................... $412 02 
As on voucher 1~, except that here Williams certified and the gov­

ernor approved tue account. The receipt of the party paid is not 
submitted. This amount should be clisallo~ved ................. _.. 412 02 

W. G. Preston's detachment. 

21. Pay-roll of enlisted men, April 20 to J nne 30, 1858 .......... $1, 150 45 
This <letachment was called into service by Captain Ford. 
In most instances the amounts paid exceeded the totals due per 

items correctly added. Tweut~y-four dollars was pai<l for a piRtollost 
by Private Hill, but a receipt for the amount is not snbmitted. On this 
roll many of the signatures, purporting to 

1

be the genuine signatures 
of the men, were written !Jy one person, whose authority to sign by 
proxy is not submitted. 
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Voucher. 

As on voucher 1, should be disallowed.... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • $1, 150 45 
22. W. G. Preston, secoud lieutenant .......................... $283 42 

As on voucher 1, should be disallowed ............. __ . . . .. .. .. .. .. . . 283 42 

W. N. F. Mm·lin's company. 
1. Pay-roll of Pnlisted men 1 from February 24 to April 4, 1859 ... $752 G9 

This company was employed by Ford in 185R, and when be was about 
to pay it, in 1859, it was reporterl that Indians were about, so be re­
assembled the company, and thus brought it into active service 
again for ''six months, unless sooner discharged." It was sooner 
di~charged, and the amounts paid to it for service in connection wit.h 
this class, and for other !:lervices, are embraced in voucher l::l of Ford's 
company, class 7, duplicating this charge, which should here be 
disallowed...................................................... 752 59 

John WilUanus's company. 
1. Pay-roll ................................................ $1,085 60 

Of tl;te twent.y items on this roll, the money for fifteen was pairl to 
Sergeant D. C. Cowan, whose powers of attorney are not subutitted, 
and for five paid at the State treasnry, receipts are nnt prorluced. 
As on voucher 1 of Ford's company, this amount should be disal-

lowed .................... _... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1, 085 60 

RECAPITUI"ATION-CLASS VI. 

The troops of this class formed a military establishment entirely 
independent of the United States authorities, as will be seen by refer­
ence to page 14 of Honse Exec'utive Document No. 27 of the second 
session of the Thirty-fifth Congress, which shows that the governor 
wrote to Ford : 

"Of course you will not be expected to submit to any improper in­
terference in the execut,ion of your duties from any quarter." It also 
appears therein that "the efficiency or good of the Stat.e service" was 
in this instance considered paramount to anything the United States 
military authorities in Texas could have said or done. 
In view of the foregoing facts it is respectfully submitted tha.t the 

total charged in this class should be disallowed....... . . $58, 831 0~ 
Brought down from preceding classes ... _.. . . . . • . . . . . . . . . 93, 520 49 

CLASS VII. 

Bmwland's Company. 

This was a State organization entirely independent of any United 
States authority. It was authorized by the governor, "\'Yhose instruc­
tions to the capt.ain (see paper 90) show the purposes for which it was 
raised. The vouchers are as follows: 

1. Roll for pay and allowances to enlisted men from October 28, 1858, to 
J auuary 28, 1859. 

Abstracted for ........................................... $6, 126 46 
To which add, for an error in addition.................... 55 28 

Correct amount of roll. ................................. 6,181 74 

Powers of attorney filed in connection with payments ma.de for 
members of this company are in several cases informal, as in cases 
notPd in class 1. 
Items 1-14 and 16-78 .................................... $6,111 76 
Rernm·k.-Any action that will allow re-imbursement of any expendi-

ture on acconut of this company will favorably consider this 
amount, subject to petty deductions ..................... ........ .. 

Item 15. William Dawson, services as private November 13, 185R, to 
January 28, 1859, two month and sixteen days .............. $69 98 

The mnster-ont roll shows that this man was discharged December, 
22, 1858, unable for rluty. 'l'he overcharge for one month and six 
days should be disallowed ....................................... . 

Anrl for the balance the remark on the other items of this voucher 
is applicable ...... ....................••......................... 

6,111 76 

33 15 

36 83 
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Voucher. 
2. Roll for pay and allowances to enlisted men from January 28 to April 

28, 1859:-- -- .. - -- .... ---- .. -- --- --- . -- - --- --- . -. ---- . --- 2, 778 88 
As on voucher 1, (except item 15)...... .. . ..... ...... .... .... ...... $2,778 88 

3. Patrick O'Gorrnan, services as paymaster's clerk for two months at 
$700 per annum .................•...•................... $116 66 

The dates of service are not stated, and the acconnt is not certified. 
This is not a proper charge to be connected with the employment of 
a company of militia or volunteers; therefore the amount should be 
disallowed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 116 60 
Officers' pay-accounts from October 28, 1858 to April 28, 1859, viz.: 

4. James Bonrland, captain .......•..•...................... $1,077 00 
5. E. C. Perry, first lieutenant ................ ----.......... 977 00 
6. G. H. Fitzhugh, second lieutenant........................ 917 00 

The remark on voncher 1 is applicable to these vonchers, 1he amounts 
of which are suujcct to suspension, as the officers' servants are not 
described . . . . . .. _ ... ___ . .. . . .. . .. . . .. . . . . . .. . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . 2, 971 00 

7. William Hnnter, surgeon, from February 7 to March 8, H:l59 ... $67 74 
8. G. L. Scott, surgeon, from October 28, 1858, to February 1, 1859, and 

from March 1i to April 12, 1tl59...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . $3tl9 50 
The names of these medical gentlemen do not appear on the rolls, and 

there is nothing submitted to show that they were employed nuder 
cont.ract, in acconlauce with the Army Regulations. For each 
voucher a power of attorney, not witnessed, is filed, and the money 
was receipted for by proxy. This amount should. be disallowed.... ,)J7 24 

9. M. Poin<lexter, expressman ..................... ----------- $10 00 
Tl1e remark ou voncher 1 is applicable to this amount, which is sub-

ject to suspension for want of dates of service.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 00 
10. Alexander Boutwell, pay and allowances as second lieuteuant, from 

October 2tl, 1858, to January 2tl, 1859 ..................... $458 50 
The officer's servant is not <leseribed. As two lieutenant were ]Jaid, on 

vouchers 5 and 6, for the whole time this company W<.ts in ser­
vice, tllis amount for a supernumerary officer should not have been 
paid, an<l should here be disallowed.............................. 45tl 50 

11. W. T. Peery, use of wagon and team ...................... $155 00 
Remark as on voucher 1 .............. ----. .... . .. .. .. .... .. ...... 155 00 

Ford's company. 

This company was authorized by the governor of Texas, who com­
missioned the company officers on the lOth of November 1t!58. The 
vouchers are as follows : 

1. Roll of pay aud allowances to enlisted men from November 
10, 185b, to May 10, 1859 .. _ ............................ $11, 443 10 
Powers of attorney iu some instances are informal, as in other cases 

heretofore noted. 
Item 1 is si~ned by a.ttorney, bnt a power of attorney to support the 

receipt is not submitted; the amounts of items 2:~, ::U, and 73 in part 
are not receipted for. In view of these facts this amount shoulcl ue 
disallowed .................................................. ---- 4V6 85 
Item 40, the amount of which is deducted from the roll, requires uo 

action. 
The remaining items on this voucher come under the remark on 

voucher 1 of Bomland's company, except that this is the amount 
to be disposed of ........................... ----.................. 10,946 25 

2. James V. Ross, extra-<lnty pay as clerk in commissary department 
November 10, 18fi8, to May 10, 1859, at 25 cents ]Jer day ...... $45 00 

Rmnm·k.-Any action that will allow re-imbursement of any expendi-
ture on account of this company will favorauly consider this amount 45 00 

3. John H.. Gibbons, first lieutenant .... ........................ $tl16 54 
As on voucher 1, next above, nxcept that this amount is subject to 

snspension for waut of a del'cription of the officer's servant.... . . . . 816 54 
4. Aaron Burleson, seconcllieutenaut ................... _ ...... $763 80 

As an voucher 2 ............ _ ................. _ ..... _.. .. .. .. .. . . 763 80 
5. J. H. Hu:fflllan, extra-duty pay as hospital stewart, December 10, 1858, 

to May 10, 1859, 150 clays at ~5 cents per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . $37 50 
An order assigning this man to extra dnty on detacherl service is not 

submitted, and the correctness of the ftcconut is not certitieu to by 
any one, therefore this amount shonM he disallowed: ...... __ .... 57 50 

~- Charles E. Barnard, for 1,944 rations of subsistence, at 39 cents each, 
AprilS, 1859 ............................................. $757 \J6 
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Voucher. 
7. In part. C. E. Barnard, 2,160 rations, November 15, 1858 .... $P42 40 

The correctness of these vouchers is not certified to by any one. In 
the absence of proper vouchers, this amount shonltl be suspended in 
part...................... .. . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . .. . .. . . . . .. . . . . $1,600 36 
Amounts paid to various persons on sub-vouchers, viz: 

1. Ed. Burleson, for 27 mules, 5 horses, and 3 sets horse e(]nip-
ments...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2, 4H6 00 

The correctness of this voucher, or sn b-voncher, is not certified to by 
any one. The property is not accounted for. These defects are suf:. 
ficient to warmnt a disallowance of t,his amount.................. 2, 4tl6 00 

No.2. Sampson & Henricks, ordnance stores .............. $268 00 
No. 3. S.M. Swenson, 1 wagon, 4 sets harness, and ~1 blankets 222 50 
No.4. E. D. 'Valker, eqnipments...... ...... .... ...... .... 923 00 
No.5. A. W. Anderson, spades............................. 7 75 
As ou sub-vouchP.r No.1 of this voncher. should be disallowed....... 1 421 25 
No. 6. Ed. Burleson, 600 yards " Low ells" .................. $108 00 
The correctness of this sub-voucher is certified to by JohnS. Ford, but 

it is not understood for what purpose this article was purchased, 
and, there being no accountability for the property, thi.s amount 
should be suspended.... . .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. 108 00 

No.7, in part. C. E. Barnard, 514-f- bushels corn, at $1. 70 ... $874 28 
The correctness of this sub-voucher is not eertified to by any one. In 

the absence of a proper voucher, suspended..... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87 4 21:; 
No. 8. C. E. Barmtrd, medicines, and articles of imperishable pro-

perty...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $8tl 48 
As on sub-voucher No.1, disallowed............................... 88 48 
No. 9. C. E. Barnard, forage .............................. $1"58:-l 00 
As on snb-voncher No.7. in pl'trt, suspended......................... 883 {)0 
No. 10, Ed. Burleson, forage ............................... $7,452 00 
This is certified to by Ford; but, as Burleson was acting assistant quar-

termaster and acting commissary subsistence, an absence of the 
receipts of parties from whom he purchased the forage warrants a 
suspension of this amom;~tl............ .... . ... .. .... .. .... .... .... i, 452 00 

8. This is an abstract of expenditnres made by Ford, and tile sub-vouch-
ers are as follows: 

No.1, J. W. Bennett, blacksmithing . . ... .. .. .. .. .... .. . .. . $182 71) 
Tbe correctness of this sub-voucher, or of the voucher, is not certified 

to by any one, and, as the property in connection with which this 
expense was incurred is uot satisfactorily accounted for, this amount 
should be disallowed............................................ 1H2 7fi 

No.2. A. W. Anderson, transportation of property .......... $28 55 
No.3. F. T. Duffan, supplies ................................ 250 00 
As on sub-voucher No. 1, next above............................... i78 55 
No. 4. John Shirley, services as physician ................... $120 00 
The accouut is not certified to by any one, and it is not shown that 

the physician was employed under contract, . or was noted on the 
company-roll in accordance 'vith Army Regul;1tions. Tllis amount 
should be disallowed...... .. .. .. . .. .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. . . . . .. . 120 00 

No. 5. A. J. Dyche, borseshoeing ............................ $30 00 
In the absence of evidence to show tllat this acconnt is correct, and 

that the services were actually rendered, and were necessary for the 
public service, this amount should be diBallo,ved.... .... .. .. .. .... :30 00 

No. 6. T. Weaver, blacksmithing ........................... $266 66 
No. 7. J. Marshall & Co., advertising....................... 1 50 
No. 8. Jobn S. Miller, transportation ........................ 25 00 
No. 9. J. S. Perry, advertising.............................. 3 00 
No. 10. A. Guajarde, muleteer ................................ 150 00 
No. 11. M. Basques, muleteer ................................ 150 00 
No. 12. J. M. Cadera, muleteer .............................. 150 00 
No. 13. Ed. Finn in, services .. .. . . .. .. . . .. . .. .. .. .. .. . . .. .. .. 91 00 
No. 14. J. Yascahaso, muleteer ......... . .. , . . . . . . . . .. .. .. . . .. 150 00 
No.15. J.M.Saliuas,mnleteer .............................. 150 00 
As on sub-voucher No.5, should be disallowed ... . . . .. . . . . . . .. . .. .. . 1, 1:~7 16 
No. 16. W. E. Oakes, surgeon .. .. .. .. . .. . . .. . .. . . . . . . .. . .. .. $600 00 
As on snb-voucher No.4, should be disallowed...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 600 00 
No.17. Roll of men on extra duty ... ........ .... ........ . $153 00 
Dates of service are not stated, orders placing the men on detached 

service are not submitted, aml the correctness of the account is 
not certified to by any one. This sub-voucher's detects are sufficient 
to warrant a disallowance of this amount............... . . . . . . . . . . 153 00 
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Voucher. 
No. 18. Pny-roll of enlisted men of Lieutenant W. N". P. Marlin's com-

pany, from February 24 to April4, lt359 ................... $752 fl9 
This charge appeared in class 6, but was there disallowed to be 

considered here. Captain l•'ord called this company into service. 
Of the signatures, representing those of twenty men, on t.Lis roll, 
fift£>en are signed in the band writing of Marlin, and, in tlle absence 
Of powers of attorney, this amount should be disallowed, as it was 
paid upon a falsified voucher. ......•.......................•..... 

No 19. Pay-roll of enlisted men of Lieutenant vV. N. P. Marlin's com-
pany from July 15 to Novmuber 14, Hl58 ................ $3,346 00 

No.20. ,V.N.P.Marlin,lieutenant ......................... 61132 
The officer's se1;vant is not described on No. 20. These charges properly 

belonged in class 6, wherein the ·remarks on voucher 1 of Ford's 
company are applicable to these sub-vouchers, the amount of which 
should be disallowed ........................................... . 

No.21. Jade Williams, gnide...... ...... .....• ...•.. ...... 270 00 
As on snb-vo11chcr No.5, disallowed .......... 0 .................... . 

Bl"otvn's cornpany. 

From the Leading on its muster-roll, this organization appears to 
l1ave been called out by peace commissioners who were sent to the 
Brazos agency to represent the State in the settlement of reported 
disturbances. It seems, from the charges in this case, that it took 
about seventy days to settle the difficulties, though this is only shown 
by the fact that the State paid the company for services from July 1, 
to September 12, 1859, and it is not shown by any other evidence. The 
vouchers are at'! follows: 

1. Pay-roll of officers and enlisted men 0 .......... 0 . . . . . . . . . . $H,660 06 
The officers were one captaiu, two surgeons, two first and two second 

lieutenants; but should have been, for one company, one captain, and 
two lieutenants, and a contrn.0t physician, if necessary. 

Powers of attorney tiled in connection wit.h amounts paid on this 
roll are informal, as in cases heretofore noted. 

Of the amounts paid on this voucher, the captain, J. Henry Brown, 
received for his pay, and as attorney, the sum of $3,524.78, a,nd J. H. 
Ua,ymond, an attoruey, received $1,513.060 
The employment of this company was purely a State affair. In the 

absence of evidence of date in 1859, to confirm J. Henry Brown's 
statements, or to show that the peace commissioners actually called 
this company into service, anu necessarily kept it employed dnring 
the time chargeu for, this amount should not be entertained as subject 
to re-imbursement, but should be disallowed, the same being an im­
proper charge against the United States ....................•..... 
NoTI~o-Item 6:~ is overcharged $26.10. 

2. E. M. Cox, extra.-dnty pay . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $7 50 
3. William Sharp,extra-dutypay ............................... 7 50 
4. H. L. Bnrt, extra-duty pay ................................... 1!1 25 
5. B. G. Ed wards, extra-duty pay..... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13 50 
6. W. J. Perrymen, extra-duty pay ..... 0 ........................ 16 50 
7. John Danley, extra-duty pay ................................ 26 40 
8. W. B.•Whittington,cxtra-dutypay ....•....... o .............. 25 00 

Orders putting these men on extra duty, detached service, are not 
submitted. 
As on voucher 1, this amount should be uisallowed .................•. 

9. J. H. Brown, mileage . . . . .............. 0 ................... $16 20 
An order, from superior authority, autllorizing or directing the cap­

tain to perform a journey at public expense is not filed, and the dates 
of service are not stated. 
As on voucher 1, disallowed 0 ...................................... . 

10 J. R. Bro,vn, re-imbursement of expenses incurred for burial of Prh·ate 
Smith Estes .............................................. $~0 00 
Receipts for the amounts paid by Brown are not produced. 

As on voncber 1, disallowed ...•..••...... o ...•...................•. 
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$752 59 

3,957 32 

270 Ot 

8,660 Uti 

111 65 

16 20 

20 00 
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RECAPITULATION. CLASS VII. 
Voucher. 

If a Unite<l States law authorized and directed the Secretary of 
War to settle and adjust, "on just and equitalJle principles," the claims 
sulJmitted in connection with the companies of Bourland, Ford, Mar­
lin, and Brown, an enforcement of the rules of the War Department 
would lea·ve the accounts as follows: 

Amount which should be-
Allowed ................................... . $20,837 52 
Suspended .................................. . 
Disallowed ............................ -·-·--· 

14,715 18 
21,884 91 

----$57,437 61 
Brought down from preceding classes...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 152, 351 51 

CL.\SS VIII. 

Not less than seven companies of volunteers or rangers appeared 
in the history of this class, lJut for ~orne reason not explained accounts 
are submitted for only one of the seven, and for a compauy r~ot alluded 
to in any of the correspondence of 1859-'60. 

Hampton's company. 

This was one of the seven organizations that operated in the Cor­
tinas affair, between December 18, 1859, and January 1, 1860. 

Tbe papers snbmit.ted are principally in reference to issues of rations 
:Lnd concerning property accountability, but one voucher being filed 
for moneys paid. 

1. Receipt-roll of four items, yiz: 
Hire of wago:::. and team... . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . .. .. . . . . .. . . . .. .. $200 00 
Guide ..• _.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 75 00 
Muleteer .......•.•................... _.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . 41 66 
Quartermaster's clerk.... .. . . .. . .. .. . .. .. .. .. . . .. .. .. .. . .. . tl3 32 

The correctness of this roll is certified to by G. J. Hampton, cap­
tain and quartermaster. 
No item of expenditure made on account of a company of volunteers 

that bas been disbanded should be re-imbursed by the United States 
until full and complete money accounts pertaining to the company's 
services and expeuses are filed and passed upon; therefore this 
amount should be disallowed .................................. .. 

Berr·y's company. 

This was mustered in by W. G. Tobin, November 10, 1859, and was 
mustered out lJy him December 20, 1859. 

SeYeral forage reg nisitiotls and reports of persons aud articles hired 
are tiled with a receipt-roll of quartermaster's employes, and six re­
ceipts for amounts paid for ratious for this company. This roll and 
t.hese receipts form the only money transactions exhibited for this 
company. 
Tbe State abstract calls for ... _ ......... _ ......... ·... .. .. $6, 011 33 
'l'he roll and receipts filed are for. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2, 47:3 00 
Tlle difference claimed is not supported by vouchers; therefore can-

not be faYorably considered, bnt. must be classed disallowed ...... _ 
For the l'easous stated. in the remarks for the voucher submitted for 

Hampton's company, this amount sbouldlbe disallowed ........... . 

RECAPITULATION. CLASS VIII. 

Amount which should be disallowed_ .......... _ ....... . 
Brought down from preceding classes ..•............... 

CLASS IX. 

$6,411 31 
209,7!::!9 12 

Governor How;;ton reported in 1860 that the State then had in its 
employ tbirty-fonr organizations, making an aggregate of 1,:305 men; 
but the accounts submitted for this class are for supplies aud appear 
to pertain to one company only, viz: 

$399 98 

3, 538 :33 

2, 473 00 
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Burleson's. 
Voucher. 

The vouchers are as follows: 
1. Abstract of purchases made by J. E. McCord, lieutenant and acting 

assistant quartermasier ... _.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1, 315 30 
The articles purchased were six mules, six pack-saddles, 461t bush­

els corn, and horseshoeing materials. The animals and saddles were 
turned over to the State authorities, who give no credit on this 
voucher for the valuation of the articles. 

65 

Remm·k.Y.-Pay-rolls for the members of this company are not sub­
mitted, and the amounts now claimed are for only a part of the 
expenses incurred on account of this company. No item of expendi­
ture made on acconnt of a company of volunteers that has been dis­
banded should be re-imbursed by the United States until full and 
complete money accounts pertaining to the company's services and 
expenses are filed and passed upon; tb~refore this amount should 
be disallowed .......................... -. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . $1, 315 30 

2. Abstract of expenditures for transportation and for services rendered 
by quartermaster's employes .... _ .......................• $539 75 

3. Ordnance stores.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . 20 00 
4. Medicines ................... -----· ........................ 286 00 
5. Suusistence ...................................••.......... 18 00 

The remarks for voucher 1 are applicable to these vouchers. This 
amount should be disa.lloweu . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . 863 75 

6. Leather, rope, and buckles ........... - . . .. .. .. .. .. . .. . . .. . . . $30 52 
For this amount Lieutenant and Acting Assistant Quartermaster 

McCord receipted as attorney for Dodge aud Fisher, b.ut a power of 
attorneyis not submitted. 
The remarks on voucher 1 are applicable to this voucher. This 

amount should be disallowed . .. .. .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. .. . . . 30 52. 
'rhe State abstract for this class calls for reimbursement of amounts, 

viz: 
Paid by McCord.... .. . . .. . . . . . . . . .. . .. .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2, 000 00 
Paid at State treasury...... .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . 4, 943 46 

Total .. . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . .. . . .. . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . 6, 943 46 
The vouchers filed are for $2,209 57, and for this balance, claimed to 

have been paid at the State treasury, no vouchers are submitted; 
therefore this amount should be disallowed ................. , ..• _. 

RECAPITULATipN. CLASS IX. 
Amount which should be disallowed .... _ •.............. 
Brought down from preceding classes ................. . 

SYNOPSIS. 

$6,943 46 
216,200 43 

The State abstract calls for ........................... , $223, 011 76 
To this amount there should be added for errors in 

addition, viz: . 
On Boggess's roll, class 1 .. .. . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . $76 85 
On Bourland's roll, class 7 . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . .. . 55 28 

132 13 

Correct total. ................................... 223,143 89 
Which~ in the foregoing report, is conditionally disposed of as follows: 

.A.mount which should be-

Class of troops or accounts. 
Allowed. Suspended. Disallowed. 

4', 733'. 891 

Aggregate. 

One.......................................... $16,283 21 $3,942 14 $29,960 82 ............. . 
Two . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13, 32'2 86 4, 879 72 4, 172 31 ............. . 
Three........................................ 3,984 14 166 00 435 87 ............. . 

ID>:::::::::::::::::::: ~::::: ~:::::::::::::::: · · · · ii; 5i4 · :32 · · · · · · 1: 2i2 ·5o· ..... ~·- ~~~. ~~. :::::::::::::: 
~~~~~:::::::::::::::::::::: _-:::::: ·:::::::::: · · · · Qo: 837 ·52· · · · · i4; 7i5 ·is· ~~: ~~! gi :::::::::::::: 

~\~~·;~:~~~:::::::: :·: .. :::.:::.:::: .. :: ~;..;,:1~~;--,i~~~~ 
H.Ex. 277-5 
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In order that the foregoing tabular statement may not be miscon­
strued, I respectfully submit that the evidence found in reference to 
these Texas claims does not exhibit any good ground for actual respon­
sibility on the · part of the United States Government for anything 
more, in this case, than $20,225.35, which, in the " Synopsis," is the 
sum of the first two items for the troops of ·class 1; and that the bal­
ance, viz, $202,918.54, was paid on account of troops or rangers, for 
the employment or support of which the United States, or their duly 
authorized. agents, aside from the act of June 21, 1860, were not at all 
responsible. 

And I further submit that a re-imbursement of the last-mentioned 
amount or a recognition of the services of the men to whom it was 
paid will be the commencement of a responsibility of which the end­
though it may be m·ade to appear in the case of the State of Texas­
cannot be foreseen, so far as the United States Government may be 
.concerned. 

No. 

1 
2 
.3 

4 
5 

.6 

·,7 
t3 

~ 9 

!10 

11 
12 
13 
14 

15 

"16 

. 17 

18 

19 

·2(} 

21 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Date. 

September 30, 1852 
June 19, 1854 
July 29, 1854 

July 29, 1854 
July 30, 1854 

August 2, 1854 

August 8, 1854 
August 12, 1854 

August 17, 1854 

August 20, 1854 

August 24, 1854 
August 25, 1854 
August 29, 1854 
October 9, 1854 

October 30, 1854 

January 23, 1855 

January 24, 1855 

March 10, 185fi 

March 14, 1855 

March 23, 1855 

A~ril 9, 1855_ 

THOS. H. BRADLEY, 
First Lieutenant Twenty-first Infantry, 

Brevet Captain, United States Army. 

List of papers. 

From and to whom. 

Secretary of War to Governor of Texas. 
Secretary of War to General Persifer F. Smith. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Secretary of War, indorsed by 

latter August 24, 1864. 
General Persifer F. Smith' to Governor of Texas. 
Captain P. Calhoun, United States Army, to assistant ad-

jutant general Department of Texas . 
. Captain P. Calhoun, United States Army, to assistant ad-

jutant general Department of Texas. 
Governor of Texas to General Persifer F. Smith. 
Lieutenant S. B. Holabird, United States Army, to adjutant 

First Infantry. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
Secretary of War to the Secretary of State. 
Adjutant General to General Persifer F. Smith. 
Secretary of War to Governor of Texas. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General, indorsed by 

Secretary of War. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
Secretary of War to Hon. J.D. Bright, United States Sen-

ate. 
Secretary of War to Ron. P. H. Bell, House of Representa-

tives. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army, indorsed by Secretary of War April 11, 1tl55. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army, indorsed by St?cretary of War April 11, 1855. 
J. E. Doss, William G. Thomas, and Charles A. Campbell to 

Secretary of War. 



CLAIMS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 67 

No. Date. 

22 May 
23 May 

24 June 
25 July 
26 July 

12, 1855 
28, 1855 

20, 1855 
5,1855 

14,1855 

27 July 25, 1855 
28 July 25, 1855 
29 September 5, 185fl 
30 September 5, 1855 

31 September 8, 1855 

32 September 12, 1855 

33 August 30, 1855 
34 September 15, 1855 

35 September 16, 1855 

36 September 25, 1855 
37 September 29, 1t355 
38 October 4, 1855 

39 October 

40 October 

41 October 

42 October 
43 October 
44 October 

45 October 

46 October 

47 October 

48 October 

49 October 

50 OctobP.r 
51 October 

52 October 

53 October 

54 October 
55 October 

56 October 
57 October 
58 October 

4, 1855 

7, 1855 

7, 1855 

7, 1855 
7, 1855 
8, 1855 

8, 18fi5 

9, 1855 

9, 1855 

tO, 1855 

11, 1855 

11, 1855 
12,1855 

14, 1855 

16, 1855 

17, 1855 
17, 1855 

20, 1855 
21, 1855 
21, 1855 

59 October 21, 1855 

60 November 9, 1855 
60i November 16, 1855 

List of papers-Continued. 

From and to whom. 

Secretary of War to above citizens of Texas. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
Governor of Texas to General Persifer F. Smith. 
Governor of Texas to John H. Callahan, esq. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
Governor of Texas to citizens of Bexar County. 
Governor of Texas to John H. Callahan, esq. 
Governor of Texas to General Persifer F. Smith. 
Governor of Texas to C. Evans, B. E. Edwards, and H. B. 

Saunders. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
Robert S. Neighbours to Captain G. R. Paul, United States 

Army. 
United States agent's treaty with Texas Indians. 
Captain G. R. Paul, United States Army, to RobertS. Neigh­

bours, esq. 
Captain G. R. Paul, United States Army, to assistant adju-

tant general Department of Texas. 
Governor of Texas to certain citizens of State. 
Secretary of War to Secretary of State. 
Captain Sidney Burbank, United States Army, to assistant 

adjutant general Department of Texas. 
Governor of Texas to Lieutenant Edward Burleson, volun­

teer. 
Assistant adjutant general Department of Texas to Captain 

Sidney Burbank, United States Army. 
Captain G. R. Paul to assistant adjutant general Depart-

ment of Texas. 
S. F. Ross, agent, to RobertS. Neighbours, agent. 
J. R. Baylor to Robert S. Neighbours. 
Captain Sidney Burbank, United States Army, to assistant 

adjutant general Department of Texas. 
Assistant adjutant general Department of Texas to Brevet 

Colonel William Loring, United States Army. 
Captain Sidney Burbank, United States Army, to assistant 

adjutant general Department of Texas. 
Assistant adjutant general Department of Texas to Captain 

Sidney Burbank, United States Army. 
General Persifer F. Smith toAdjutant General United States 

Army. 
Assil:;tant adjutant general Department of Texas to Captain 

Sidney Burbank, United States Army. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Governor of Texas. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Arljutant General United Stat.es 

Army, indorsed by Secretary of vVa,r November 3, 1855. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Acljuta,nt Geneul United States 

Army. 
Ca,pt.ain Sidney Burbank .to assistant adjutant general De­

partment of Texa,s. 
Governor E. M. Pease to General Persifer F. Smith. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
RobertS. Neighbours to Geneml Persifer F. Smith. 
Geneml Persifer F. Smith to Governor of Texas. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
Capta,iu G. R. Paul, United Stntes Army, to assistant adju­

tant general Department of Texas. 
Secretary of War to Secretary of State. 
Extracts from roll of William Tom's company. 
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No. 

61 
61t 

62 

64 
65 
66 
67 
tiS 
69 
70 
71 
72 
73 

74 
75 

76 
77 

78 
79 
80 
81 
82 
83 
84 
85 

86 
87 
88 
89 
90 

91 
92 
93 . 
94 
95 
96 
97 
98 
99 

100 

101 
102 
103 
104 
105 
106 

107 
108 

109 
110 
111 
112 
113 

CLAIMR OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

Date. 

November 15, 1855 
December 6, 1855 

December 6, 1855 

December 18, 1855 
January 3, 1856 
February 4, 1856 
February 5, 1856 

·March 22, 1856 
March 31, 1856 
April 10, 1856 
May 1, 1856 
June 17, 1856 
August 4, 1856 
August 25, 1856 
October 1, 1856 
September 16, 1857 
N0vember 11, 1856 
November 3, 1857 
November 23, 1857 

November 23, 1857 
November 23, 1857 
December 7, 1857 
December 19, 1857 
December 19, 1857 
December 22, Hl57 
January 28, 1858 
~February 8, 1858 

February 9, H:l58 
May 20, 1858 
May 25, 1858 
May 27, 1858 
July 13, 1858 
October 4, 1858 

October 4, 1858 
October 8, 1858 
November . ~. 1858 
November 10, 185R 
November 10, 1858 
January 8, 1859 
January 8, 185\J 
January 11, 1859 
January 17, 1859 

January 29, 1859 

February 1, 1859 
February 2, 1859 
March 19, 1859 
April 5, 1859 
June 6. 1859 
July 1; 1859 

July 14, 1859 
July 16, 1859 

October 13, 1859 
November 17, 1859 
January 23, 1860 
l!"'ebrnary 28, 1860 
March 3, 1860 

List of papers-Continued. 

From and to whom. 

Extracts from roll of William G. Tobin's company. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Senor Don Emilio Langberg, 

commanding forces of the Mexican Republic in Coahuila. 
General Persifer F. Smith to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
Governor to J. D. Pitts. 
Governor to legislature of State. 
Governor to Giles S. Boggess. 
Governor to James W. Thockmorton. 
Governor to Colonel A. M. M. Upshur. 
Governor to John H. Callahan et al. 
Governor to Colonel John D. Pitts. 
Governor to James H. Raymond. 
Extracts from roll of Davenport's company. 
Governor to State legislature. 
Legislative act. (See supplement, following.) 
Governor to James H. Raymond. 
Secretary of War to General D. E. Twiggs. 
Levi English's affidavit. (See supplement, following.) 
Governor to Messrs. Bryan and Regan. 
Governor to Thomas K. Carmack, John H. Conner, and Neill 

Robinson. 
Governor's instructions to officers, Texas volunteers. 
Resolution, State legislature. 
Governor to 'l'homas C. Frost. 
Governor commissions J. S. Hodges. 
Governor commissions John H. Connor. 
Thomas C. Frost reports to governor. 
Governor commissions John S. Ford. 
5 Governor commissions Lieutenant Edward Burleson. 
{ Governor commissions W. A. Pitts 
Governor authorizes Williams's company. 
Governor to Neill Robinson. 
Governor to Neill Robinson. 
Governor to Lieutenant John Williams. 
Governor to Colonel James Bourland, with memoranda of 

instructions. 
Governor com missions James Bourland. 
Governor to Secretary of War. . 
Governor's instructions to John S. Ford. 
Governor commissions JohnS. Ford. 
Governor commissions lieutenants. 
Second Auditor to Adjutant General United States Army. 
Memoranda of payments to six companies. 
Secretary of War to Senate Military Committee. 
Commissary General Subsistence to Adjutant General United 

States Army 
Quartermaster General to Adjutant General United States 

Army. 
Adjutant General to Secretary of War. 
SecretarJ' of War to Senate Military Committee. 
Governor's 1·eceipt for Bourland's rolls. 
Decision of Secretary of War. 
Governor's peace commission for Brazos agency. 
Extract from roll of company called out by peace commis­

sioners. 
Decision of Secretary of War. 
Decision of Secretary of War, (on page 375, Senate Docu-

ment No.2, first session, Thirty-sixth Congress.) 
Governor to W. G. Tobin. 
Governor to John S. Ford. 
Governor to to J. M. Swisher. 
Governor to Secreta,ry of War. 
Second Auditor to Secretary of War. 



No. 

114 
115 

116 
117 
118 
119 
120 
121 
122 
123 
124 
125 
126 
127 
128 
129 
130 

131 
132 
13:3 
134 
135 
136 
137 

1:38 
139 
140 
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Date. 

March 12, 1860 
March 14, 1860 

March 31, 1860 
September 11, 1860 
November 15, 1860 
December 17, 1860 
January 25, 1861 
February 13, 1861 
February 23, 1861 
February 23, 1861 
February 23, 1861 
May 11, 1861 
May 13, 1861 
1\fay 12, 1871 
October 28, 1871 
October 28, 18i1 
November 11, 1871 

November 16, 1871 
November 16, 1871 
November 18, 1871 
January 18, 1872 
January 19, 1872 

.. . . ··- ...... -.. ---. ----

........ ·----- --·· ----

August 25, 1856 
November 11, 18f>6 

1872 

List of papers-Continued. 

From and to whom. 

Third Auditor to Secretary ofWar. 
Secretary of War to governor. (See page 145, House Execu-

tive Decument 52, :first session, Thirty-sixth Congress.) 
Secretary of War to Senate Military Committee. 
Secretary of "'.,.ar to secretary State of Texas. 
Decision of Secretary of War, necessity. 
Secretary of War to governor. 
Governor's certificates. 
Second Auditor to Secretary of War. 
Third Auditor's report approved by the Secretary of War. 
C. R. Johns to Second Auditor. 
Third Auditor to Secretary of War. 
J. M. McCormick's affidavit. 
R. W. Black's affidavit. 
Act of legislature of Texas. 
Governor to James P. Newcombe. 
Memoranda. 
James P. Newcombe to Secretary of Treasury, referred by 

letter to Secretary of War. 
James P. Newcombe to Secretary of War. 
Secretary of War to James P. Newcombe. 
James P. Newcombe to Secretary of War. 
Resolution of House of Representatives. 
Secretary of War to House of Representatives. 
Abstract of :first amount claimed . 
Abstract of second amount claimed . 

SUPPLEMENT. 

Act of legislature for relief of Boggess. 
Levi English's power of attorney to H. W. Sublett. 
Pamphlet-Piedras Negras's claims in the American and 

Mexican Joint Commission. 

• WAR DEPARTMENT, April 27, 1872. 
This is to certify that the papers hereunto annexeil and numbered 1-60, 60t, 61, 

61t, 62, and 64-139 are true copies of originals or certified copies of papers found at 
this office. 

THOS. H. BRADLEY, 
First Liezttenant Twenty-fit·8t Injant1·y, B1·evet Captain United States A.1·tny. 

No. 1. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, Septembel' 30, 1852. 
SIR: The President has referred to this Department yonr excellency's letter of the 

20th ultimo, with the documents therein inclosed. Your excellency sa~rs that repeated 
representations have~been made to this [your] Department by all the most influential 
and respectable residents of the Rio Grande Valley, of their desperate situation and 
the insecurity of life and property in that section of the State, occasioned by the 
total inadequacy of the present military establishment in Texas to check the murders 
~nd depredations of lawless bands of Indians and Mexicans, and that, in consequence 
of these representations, yon had felt it your duty to take immediate steps for the 
relief of the Lower Rio Grande, and witll that view had called into the service of the 
State three companies of mounted volunteers, (numbering in all about two hundred 
men rank and file,) for the period of six months, who are to act in concert with the 
United States troopR stationed in that quarter. Your excellency concludes by request­
ing that the "General Government will recognize the services of these volunteer troops, 
and make such further and more permanent disposition as upon examination shall be 
found necessary to restore that peace and security to which that [this] unfortunate 
country has so long been a stranger." 

You inclose various communications made to you by citizens of Texar:; on this 
subject. 
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Your excellency is probably aware that the Executive bas repeatedly informed Con­
'gress that the military establishment of the country was inadequate to the protection 
-of its widely extended frontier, and recommended that it be authorized to raise ad · 
ditional force for that purpose. Congress has seen fit to disregard these recommenda­
tions at a time when the necessity for their adoption was more apparent that it is at 
present. Before the last adjournment of Congress, it was well known that there was 
reason to apprehend au extensive outbreak of the Indians on the frontier of Texas, and 
the very facts communicated in your excellency's letter must have been known to the 
Senators and Representatives of your State in Congress. Nevertheless that body 
adjourned without taking any steps on t.bis subject. 

Within a 'few weeks past the Department bas been informed by the reports of its 
officers, not only that the rumors that the Indians were preparing extensive hostilities 
were unfounded, but that, in fact, (with a few partial exceptions,) they have not been 
for a long time as peaceably disposed. All accounts concur in represent.ing the Coman­
ches as unusually quiet; and, by ad vices received from Colonel Sumner, it appears that 
treaties of peace have been concluded with the Navajoes and the Apaches, (the most 
powerful nations on the confines of New Mexico and Texas;) that there are now treat­
ies of peace with all the Indians in New Mexico, and that, with the exception of some 
of the roving bands of the plains, the Indians in that seetion of the country have 
ceased to be troublesome. 

Under these circumstances, even if there were a manifest necessity for an additional 
· · increase of the military establishment, the Executive would hesita,te to call into the 

service of the Government a description of force which, while it is far less effective than 
that which Congress bas refused to authorize, is more expensive. But the President is 
not satisfied that the facts contained in the papers transmitted by your excellency would 
warrant him in taking this step. The only law under which the President could exercise 
the power referred to, is the act of February 28, 1795, entitled" An act to provide for call­
ing forth the militia to execute the laws of the Union, suppress insurrections and 
r<=lpel invasions, and to repeal the act now in force for those purposes." It appears 
from these papers that the neighborhood of El Paso and Brownsville has, for several 
months past, been infested by lawless persons, who traverse the country, singly or in 
small parties, driving oft' catt.le and occasionally committing murders; that the per­
petrators of these acts are principally Indians, Mexicans, and half-breeds; but that 
lawless and reckless persons, professing to be citizens of Texas, also participate in 
them ; that, in consequence of the fears occasioned by these disorders, some of the in­
habitants have been compelled to abandon their homes; that the civil authorities were 
powerless to put a stop to these outrages, the officers of justice not being able to col­
lect a sufficient civic force to execute processes, &c. 

There is reason to suspect that these statements are somewl1at exaggerated. Be­
sides the natural tendency of persons while under the influence of fear to magnify 
the danger that occasi011s it, some of the signers of these papers have a strong motive­
to do so. 

It is well known to this Department that the tnhabitants in the neighborhood of 
military posts have other reasons for wishing them to be kept up besides the pro­
tection they afford. Th·e Department, therefore, is frequently urged to establish posts 
whe).·e there is no real necessity for them; and whenever troops are ordered away from 
one~ alarming accounts of Indian hostilities are invariably set afloat. In addition to 
this, many young men are always found who are anxious to enroll themselves as 
volunteers, and there is no part of the frontier from Oregon and California to Florida 
where similar applications have not been made; but in every instance they have been 
rejected. To what extent these remarks apply to the accounts contained in the papers 
transmitted by your excellency, I am unable to say. I will merely remark that the 
commander of that department positively pronounces several of the statements con­
tained in them entirely unfounded, and does not recommend that these volonteers be 
received into the service of the United States. 

Supposing, however, these accounts to be strictly correct, the outrages and disorders 
complained of (except when committed by Indians) are hardly snch as this Govern­
ment ought to be called upon to repress. The perpetrators of these acts, whether 
Americans or Mexicans, are not public enemies, to be encountered by the Army of the 
United States, but private malefactors, be arrested and punished by the civil anthori~ 
ties of Texas. If the means which these authorities have at their disposal are not 
sufficient to enable them to do this, and the government of Texas finds it necessary to 
call out her own militia to execute her own laws and to defend her own citizens 
against robbers and murderers, surely it ought not to expect the United States to pay 
the expenses of the proceeding. 

It must be borne in mind, too, that the disorders complained of have been brought 
about in part by citizens of Texas themselves. It is well known that many of the 
inhabitants of that State were directly or indirectly concerned in the criminal enter­
prises of Caravaja.l, in violation of the laws of their own country, and, no doubt, in 
opposition to the wishes of the peaceable a .nd law-abiding portion of the inhabitants 
of Texas. 
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It was to be expected that the inhabitants of Mexico would seek in some way or 
other to retaliate upon them, and the Indians in the neighborhood have availed them­
selves of this opportunity to renew their predatory incursions into the country. The 
number of these, however, judging from official reports to this Department, is much 
exaggerated in these papers. In addition to these, mercenary vagabonds and outlaws 
within our limits, who bad flocked to the standard of Caravajal, finding themselves 
disappointed in their hopes of plunder in the Mexican territory, naturally seek to 
indemnify themselves in our own. 

The President direct me to assure your excellency that he sympathizes deeply with 
the sufferings of the good people of Texas, who are thus made to suffer for acts in which 
they did not participate, and that be will do all that be can, with propriety: to arrest 
them. 

The officer in command of that department reports that, in view of the troubles on 
that frontier, he had already ordered to that quarter :five companies of mounted rifle­
men. Orders have also been given to :fill up all the companies stationed there with 
their complement of men. One of the papers transmitted by your excellency mentions 
that the officer at a military post had been unable to render any assistance in punish­
ing the authors of these atrocities, because his men were unprovided with horses. That 
is very possible. Congress, in spite of the earnest and repeated remonstrances of the 
Department, having failed within a few weeks past to appropriate money for the pur­
chase of horses, the Department found itself unable to supply them. Since tbe Depart­
ment has been provided with funds for the purpose, measures have been taken to sup­
ply the requisite number of horses. 

From reports received from Colonel Sumner, it is rendered highly probable that the 
portion of the forces under his command that bad for a temporary purpose been ordered 
from the Texas frontier to Santa Fe have, before this, resumed their former stations. 

Representations have also been made to the Mexican government in regard to the 
alleged participation of officers awl citizens of that country in the outrages complained 
of. It is hoped that these measures, together with the exercise of a proper degree of 
vigilance and energy on the part of the citizens and government of Texas, will suffice 
to restore tranquillity and peace to that region of country. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

His Excellency P. H. BELL, 
Governo1· of Texas, Austin, Texas. 

No.2. 

C. M. CONRAD, 
Secretary of War. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, June 19, 1854. 
SIR: From your reports of the various conflicts which have taken place with the 

Indians on the frontiers of Texas and the constant outrages committed by them on the 
defenseless inhabitants of that State, the Department is induced to believe you may 
need the aid of additional troops, which it will not be in its power to furnish. Your 
representation of the great want · of recruits to :fill up the reduced companies under 
your command is received with the greater regret because of the slow progress of the 
recruiting service, which state of things, it is feared, will not improve unless our hopes 
of increased pay for the soldier, as recommended to Congress, should be speedily real­
ized. 

Under these circumstances, it is deemed advisable to authorize you to call upon the 
governor of Texas. for aid, should the exigencies of the service require it, in repelling 
Indian invasions, and in such event you will make requisition for such number of 
mounted men as you may from time to time deem necessary, who, while in service, 
will be supplied with ammunition, forage, and subsistence by the United States. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

General P. F. SMITH, U. S. A., 
Commanding Depattment of Texas. 

No.3. 

JEFF. DAVIS, 
Secreta1·y of War. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Cotyus Christi, July 29, 1854. 

SIR: Your letter of the 19th of June authorized the calling on the governor of Texas 
for mounted men under a certain contingency. I have awaited the receipt of such in­
formation as would enable me to act with some certainty th"at I was not misled, but 
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nothing new has reached, except a report from Colonel Loomis, which he thinks 
reliable, that some bands of Indians are assembling on the Mexican side of the Rio 
Grande. 

I have waited until now for the arrival of the topographical instruments required 
last December from Colonel Abert before setting out to establish a site of a post near 
Presidio del Norte. Having waited as long as I could, I am now about to start, and 
have written to governor of the State a letter, a copy of which I inclose. I have 
postponed the time of calling the men into sen·ice the 1st of November, both to allow 
events to develop themselves in the mean time, and because, by the beginning of the 
winter, so many men will have been discharged from the mounted corps that these will 
be very weak. I presume the governor will urge that rifles and revolving pistols be 
provided. There will be time to receive his application in that case. 

The expenditures in the Quartermaster's Department will be very much increased 
by the mounted men. The chief quartermaster reports that with the last remittance 
came a notice that it filled all the requisitions from this department for the fiscal year 
ending the :30th of June. By the records here, on the contrary, it appears there is still 
a deficiency of $52,000 unsupplied on the estimates sent forward. 

With this dei:iciency to begin with, and the great additional expense in prospPct, the 
service of the Quartermaster's Department will be very difficult. 

There will be time to send supplies of provisions from Baltimore to Indianola, 
directed to Austin, before the companies, if called out, will want them. 

With the highest respect, your obedient servant, 

Hon. JEFFERSON DAvis, 
Secretary of Wa1·. 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
Brevet Major General, Commanding Department. 

[Indorsement.] 

The instructions of June 19, 18a4, authorize General Smith, should the exigencies of 
the service require it in repelling Indian incursions, to make requisition upon the gov­
ernor of Texas for such number of mounted men as might, from time to time, be deemed 
necessary by the general commanding, the men so called into service to be supplied 
with ammunition, forage, and subsistence by the United States. 

General Smith, in his letter to Governor Pease, says, "If the only evil to be avoided 
were the direct injury from Indian incursions I should not think the contingency con­
templated by the Secretm·y had arrived." 

No authority was given to call out the militia for any other purpose than that indi­
cated. • This was expressly limited to the case of an exigency which rendered that 
resort necessary, and the phrase "from time to time" was intended for such temporary 
service as incursions should require. No power exists, without special legislation, to 
call forth militia for such objects as the promotion of settlement and agriculture, or 
for a term as long as that proposed. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, August 24, 1854. 

No.4. 

JEFF. DAVIS, 
Secreta1·y of Wa1., 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT 01<' TEXAS, 
Corpus Christi, July 29, 1854. 

SIR: I have been instructed by the Secretary of War "to call upon the governor of 
Texas for aid should the exigencies of the service, in your opinion, require it in re­
pelling Indian incursions, and in such an event you will make requisition for such num­
ber of mounted men, from time to time, as you may deem necessary, who will, while 
in service, be supplied with ammunition, forage, and subsistence by the United States." 

If the only evil to be avoided were the direct injury from Indian incursions I should 
not think the contingency contemplated by the Secretary had arrived, for so many of 
the reports spread by the papers are, to my own knowledge, so entirely fabrications, 
that the case presented by the aetual fact is not such as to require more force than 
is now here. But there are, doubtless, other serious evils that follow murders and 
robberies that have really happened, and the greatest is the sense of general ins~curity 
on the :frontier, which interrupts industry and prevents an increase of population on 
the border, where it is most desirable as the best means of defense. 

. If, in the opinion of your excellency, the presence of additional troops on the frontier 
is necessary to repel actual incursions, I would be unwilling to set my own belief in 
opposition to that of yourself, who represent the belief and wishes of the people most 
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interested; and if, in the second case, you think a feeling of security so necessary and . 
beneficial to the border settlements could only be produced by adding to the troops 
there, I would take your opinion as the rule for my action, and decide that the case 
contemplated had arrived in which I was to call on your excellency for mounted men. 

But as the raising and support of temporary troops are very onerous, both to the 
Government and troops themselves, it is very desirable that they should be selected 
with care for the particular service they are destined for, and should be well mounted 
and armed. I would propose, then, that, if your opinion is in favor of calliug more 
companies into service, on the 1st day of November next six mounted companies 
should be called in,to service, on which day four of them will be mustered into the 
service of the United States for twelve months, unless sooner discharged, at or near 
Fort Martin Scott, and two of them at or near Fort Worth. This would give two 
months to raise and organize and arm the companies. They would be during the 
winter placed on the frontier, and I would in the spring, as soon as the grass would 
answer, make two expeditions into the Indian country and endeavor to inflict a blow 
which should insure the tranquillity of the border for the future. 

If your excellency will do me the favor to send your reply in duplicate-one to this 
place, inclosed to the assistant adjutant general, and the other to the care of the assist­
ant quartermaster at ~an Antonio, to be forwarded to me by express on my route to 
Las Moras. 

It is to be observed that the troops are to be "supplied with ammunition, forage, 
and subsistence by the United States." Of course they are to provide their arms, 
horses, and equipments. The supply of revolver-pistols was a limited one, and I pre­
sume is exhausted. 

As there has been no appropriation for paying these men they will have to wait 
until the law provides for their case. 

The legal organization of a mounted company is as follows : One captain, 1 first and 
1 second lieut.enant, 4 sergeants, 4 corporals, 2 buglers, 1 farrier, and 74 privates. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 

His Excellency E. M. PEASE, 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
B1·evet Major General, Commanding Department. 

Govenwr of the State of Texas. 

No.5. 

FORT CHADBOURNE, TEXAS, July 30, 1854. 
SIR: Information has reached me, through the chiefs of the southern bands of Co~ 

manches living near this post, that large war parties are being formed and some of 
them are actually at present on their way to the Rio Grande. I deem this of such 
importance as to make the matter a special and immediate report to the commanding 
general of the department. Although the object of this mov.ement is stated to be the 
revenge of the massacre of a large party of the Comanches by the Mexicans a few 
months since, I am inclined to think, from circumstances which have come to my 
knowledge, that the intention may be to depredate also on this side of the Rio Grande, 
should a favorable opportunity present itself. I am led to this conclusion by develop­
ments made by a captive Mexican boy whom I have taken from them. This boy, of 
whom I had heard and was anxious to get possession, was brought in during the night 
by a Mexican who has lived long among them, under the promise that his agency in 
the escape should be kept a secret from the Comanches. 

The boy says that his name is Vivian Lopez, and that he is fourteen or fifteen years 
of age. He makes the following statement of the circumstances of his capture, &c.: 

His father, Cicilia Lopez, lives near Corpus Christi, and is connected in business with 
Mr. Qjlbert Rodgers, of that place. While out. hunting must.angs some three months 
since with his father aud another relative, he, being separated a short distance from 
them, was seen and pursued by a party of Indians, struck from his horse, and captured. 

He does not know what became of the others. The Indians proceeded to Laredo, 
where they stole a Mexican boy and some horses. The boy they killed that evening. 
From Laredo the band proceeded towanl Fort Merrill, according to the boy's state­
ment, but I am under the impression that he mistakes that post for Fort Ewell; and 
on the Laredo road, near where it parts fi·om that leading to Guerrero, they attacked 
a train of fourteen Government wagons, killing five teamsters and capturing some 
lnmdred mules. Th~ party then proceeded, without the exercise of much caution, in 
this direction. They were overtaken by a party of soldiers while in camp, several of 
them killed or wounded, and the mules retaken. This band consisted of twelve men, 
led by Ecanodie, the half-brother of Toshaway, the principal war-chief of the South­
ern Comanches, to which }.)and all of the party belonged. The captive boy made his 
escape yesterday morning and was brought in last night. This morning early, Tosha-
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way, accompanied by the wife of Ecanodie, came in to inquire if anything bad been 
heard of the boy. I stated to them that the boy had claimed my protection and that 
I should retain him. They then demanded a ransom, which I declined giving. Tosh­
away is the war-chief who commanded 'the party which was destroyed by the Mexi­
cans not long since. I sent for Sanaco and Keturnsey, principal chiefs, whose camps 
are only a few miles distant, and he-ld a long talk with them through Jim Shaw, a Del­
aware interpreter. They expressed themselves satisfied regarding the boy, and acqui­
esced quietly in his being retained. The chiefs appeared to be somewhat alarmed, and 
volunteered the information that large parties had been formed and were still forming 
among the Northern Comanches, amounting already to near four hundred men; that 
runners had been sent inviting them to join. Some of their young men had already 
left, but they had not made. up their minds whether they would take part. These par­
ties were-some of them-now on the way. I would mention, in this connection, that 
these Indians do not appear nor can they be made to understand that it is wrong to 
engage in hostilities against the Mexicans. They speak openly about it on every oc­
casion. They do not appear to think that the Government or its agents have acted in 
good faith, and feel, as far as I can judge, little restraint or obligation under existing 
treaties. It is, however, due to them to say that since I have been in command they 
have acted in a friendly and consistent manner, apparently more out of a policy of 
their own than any feeling of treaty obligations. 

Ecanodie and his party are again absent, the boy thinks, on another expedition · 
toward the Rio Grande. The statement of the boy and the information of the move­
ment of the war parties are given in substance, as nearly as possible, as they came to 
me. The interpreter used-Jim Shaw-is a well-known and intelligent Delaware. He 
places fnll confidence in the statement of the chiefs. In view of the want of confirma­
tion of the boy's statement, the absence of the Indians principally engaged, and the 
general commitment of the whole tribe, I have determined to push the matter no 
further for the present, to treat the Indians as usual, watch them narrowly, and await 
instructions, should nothing more occur from the general commanding the department. 

I have stopped the sale of powder and lead by the sutler and other traders in the 
vicinity, and shall endeavor to use to the best advantage the limited means which the 
strength of the command-not more than seventy strong-places at my disposal. 

Expresses have been sent to Forts Belknap and McKavitt. 
I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

. P. CALHOUN, 
Captain &cond Dmgoons, Commanding Post. 

Major D. C. BuELL, 
Assistant Adjutant General Department .oj Texas, C01pus Ch1·ist-i, Texas. 

No.6. 

FORT CHADBOURNE, TEXAS, .Attgust 2, 1854. 
Sm: Since my letter of the 30th, additional information has came to my knowledge, 

which I have the honor to report. I mentioned in that communication that Ecanodie 
had returned to tbe Rio Grande, it was supposed. Yesterday evening tbe same Mexi­
can who assisted the boy Lopez to escape informed me that the Comanches had just 
received news that Ecanodie and four of his party had been killed in a fight below. 
These are evidently the Indians with whom Captain Van Buren is reported to have had 
a :fight. 

Jim Shaw, the interpreter, reports the following additional, which he gets from Ke­
tumsey: That some thirty or forty of his 'Land have already left, and that probably 
more will do so; none of the chiefs have taken part. He (Ketumsey) thinks that the 
whole force going to Mexico will amount to six hundred; they have passed far tJ) the 
west of t,his, and intend crossing the Rio Grande some sixty miles below the Presidio 
del Norte, their gathering-point being in Mexico, not far from the Rio Grande. 

From this point they intend attacking the town near which the late massacre of 
their people took place. Ketumsey denies that the Indians killed uy Captain Van 
Buren belonged to his band ; he says they were Northern Comanches, his men being 
killed by the Lipans, in Mexico. The evidence is, however, strongly to the contrary. 

While I was writing, Lieutenant Tyler, with a scouting party fi·om Fort McKavitt, 
came in. I had heard of the approach of this party, and determined to strengthen and 
send it on a reconnaissance in a northwesterly direction; it has been increased to forty, 
and is now preparing to leave, under the command of Lieutenant Tyler, accompanied 
by Lieutenant George B. Anderson. I fear it may be turned back by the want of water, 
as the country in the direction in which it goes is represented as being very deficient 
in that respect. 
_ In your letter of the 15th of July you say that "the general regrets to hear that it is 
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the intention of the Indian Bureau to locate any bands of Indians in the neighborhood 
of your post." The phraseology of my letter may have led the general to a wrong con­
clusion. This particular region has always been a favorite hunting-ground for the 
Southern Comanches, and wherever the military post was situated they would, when 
at peace, frequent its neighborhood for trading and other purposes. Their camps are 
seldom more than ten miles distant, and frequently within a mile of the post. They 
camp around the post in parties of from twenty to three hundred. I have seen more 
than a hundred warriors in at a time. The term " near" was comparative and not 
meant to convey the idea of immediate vicinity. The location would probably be miles 
distant. The Mexican captive, Lopez, I will send to Corpus Christi by the :first favor­
rable opportunity. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Major D. C. BUELL, 

P. CALHOUN, 
Captain Second Dragoons, Commanding Post. 

Assistant Adjutant General Depm·tment of Texas, Cm'Pus CMisti. 

No.7. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AusTIN, TEXAS, August 8, 1854. 
Sm: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt, by the last mail, of your letter of 

the 29th of July. 
In reply, I have no hesitation in saying that I believe an addition to the troops now 

in service in this State is necessary to produce a feeling of security with the inhabi­
tants residing on and near the frontier. This belief is based upon a knowledge of the 
many murders and outrages that have been committed by the Indians within the last 
six months and upon the numerous communications that have recently been made to 
me of the opinions of those inhabitants on this subject. I therefore feel authorized, 
from 'the tenor of your letter, to call out six companies of mounted volunteers, to be 
mustered into the service of the United States at the time and places indicated by you 
for twelve months, unless sooner discharged. 

I fully concur with you in relation to the care that should be exercised in selecting 
these troops, as well as the necessity for their being well mounted and armed, and as so 
long a time is allowed for raising t.hem, I am satisfied that I can send you a force well 
suited for the service in which you propose to employ them. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant~ 
E. M. PEASE. 

Brevet MaJor General PERSIFER F. SMITH. 

No.8. 

FORT DUNCAN, TEXAS, August l2, 1854. 
Sm: I have the honor to submit to the commanding officer the following informa­

tion concerning the Indians that have crossed from this side of the Rio Grande into 
Mexico. The information I beUeve to be in the essential parts reliable. The Semiyole 
Indians live at or near Santa Rosa, upon lands furnished them by Mexico, which they 
cultivate. They have houses, cattle, and mules. They have about :fifty warriors and 
a number of negroes. These Indians are under the immediate control of Wild Cat, 
their chief, and they are subject to the military orders of Colonel Castenado, the inspec­
tor general of the neighboring colonies. I look upon the Seminoles as a military colony, 
under Wild Cat, and his warriors are colonial troops. As colonial troops they were 
employed against the party of Caravajal, and rendered efficient aid in the :fight at 
Ceraloo in Tamanlipas. It is believed that they are again to be employed for a simHar 
purpose, to guard the passes of the Rio Grande in this vicinity and prevent any parties 
crossing to aid the reputed revolutionists, and they would probably be used against 
any faction opposing Santa Anna. These Indians are known to have a bitter hatred 
for many of the residents of this side of the river. They are well acquainted with all 
the positions of t.he live-stock raised and kept on this side, and have an intimate 
knowledge of all t.he fords of the Rio Grande. Under these circumstances, they would 
undoubtedly be very troublesome neighbors, particularly if their natural impulses to 
steal are stimulated by encouragement or countenance from the other side. That 
such countenance and protection have previously been given is well known. 

The Seminoles crossed to this side and stole a large number of animals in the month 
of March; after crossing the river they went directly to San Fernando, and in t,he 
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presence of the authorities, civil and military, boasted of what they had done, and 
publicly announced (Mr. Harrison cau make affidavit to the fact) that they, (the Semi­
noles,) and particularly Wild Cat, did this with the knowledge and consent of General 
Cordona, of Coahuila, and that he could not sell the animals again to their proper 
owners because he was only entitled to half; the other half was to be delivered to his 
excellency the governor. No steps, as far as can be ascertained, have been taken to 
disprove the evidence of the Indians, and the boldness of the act, together with the 
cool impudence with which they answered any inquiries on the subject, seem to indi­
cate something very much like protection. All the above, I believe, can be readily 
proven. I do not think the Seminole Indians have committed depredations since the 
above affair. 

The Lipans are reported to be under their chiefs, Coyote and Castro; said to number 
one hundred and fifty warriors. They seem to be confined to no particular spot; for 
some time past they have been in the vicinity of San Fernando. There is but one there 
now, and he appears to be nsed as a courier, to look up and carry orders to tlip others, 
as they seem to be under the command and are well known to be under the military 
protection of Colonel Casteflado. These Indians are only at peace with the State of 
Coahuila, (which embraces the opposite town.) 

The people of the neighboring State of Tamanlipas raised a force and came against 
these Lipans, but Colonel Casteiiado turned out with a a much larger force to protect 
the Indians, and the Tamanlipans had to retire. One hundred Lipan warriors pre­
sented themselves to Colonel Castenado and wished to be led against their enemies, 
but their services were declined. This made the Indians suspect treachery, and they 
withdrew to the mountains, and it is reported that Castro has returned to his old posi­
tion near Las Moras. I do not know upon what the report is founded. It is generally 
believed that the Lipans have been sent for to aiel the Seminoles in guarding the fron­
tier from filibusters, and the interior from revolutionists. I could fin<l no particular 
charge against the Lipans having stolen from this side since they crossed, but they 
have animals in their possession they do n<lt own, and some of which are reported to 
have Gover.qment marks. · 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Lieutenant R. W. JOHNSON, 

S. B. HOLABIRD, 
Second Lietttenant Pi1·st Injant1·y. 

Adjutant Pirst Infantry. 

NOTE.-! was told that the horse stolen from General Smith, at Fort Duncan, was 
bought by a secretary of Governor Cordona, and those knowing the fact think he was 
aware where the horse came from and bow. The horse was sa,id to be sorrel. A mule 
was carried over at the same time, but where it was taken I could not ascertain. 

S. B. HOLABIRD, 
Second Lieutenant Pirst Injant1·y. 

No.9. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Fort Dnncan, (Eagle Pass,) August 17, 1854. 

CoLONEL: I authorized and directed the commanders of the posts on this river to 
send agents into Mexico, to learn what the bands of Indians are doing there. 

Lieutenant Holabird, acting assistant quartermaster, having to visit the opposite 
side in relation to the purchase of corn, was enabled to ascertain on the spot, and from 
reliable sources, the information which is contained in his report, which I inclose. 

It will be seen that the number of Indians under Wild Cat has been mnch overratecl 
and the intentions of his band misstated, but the evil comes from the band of Lipans, 
who are stationed by the Indian agent on the Nueces. I also inclose a report of Cap­
tain Calhoun, from Fort Chadbourne, in relation to the Comanches, brought to the 
neighborhood of that post through the Indian agent, who does not appear to be with 
them or to have any one to watch or advise. It appears to me that everything is done 
to make it difficult for the military to protect the frontier. 

I am on my way toward the Presidio del Norte and El Paso, with the view of estab­
lishing the site of Colonel Seawell's post, and driving off the Mescaleros and Lipaus 
about the head of the Lim pia. 

I take with me an escort of a company of mounted riflemen, with a detachment of 
twelve men of th6 same regiment, having a prairie howitzer, under Lieutenant D. 
Maury, the whole under Captain Walker, regiment of mounted rifles. 

From what I see of the prairie carriage and howitzer, I am convinced of its great 
utility on this frontier, and would respectfully ask that tf,ln more be sent to the 
ordnance depot at San Antonio. 

Referring to the diminished number of the troops here, I mention that, at Fort 
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Mcintosh, I found Captain Elliott's company of mounted riflemen with fifteen men for 
duty in it, and here I find Captain Caldwell's company of the First Infantry with six 
men for duty. After the lapse of a year be will have not one man remaining. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 

Colonel S. CooPER, 
.Adjntant General. 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
B1·evet Major General, Commanding Department. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL's OFFICE, September 12, 1854. 
Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of \Yar. 

S. COOPER, 
Adjutant General. 

No. 10. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Camp on the Piedras P.intas, (eight miles 'West of Fort Clm·k,) At£gust 20, 1854. 

Colonel S. COOPI~H, Adjutant Genm·al of the A1omy: 
I arrived here yesterday morning on my way to examine the country about the 

Presidio del Norte, the head of the Limpia, and to the neighborhood of El Paso. I was 
joined in the evening by Captain Walker's company of mounted riflemen, which I take 
as escort, and expect to-morrow a train from San Antonio with supplies, and will con­
tinue my route on the 23d. I shaH probably be absent until the beginning of Decem­
ber, but communications addressed to me at Corpus Christi will reach me by express. 

The Lipan Indians who were in Mexico along the Rio Grande having been alarmed 
by measures taken against them, they have come over on this side and are now en­
camped near Fort Clark. They profess friendship, but were undoubtedly engaged in 
depredations across the river from Mexico. They now fear an attack from the Coman­
ches, of whom Captain Calhoun's leUer of August 2 speaks, dated Fort Chadbourne. 
I have taken measures to have troops to meet this expedition when it comes down. 

I have made an absolute call on the governor of the State for six mounted companies 
and would desire that ti ve hundred rifles and equipments and as many of Colt's re­
volvers be sent to Lieutenant McNutt's ordnance depot at San Antonio, and that two 
hundred Sharp's carbines, with Maynard's primers, be also sent, furnished with two 
hundred rounds of cartridges and two hundred and fifty primers of the latest manu­
facture for each one. 

I cannot communicate with San Antonio, so as to have the requisition made by the 
ordna.nce officer there and approved by me. These arms will be issued only in case of 
necessity. 

I inclose a copy of the answer of the governor of the State to my communication of 
the ~9th of July. There is a great deal of sickness among the troops, owing, no doubt, 
to the unusually wet weather this season, and it "\Vill continue until cold weather. 
Many suffer from the scurvy, for want of lime-juice, the best anti-scorbutic. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFER F. SMITH, 

Brevet Maj01· Genm·al, Commanding Department. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL'S OFFICE, Septmnber 12, 1854. 
Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

S. COOPER, 
Adjutant General. 

No.ll. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, .August 24, 1854. 
SIR; I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 22d instant, 

with a .copy of one from the Secretary of the Treasury, inclosing a communication from 
S. Powers, collector of the CJlStoms at Point Isabel, Texas, stating the probability 
that measures are being concerted by certain disaffected Mexicans on our frontier to 
nvade Mexican territory. 

In reply, I have to inform you that the general commanding the Department of 
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Texas is possessed of full authority from the President to prevent the carrying on of 
any such expeditions from any place wishin the limits of his command. 

Copies of the papers will, however, be sent to General Smith, and his attention 
called to the subject. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. W. L. MARCY, 
Seareta1'!/ of State. 

No. 12. 

JEFF. DAVIS, 
Secreta1·y of Wm·. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL'S OFFICE, 
Washington, A.ugltSt 25, 1854. 

GENERAl.: Your communication of July 29, inclosing your correspondence with the 
governor of Texas, in relation to calling out volunteers for the defense of the frontiers 
of that State, has been received by the Secretary of War, by whom I am now instructed 
to state that you appear to have misconceived the instructions of June 19, 1854, "in 
which you were authorized, should the exigencies of the service require it in repelling 
Indian incursions, to make requisitions upon the governor of Texas for such number of 
mounted men as might, from time to time, seem necessary." 

No authority was given to call out the militia for any other purpose than that indi­
cated; this was expressly limited to the case of an emergency which rendered that 
resort necessary, and the phrase "from time to time," was intended for such temporary 
service as incursions should require. No power exists, without special legislation, to 
call forth militia for such objects as the promotion of settlements and agriculture or 
tor a term as long as that proposed. 

The Secretary of War accordingly directs that your requisitions upon the governor 
of Texas for volunteer troops be made to conform to these views. 

Very respectfully, general, your obedient servant, 

Brevet Major General P. F. SMITH, 
Commanding Depm·tment of Texas. 

No. 13. 

S. COOPER, 
A.djt£tant General. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, August 29, 1854. 
SIR: I have received from General P. F. Smith a copy of his letter to you dated July 

29, in relation to calling out mititia for the defense of the inhabitants of Texas from 
Indian aggressions. 

In that letter, referring to the authority given him by this Department to call upon 
you for troops, he says that if the only evil to be avoided were the direct injury from 
Indian incursions, he would not think the contingency contemplated had arrived, for 
so many of the reports spread by the papers are, to his knowledge, fabrications, that 
the case presented by the actual fact is not such as to require more force than he now 
has; but that there are other evils, the greatest of which is the sense of general insecurity 
on the fronti~r, which i~terrupts industry and prevents an iucreas~ of population on 
tne border, where it is most desirable as the best m eans of d efense. 

He than proceeds to say that if, in ~Tour opinion, additional troops are necessary, 
either to repel actual incursions or to produce a feeling of security in the border set­
tlements, he will take your opinion as the rule for his ::tetion ; and he accordingly 
makes a requisition, subject to your opinion of its necessity, for six companies of 
mounted men, to serve for twelve months. 

Authority to call out militia is given by law only in: cases of actual hostilities or of 
"imminent danger," and in strict pursuance of this authority General Smith was di­
rected to call upon yon "for aiel, should the exigencies of the occasion require it in repel­
ling Indian incursions." To produce a feeling of security in the border settlements is 
not, within the contemplation of law or the instrnctions of this Department, an object 
for which the militia may be properly called out, and it is manifest that, in his judg­
ment, troops were not needed to repel Indian incursions. As he only, knowing the con­
dition of the troops under his command, can judge of the necessity of re-enforcements, 
it has been deemed proper to apprise him that the Department disapproves the con­
ditional requisition whiqh he made for troops not deemed necessary uy him for the 
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object specified in the instructions, especially a,s the term proposed by him greatly 
exceeded that limited by law. 

Although, under the views above stated, troops cannot be called out simply to give 
citizens a ·sense of security, it appears to me that the object might be in a great degree 
attained were it generally made known in the advanced settlements that General 
Smith has authority to call out and supply such force as he may deem necessary for 
their protection, whenever required, and that your excellency is prepared at any mo­
ment to furnish it. 

Very respectfully your obedient servant, 
JEFF. DAVIS, 

Secretary of Wm·. 
His Excellency E. M. PEASE, 

Govm·nor of Texas, Austin, Texas . 

. . 
No. 14. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
" Painted Camp," on the Limpia, Octobm· 9, 1854. 

COLONEL: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your communication of 
the 25th of August, convey:ing the disapproval of the Secretary of War of my call on 
the governor of Texas for six companies for a year, if not sooner discharged, and direct­
ing me to conform to the views expressed in your letter and to the law, which I will 
accordingly endeavor to do as far as I can understand them. 

The Indians, as will be perceived from the reports sent to you heretofore, are consatntly 
making hostile incursions, if that can be c::tlled an incursion which is made by Indians 
living within the State already. The reports made of their devastating the settlements, 
as published in the papers, were, many of them, untrne; but small parties formerly, and 
larger ones since, have entered within the line of posts and killed men and carried off 
cattle and horses, and attacked traveling parties sometimes successfully; though 
these can scarcely be said t.o have happened within the settlements, yet they have alarmed 
them, and induced some p ersons to abandon them. These depredations are not known 
till pursuit is too late, if the Indians, as they often do, immediately retire; to call out the 
militia to repel such incursions as they happen would be useless; troops ready prepared 
can hardly expect to overtake them, unless th~ accidentally fall on their trail, or 
receive instantaneous notice of the act and the route of the retreat; to call on the 
governor of the State for militia, and to await their being assembled and mustered into 
service, would not meet the emergency. I was consequently of opinion (on which I 
acted) that, when a hostile disposition, evinced by hostile acts, was evident, I was 
authorized to call upon the governor to furnish men to be prepared to meet such acts 
as were pretty sure to follow such a disposition. I thought the only question to be de­
cided was whether the regular force under my command was sufficient to repel these 
incursions, or whether militia were necessary, and upon your information that no re­
cruits could be expected I framed the call so as to furnish the additional force at a time 

' when the regular troops would be as low in numbers as it would be safe to permit 
them to be. If, when the returns for October are in, you will observe the number of 
recruits necessary to fill up the companies, you will probably allow that the five hun­
dred militia called out are hardly a compensation for the two thousand soldiers defi­
cient. 

When I speak in my letter to the governor of the effect the existing alarm may pro­
duce on the settlements, I do not mean to say that such alarm is to be considered, 
even if entirely without foundation, but that if some actual hostilities have produced 
an alarm which, under the circumstances, is unreasonably great, yet that alarm is an 
evil to be remedied among others attending the Indians incursions. 

Having no laws to refer to, I was under the impression that the act under which 
volunteers were received into service in 1847 or 1848 for a year was not limited to the 
war, and on my arriYal to take command of the Department of Texas, (then the 8th,) 
I found companies of volunteers in service for, I think, a longer period than three 
months; but whether I am correct or not in my impressions, I have here no means of 
ascertaining. To meet all circumstances, for you informed me there could be no hope 
of recruits, I asked for the companies for a year, "unless !'looner discharged," thus 
reserving the right to dismiss them the moment they were no longer necessary. 

I intended to employ them in a much more effectt1al way than by letting them wait 
to watch small parties that might come in, which was to organize one expedition or 
more against the tribes that were offending. It is only by a serious chastisement, 
repeated more than once, that these predatory expeditions can be repressed effectually, 
but as long as the tribes that furnish the marauders are protected by the Indian agents 
and kept near the frontiers, no effectual lessons can be given to them. -
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As many hostile acts and incursions have been committed since m:v letter callin<Y on 
the governor, and as the number of regular troops is diminishing daily, without

0
any 

prospect of recruits as yet, I will renew the call on the governor for ihe six companies 
for "three months, unless sooner discharged," and employ them at once, part against 
the Indians in this neighborhood and part against the Comanches, and will dischar(J'e 
them as soon as their services are no longer necessary. 

0 

If I misconstrue the instructions you have transmitted and the intentions of the 
Secretary, I will be glad to learn at once in what particulars and how I shall correct 
my action. My sincere wish is to carry out exactly and effectually the views of the 
Department in all points. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 

Colonel S. COOPER, 
Adjutant General. 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
B1·evet Majo1· Geneml, Cmnmanding Department. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL's OFFICE, Novr.mber 9, 1854. 
S. COOPER, Adjutant General. 

The view last taken, that is, to employ such additional force as may be necessary to 
repel incursion and to pnrsue and punish hostile Indians by making !1 campaign 
sufficiently protracted for the purpose, is in accordance with the views of the Depart­
ment. 

Exception was taken to the former call because it exceeded the power of the Execu­
tive of the United States, and because it was to provide garrisons, looking forward to 
a campaign at a remote period, before which it might be possible to furnish recruits 
and make the regular force equal to the wants of the service. 

JEFF'N DAVIS. 

No. 15. 

HEADQUARTJ<ms DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Camp on San Pedro River, October 30, 1854. 

COLONEL: On tho 23d of this m~nth I dispatched an express from the" Painted 
Camp" on the Limpia, after my return from the Presidio del Norte, with several com­
munications to you, one of which gave my reasons for recommending that no post be 
established at the Presidio and that the companies of the Eighth Infantry now on 
the Limpia be continued there. I have placed them in a position which, as far as I 
am able to judge from the time I have spent there, is the most healthy and pleasant in 
Texas, having most excellent water, good grass, and plenty of fuel, at an elevation 
above the sea of about 4,700 feet, and being on one of the most important roads in the 
department and in the midst of Indian tribes that are daily committing outrages on 
travelers. This express, the day after it left my camp, was attacked, at first by six­
teen Indians, wbo were soon joined by fifteen or twenty more, and the men were · 
obliged to abandon their mules and baggage to be able to use their arms. Finally the 
Indians, seeming to value their mules more than anything else, pursued them, and 
the two men succeeded in making their escape, and returned toward the Limpia on 
foot. On the 24th I began my march, and met the men. I sent Captain Walker 
with thirty men to seek the trail of the Indians, but it was in a rocky place and be did 
not succeed in finding it. 

Unfortunately in the same bag with the letters directed to Washington were the 
copies sent to my office in Corpus Christi, so that I have no record of what was sent. 

I have been obliged to-day to make a long march, for want of wa.ter on the road, and 
cannot have time before the express must leave to write again what has been lost; 
and as I am going direct to Corpus Christi, I shall be there soon after any messenger I 
can send, and I will then present my views on the subject again. In the mean time I 
have established Colonel Seawell with his six companies there, (numbering less than 
two hundred men,) and have taken the liberty of naming it without reference to the 
Department, and I have called it Fort Davis. Among the papers lost was a report 
from Captain Arthur, First Infantry, in command of a temporary post on Oak Creek, 
giving an account of the Indians, twenty-eight in number, running o.ff all his animals 
pasturing near the post, and of a pursuit by men on foot, in which Lieutenant Woods 
and Sergeant Michael Roke and a private, whose name will be found in the captain's 
report, sent by him to Corpus Christi, succeeded in overtaking the Indians, who were 
mounted, and they themselves being on foot, and killing two of them, and I had in 
my dispatch recommended Lieutenant Woods and the sergeant and private to the 
notice of the Department. 
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Captain A~thnr's post on Oak Creek and Captain Granger's ou this stream are now 
both abandoned for the winter. I am taking 'the last detachments down with me. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFER F. SMITH, 

Brm:et ~Major C/-enm·al Commanding Department. 
Colonel S. CoOPER, 

Adjutant Gcmwal. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL's OFFICE, November 21, 1834. 

No. 16. 

S. COOPER, Adjutant General. 

WAR DEPARTM!!:N'l', Washington, January 23, 1855. 
Sm: In answer to the resolution of the Senate of the 11th instant,· " That the Secre­

tary of War be required to lay before the Senate such information as may be in his 
Department in reference to such troops of the State of Texas as may now be, or here­
tofore have been, in service in tb::tt State, and who have not been paid by the Govern­
ment of the United States, together with estimates of the amount necessary to pay 
said troops," I have the honor to state that the only troops which are believed to come 
·w·itbin the terms of the resolution are the six companies of mounted volunteers called 
out by Major General P. F. Smith, commanding the Department of Texas, and mustered 
into the service of the United States at Austin, Texas, on the 1st of November last, to 
serve for six months. The muster-rolls of these companies net having yet been re­
ceived at the Department, no exact estimate of the amount necessary to pay them can 
now be made. '.fhe one made by the Paymaster General, and submitted herewith, is 
conjectural, but the amount of it, $137,755.38, if appropriated, will probably be sufficient 
for the purpose. 

Very respectfully, your obeclient servant, 

Ron. J. B. BRIGHT, 
President pro tem. of the Senate. 

No. 17. 

JEFF'N DAVIS, 
Secreta?'Y of W m'. 

VVAR DEPARTMENT, Washingto11, Januat•y 24, 1855. 
SIR: I have the honor to :J,cknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 9th instant, 

inclosing a certificate of the comptroller of the State of Texas, showing amounts 
which have been appropriated by the State for the payment of the three companies of 
volunteers called out by its executive in the summer of 1852, and requesting that the 
amount necessary to re-imburse the State ($89,:301.92) may be asked of Congress by this 
Department. 

In reply I have to inform you that when these companies were called out by the 
governor of Texas he advised this Department of the fact, and asked that they mirrht 
be received into t,he service of the United States. This, for the reasons given by the 
.Secretary of War* in his reply to the governor, was not granted. 

For the reason, therefore, that these companies have not been in the service of the 
United States, I cannot comply with your request that I should ask an appropriation 
of Congress to re-imburse the State of Texas the amount paid them. The decision of 
my predecessor controls my action in the case. 

The resolution of the Senate relative to the volunteer; companies of Texas at present 
in service, to which you refer, has been received and answered by the Department. 

Very 1·espectfully, your obedient servant, 

Ron. P. H . Bl~LL, 
Howse of Representatives. 

1-I. Ex. 277--6 
"' In paper No. 1. 

JEFF. DAVIS, 
Secretary of War. 
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Colonel S. CooPJ<.;R, Adjutant General: 

No.l8. 

Hl~AJ)QUAHTEH~->, DEI>AJ~TM:EN'I' OF TI~XAS, 
Corpu8 Chri~;ti, M·arch 10, 1855. 

Your letter of the 31st of January, inclosiug the extmct from a report of Major 
Neighbours, Indian agent, was duly received, and, in conformity with your directions, 
the volunteers were immediately recalled from the quarter toward which they bad 
been directed; and as the object of employing them, to wit, carrying a war into the 
homes of the Indians who had been making hostile incursions into tho interior of 

· Texas, could not be carried out, they were orderecl to be discharged. I mnst, however, 
call your at.tent.ion to the incorrectness of Major Neighbours's report. 

His communication is dated at Sau Antonio on the 8th of January. On that day the 
volunteers had not yet arrived at Fort Chadbourne, a long ways this side of the position 
he assigned to them, and the command from Fort Chadbourne bad not left it when you 
wrot(', inclosing his report. Yet be alleges their presence on the upper waters of the 
Clear Fork as causing a disturbance among the Indians with wl10m he was treating. 
The band which attacked the train near Fort Ewell-that which was attacked by 
Captain Van Buren and which killed him-were detachments from these tribes that 
were then about Fort Chadbourne endeavoring to excite tlw other tribes to join them in 
hostilities. The reports of Captain Calhoun lm;t' t:lUmmer show this fully. If they 
have joined themselves f<>r protection to any band more peaceful, and under the control 
of the Indian agents, the latter should have taken measures to have the offenders given 
up. Major Neighhours cannot say that subsequent hostilities havo been cansed hy the 
presence of the troops, for on the 1st of :F'ebrnar.v Captain Calhoun's two companies of 
dragoons left Fort Chadbourne, and the volunteers had not l.Jecn mustered into service 
at Austin and· San Antonio until from the 1st to the 20th of December. Yet, by are­
port from Lieutenant Givens, Second Dragoons, stationed at Fort :Belknap, dated the 
6th of November, it appears that a patty of these same Indians had comrnittecl depre­
dations on the settlement between the fort and the reservat.ion, and he had followed 
and detected the guilty, but for certain reasons had not, n.nested them. On t,he lOth of 
January Major Steen reports that he had, ou tlw complaint of one of the settlers, gone 
to Senaco's camp after mules, stolen some time before from the settler ; that on his way 
back Ketumsey, another chief, hau overtaken him, wi t h Hews that a German named 
Li.ndecker, living near .Fort Chadbourne, had scut word to them that an expedition 
was to march against the Southern Comanches, and that thereupon Sonaco and Buffalo 
Hump bad fled with their bands to join the Northern Comanches. Now, Mnjor Steen's 
report is dated the l:lth of January, and the occurrences must have happened some days 
before, while the .first of the volunteers did uot arrive at Fort Chadbourne until the 
lOth of of January. Now, the fact is that this same party of Senaco and Buffalo Hump 
have sent detachments down into the settlements near Fredericks burgh, where they are 
reported to be killing cattle and men. I have ordered Colonel May to send a detach­
ment to drive them out, alld Captain Calhou1'1 will on his retnrn detach dragoons on 
the same duty. · 

The Lipans, under tlw protection of Major Howard, arc following the same plan. An 
• incursion was made a few da.ys since across from :Mexico, near l<'ort Duncan, and a 

young man killcu who was in search of c::tttle. In defending himself he killed an In- • 
dian, whose body was not carried ofi'; aud when Captain Walker's company of rifles, 
which >vas sent in pursuit, came to the ground, some of the men recognized the body 
as tha.t of the Lipnn Indian who hau started with Captain King, First Infan try, in pur­
snit of Qomanches, and had beou tumecl over by him to Captain Vau Buren, and accom­
panied the latter iu the pursuit that ende!l in hit> death. 

The Indian agents ma.y be able to watch and cont,rol the tribes under their charge 
while they reside in San Antonio and the Indiaus are on the frontier, bnt they cannot 
even know correctly the movements of the troops or the facts that transpire at such a 
distance from them; and I will assert that all the Indian depredations committecl 
within two years are to be attributed to placing the Indians too near the frontier with­
out agents actually with them to control their actions, and that, far from the Indian 
agents having the right to complain that their measures for paci:ficat,ing the Indians 
are obstructed by the action of the military, the latter have the right to complain that 
all their efforts to protect the frontier from Indian depredation are rendered uugatory 
by the plans adopted by the Indian agents. 

Since my return from El Paso I have been prepariug a full history of all the events 
of the summer and fall, and the clerks in the office have been employed in making 
copies of all the papers connected with it; but the current business is such as to occupy 
their time fully, and it will be some days yet befo,re all the papers will b~ ready , 
If the riflemen and rlragoons were filled up with recruits and horses, I can foresee 

no contingency that would require the employment of militia, but yon are aware that 
when troops have charge of posts a certain number of men are necessary (whatever be 
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the strength of a company) to remain at the post, aml only the surplus are disposable, 
though I ba·1e laid it down as a rule that the posts are to be considered as subordinate 
to service in the field, and, if it becomes necessary to a.bandon one, the post is to be 
left to itself. I mnst say here, however, in justice to the whole command, that no men 
could have better done their dut,y or conducted themselves in a better manner, under 
all circumstances, than the troops of all arms have clone-dragoons, riflemen, artillery~ 
and infantry-in a climate as severe and as unhealthy as any can be, and when there 
is not a single bnilclin~ at :wy of the posts that is rea~ly fit for quarters _for of?cers. or 
men, and hardly a stn,ble for horses. I cannot too forctbly express my satiSfaction With 
their good conduct ou all occasions. 

·with high respect, yonr obe11ient .servant, 
PEHSIFER F. SMITH, 

Brevet .J!ajot· Gcneml, Commanding Department. 

R( · ~-i pectfuJJy snlnnitteu to the Secretary of War. 
8. COOPEH,, Ac{jutant Geneml. 

ADJUT"\NT GmNEHAL's O.FFICE, Ma1·ch 24, 1855. 

Reau the portion of the letter referring to the complaint of Agent Nei~hbours, and to 
the necessity of requiring agents to reside with tLe tribes under their charge; will be 
copied and sent to the Secretary of the Interior. General SmHh will be informed of 
the purpose for which the letter of Agent Neighbours was forwarded to him, and will be 
assured of the confidence of this Department in the troops and commanding officers of 
the Department of 'I'exal':. 

WAll DEI>ART111ENT, ..1pril 11, 1855. 

JEFF'N DAVIS~ 
Secretm'JI of FVa·r. 

(See letter to Secretary of the Interior, April17, 1855.) 

No. Hl. 

HEADQUARTEHS, DEPAHTl\1E.N'l' OF 'l'l~XAS, 
CoTpus Christi, Ma1·ch 14, 1855. 

COLONl<:L : 1 have report frow ~htjor Simonson, R. M. Riflemen, commanding 
the expedition beyond Fort Davis, up to the 15th of February. He was thoroughly 
scouring the mountainous district north of the El Paso Road, and between Fort Davis 
and the Rio Grande. The Indians had left, he thinks, and gone northward, having 
received intelligence of the expedition. This is very probable, for I have already in­
formed the Department that a party of Lipans, fi·om the band established on the 
Nueces, near Fort luge, by the Indian agent, had joined the Mescaleros, and kept up 
a, regular communication with their friends near Fort Inge, by whicl1 they learned the 
strength and object of every party that passed that point on the road to El Paso. 

Major Simonson bas been as far north· as Captah1 Marcy's road, and met Major Loug­
street, I~ightl1 Infantry, with a command out from El Paso, in tlw Guadelupe Mountains. 

The explorations of Major Simonson and of Colonel Seawell near Fort Davis have 
had very valuable results, the former havin_g- discovered running streams of good 

·water that may serve for temporary camps in the future ancl possibly give a better 
route for the El Paso i~oad; anu tho latter has found, by au examination made by 
Brevet Lieutenant Colonel Bomford, Eighth Infantry, line pine timber within elevei1 
miles of l1is post, antl accessible by a wagon-road. 

The compauy of Texas volunteers nuder Captain Heury, part of which had broken 
open the post-office at D'Harris, and pillaged the town, (some of them were afterward 
discharged for misconduct on tllemarch to·ward Fort Davis, and of which the lieutenant 
Jackson, was nndcr arrest,) was ordered to ue dischargecl; and I have now charcres o~ 
ha~u ag:ainst the captain for misconduct while drm1k. The other two companie~ with 
MaJor ~unon.son a~pe:n ~o have been usefully emplo.yed; but on the receipt of your 
lett~r, mclosmg 1!nJOr N e1gl1 honrs's remonstrance aga~nst t~e prosecut:ion of expeditions 
a.gamst the In~hans, they, as well ar> the compames w1th Captam Calhoun, were 
ordercll to be chscha.rged. But I trnst that I shall be allowed to continue the move­
ments again.t thfl Mescalero!-> and Apaches, so as at least to keep them out of reach 
of the roadA to El Paso niH1 Doua Anlla1 wl1ich I cnH do if the companies now l1ere arc 
filled up with recruits and horses. 

Ou the subject of recruits, I would urge that tht>y be sent out, if practicable, to 
arrive here on the 1st of December. ·when 1ihey come in the spring or summer tbey 
suffer from the fevers a~d ~lysenteries of the climate and countr~7' and embarrass _the 
?o"!llmand ~ather than al(l 1t. I am a~are that this lJas not been possible lately, for 
1t 1s only smce August last that recrmts conld be procurred. 

My o~vn regiment has been very u~Jfortun,ate in tllis matte1:- It was at first filled .up in 
1846 WJt,h as good men as ever enhsted. These served dnnng the war; but on their 
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return in 1848 they collected a purse of seven or eight lmuurecl dollars, :mel employed 
one of the agents abont Washington to have a law passed discharging them, all or 
which he had done. 'l'hey were entirely recruited anew, but with inferior men, all(l 
marched across the plains in 1849 to Oregon. In 1851 the men were all transferred to 
the dragoons in the Pacific division, and the regiment recruited the third time in six 
years anu stationed here. They have now had no recruits for over two years, and 
some of the companies have not over twenty men. When filled up a large majority 
will be recruits, and another evil follow: that so many will have their discharges clue 
at the same time that a large leaven of raw men will come into each comp::my at once. 

I delay making any plans for the summer until I know the purposes of tile Depart­
ment since the increase of the Army authorized; hut will keep everything as far as 
possible in the most perfect state of efficiency for any design that may, under the new 
circumstances, be determined on. It is sai(l at Brownsville that General La Vega and 
most of the troops in Tamaulipas are going south to aid Santa Anna against the revo­
lution. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIPER F. SMITH, . 

Bret•et Major General, Commanding . 
.Colonel S. COOPER, 

.ddjutant General. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL's OFFICE, March 28, 1&55. 

No. 20. 

S. COOPER, Adjutant General. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TKXAS, 
Corpus Ch1·isti, Ma1·ch 23, 1855. 

CoLONEL: I have, generally, before the end of March determined on the plan of op­
erations for the troops until called in late in the fall, but this year have postponed 
putting the troops in motion and, indeed, deciding how to employ them, as I knew 
plans for augmenting the military force were before Congress; and the result is known, 
to# wit, an increase of four regiments. The · determination of the boundary-line under 
the Gadsden treaty may render more troops necessary on that line, and it struck me 
as likely that the department of Mexico would be re-enforced by the six companies of 
the eighth infantry now at Fort Davis under Lieutenant Colonel Seawell. If it were 
to be so-and Colonel Seawell informed me that he bad heard that change was de­
termined on-I would place the Pirst Infantry there, and at Oak Creek, aud the San 
Pedro, or at the Great Comanche crossing, and stretch the Fifth along the Rio Grande 
to cover the places vacated by the movement of the First; and if the rifles are filled 
with recruits, General Smith suggests, in a previous letter, that recruits for Texas 
.ahould not be sent before the autumn, to avoid diseases incident to that climate in 
summer. The country is now so well known that no a,dditional force will be wanting 
on the Rio Grande. But if any such movement is postponed, the companies and traint~ 
will be scattered and much time and labor lost in assembling them for the movement. 

Indeed, whatever changes are contemplated, either in consequence of tile increase of 
the Army or from new plans determined on by the War Department, they can be pro­
vided for now before the troops are put in the field with much more economy than 
afterward. 

It seemed probable that some changes actually determined on wonld uot and could 
not be carried into effect until the additional regiments are prepared to take their 
share in them; but if the Department sees fit to advise me of such of its intentions 
as are settled on, I can modify my own plans so as to ai1l rather than embarrass tile 
movements to be made when the new troops are ready. 

The grass is now coming forward well and the roads are in good order, the trains 
within reach, and the troops concentrated at their posts and refitte<l in elothing and 
equipments, and, without offering any snggestion as to what should be done, as I do 
not know the plans of the Department, I am sure I can carry them out more e1i'ectually 
now than at any later period, whether they relate to immediate action or to prepara­
tions for the future. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFER F. SMITH, 

B1·et•et Majo1· General, Commanding Depa1·tment. 
Colonel S. COOPER, 

Adjutant General. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of \Var. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL's OFFICE, April 7, 1855. 
S. COOPER, Adjutant General. 

I 
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It is not proposed to make such disposition of tlw new regiments as will interfere 
,~vi t.h tlw arrangements now being made in the Department of Texas. 

JEFF'N DAVIS, 
Secrcta1·y of War~ 

WAR DEPAHTl\mNT, ..1pril 11, 18G3. 

No. 21. 

Hon. JEFFERSO:s- DAVIS, Secretal'y of War, War Department, Washingto.n, D. C. : 
We, the undersigned, citizens of Gillespie County, State of Texas, beg to lay before 

the Secretary of vVa,r the following statement of facts, and hope ho "'"'ill give it his 
earl iest n.ttention : , 

On tlw 7th of l?ebmary last, a party of Indians came down from the direction of 
Fort Terrett into the valley of Tbreadgale Creek, where petitioners have stock-farms, 
atH1 killed with spears and arrows thirty head of fat beef-cattle. They made a second 
attack on our farms on the 30th of last month, and killed two head of beef-cattle 
und four hogs aud drove off between one hundred and fifty and two hundred head of 
n'ry valuable cattle, all these belonging to petitioners. 

\Ve beg further to state that, while the post at Fort Terrett was garrisoned with 
Un ited States troops, we never bad any Indians come into this valley, and felt quite 
secure in our lives and property; but, since that post has been abandoned, we have 
lost nearly all our stock, besides many valuable horses and mules. 

vVe beg, at the same time, to acquaint the Secretary of War that our stock-farms 
~tre situated abont one] and a half miles from the road leading from Fredericks burgh 
t o Fort Terrett, being distant twenty-five miles west from the former town, and we 
are now compelled to abandon these farms to save our lives, and have brought the re­
mainder of our stock close to this town for more protection. Petitioners hope that the 
honorable Secretary of War will take the above circumstances into consjderation, and, 
if he bas any troops at present at his disposal, that he will afford us the necessary 
military protection we so much need on this exposed frontier. 

J. E. DOSS. 
WM. G. THOMAS. 
CHARLES A. CAMPBELL. 

FnEDEIUCKSllUJWII, Gillespie County, Texas, Apl'il9, 1855. 

Tim STATE O~F TEXAS, Connty of Gillespie: 
I, :IT. ~Wrede, county clerk in and for the aforesaid county, hereby certify that J. E. 

Doss, vV. G. Thomas, and Charles A. Campbell are persons to me well known, and are 
worthy of credit and belief; and I do further certify that the facts stated in the fore­
going communication are true, and that the Indian hostilities in this county and vi­
cinity are of such an aggrieve<l nature as to demand the interposition of 'the Govern­
ment, by giving the citizens of this community immediate special protection. 

Given under my hand and official seal this 12th day of April, A. D. 1855 . 
. F. WREDE, Clerk. 

Copy furni.shc<l General Smith, May 17, 1855, indorsed as follows: Copy for the in­
formation of the commanding general of the Department of Texas, who is desired to 
afford such protection in this case as may be in his power, consistent with the wants 
of other sections of his command and the interests of the public service. 

Respectfully furnished, by order. 

ADJUTAXT GEN'l~RAL's OFFICE, May 17, 1855. 
S. COOPER, Adjutant General. 

No. 22. 

WAR DEPARn:IE.NT, Washington, May 12, 1855. 
GE.NTLE~:mx: l have received your letter of the 9th ultimo announcing the attacks 

upon your farms and killing of your cattle by the Indians. 
In reply, I have to inform yon that I have directed that the facts in your letter be 

communicated to Major General Smith, commanding in Texas, for such action on his 
part as will affonl you all the protection hfl can give, consistently with the wants of 
other sections of the country and the interests of the public service. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
JEFF'N DAVIS, 

Sectetm·y of War. 
Messrs. J. E. Doss, WILLIAill G. THOMAS, and CHARLES A. CAMPBELL, 

Fredericksbu1·gh, Gillespie County, Texas. 



86 CLAIMS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

No. 23. 

HEADQUARTIWS D1<:PAHT!\llr.NT OI! TEXAS, 
Cmpus ChTisti, May 2R, 1855. 

CoLONEL: I i1aYe the houor to acknowledge the receipt of your rcfcret1ce to rue, dated 
May 17, of the letter of J. E. Doss, \Villiam G. Thomas, and Charles A. Campbell, rlated 
April 9, complaining of Indian depredations on the 7th of February and 30th of March 
last. 

\Vhen Senaco's band of Comanches wcro notifietl by the Texan settlers near Fort 
Chadbourne that they were to be attacked, a part of theiu made an incursion toward the 
~;ettlem nt, and killed and drove off some cattle between tlJc Colorado. Brevet Major 
Merrill, Second Dragoons, was <letaclJcd by Major Steen fmm Fort Belknap with a 
strong party, -who 'Scoured the country near an<l beyond Fredericksbnrgh, and Brevet 
Colonel Ma.v detached Lieutenant Norris, Second Dragoons, with half of the strength 
at Port McKavitt, who searched the country more to the ''estward. They found the 
Indians-jn all about twenty-three-had retired, and a fmv days since, the whole 
frontier being undisturbed, the last of the detachments retumed to its post. The object 
of the writers of the letter referred to seems to be rather to have troops again stationed 
at Fort Terrett than that any should be kept in motion through the country. It un­
doubtedly is greatly to the ad va.ntage of those persons who keep small stores that they 
shoul<l be ncar a post to which trains are frequeutly goiug, as the traffic with team­
t:lters is very profitable; bnt, under ordinary circnmst:mces, tho troops moving over 
the cotmtry are more effective in keeping out Indians than those 1ixed at a post, and 
they are always ready for that duty, and prompt in performing it; and, unless I am 
othorwise directed, I will continue to employ in that way. The repetition of stories of 
depredations committed in the beginning of tho winter, published in papers some dis­
ianco oft' and copied agaiu as nO\\' ontrages, has multiplied, apparently, the number of 
incursious and. amount of losses. 'l'hore were many cattle killed for foocl, and some 
cattle and horses driven ofr, by Senaco's ball(l in their sweep through the country, but 
the Indians have beeufor some time retired, and the agent, Major Neighbours, has, I 
believe, opened a conununicatiou with those who wen~ hostile, which I hope will enu 
in pacifying them. 

\Vith high l'CRpect, yonr obedient servant, 

Colo11el B. CoOPEH, 
Adjutant. Geneml. 

PEW::HFEH F. S.Ml'l'H, 
B1'evet Major General, Comrnancli11!J Department. 

P. S.-\Vo haYe here, on pretty good autlwrit.y, tho reporL that tho Mexican states 
of Coahuila an<l New Leon Jun-e pronounced agaiust Santa Anna, a.u<l that Tamanlipas 
is to join, and tl1at a small Mexicau garrison at Hucrrcro, about fifty miles below 
I;arcdo, had Joined the insnrgents. 

PERSIFEH. F. SMITH, 
B1·evct ~!J.Iajor Ocneral. 

Respectfully suhmittecl to the Secretary of\Var, in connection with the communica­
tion within referred to. 

.r\ n.JnTANT GR~mu t.'.s Ot~FrcE, .hwe 9, Ul:Ju. 

No. 24. 

W. G. FREEMAN, 
_1RRi8ianf; Adjutant licne.ml . 

ExECUTlV.l<~ OFFICE, A usti111 Texas, June 20, lo55. 
SIR: I inclose you a communication from Hon. "\Villiam E. Jones, which is taken 

from the State Times, a newspaper published at this place, giving the account of the 
murder of a valuable citizen in the upper part of Comal County, on the Gnadalupe 
River, by Indiaus, and also of thefts committed by them in the same vicinity. Mr . 
.Jones is an old citizen of the State, aud as highly respected as any man we lmvc among 
ns. His statement concerning this transaction I consider entitle<l to full credit. This 
murder was committed in a section of the State where no UnitN1 States troop.s are sta­
tioned, and where <lepredations are frequeutl.v committed hy the Indians dunng the 
last eighteen months, who have in every instance escaped pnuishment. This hns em­
boldened them to renew their visits. I am assured that there is such excitement pre­
vailing in that neighborhood that if the Indians ·shall again visit there the citizens 
will arm and tum out an<l make war npon any tdbes that they may meet. Such an 
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·o::curreuce may uring on a general war with all the tribes upon our frontier, and, I 
fear, can only bo avoided by stationing a company of mounted men to range the coun.: 
try from that seUlemcnt to the nearest post above. A knowledge by the Indians that 
such a force is in the vicinity will undoubtedly prevent them again from appearing 
there. I therefore reqnost that yon will, if possible, send a company of mounted men 
into that neighborhood. for it~:~ protection, to remain there as long as the public service 
will permit. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
K M. PEASE. 

Brevet Mujor General P. I<'. SMITH, 
Cornrnanding Department of TexaN. 

No. 25. 

Ext<:eUTIVE 0FFJCE, .Au.~tin, Texas, July 5, 1855. 
Su:: Frolll re]iable representations made to me by citizens re~iding on the Guada­

l upe River and its tributaries iu Comal and Bexar Counties, and on the upper Blanco, 
I am well sn,tisfied that a mounted force is necessary to protect those settlements from 
the thefts and mmders to which they are constantly subjected by marauding bands of 
Indians, anu since the United States Government has failed to notice those depreda­
tions or to furnish any force for the protection of these settlements, I have thought 
proper to authorize you, and I do hereby authorize you, to raise a company of mounted 
men to serve three months, unless sooner uischarged. The company must not exceed 
in number that of a mounted company in the United. States service, which is com­
posed of one captain, one first lieutenant, one second lieutenant, four sergeants, four 
·COrporals, one farrier, two buglers, find seventy-four priYates. Should you not succeed 
in raising a full company of privates, officers can be elected only in proportion to the 
number of men. There are no means at the disposition of the executive t.o furnish 
this company ammunition, arms, subsistence, or forage, and this authority is given 
with the understanding that this company can be made np of individuals who are able 
and willing to . supply themselves with all these articles, and rely upon the justice of 
t he legislature to re-imburse them, and also to pay them for their services the usual 
.amount allowed by the United States for similar service. Should you succeed in rais­
ing such a company, or a part of a company, you will forthwith return to this office a 
-complete muster-roll thereof, and repair immediately to such point in the vicinity of 
the above-named suttlements as will enable yon to give them full protection against 
the Indians. It is expected that you will be actively engaged in ranging in their 
vicinity, unless it may become necessary to pursue any marauding parties of Indians 
that ma.y be found in the neighborhood, in which case you are authorized to follow 
them up and chastise them wherever they may be found. I rely with confidence upon 
your good sense and prudence to avoid. attacking any Indians or tribes who are peace­
ably dispo~ed, as such a course might bring on a general Indian war with all the tribes 
upon our frontier, which would be very disastrous for a season to our exposed settle­
ment. I enjoin yon, also, particularly, to prevent any trespasses being committed by 
those nuder your command upon the persons or property of citizens. I shall commu­
nicate what I have done to the general in command of this department, and should he 
desire to receivfl yon into the United States service for a like time, and to perform 
similar duty, I shall expect you to be mustered under his orders, or should he send 
·Other mounted troops to the same neighborhood to perform the sen·ice for which you 
are destined, then I shall feel at libert.y to discharge yon at once. Yon will keep this 
office frequently aml regularly advised of yonr proceedings. 

Very n~spectfully, 
.E. M. PEASE. 

J AMES H. Cu.I .. \JIAN, Esq. 

No. 26. 

HEADQUAHTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Corpus Chtisti, July 14, 1855. 

L!OLONEL: I have the honor to aclmowledge"'the receipt of a communication from 
your office, dated the 26th of June, inclosing a copy of a letter from the Mexican min­
ister to the Secretary of State of the United States, in relation to rumors of an in­
tended expedition from this side of tbe Rio Grande into Mexico, under Caravajal and 
.other leauers. 
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The officers of the Army on that line have instructions to prevent any infraction of 
the law of 1818, and where the information they received or the proof they could obtain 
was sufficient, they have successfully carried out their instructions, as the former arrest 
of Caravajal and his associates will testi(y. On various occasions lately, on the rumor 
current in the neighborhood, various detachments of troops have been sent to scour 
the neighborhood and break up any such expeditions, but they have never succeeded 
in finding any, for these are not organized or created within our limits; the arrange­
ments are all made in Mexico, and the parties singly retire to this side to remain in 
security until they are ready to operate, and as they are scattere<l along the frontier 
among, the inhabitants, who are originally Mexicans, it is impossible to distinguish 
them, and such communication as they have with each other is private and cannot be 
detected. 

Since the late occupation of Monterey by the insurgents, Caravajal and a number 
of others have crossed to join them, but as no information was given of the intendeu 
movement, and it was made without any appearance of hostile intention exhibited on 
our side, it could neither be detected nor preventeu, for the river can be crossed a.ny­
wbere. 

If the information on which the Mexican consul at Brownsville founds his report 
was exact and sufficient, it would have enabled Major Porter to have succeeucd in ar­
resting it. It was because it was merely general rumor, without pa,rticulars, that the 
efforts of the officers were not successful. 

Unless some one interested in suppressing these enterprises, anu at the same time in 
the secre.ts of the offenders, will make known their plans, it is not likely that any cor­
rect knowledge of them will reach the officers who are on the look-out to prevent 
them, especially as these plans are now confined almost entirely to persons resident on 
the Mexican side, and it is far more difficult to trace any movement from the similarity 
of the population on the two sides of the river. The instructions to the officers are 
full, and they are zealous in the execution of them, buttbe circumstances I mention 
are more sufficient to account for their general ill-success than are those which prevent 
the Mexican authorities from keeping the Indians they have by treaty with them 
located on the Rio Grande from El Paso to Camargo from crossing weekly on to our 
side to murder and rob and carry back their booty for sale in sight of our frontier. 

With high respect, yonr obedient servant, 
PERSI:E'ER F. SMITH, 

Ercret Major General, Cornrno.uding Dcpartrnent. 
ColonelS. CooPER, 

Adjutant General. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of w·ar. 

ADJUTANT GE:NEIBL's OFFICE, ,July 28, 185f. 

No. 27. 

S. COOPER, Acijnta.·1t Geuercl. 

EXECUTIYR O:FFICF, .Aut tin, Texas, July 25, 1855. 
GE::s-TLE:\IEN: I have received and attentively considered the application signed by 

you and a large number of other citizens of your county, asking me to call out another 
company of volunteers for the protection of Bexar and Medina Counties against the 
depredations of the Indians. I am fully aware of the truth of the details you give in 
regard to the depredations of the Indians to which your citizens have been so constantly 
subjected for the past year, and have made frequent representations on the subject to 
the commanding general of the department and to the Secretary of War. Since I 
authorized Captain Callahan to call out a oompany of volunteers for the protection of 
the settlements on the Guadalupe and its tributaries, I have received a letter from 
General Smith, dated the 15th instant, in which be says be will send a party of mount­
ed riflemen to the neighborhood where the recent depredations were committed as 
soon as the command of Major Simonson returns from the duty he is now engaged in. 
In the mean time I will direct Captain Callahan to station a part of his company, as 
soon as it is raised, at such points as will enable them to give protection to the settle­
ments of Bexar and Mellina Counties. Should these not prove sufficient to give securi­
ty to the sett,lers, I will not hesitate to...call ont other volunteers. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
E. M •. PEASF. 

Mcssr~. A. A. MrNCEY, S. A. MAV.EHICK, A. A. LoCK\VOOD, 
and otl1e1· citizcus of Bexar County. 
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No. 28. 

EXECUTIVE 0FFICE,:A ·ustiu, Texas, July 25, 1855. 
DEAH Sm: Siuce I issucu anthority to you to raise a company of volunteers for the 

protection of the citizens residing ou the Guadalupe River and its tributaries, in Comal 
and Bexar Counties, I have received from the citizens of Bexar County a memoriaL 
asking for a small volunteer force for the protection of the frontier settlements in 
Bexar and Medina Counties, which have been lately harassed by the depredations of 
the Indians. 

I have also received a letter from General Smith, in which he says that he will soon 
send a party of mounted riflemen to the neighborhood where the recent depredations 
have been committed. This information bas induced me to believe that, instead of 
calling for additional volunteers bes1des your company, it will be better for the pres­
ent to divide your company and send a portion of it to such a point as will afford pro­
tection to the settlements in Medina and Bexar Counties, west and south of the point 
where it was first intended your entire company should be stationed. I therefore de­
sire that you should divide your company and station one portion of it on the Guada­
lupe where the recent depredations were committed, and the other portion at such 
point as will afford protection to those settlements in Medina and Bexar Counties that 
have recenMy been visited by t.he Indians. Should you not succeed in making up your 
company, I have no doubt it can be filled up readily in San Antonio and Castroville, 
when it is known that a portion of the company is to be employed in their vicinity, 
and this, too, I presume, will facilitate your obtaining the necessary supplies. 

Please let me bear of your movements as often as practicable. 
YonTs, with respect, 

E. M. PEASE. 
JAMES H. CALLAHAN, Esq. 

No.29. 

SAN ANTONIO, September 5, 1855. 
Sm: I came to this place with tho hope of meeting and having a consultation with 

you jn regard to the depredations recently committed in this county by the Indians, 
supposing that you were ~till here, but I find that you have returned to Corpus ChTisti, 
and are not expected to be here before the first of next month. 

Major Belger has shown me a letter that he has written to you, giving an account of 
the murder of the son of the Rev. Mr. McGee, on the Cibolo, some fifteen or twenty 
miles below this place. The facts, as stated by him, are confirmed by several citizens) 
well known to me, who reside in t.he neighborhood wheTe the boy was killed. Tho 
same paTty·who killed this boy also pursued several citizens who were out hunting 
cattle, but they made their escape. They also stole horses from several other farms on 
the Cibolo, at different points for twenty or twenty-f1ve miles above Mr. McGee's. 
Several small parties have been in pursuit of these Indians-some of which are 
still ont-aud, I trust, will come up with them. I know not precisely what course 
to recommend to stop thPse depredations, but, unless somethiug is done speedily, the 
settlements on the streams above and west of this place will have to break up. Horses 
have been stolen, witllin the last month, from several ranches within fifteen or twenty 
miles of"tbis town, and there is no doubt that in every instance it has been done by 
Indians. It does seem to me that one or two companies of mounted men might be 
stationed, in parties of thirty or forty, at different places near the settlements, from 
the bead of the Lhtno down to the mouth of the Rio Frio, and perhaps below there on 
the Nueces, so far as to intercept those small parties of Indians who commit these ont­
mges. The company under the command of Captain Callahan, which I called out a 
few weeks since and stationed near the head of the Guadalupe and the Blanco, have 
put a stop to the depredations which the Indians were committing in those neighbor­
hoods for two or three months previous. My situation, ln regard to these matters, is a 
very embarrassing one. Our citizens are entitled to protection from the General Gov­
ernment, but, not receiving it, they appeal to the State authOTities. There is great 
danger, if I call out volunteers, that they may, in their zeal to punish the Indians, do 
something to interfere with the efforts now making by the General Government to settle 
Texas tribes at the reservations on the Upper Brazos. I think, if I could have a con­
sultation with yon on this subject, some plan might be devised to give protection to 
t~e frontier settlements of this and the adjoining counties, and, if agreeable to you, I 
wlllrueet you at this place when yon return here, if yon will inform me what time 
you expect to 1·eturn. . 

Iu case you do not expect to return here soon, I wish, if it is in your power to do so, 
tbat you would send a company or two of mounted men immediately to range from 
the mouth of the Frio to the lH:!ad of the Llano. This will give confidence to the 
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~:wttlements north and west of this, and keep tllem from breaking up, and relieve me 
frop1 tile necessity of calling out additional volunteers to perform that service. In the 
meantime I will delay further action,with hop{'\ of hearing from yon at au <>arly day. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servaut, 

Brevet Mnjor General PEnSII<'ER F. S:\UTH, 
Commanding Depar·tmenl of Tr-.xas. 

No. ~0. 

E. M. J'EASE. 

l5AN ANTONIO, Slptember G, lti55. 
GENTLEMEN: Your letter of the 1st instant, giving an account of the depredations re­

cently committed in this vicinity by the Indians, and inclosing the proceedings of a public 
meeting of the citizens of this place, was received at Austin on the 3d instant. Sup­
posing that General Smith was still at this place, I came immediately here with the 
view of meeting bim and inducing bim to adopt measures to prevent a recurrence of 
similar proceedings. Not finding him here on my arrival, .. ! wrote to him yesterday by 
express, detailing the recent murders and thefts committed by the Indians in this 
county, and requested him to furnisll a sufficient mounted force to be stationed at such 
points as will hereafter give protection against further attacks of the kind. 

I expect to get a reply from him in a few days, and, unless he gives me assuranceR 
that such a force will be soon furnished, I shall consider it to be my duty to call out a 
company of volunteers to protect the lives and property of our frontier citizens until 
the legishttnre, soon to assemble, can take such further stepH ns may he deemed HeceR­
Hary to efl"ect that object. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant.. 
K M. l'EARK 

Messrs. C. EVANS, BEN. E. EDWAHDS, and H. B. S.\UNDtm~. 

No.:n. 

Ht•:AI>QUARTEU, DEPAitTl\lENT 01<" Tt•:XAB, 
Col]ntB Ch1·isti, September 8, 1855. 

CoLO.:\EL: I have the l10nor to acknowledge· the receipt of your communication of 
the 21st of August, inclosing documents relative to all<1ged projected incursions into 
Mexico. The rumors, upon wbic4 complaints are made uy the Mexican minister, are 
almost without fonudation. An adventurer, whose proclamations appear in the Texas 
newspapers-with a view of inducing others to joiu bim-auuouuces that be is about 
to invatl e the neighboring states of Mexico, anfl has alrt-ady several hundrecl men 
arrayml in this enterprise, and some partisans of his assist him by giving currency to 
the same tale. Eve.ry one here knows how little confidence was to ue placed in it, and 
it wns not r eally worth noticing, lest it might be raised to a consequence it did not 
merit. • 

Finall;\', he, with about tw·euty men scattered along the river, crossed ·where there 
was no one to oppose, and offered to join the revolutionists, hut, being as well appreci­
<tted on that side as on this, their services were refused, and they wero advised to cross 
back to Texas. They were, consequently broken np, and most of them returned. They 
are, altogether, of so little consequence that it would he bard to find any one who 
could testify against them or distinguish them from the ordinary crowd that loiter 
about fwntier towns. 

Tlw Lipan Indians, who are located in Mexico,. near our border, and protected by the 
authorities there, cross constantly, in small pa.rties, and steal horses nnd mules. Tho 
countr. • being flooded hy late rains, it is almost impossible to trail them, an<l the 
mounted riflemen wl1o have attempted it have not been snccessful, for that reason. 
Many of the citizens who have lost animals luwe, I underst::w<l, associated themselves 
togeth<;r to follow these p:uties from their crossing~"~ of the Rio Grande toward the 
Lipan camp, to recover their animals. It is, probably, the approach of these parties to 
the river which has given so rue confirmation to the rumors auont itwaswn, but tho por­
Bons Pngaged in this pursuit are of entirely different character and have different 
objects from those first mentioned. 

1f the tenth part of the lauor spent by our soldiers to prevent infractions of tho 
.,, nen.t.rality laws" were employe(} in Mexico to restrain the Indians, even this last­
mentwHed project would not have been undertaken. 
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The Mexican minister may be assured that tbe troops hero will carry out. earnostly 

tl1e intentions and instructions of their Govermnont. 
vVith the highest respect, your obedient servant, 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
Bl'erel ~Major Gnwml, Comrnaruling Depm·tment. 

Colonel S. CoOPEH, 
Adjutant Geueral. 

Respectfully submitted to the' See1·etary of War. 
K COOPE£~, Ar{jutant (}encrrl . 

ADJUTANT GENERAL'S 0I:<'IUCE, September 25, 1855, 
(See letter to Secretary of State, 29th September, 1.-:i:)G. 

No. ~~2. 

BRAZOS AGENCY, 1cxalf, Sepiembel' 1:!, 1855. 
Sm: l<'or your information I ueem it proper to inclose a copy of a supplemental 

treaty to the treaty of 1846, concluded between Special Agent George W. Hill and 
myself, on the 30th of August, 1855, with the Indians now "actually" settled on the 
Indian reservations on the Main and Clear Fork of the Brazos. That agreement, with 
a statement of our action, has been submitted to the honorable Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs for his approval, and it is necessary to have the co-operation of the military in 
carrying ont the present policy. I would respectfully request, if not inconsistent with 
your orders, to respect and enforce the conditions of the agreement between the agents 
and the Indians and afford them the protection promised. 

In accordance with my instructions fi·om my department I have maue contracts for 
the erection of agency buildings and for preparing farms for the Comanche Indians 
on the Clear Fork of Brazos (Comanche agency) aud shall have in the course of next 
week some hands at work at that point. As I have already found myself embarrassed 
by bands of Northern Comanches, (wlw arc not settler~",) and have no protection against 
them, should they choose to depredate, and I shall in a short time have Government 
stores exposed to their attacks, I would respectfully request you to furnish me with 
protection at that point. If you can at this time furnish temporarily, say thirty men, 
or one company, if they can be spareu from the post, it would afford all the protection 
that I would require. The Indians who are actual settlers give every assurance that 
there is nothing to fear fi·om them, but they, as well as the employes of the Govern­
ment, require protection against the intrusion of the Comanche bands farther north. 
Should yon not feel authorized to give permanent protection, as required. at the Clear 
Fork or Comanche agency, you will please refer the subject to the commanding general 
of this department, as the lndi::m agents will find it impossible to reside permanently 
on the reserve, and to execute their duties properly unless sustained by the military 
authorities . 

Very rcspectfnlly, yonr obedient sen·ant, 

Major G. R. l'A.UL, U. S. A., 
Commanding Ji'ort Belknap, Te:ml!. 

No. 3:3. 

ROBT. S. NEIGHBOURS, 
S11pervising Agent, Tr:ras fndiaw;. 

At a general council hold at Brazos ngency, Texas, by and between Hobert S. Neigh­
bours, special and supervising agent, and George W. Hill, special agent Texas Indians, 
on part of the United States, and the undersigned, chiefs, counselors, and warriors of 
the Comanches, Anadakko, Caddo, Waco, Tawaccano, and Tonkahwa tribes or bands 
of Indians, for and on behalf of these said tribes, on the 30th of August, 1850, it is stip-

. ulated and agreed as follows, to wit : 
ARTICLE 1. The undersigned, chiefs, counselor~>, and warriors, for themselves aml 

these said tribes, <.lo hereby sanction and. acknowledge in full force each and every 
stipulation of the articles of a treaty made and concluded at Council Springs, in the 
county of RoLinson, Texas, near the Bmzas River, on the 15th day of May, A. D. 1846, 
between P. M. Butler and M. G. Lewis, commissioners on the part of the Unit.ed States, 
of the one part, and the chiefs, counselors, and warriors of the Comanche, Inoie, An­
adakko, Caddo, Lipan, Ton\mhwa, Keechee, Tawaccauo, vVichita, and Waco tribes of 
Indians, and their associate bands, on behalf of these said tribes, of the other part, as 

•• 
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amended·by the resolution of the Senate of tho United States of America on the 15th 
day of February, 1847, ratified aud confirmed by the President of the United States of 
America on the 8th day of March, U347, a copy of which said treaty is hereto annexed; 
and we further agree to the following supplemental articles for our government as 
settlers on the Indian reservations of the Main and Clear Fork of Brazos River, in the 
State of Texas: 

ARTICLE 2. We agree to abandon forever a roving or hunter's life, aml will settle 
(1own permanently on the lands select.ed for ns, as per act of the legislature of the 
State of Texas approved February 6, 1854, and to devote all onr own energies to the 
cultivation of the soil and to raising stock as a means of subsistence for ourselYes and' 
families. · 

ARTICLE 3. vVe promise and agree at as earl,y a day as practicable, with the assist­
ance and concurrence of the United States Indian ag-ent, to establish laws and police 
I'egulations for our government in our towns and villages for the correction and pun­
ishment of crimes and offenses . 

.ArrTICI,E 4. It is further stipulated and agreed that no Indian (party to this agree­
ment) shall leave the reservations without tile consent of the India11 agent, and should 
any Indian or band of Indians absent themselves fi·om the reservations, coutrary to the 
wishes of the agents and in violation of this agreement, he or they shall be liable to 
forfeit all the rights of settlement conferred by this agreement, and is a1so liable to be 
declared and treated as au enemy. 

ARTICLE 5. All differences and disputes likely to create a difficulty between tribes o·r 
bands, parties to this treaty and agreement, shall be referred to the United States In­
dian agents and head-chiefs of such tribes for adjustment upon fair and equitable 
terms, and their decision shall in all cases be received as a final settlement between 
the parties. 

ARTICLE G. We agree that no other tribes or bauds shall be introduced or settled on 
either of the reservations, unless by the concurrence of the Indian agents and of the 
<tribes or bands, parties to this treaty and agreement, and absent members of the tribes 
11ow sett.led shall not be allowed to visit here except he first obtains the consent of the 
agent under whose jurisdiction he resides, nor shall tbey be allowed to settle here or 
attach themselv:es to the tribes now settled here, until they agree to observe all the 
articles of this treaty and agreement and obtain the concurrence of the agent in charge, 
and shall agree to acknowledge fully the authority of the cbief acknowledged by the 
agents as the bead of tlle tribe. 

AHTICLE 7. We also agree to break off all intercourse with bands of Indians outside 
of tho reservations who refuse to settle down, except it be carried on with the knowl­
edge aml consent of the agents, and in all cases to report as soon as possible the arrival 
of any Indian or party, a.nd to assist the agents in arresting all intruders or depredators 
who may be found inside the lines of the reservations contrary to treaty stipulations. 

ARTICLE ~. \Ve further agree to give assistance anLl protection to all farmers, 
laborers, and other employes of the Government on the reservations, and to assist them 
in the preservation of all articles, farming-utensils, animals, &c., furnished by the 
Government, and should any person sell or wantonly destroy any farming utensil, 
'1v:1gou, oxen, stock, cattle, or any other article furnished by the Government, unde:r 
this agreement, he shall, upon conviction, be punished according to the laws of the 
United States, and shall be liable to forfeit all his rights and immunities as a sett.ler on 
the reservations, and it shall be the duty of the chiefs of each tribe to give the agents 
notice of all violations of this agrement. 

ARTICLE 9. In consideration of the faithful observance of all tlle articles of the 
above treaty and agreement, the United States, through its agents, agree to protect 
and maintain all the members of the tribes, parties to this agreement, in the peaceable 
possession of the lands embraced in the limit of the said reservation, and in tlleir lives 
and property against injnry or molestation from citizens of the United States while on 
said reservations, and to afford such protection against and aid~ in reclamation for 
injuries from other tribes of Indians, whether friendly or hostile, as may be at the 
contl'ol of snch agents or as is afforded the citizens of the United States, aml to award 
them ample justice under the laws of the United States iu accon1auce witJ1 the pro­
visions of tbe above treaty. 

ARTICLE 10. That the United States, through its agents, agrees to furnish tho said 
tribes, parties to this agreement, farmers, to assist raml instruct them in the prepa­
ration a.nd cultivation of their farms, to furnish them with a blacksmith and with 41 
ii'on and steel, to give them necessary farming-utensils, wagons, teams, plows, &c., to 
enable them to commence their farms, and to assist and instruct them generally in the 
cultivation of the soil, and to !rive them stock-cattle and other domestic animals, all at the 
discretion of the President of' the United States, and to furnish them regularly with 
such mtions as may be deemed necessary to enable them to support their families 
until they can subsist tlwmselves by their own exertions, and the General Govern­
mellt is hereby pledged to pursne that course of policy with the settlers on these res-
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..er,ations deemed best calculated to advance them in the arts of civilized life and to 
make them a self-sustaining people. 

ARTICLE 11. The Indian agents, nuder the instruction of the President of the United 
States, shall exercise full discretion as to time, places, &e., of the delivery of all articles 
to be furnished said tribes or bands under the provisions of this treaty and agree­
ment. 

ARTICLE 12. This agreement, this day entered into by and between the undersigned 
parties, to be and remain in full force and effect at the discretion of the President of 
the United States of America, but no change to this agreement shall be made until 

<[tfter clue consultation with the chiefs of the tribes who are parties hereto. 
Given under our hands and seals on the day and elate above written. 

An-a-dah-lco: 

,waco: 

Tu-ka-htca : 

Co-man-che: 

Cad-do: 

Ta-wac-cau-no : 

Interpreters : 

Witnesses: 
J. L. EVANS. 
CH. E. BARNARD 
S. P. Ross. 
L. S. RIGG8. 

ROBT. S. NEIGHBOURS, [SEAL.] 
Supen)ising Agent Texas Indians. 

G. ,V, HILL, [SEAL.] 
Special Indian Agent. 

Jos-E MARIA, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
CHA-BE-AN-0, his x mark. [SEAL. J 
.J:OHN LINNEY, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
JIM PocK-MAim:, his x mark, [SEAL.] 
Cnr-YA, his x mark. [SEAL.] 

A-HAH-DOT, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
A-QU-QUASH, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
A-SA-QUASH-SITE, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
HEU-CIIE-ICILS, his x mark. [SEAL.] 

PLICIDOUR, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
CHA-PA-TO~, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
JIM:-SO~, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
'VIUTE, his x mark. [SEAL.J 

KA-TUM-SEE, his x marie. [SEAL.] 
PE-AT-A-QUASH, his x mark. LSEAL.] 
To-sHA-HUA, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
PI-NA-IIOUT-SA-ME, his x mark. [SEAL.) 
MU-RA-QUE-TOPH, his x marie. [SEAL.] 
KE-PAC-A-WITE, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
Wr-CHI-KEE, his x mark. [SEAL.] 

TI-NAH, his x mark. [SEAL.} 
CHE-EN-HU, his x mark. [SEAL.) 
CO-CHE, his x mark. [SEAL.) 
NI-BUC-UN-IN, his x mark. [SEAL.] 

0-CHE-LAS, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
NocH-uTs-r-ocHs, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
vVAS-TED-AC-DREE, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
WACO, hiR x mark. [SEAL.] 
UC-KA-TART his x mark. [SEAL.] 
HED-E-IWK-ISH, his x mark. [SEAL.] 

JOHN CONNOR, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
Interp1·eter for Comanche Reservation. 

JLM SHAW, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
Interpreter for Brazos Resm·vat-ion. 

D. A. BICKEL, [SEAL.] 
Intm·preter (Spanish) and Sem·etarJJ. 
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No. :H. 

liEADQUA.ItTEtts FoHT BitLKNAJ>, TExAs, 
September 15, 1855. 

Sm: I ha'!e the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your communication of the 12th 
instant, transmitting a cop~: of a supplemental treaty euterec.l into with different tribes 
of Indians and requesting the assist<1nce of a part of the troops of my command to 
carry out its stipulations. The troops at this post will always be found ready to co­
operate with the Indian agents in maintaining quiet and order among the different 
tribes within the several reservations and also in protecting them from marauding or 
strange Indians. Owing, however, to the small number of officers at the post, I do not 
feel authorized. to station permanent detachments on the reserves; but, until the pleasure 
of the comman<ling general of t.he department is known, I shall send scouts from time 
to time, wllieh, by their periodical appearance, may answer the object in view. 

Jam, very rcspectfu11y, yonr oheflient servant, 

Major R. S. NJ!;IGHBOUHS, 

G. R. PAUL, 
BrP-t~el 3-Iajor, U.S . ..:'!., Commanding Po~t. 

Snpm'l'i8ing Agent Texas Indians, Brazo.~ .Lgency, 1'e:x:aw. 

No. 35 . 

.1-hJ:ADQ,UARTEIUl FOHT BI£L1{NAP, 'l'EXA~, 
September 16, 1855. 

Sm: I have the honor to inclose a copy of a supplemental treaty recently made by 
R. S. Neighbours, esq., with certain Indian tribes, a copy of his letter of the 12th in­
stant, and a copy of my answer thereto. 

Hoping that my answer will meet the views of the comm:wuing general, I remain 
your most obedient servant, 

G. R. PAUL, 
Cc,ptain Se1Jenth Infantry, Brevp,t ]rfajOJ·, D. S. A. 

ASSISTANT ADJ.UTANT GENEHAL, 
DP,partment of Tfxa8, Corpus Christi, 1'exa8. 

No. 36. 
AusTIN, September 25, 1855. 

GENTLEMEN: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 17th in­
stant, inclosing the proceedings of a public meeting and a petition of citizens of Goliad 
County, giving a detail of depredations recently committed in your vicinity by Indians 
and asking me to authorize the raising of a company of rangers for your protection. 
Previous to the receipt of thes13 papers I had been informed of most of the facts de­
tailed in your petition, and bad requested. General Smith to place a sufficient mounted 
force on the line of the Nueces, to range from the neighborhood of Fort Ewell up to 
tbe head of the Llano, and I have just received information from him that he has 
ordered three companies of mounted riflemen to perform that service. These troops I 
trust will prove sufficient to give security against further incursions of Indians into 
your country; if they do not, I will endeavor to have additional troops ordered to that 
portion of our frontier; and if I cannot succeed in this, I will then consider it to be my 
duty to call out volunteers to act under the authority of this State. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
K M. PEASE. 

Mc~srs. FAUN'l' LJ•: Rov, A. H. BRrscoE, and JNo. M. CHANK 

No. 37. 

WAR DEPARTMI~NT, Washington, September 20, 1855. 
Sm: Referring to my letter of the 17th ultimo, in reply to yours of the 16th, in­

closing translations of two notes from the Mexican minister on the subject of rumm·s 
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of uewly projectetl incursions into Mexico from the United States, I have the honor to 
transmit herewiU1 a copy of a report from Brevet Major General Smith, commanding 
Department of Texas, on the subJect, and stating t,hat tho rumors are almost without, 
foundation. 

VNy J't~spedfully, your ouc<licnt servant., 

Ho11. \V. L. MAJWY, 
Se('retary of State. 

No. :38 . 

.J EFF'N DAVIS, 
~·ccretary of War. 

.FORT DUNCAN, l'exas, October 4, 1:35::>. 
Sm: 1 have the honor to report that., without my knowledge, tllree nights since, a 

pari:iy pf anned 'l'e:xans crossed tho river two miles or more !Jelow this post, for the 
purpose, as I am informed, of chastising the Lipan Indians, who have for some time 
})ast been comrnittiug deprcdat.ions on the property ·and pcrsous of the people of Texas, 
and then for safety escapiDg iuto Mexico. Yesterday morning this party left their 
camp on the opposite side of the river and marchetl toward San Fernaudo, a.nd when 
within eigb.i or ten miles of tlJat place were opposed by a large number of Mexicans 
and Indians. A light ensued, in which several Texans were killed and ·wounded; with 
what results as to the opposite part.v I am noi informed. Last night, a litJtle before 
tattoo, a Texan, badly wpunded, I"eturuetl here and reported that the Mexicans bad 
attacked the Texans with snch an ovenv helming force that he feared they had all 
been killed; and early this morning I received repeated messages that the Texans 
who had escaped ii·om the fight yesterday were on the opposite side of the river ask­
ing assistance fi·om me to cross the river, stating that they were pursued by the 
Mexicans and Indians aml expected to be attacked every minute. Under the circum­
stances, I deemed it my duty to render assistance, so far as it might be necessary, to 
protect them while crossing, and I immediately placeu several heavy guns in such a 
position as to command the ferry and crossiug. Up to the time of writing, about 12 
o'clock m., no Mexicans or Indians have made their appearance; and the Texans, so 
far from crossing to this side of the river, have, as I am informed, seized upon the 
village of Piedras N cgras, are strengthening the place, and intend to hold it until they 
receive re-enforcements from Texas; with what object now I do not know, unless it 
be to make war upon Mexico. Captain CaHahan, I understand, is the commander, 
and he is the captain of the company of volunteers called into the service of the State 
of Texas by the governor for the protection of the fi·onticrs. As this matter is likely 
to become quite serious, the Texans, on hearing of the situation of their countrymen 
and of the death of their friends, will flock to the frontier in large numbers and will 
cross the 1·iver in spite of resistance. I respectfully beg leave to ask for instructions 
for the government of my actions in this matter. If the Texans should persist in 
crossing, acting under the ordera of the governor, as the~' appear to be doing, I have 
no force sufficient to oppose them, admitting it to be my duty to do so. If E~ome per­
Hons of standing and iufl.llence do not immetliatcly interfere, open war must follow 
in a very short time. 

Very respectfully, your obeditmt flervant., 

ASHJSTANT ADJUTANT GENERAL, 
Depart1ncnt of Texa11, Sa-n Antonio. 

No. 39. 

S. BURBANK, 
Captain Pint infantry, Cornrna11ding. 

SAN ANTONIO, October 4, 1855. 
DJ<~AH 8w: Siuce my arrival at this place1 I have learned from General Smith that 

he will scud a force of mounted riflemen to take your place at the expiration of 
your term {If service. Your company will therefore be mustered out of sen-ice at the 
expiration of three months from t.he day you were mustered in; and for that purpose 
you will march your company to San Marcus, and report to Colonel John D. Pitts, who 
·will have orders to muster you out. This communication is addressed to you, suppos­
ing Captain Callahan to be still absent; when be returns, he will act as if this were 
addressed to him. 

Yours with respect, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Lientcnant EDWARD BURLEI:ION. 
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No. 40. 

!IE.\DQUARTERS DEPAHTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 7, 1855. 

CAPTAIN: I am directed by the general commanding the department to say that he 
has received full powers from the President of the United States to carry out the 
neutrality laws. He has been informed that a party of armed persons has lately 
crossed the Rio Grande River, in the vicinity of your post, with the intent to violate 
those laws, and he therefore directs you to use every means in your power to maint!tin 
them inviolate, by g-iving warning :first to any such parties, and to arrest them, and, 
if necessary, to;use the force at your command for preventing such attempts. You will, 
as far as possible, take steps to arrest any persons that may be attempting to crvss 
with hostile intentions, and keep them under guard until they can be seut to be 
tried before the nearest United States court. The general also directs that you take 
the necessary steps to protect the settlements in your vicinity from robbery by such 
parties, by posting guards, &c., even if the whole force at your command be necessary 
for that purpose. • 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Captain SIDNEY BURBANK, 

ALFRED GIBBS, 
B1·eret Captain and Aide-de-Camp, A. A . .11. G. 

First_ Infantry, Commanding=Fort Duncan, Texas. 

HEADQUARTERS OF TllE ARl\fY, 
New York, 1Yovembe1· 1, 1855. 

Respectfully forwanled by command of Brevet Lieutenant General Scott. 
. . L. THOMAS, 

.Assistant Adjutant Gene1·al. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of ·war. 
·r.-1'•· • ' S. COOPER, Adjutant General. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL'S OFFICE, :November 2, 18515. 

No. 41. 

HEADQ"C".\RTERS, FORT BELKNAP, Octobe1· 7, 1855. 
SIR: I have the honor to report that several weeks ago a party of Northern 

Comanches drove off from the lower reservation about forty horses belonging to 
Delawares. A party of the latter Indians was formed, (with tho sanction of the agent, 
Captain Ross,) who went in pursuit of the robbers. When about ten miles from Red 
River, the Delawares left the trail they were on, to go to a water-hole, and, in doing 
.so, crossed a fresh trail, which they immediately followed up. They soon came up to 
a band of Northern Comanches, who told them they were on their way to the settle­
ments to steal horses, &c. The Delawares, thirteen in number, then attacked these 
Comanches, killing seven and capturing ten horses, beside bows and arrows, shields, 
&c. They also got a black cloth sack-coat, in the pockets of which a daguerreotype 
likeness of a gentleman was found. This may perhaps leacl to a war of retaliation 
toward the friendly Indians on the reservations; and unless mounted troops are soon 
sent here, the white settlers on tho Clear Fork of the Brnzos will not be able to remain 
on their farms. 

I am, sir, very resp~ctfully, your obedient sernmt, 
G. U. PAUL, 

Captain Set,enth Infantry, B1·evet Majm· U. S . . I. , Commanding Post. 
ASSISTANT ADJUTAXT GENERAL, u. s. A., 

H eadquarte1·s Dcpm·tmcnt of Texas, San Antonio, Texas. 

No. 42. 

BRAZOS AGENCY, Octobcl' 71 1855. 
SIR: The scouts, consisting of tweho Delawares and one Cftddo, left on the 24th in 

pursuit of the horses stolen from this agency, and returned on tile morning of the 4tl1, 
t.1·eport as follows, to wit: They followed the trail five days a northwest direction, at 
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which time they discovered another trail going the same direction, but much fresher 
than the one they were following, but determined on following it. After pursuing it 
about half the day, crossed Red River to rest their horses, they discovered ten Indians 
<loming; meeting them when they came near, Jacob, the captain of the scouts, went 
<mt to meet their captain, who told him that he was a Yamporeco, and was going down 
to our frontier to kill and steal horses. He said he had just met two Indians (Nocomys) 
who had been down and killed one man near the mouth of the Clear Fork of the Bra­
zos, and stole seven head of horses on or near the Leon, and that the horses that were 
stolen from this agency were taken by five Tenawish men. Jacob then proposed that he 
should camp for the night. After camping within thirty steps of each other they then 
held another conversation ; he then told the Delawares that the northern Indians had 
declared war upon all people south of Red River, white and red. Jacob then told him 
that he lived on the Brazos reservation, and showed him his pass that I gave him; 
Neither party made fire for the night, but watched each other. About midnight they 
proposed to gamble with the Delawares but the captain told him he had not come 
·there to gamble; however, he had no objection to four men playing at a time, and 
whilst they were playing the Delawares managed to cut three or fimr of their bow­
strings half in two. The Yamporeco told his men that at daylight he should com­
mence the fight. Neither party slept during the night. Just as day was breaking the 
Yamporeco ordered his men to fire, but the Delawares understanding them, fired first, 
and killed four the first fire and charged their camp, killing three and wounding one, 
letting two escape to tell the news. They found on them a black cloth coat, velvet 
collar; also one undershirt, striped, and from stains of blood showed to have belonged 
to some white person killed by them. They also found in their possession a daguerre­
otype which I senll you, as it may probably lead to the discovery of who the man 
was killed. They brought in ten bead of horses and mules and seven scalps. They 
.are going to have a scalp-dance to-day. Our Indians are anxious to bear from you. 
They say with two hundred Texans they can whip all of the northern Indians. The 
.shield belonging to the Yamporeco had fifteen or twenty female scalps fastened to it, 
about half of which are white scalps. When I see you I will give you more of the 
particulars. 

Yours, very respectfully, 

Major R. S. NEIGHBOURS. 

No. 43. 

S. F. ROSS, 
Special Agent Texas Indians. 

BRAZOS AGENCY, October 7, 1855. 
DEAR SIR: As Mr. Harris leaves for vVaco this morning, I avail myself of the 

·opportunity to drop you a few lines. I came d0wn to get Mr. Bickel to assist me in 
making out my returns. I left all well at my agency, and the Indians quiet and 
contented. Twenty-four of Shenaco's tribe came in, and report that he will be in 
before long. Two men returned from Mexico, bringing some nine or ten horses which 
Ketumsee took from them, and tuned over to me; he also sent a man to a band of 
Noconies aud brought in five more horses, four of them Delaware horses and one of 
Jim Shaw's. Harris's men are at work and pushing things. The party of Delawares 
that left when yon did, or a day or two after, returned, bringing in seven scalps and 
ten horses. They Teport that they followed the trail of their horses for several days1 
and that it gave out, but' they continued the direction until they struck a fresh trail, 
(which was the two that killed Skidmore.) They followed that trail across Red Hiver 
and stopped at noon, when a party of ten Comanche warders came up to tilem. They 
bad a talk and finally camped together, each party watching the other, for Jacob 
says be could understand all they said, and that they agreed among themselves to 
attack the Delawares and kill them and take their horses next morning at day-break, 
but the Delawares lay awake all night, and at day-break they opened fire upon them 
:ant.:, killed four, charged the rest and killed all but two, one of whom was badly 
wounded, and the other they could have killed but they wanted him to. carry the 
news of their defeat back to the Comanches. One they did not scalp, as he fell into a 
water-bole and snnk. Tiley brought in the bows, lances, shields, and tricks of the 
party. Tiley told Jacob they bad m.et the Indians that killed old Skidmore and had 
learned from them that there were plenty of horses down here, and thP.y were on their 
way down to kill and steal, and that a large war-party was coming down tu kill 
John Conner, Ketnmsee, Lam bAbe< d, and all they could find. They seemed to know 
all about the condition of the posts and our frontier, and said that they ha<l joined 
the Sioux Indians against the whites in t,be north. The captain commanding the 
party killed was a Yamparico, and had a black cloth coat, an under-shirt, and 
daguerreotype with him, and on his shield was some twenty scalps, mostly white 

H. Ex. 277--7 
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women's hair. I have his sl1ield and spear. The two Indians who ldlleu Skidmore 
went on to the San Saba and stole seven horses and came back on their trail to the 
Caddo peaks; from there they struck due north and went to() the main Comanche 
camp. A party of twelve men followed them and lost their trail; they then came on 
to the post, and then here to see Captain Ross. I have no doubt that we will have the 
devil to pay, and our frontier is in the greatest dauger. I hope yon will succeed in 
carrying out your plans, as it is the only hope I have of having anJtbing done. The 
Indians here are ready and willing to go against the Comanches, and I think them 
about the best protection we have if they are managed by some white man; a few 
killing scrapes more will give them a distaste to these parts anyhow. Jacob learned 
from t.be captain be kmed that the point selected for wiuter-qua,rters of all the wild 
Indians was on main Red River where it runs through the mountains, and that some 
eight or ten tribes bad united with the Sioux in their war. John Connor says he 
found out from a Noconie that that is where they expect to winter. I think there 
would be no difficuly in :finding them if an expedition was gotten up. I shall ret.urn 
to the Clear Fork in the morning and will keep a sharp look-out for any strange 
Indians. I will make a requisition on Major Paul for a detachment of men to go out 
to the agencty and remain there, as I t.hiuk it proper to give the Government 
employes all the protection I can. I have given you the outline of the war-party, 
Mr. B1ckle will write more fully. 

Respectfully, &c., 

Major NEIGHBOR!';. 

No. 44. 

J. R. BAYLOH, 
Speaial Agent Texas Indians. 

FoRT DuNCAN, Texas, October 8, 1855. 
Sm: In continuation of my report of the 4th instant, in relat.ion to the Texan vol­

unteers, I have the honor to state that, pursuant to their resolution to remain on the 
Mexican side of the river and occupy the town of Piedras Negras, they strengthened 
their position as much as possible and awaited the result. The river was unusually 
high and still rising at this time, and the impossibility of crossing their horses was 
the reason they give for remaining on that side of the river. 

I received through an indirect channel, about dusk on the ev-ening of the 5th instant, 
a note purporting to come from the commander of the Mexican forces, asking my posi­
tion in relation to the Texas volunteers. I did not reply; I did not know where the 
Mexican commander was, neither did I deem it of importance. The next day (the 6th) 
the Texans crossed oyer some of their horses, intending, 1 believe, to come to this side 
as soon as they could get their horses over; the river in the mean time bad fallen consid­
erably, but about 4 o'clock in the afternoon the Mexican forces advanced upon them. The 
moment they came in sight, to my astonishment, the Texans commenced firing the town,. 
and in a few minutes nearly every house in the place was in flames, and while it was 
burning Captain Callahan sent me a messa.ge, asking my protect,ion and assistance for 
him to cross the river. I sent him a decided refusal. Thus matters continued until 
after dark, the Mexicans making no attack on the place. Soon after dark I received a. 
note signed by Callahan and Henry, asking the protection of the United States flag to 
enable them to cross the river, stating that their men w·ere deserting them; that they 
had then but about seventy, and they were not able to conteucl with the Mexicans­
some six or seven hundred. I replied that they had deliberately come to the determi­
nation to make a stand against the Mexican forces·, and after what had transpired they 
must abide by that determination; but that they bad possession of the boats, and I did 
not see but that they could easily cross to this side of the river, leaving their horses, 
which they would have to ~bandon. I believe they commenced crossing, aml contin­
ued to do so until about llt o'clock, when another message was sent imploring my 
assistance to save them from destruction; the boat had got loose and gone down the 
river, thu~ cutting off all chance of escape. I then consulted with some ofthe officers 
as to what course it would be proper to pursue, but before I made UJ:I my mind fully as 
to my action, I learned that the boat was not lost ; had broken from the line ; but bad 
been brought ashore, and the Texans were crossing as rapidly as possible, and at that 
time, about 2 o'clock a. m., (7th,) they were mostly over the river, not being inter­
rupted by the Mexicans. During yesterday they crossed over most, if not all, their 
remaining horses, and are now encamped somewhfl·e in this vicinity. Nearly all the 
inhabitants abandoned Piedras N egras as soon as the Texans occupiPd it; a great many 
crossed to this side, and others left for the neigh boring towns in Mexico, I presume. 
They are in a state of great destitution at this time, and I would suggest that provi~­
ions should be issued to such as are suffering. 

My situation is an embarrassing one: to preserve peace and at the same time pre-
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vent acts of hostility. The :Mexicans are said to be very much exasperated, and 
threaten retaliation, and the inhabitants of Eagle Pass are in great alarm. I have to 
send them guards every night to pacify them, though I do not think there is any dan­
ger. There are said to be many Indians with the Mexicans, (Seminoles,) and it is these 
that they fear. I trust matters will soon be quieted, unless the Texans renew their 
attacks with recruited forces. In the mean-time I await instructions from headquar­
ters in case these forces should arrive at this point. 

My command is much reduced, but I will make the most of it I can. 
V cry respectfully, your obedient servant, 

S. BURBANK. 
Captain First Infantry, Commanding. 

No. 45. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 8, 1855. 

SIR: I am directed by the general commanding the department to communicate for 
your information a copy of the instructions of the President of the United States, re­
quiring him to prevent the carry-ing on of any armed experlition or enterprise from 
any place within the limits of this department against the territory or people of 
Mexico. The general is informed that such an invasion of Mexico has already recently 
been made from the vicinity of Fort Duncan, and that further similar invasions, for 
the purpose of re-enforcing the :first, will probably be attempted; and it is his order, 
therefore, that yon endeavor to prevent any such attempt within the reach of your 
command and that you employ the force under your control to the fullest extent that 
may be necessary for that object,, and for the fulfillment of the instructions of the 
President. All persons who may be arrested in such unlawful attempts will be sent to 
Brownsville, to be brought before the United States commissioner. If the command­
ing officer of Fort Duncan should call upon yon for additional troops, the general 
directs that yon dispatch them immediately, to the extent of three companies of in­
fantry. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, D. C. BUELL, 
Assistant Adjntant General. 

Brevet Colonel WiLLIAM W. LORING, 
Mountecl Riflemen, Commanding Fm·t Mcintosh, Texas. 

Similar instructions sent to the commanders of Ringgold Barracks and Fort Brown. 

HEADQUARTEHS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Anto11io, October 9, 1855. 

No. 46. 

D. C. BUELL, 
AsS'istant Adjntant General 

FORT DUNCAN, Texas, 0ctobe1' 9, 1855. 
SIR: The mail leaves to-morrow morning for San Antonio. I have but lit.tle to report 

since my commnnication of yesterday, sent by express. All is now quiet. General 
Langberg, commander-in-chief of the Mexican forces in Coahuila, arrived at Piedras 
Negras yesterday, and now has the direction of affairs on the other side of the river. 
He has a force of one thousand men, six hundred regular troops and four hundred 
volunteers. I do not antic~pate any further difficulties unless the '.fexan volunteers 
should return with large re-enforcements; it is evident that, should they do so, they will 
be resisted by the entire force of Mexico in Coahuila. 

The Mexican account of the conflict near San Fernando reports four killed and four 
wounded on their side, their force consieting of two hundred citizens and eight Lipan 
Indians, who were not recognized as a part of their force, but who followed as stragglers. 
The Texans, they report, left :five dead on the ground, besides a number of horses, and 
about thirty pistols, guns, or rifles, which were picked up by the Indians. The volun­
teers left this vicinity yesterday, and are gone, I am told, to Leon. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, S. BURBANK, 

ASSISTANT ADJUTANT GENERAL, 
Captain Fi1'st Infantry, Commanding._ 

Depa1'trnent of Texas, U. S. Anny, San Anton'io. 
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No. 47. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, Ootobm· 9, 1855. 

SIR: Your communication of the 4th instant, reporting the invasion of the territory 
of Mexico by an armed body of men from this side of the Rio Grande, has been brought 
to the notice of the general commanding the department, He directs that yon inform 
the leader of the party that your duty will require you to use every means within your 
control to prevent any accession to his party from this side of the river, and that you 
can lend him no succor if his further movements should place him in a situation to 
desire it. 

The general directs me to communicate for your information a copy of the instruc­
tions of the President of the United States, requiring him to prevent the carrying on 
of such expeditions or enterprises, and authorizing him to use the troops under his 
command for that purpose; and it is his order that the force under your command 
shall be employed to the fullest extent that may Le necessary to fulfill the instructions 
of the President. If your immediate command should be insufficient for that object, 
you are authorized to call for additional force from the commanding officer of Fort 
Mcintosh, who will have orders to dispatch three companies of infantry upon your 
requisition. All persons who may he arrested in attempting such violatious of our 
neutrality laws will be sent to Brownsville, to be Lrought before the United States 
commissioner. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Captain SIDNEY BURBANK, 

D. C. BUELL, 
Assista11t A djutant Geneml. 

First Infantry, Commanding Fort Duncan, Texas. 

No. 48. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, Ootobm· 10, 1855. 

COLONEL: At the time Indian depredations were reported near Fredericks burgh, the 
governor of the State organized a company of volunteers under Captaiu Callahan, and 
stationed them there. Lately about twenty men were left of this company at their 
post, and Captain Callahan took the rest to pursue, as it was said, Indians who bad 
stolen horses and killed persons on the Cebolo and Medina. He was joined by others 
and marched toward the Rio Grande. A report was current that a party was organiz­
ing to go into Mexico, and take negroes that had run away from Texas and horses 
that had been stolen, and I presume that the party of Captain Callahan was the one 
alluded to. If so, their design was covered by the pursuit of a trail of Lipans escap­
ing with their booty. This party crossed below Eagle Pass, without the knowledge of 
the commanding officer at Fort Duncan, on the night of the 1st of October. Captain 
Callahan says be crossed upon the invitation and by the assistance of the Mexican 
alcalde, and upon assurances of their aid in pursuing the Indians. He and his party 
were led into an ambuscade of Indians and Mexicans on the 3d, as they advanced to­
ward San l<'ernando, the residence of the Seminole Indians; were repulsed and driven 
back to Piedras Negras, the small village opposite Fort Duncan. I cannot ascertain 
that they killed any Indians, but several of the Mexicans were killed. They could not 
cross, on account of the high water in the river; and finding themselves not ap­
proached by the Indians, they have remained there, and Captain Callahan has called 
upon his fellow-citizens for aid, and endeavors are made to raise.men to re-enforce him. 
I have sent orders to Captain Burbank to arrest every one attempting to cross over 
with any hostile design, and have ordered three companies from Fort Mcintosh to 
strengthen hilll. But the result of these movements across the river will be to . excite 
the hostility of all the Seminoles and their associates, and we may expect to hear of 
Indian depredations during the whole winter. )f * * In the mean time, every 
means in my power will Le employed to prevent the breach of the neutrality laws and 
the iuaursions of the Indians. I mclose the report of Captain Burbank and copies of 
my previons and subsequent instructions. I neglected to mention, as the ground of 
my belief that Callahan's .expedition was originally intended as an inroad into Mexico 
in search of negroes, th<1t his crossing took place on the night of the 1st or morning of 
the 2d, and the ambuscade on the 3d; yet, on my arrival here on t.he 1st, an officer 
read me a private note from a friend at Laredo, informing him that a party of Texan 
volunteers had crossed the river above, intending to attack the Indians; that they had 
beP-n led iuto an ambuscade of the Seminoles, and many of them killed, and there­
mainder had :fled back to recross the Rio Grande. Now, this news was at Laredo a 
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week and more before tl1e affair happened, and shows th::tt the design existed before­
hand with the volunteers, ;;tnd was disclosed to the Mexic~ns, who prepared and 
executed the ambuRcade accordingly. 

·with high respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFER F. SMITH, 

Brevet Majo1· General, Commanding Departmed. 
Colonel S. COOPER, 

Adjutant General. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

ADJUTANT GE~rERAL1S 0FFICE1 October 25, 1855. 
S. COOPER, Adjutant General. 

.. 
No. 49. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 11, 1855. 

SIR: Your communication of the 8th instant, reporting the further proceedings of 
the unlawful expedition into Mexico under Captain Callahan, has been suumitted to 
the general commanding the department, and be bas instructed me to reply that he 
entirely approves of your action in the matter. He directs me to repeat to you the in­
junction ofpreventing a repetition or renewal of the recent invasion. If the force which 
yon have already been authorized to call for should be insufficient forth~ purpose, ad­
ditional troops will be sent to yon. It is suggested to yon that the communication 
between you and the parties to these expeditions should, as far as possible, be confined 
to written correspondence, and at least should be made matter of careful record. One 
of the immediate effects of the expedition in question will doubtless be increased ac­
tivity in the depredations of Indians from the Mexican side of the river, and the gen­
eral desires, therefore, that your command shall be particularly vigilant with reference 
to them. I am instructed to say that you are authorized to issue provisions sparingly 
to those persons from the Mexican side who have come over· for protection from the 
party under Callahan and are suffering for food. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Captain SIDNEY BuRBANK, 
First Infantry, Commanding Fort Duncan, Texas. 

No. 50. 

D. C. BUELL, 
Assistant Adjutant General. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 11, 1855. 

SIR: I have no donut your excellency is informed already of the inroad made into 
Mexico by a party under Captain Callahan. They crossed the Rio Grande three miles 
below Fort Dnncan on the night of the 1st or 2d instant, were led into an ambuscade 
of Indians and Mexicans at La Meta, repulsed and driven back on Piedras Negras, the 
Mexican village opposite Eagle Pass. Under the belief that they were about recross­
ing into Texas and abandoning their expedition, the officer in command at Fort Dun­
can took measures to prevent their being molested in the passage of the river, which 
was swollen since they crossed, but the Texans, taking advantage of this interference, 
prepared to ho1d possession and await re-enforcements. Since then, the commanding 
officer at Fort Duncan has refused to countenance their acts. Captain Callahan, finding 
his men were leaving him and seeing the approach of a body of Mexicans, set fire to 
the town of Piedras N egras, and, as soon as it could ue done, crossed to this side, where 
his party is encamped. I bad sent orders to the troops at the rlifferent posts to pre­
vent any such unlawful inroads o!' other breaches of the act of 1818, (the neutrality act,) 
upon first hearing of the crossing of Captain Callahan. I do not think the hot pursuit 
of a party of Indians with their plunder, although leading over the boundary, such a. 
breach of that act, but this expedition, from facts which have come to my knowledge, 
is not of t,bat character. I am advised that the burning of the town and the designs 
on the Seminole sett-lement have exasperated to the highest degree both that band of 
Indians and the Mexicans. Many of the latter, in utter destitution, are seeking food 
on this side of the river to save themselves from starving. Under these circumstances 
I have no don bt plans of revenge will be formed and executed on the peaceable inhabit-
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ants of our frontier, while those who are the cause of these miseries will escape, and 
we may look for an inroad from the Seminoles to murder and scalp, not merely to 
steal. It is impossible to undo what is done, but under the act of 1818 the PreHident 
of the United States has delegated to me the special authority therein provided for, to 
employ the military force under my command to prevent the infraction of that law. 
I hope your excellency will exert the influence and authority you possess to render 
any such exertion of military force on my part unnecessary. This can only be done by 
putting a stop to the unlawful enterprises in contemplation, for if they are persisted 
in, orders I have lately received will render my action indispensable. 

With the highest respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFER F. SMITH, 

Brevet Majo1· General, Command-ing Department. 

I have the honor to inclose a copy of the delegation of authority to me and· an 
extract from ah' order of the ·war Department. 

His Excellency E. M. PEASa, 
Govenw1· of the State of Texas, Austin, lexas. 

No. 51. 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
Btevet Major General. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San .Antonio, October 12, 1855. 

CoLONEL: I have the honor to inclose a copy of a further report of Captain Burbank 
of the events succeeding those detailed in my former communication. You will observe 
the wanton outrages inflicted on the poor inhabitants of Piedras Negras in the burning 
of their houses and gardens. I wish I could say that conduct so offensive to law and 
humanity met with any reprobation here; the very few I have heard condemn it avow 
their fear to express their opinions publicly. The party under Callahan have fallen 
back from the Rio Grande and have given out their intention to disperse and return 
to their homes. But although that is their probable course no confidence can be placed 
in their declarations, and they will still be watched. A criminal prosecution of the 
offenders would be futile anywhere in Texas, and nothing remains but to endeavor to 
prevent a repetition of such acts. But, on the other band, the Indians will be led to 
retaliate, and the people of the Mexican side, irritated by these outrages, will aid and en­
courage them, and such acts of re'taliation will afford a pretext for new outrages if the 
ill success of the last expedition does not prevent them. I inclose also a copy of a letter 
I addressed to the governor of the State with the information I had from Captain 
Burbank, and copies of further orders in relation to the subject. It will be seen that 
I direct the arrest of persons attempting to invade Mexico as a measure of prevention 
under the law and my instructions. The arrest of those returning from the commis­
sion of the offense I leave to the. civil authorities, because it would not prevent the 
crime or an attempt to repeat it; however, every effort will be made to arrest every 
one engaged in the enterprise. 

I must say, in conclusion, that, though the unfortunate inhabitants of the Mexican 
side have so much to complain of, it is different with the Mexican government; they 
have encouraged in every way the incnrsions and robberies of the Indians who are 
under their protection. Citizens of this side have followed the Indians who stole their 
horses and found them in possession of Mexicans, some in high authority, who bad just 
bought them from marauding parties; far from aiding our people, who were endeavor­
ing peaceably to get back their property, they interfered to prevent even their pur­
chase 'back; and in no instance has any encouragement been given to our citizens 
seeking redress. 

Wit,h high respect, your obedient servant, 

Colonel S. CooPER, 
.Adjutant General. 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
Brevet Majo1· General, Commanding Department. , 

P. S.-I inclose a subsequent report of Captain BurbaJ:lk just received, October 14, 
1855. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL's OFFICE, Octobm· 27, 1855. 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
B1·evet Major General, g·c. 

S. COOPER, .Adjutant General. 
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Read. 'fhe measures adopted by General Smith and the conduct of Captain Bur­
bank iu the events within related are entirely satisfactory. Copies of the pap3rs bear­
ing on international relations will be prepared for transmission to the Secretary of 
Stn,te. 

WAR DEPARTllmNT, November 3, 1855. 

(See letter to Secretary of State, November 9, 1855.) 

No. 52. 

JEFF'N DAVIS, 
Secretary of War. 

HEADQUARTERS Dl~P ARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 14, 1855. 

CoLONEL: On my arrival here on the 1st instant I found great consternation per­
vading the community on account of the incursions of some Lipan Indians to the imme­
diate neighborhood. Between twenty and thirty of these had crossed the Rio Grande, 
in small parties, generally of two or three, and, taking the hills at the head of the 
Medina and Frio Rivers, harl. secretly descended along the valleys of the Cibolo and 
Medina, and, uniting in parties of six or eight, had carried off over two hundred horses 
from farms on the Cibolo and on the Medina, and on the San Antonio below the junc­
tion of the Medina, down as far as the neighborhood of Goliad. On the Cibolo, near 
the stage-road to Indianola, they killed a boy, the son of Mr. McGhee, and a small black 
girl, anu farther up the country t.hey killed a woman and attempted several other 
murders. They were pursued by parties of citizens, generally without success. One 
Indian of a small party, surprised by Mr. Wallace and six or eight men, was killed. 
Some horses were retaken, but not many. The governor of the State, during an alarm 
on the Colorado, had called out a company of volunteers, unp.er Captain Callahan, 
which was stationed near that river. A part of this company, with some re-enforce­
ments from other quarters, on the alarm in this neighborhood, started, professedly, to 
pursue the trails of the marauders everr into Mexico, where they resided, and recover 
the stolen animals. But it is probable, from what has since happened, that their orig­
inal intention was to cross into Mexico and go to the Indian camp, there attack it, take 
their horses and those in their possession, and retaliate the outrages inflicted here. 
They arrived on the Rio Grande about the 29th or ~Oth of September, and about thirty 
miles above Eagle Pass. The river was high, and for that· reason or some other they 
.descended to a ford three miles below Fort Duncan and crossed it secretly on the night 
of the 1st or 2d instant, unknown to Captain Burbank, commanding that post. They 
then had about one hundred and ten men. On the 3d they fell into an ambuscade and 
were driven back to the river at Piedras Negras, a Mexican village directly opposite 
Fort Duncan, with the intention of crossing, but the high water deterred them. Cap­
tain Burbank, to pre;vent further evil from their remaining in the Mexican territory, 
took a position with some of his artHlery to prevent their crossing from being inter­
Jered with, as they seemed afraid of being attacked by a very Luge force. Taking 
undue advantage of thi~ they determined to remain, and sent persons here and to the 
neighboring to>vns to raise men and bring them assistance. Captain Callahan reported 
that on the 3cl he was attacked by seven hundred or eight hundred Indians, aided by a 
large force of Mexicans; that he killed eighty Indians and many Mexicans. He left his 
()WU dead on the ground, and lost six men killed and wounded. The Mexicans say that 
:their force consisteu of two hunured rancheros; and that eight Lipan Indians were 
present accidentally and took part in the fight; that four Mexicans were killed and 
four wounded, but no Indians were either killed or wounded. They state Captain 
Callahan's loss in killed correctly, and say they took and found abandoned several 
horses, and also thirty pistols and rifles thrown away by the Texans in or after the 
action. Captain Callahan, finding his men leaving him, sent to Captain Burbank to 
assist him in croHsing. Captain Burbank declined, telling him that be had taken on 
himself the responsibility of holding the place and must abide by it. Finally, Captain 
Callahan's party set fire to the Mexican village and burned it up most wantonly, for 
it was occupied by a poor class of people, generally engaged in the cultivation of small 
plats of ground for the supply of our garrison and the neighboring town with vegetables. 
After several more fruitless applications to Captain Burbank for assistance, the Texans 
crossed to this side and have returned to San Antonio and the neighboring towns, 
where they are raising men to return and try their fortune again. They represent the 
whole affair as a brilliant and successful exploit, and as such, no donbt, the newspapers 
throughout the country will represent it. They are upheld by, with very few excep­
tions, the whole population; and as the Indians who have committed the depredations 
here are undoubtedly uphelda.nd encouraged by the Mexican authorities, it is bani to 
.convince the Texans that retaliation on the innocent is not the way to correct the. 
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evil. The constant incursions of small parties of Indians just,ify the formation andJ 
movement of armed parties of citizens, and their approach toward the frontier cannot 
be questioned. It is only when they have crossed that their original design is made­
manifest. The difficulty of opposing Indian depredations, and ·preventing, at the same 
time, breaches of the neutrality laws, may be well imagined. As this subject involves 
our political relations with Mexico, I have reported the facts direct to the War Depart­
ment. If copies of Captain Burbank's reports and my orders on the subject ~an be 
prepared before the mail closes I will inclose them ; otherwise they will go by tht} 
next ma.H. 

'Vith high respect, your obedient servant, 

Lieutenant Colonel L. T:nmus, 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
BTevet Major General, Comrnanrling Department. 

Assistant Adjntant Geneml, Headquarters of the Army. 

HEADQUARTERS OF THE ARMY, 
New York, October 29, 1855. 

Respectfully forwarded to the Adjutant General. 
L. THOMAS, 

Assistant Adjtttant Geneml .. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 
S. COOPER, 

Adjutant General .. 
ADJUTANT GENERAL's OFFICE, October 31, 1R55. 

No. 53. 

FORT DUNCAN, TEXAS, Octobe1· 16, 1855. 
Sm: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter, dated October 11,. 

·last night. I have nothing of importance to report. The excitement of last week has 
subsided, and the good feeling which existed between the people on the opposite sides 
of the river, int,errupted for a time by the Texan volunteers, is fast being restored. 
Most, if not all, of the Mexicans who crossed to this side of the river when their town· 
was occupied by the Texans, have returned. I do not apprehend any further diffi­
culties. I therefore think the force I now have here sufficient, aud I have not made 
the requisition on the commanding officer at Fort Mcintosh for the three companies of 
infant.ry I was authorized to do in the letter from department headquarters of October 9 .. 
According to the best information I have, the Texans have mostly returned to their 
homes. I think it highly improbable that they will returu again, knowing, as they 
now do, that they will be resisted oy the Mexican authorities with their entire force .. 
The Indians brought to the river on the other side were again sent into the interior as. 
soon as it was .known the Texans had withdrawn from the frontier. These were Sem­
inoles and Kickapoos. I will try and watch the movements of the Lipans, the Indians. 
who have committed so many depredations on the citizens of Texas. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
S. BURBANK, 

Captain Fi1·st Infantl'y, Commanding. 
ASSISTANT ADJUTANT GENERAL, 

Department of Texafl, San Antonio. 

No. 54. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AUSTIN, TEXAS, 
October 17, 1855. 

SIR: I have just seen an extract of a letter from Colonel Hardee, an officer of Colonel' 
Johnston's regiment, dated Jefferson Barracks, September 29, 1855, in which he says: 
''Instructions have been given that the Second Regiment of Cavalry will go to Texas, 
but up to this time not a wagon, to my knowledge, has be enprovided for our transpor­
tation. As the Sioux war seems to have begun, I would not be surprised if we were 
ordered to join General Harney. I consider it entirely doubtful if w~ get to Texas this 
fall or winter. Colonels Johnston and Lee are both absent, and I am in command of' 
the regiment." It seems, therefore, that there is much doubt whether the regiment 
of Colonel Johnston will be in Te~ms this fall, and in the present exposed situation of· 
our frontier, liable, as it is, to be attacked at any moment by the Lipans and Seminoles. 
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from the other side of the Rio Grande, prudence seems to require that an additional 
mounted force should at once be called into the field. Such is the opinion of the citi-­
zens residing on our western frontier, and I think that opinion well founded. I make 
these suggestions to you because I think such a force is now needed in the field, and 
because I believe if you were to call on me for such a force, say three companies from 
the militia of this State, it would supersede the unauthorized movement of armed men 
that seems to be now making in the western part of this State, and bring the whole 
matter growing out of the late expedition of Captain Callahan entirely under your-

- control. Your authority to call for such a force is undoubted, for they are needed to 
repel the actual invasions of the Indians, which are daily occurring. ·wm you favor me 
with your views on tl,lis subject as early as convenient '~ 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Brevet Major General PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
Commanding Department. 

No. 55. 

E .. M. PEASE. 

HEADQUAH.TERS DEPAH.TMENT OF TEXA~, 
San Antmtio, October 17, 1855. 

COLO~EL: There is a great deal of excitement among the citizens of this part of 
Texas, resulting from the late events on the Rio Grande, and they are raising a thou­
sand men to cross the river, ostensibly to chastise the Indians. I have seen several 
parties ride into town yesterday and to-day, well armed and mounted, and of a better 
class of citizens than usually join in such expeditions. 

It has strnck me as extraordinary that, while complaining that they are left without 
protection from Indian incursions, they can yet afford to send away three t,imes the 
number of the regular mounted force in the whole State from the very portion of the 
State where assistance is said to be so much needed. I shall do· all in my power to pre­
vent any unlawful expedition, but, as the country is really infested with small parties 
of Indians, it is easy for any party of armed citizens who approach the Rio Grande to 
say they are following these marauders and protecting the frontier. These illegal ex­
peditions require the troops to be kept near the Rio Grande, while the protection of the 
farmers demands that they should be brought into the interior, and it will be difficult to 
execute both services with numbers barely sufficient for either. If I can delay the 
action of those parties a few weeks no doubt many of the more prudent citizens will 
think better of the matter and abandon the expedition. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 

LiPntenant Colonel L. 'fHo:;-.us, 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
Brevet Majm· Gmwral, Commanding De]Jartrnent. 

Assist(tnt Ailjntant Gene1'al, Headqnat·ters of the Army. 

No. 56. 
AUSTIN, TEXAG, October 20, 1855. 

GENERAL: On my arrival here I am placed in possession of the official reports of Spe­
cial Agents Ross and Baylor, who are in charge of the Indian reservations near Fort 
Belknap, copies of which I have thought proper to inclose you for your information. 
You wm perceive by reference to these reports that we may expect some difficulty with 
the Yampasecos, and, in fact, all of the northern tribes or bauds of Comanches; that 
they not only threaten to attack the friendly Iuclians on the reservations, but to attack 
our settlements on our northern frontier. In order to meet any emergency that may 
arise, I should be pleased if you will give instructions to the commanding officer at 
Forts Belknap and Chadbourne as _ you may deem best calculated to meet the threat­
ened danger. Under the circumstances it is deemed by me absolutely necessary to 
have._ a small force on the Comanche reservation to protect the Government employes 
and to overawe the Comanches now settled should they show any disposition to join 
their brethren farther north in attacks on our settlement. 

You will perceive that Special Agent Baylor has already requested Major Paul to 
furnish him with a guard. 
Co~mending this subject to your early ctmsideration, I am, very respectfully, your­

obedient servant, 
ROBT. S. NEIGHBOURS, 

Brevet Major General P. F. SMITH, 
Supervising Agent Texas Indians~. 

San Antonio, Texas. 
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No. 57. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, Octobm· 21, 1855. 

GovEHNOH: I bad the honor of receiving your letter of the 17th yesterday. I have 
not the slightest apprehension that the destination of the Second Cavalry Regiment 
is changed or that its march will be delayed. On the contrary, my assurance is 
stronger every day that it will be here as soon as a due regard to the condition of the 
horses will permit ; and I am sure that, upon considering the grounds of my cer- · 
tainty, which I will briefly state, you will be of the same opinion. 

In the first place, Colonel Hardee, in writing a private letter to a friend here, has 
stated only impressions made on his own mind; be does not even hint that any 
information, even unofficial, is the foundation of his opinion. On the day he wrote­
the 29th of September-be could not have been in possession of the formal order to 
march. Of course he had no authority to require or prepare the transportation for the 
regiment. It is possible \bat this final order was delayed until . the situation and 
necessities of General Harney were determined. Accordingly, after the news of his 
success over the Sioux at Ash Hollow, an order from the War Department of the 25th 
of September, a copy of which was sent to me, directs that Colonel AlbertS. Johnston 
should be relieved from serving on a court-martial to which he had been ordered, and 
that he should at once take command of his regiment, and on the 27th, two days 
afterward, the final order for march is issued from the Headquarters of the Army. 
'l'his order could not have reached Colonel Hardee, for if it bad been mailed on the 
day of its date it would not have been in Saint Louis when the colonel wrote. On 
its receipt you are well aware that it became the duty of the officer in command of 
the regiment at once to make requisitions on the staff officers near him for the requi­
site transportation and supplies, and you are also aware that there conld be no diffi­
culty at Saint Louis and its neighborhood in finding plenty of either. The absence of 
these preparations bf'j'ore the order for march is no evidence of the impossibility of 
procuring them afterward; besides, I have been officially informed of the intention of 
the War Department to send the regiment here. I have been directed to make pre­
paration for their reception, and to purchase forage for their horses, involving a large 
expenditure. I have received and recorded the formal order for their movement. If 
there were any intention of changing their destination, the first act of the Department 
would be to inform me of it, that I might suspend the purchases that became unneces­
sary and meet the new position of affairs. Last night I received different orders from 
Washington up to the 4th instant, a week later than the date of the order of march. 
No change is hinted at, and I act under the most perfect confidence that up to the 4th 
of October the disposition of the regiment was unchanged, and that it is now on its 
march to Texas, and will be on the northern frontier before any other troops could be 
raised, equipped, and sent there. A company of the rifles arrived four days since and 
is on the Medina; another is on its march, and a third, probably, has started from 
Laredo. I could still draw up from the Rio Grande other companies now that I have 
their horses and equipments, if the preparations for an unlawful invasion of Mexico 
did not forbid me to strip the Rio Grande of its entire mounted force, and your excel­
leney will see the false position in which I would be placed were I to call rangers into 
service, because the regular troops, whose place these are to supply, are kept where 
they are, on the Rio Grande, by the threats of the others to break the laws. I think I 
can answer for the protection of the frontier with the dispositions I will make by call­
ing some infantry and a mounted artillery company to replace the mounted rifles I will 
bring up here ; and my confidence js in no ways shaken in the expected re-enforce­
ment by the doubts expressed in Colonel Hardee's letter before he had authentic 
intelligence of the movement. 

With the highest respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFER F. SMITH, 

Jiis Excellency E. M. PEASE, 
B1·evet Majm· General, Commanding Depa1·tment. 

G ovenwT of the State of Texas. 

No. 58. 

HEADQUARTERS DRPAHTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, Octobe1· 21, 1855. 

CoLONEL: I have the honor to transmit a report from Captain Burb:1nk at Fort 
Duncan, a letter from the governor of the State, who desires some volunteers to be 
called)nto service, and my reply, and a report from Brevet Major Paul, commanding at 
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]<'ort Belknap. Since my last report some of those engaged in raising the expedition' 
for the Rio Grande have abandoned it, but others still persist and are very active in 
their efforts to mise the necessary number of meu by the 15th of November, the day 
fixed upon for their reudezvons. Many of the best citizens of this part of the country, 
which tho late Indian incursions have stripped of its horses, nuder their first. impulse, 
joined in this movement as the only meaus to secure themselves, for the troops on the 
outer frontier were too dista,nt to afford them instant succor, it being one hundred 
and sixty miles to the nearest post of consequence, Fort Mcintosh. To tr~n.quilize all 
this population, so justly alarmed, and thus to detach the better class of mt1zens fr?m 
the unlawful enterprise projected, I will gmdually bring tho greater part of the nfle 
regiment into the country embraced hetweeu a line through the heads of the Cebolo, 
Medina, Hondo, and Frio, and the outlet of those rivers down as far as Goliad and the 
mission of Refugio, and keep them actively in motion, so that all the inhabitants may 
see a portion of them every few days and feel that they have efficient protection close 
at hand. I will, unless otherwise ordered, bring the headquarters of the regiment 
somewhere near the center of this district, and keep up this disposition until confi­
dence is entirely restored. One company, C, is ~lready on the Medina, and companies 
A and H wm shortly be in this neighborhood. I have ordered three companies of 
infantry from Ringgold Barracks to strengthen the line between Las Moras and the 
old Presidio crossing, and have directed Captain Phelps's light battery to take a posi­
tion where they can meet any emergency likely to occur shortly. l!"'our hundred very 
good horses have been bought for the rifles in Texas, and will replace the losses met 
with in severe service and those which are found too heavy for light cavalry service. 
I propose, as a temporary measure, to take about eight horses from each company of 
rifles, of those too heavy for their use, and give about twenty-four to each of the 
companies of artillery at Forts Duncan, Mcintosh, and Ringgold Barracks. They can, 
with these, harness two pieces and two caissons at each post, and thus instruct the 
men in that part of their service, and at the same time furnish a mounted scout of 
twenty men in case of necessity. These, in addition to two or three companies of rifles, 
to be kept on the Rio Grande, can secure that line until, tranquillity being restored, a 
new and permanent disposition can be made. This new state of affairs will modify 
former plans. The companies of rifles that come here may more conveniently receive 
their horses here, and the recruits sent to the rifles can come to Indianola. When 
they are ordered out I would be ghtd to have timely notice of it, that I may send a 
company or two to meet them, for the road from Indianola here is crowded with grog­
shops, and raw men with few officers can hardly be kept in order. The road from Cor­
pus Christi to Laredo is not subject to that objection, but the companies will not be 
at band to receive them. I have been told by several persons, committees, &c., that 
if I will only call ont a few companies of rangers it will at once employ the most 
unquiet and trauquillize the alarmed, and thus "break up the contemplated enterprise. 
I refuse absolutely. I will exert every means I have to avoid any serious difficulty, 
but I will not buy the promised good conduct of such men as must necessarily enter 
into many of their companies at any price. The good sense and manliness of the bet­
ter portion will, I hope, inclnce them to abandon an improper fellowship, and good 
order will be once more restored. 

\Vith high respect, your obedient sorva,nt, 

Colonel S. COOPER, 
Adjntant Ge11eml of the Army. 

PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
Brcrct Maj01· General, Commanding Department. 

No. 59. 

HEADQGAHTERS PORT BELK~AP, TEXAS, 
October 21, 1855. 

SIR: Since writing my letter of the 7th instant, I have the honor to report that a 
general alarm bas existedamomgthe white settlers of this neighborhood; that they have 
generally abandoned their farms, and fled with their families to this post for protec­
tion. I am not prepared to say that their fears are gronnuless, bnt I believe the 
reports in reference to hostile demonstrations by Northern Comanches as much exag­
gerated. 

I have received several communications from Mr. J. R. Baylor, agent for the South­
ern Comanches, representing them in a very unquiet state, and asking for troops to be 
stationed among them. I have accordingly sent Captain King, First Infantry, withhis 
company. Captain King reported that tile Comanches were making preparations to 
leave the reserve, and this step was only prevented by his timely arrival among them. 
Mr. Baylor wrote again that should the troops be removed from the reservation, there 
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would not be a single Comanche on it twenty-four hours after the departure of the 
troops. Under these circumstances, until otherwise directed, I shall leave a company 
or a detach ment of thirty or forty men on the Comanche reserve. In order to carry 
out the present Indian policy, I think it will be absolutely necessary to establish a 
permanent post on the lower or Comanche reservation of not less than two companies, 
one of which should be mounted. 

I am, sir, very respectfull.v, your obedient servant, 
. G. R. PAUL, 

Captain Seventh Infant1·y, Brevet JJfajor U. S. A., Commanding Post. 
ASSISTANT ADJUTANT GENERAL, 

Headquarters Depm·trnent of Texas, San Antonio, Texa8. 

No. 60. 

vVAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, November 9, 1855. 
SIR: I have the honor to transmit herewith for your information copies of four com­

munications, with inclosures, from Brevet Major General P. F. Smith, commanding • 
Department of Texas, dated October 10, 12, 17, and 21, on the subject of the recent and 
the contemplated invasion of Mexico by armed 'men under Captain Callahan. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. W. L. MARCY, . 
Secretai·y of State. 

JEFF. DAVIS, 
Secretary of War. 

Extract from 1·ernarlcs on 1·oll of Captain Willimn Tom's corn1Jany. 

Muster-roll of Captain William Torn's company of Texas Volunteers, organized at 
San Antonio on the 18th day of October, A. D. 1855, in accordance with an advisory 
letter of Colonel James S. Gillett, adjutant general of Texas, dated on the 17th instant,. 
viz: · 

WILLIAM TOM, 
Captain Commanding Compa.ny T, Mounted Volunt6m·s. 

I certify that I attended the assembling and organizing the company commanded by 
Captain William Tom, and have obtained funds to furnish them with subsistence and 
forage, half rations of corn, from the committee of safety at San Antonio. 

H. E. McCULLOCH, 
Superintending Organization. 

I certify on honor that I mustered the above company out of service ou the 16th day 
·of November; A. D . 1855, under the instructions of Captain H . E. McCulloch; that the 
remarks set opposite the name of each man are accurate and just, and that they are 
hereby honorably discharged from said service. 

WILLIAM TOM, 
Captain Commanding Company T, Mounted Vol·unteers. 

I hereby certify on honor that the above account exhibits a full and fair statement 
of all the moneys received by me from the vigilance committee at San Antonio, as wen 
the manner in which the same was disbursed for their use and benefit. 

EZRA KEYSER, 
Ordm·ly Sm·geant Captain William Tom's Company T, Mounted Volunteers. 
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No. 61. 

[Extract.] 

Report of Ca,ptain William G. Tobin's company of Monntecl Rangers, commencing on 
the 12th clay of October, A. D. 1855, and ending the 15th clay of November, A. D. 1855, 
raised and organized in San Antonio, Texas; disbanded waiting for further orders. 

List of names of the company. 
~ ~ ~ 

I certify that this is a true copy of my company. 
WM. G. TOBIN. 

[Extract.] 

Muster-roll of Captain William G. Tobin's company of Mounted Texas Rangers, called 
into the service of the State of Texas, from the 12th day of October, A. D .. 1855, for 
the term of one month unless sooner discharged. This is intended as muster in and 
out roll, there being no mustering officer to muster out this company. 
. * * * * * * * 
I certify on honor that this muster-roll exhibits the tru.e state ~f Capt~in William 

G. Tobin's company of Mounted Texas Rangers for the penod herem mentiOned; that 
each man answered to his own proper name in person, at;~cl that the remarks set OPJ?O­
site the name of each officer and soldier are accurate and JUSt; and I do further certify 
that the men above mentioned were actively employed in military service of the said 
State from the 12th dav of October, 185~, to the 15th day of November, 1855. To all 
<>f which I do swear to be true to the best of my knowledge and belief. 

W. G. TOBIN, 
Captain Commanding Company Texas Rangers. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me, March 21, 1861. 

No. 61t. 

[Extract.] 

CLEM R. JOHNS, 
Comptrollm·. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, December 6, 1855. 

GENERAL: * * 
This you must allow is the state of the present case. I do not say what was the char­
acter of Captain Callahan's expedition; that the Government will decide with him. 
I only say, supposing it were of the character given it by its most violent enemies, yet 
the Government of the United States is in no way answerable to the Mexican authori­
ties, since it is the conduct of these which has furnished Captain Callahan with the 
cloak to hide him from the vigilance of our own laws and its officers. More than a 
year since a tribe of Lipans, which had formerly been under the care of an Indian 
agent of the United States, in Texas, were persuaded by some of the authorities of 
Coahuila to move tio that state, and when Major Neighbours, the Indian agent, endeav­
ored to visit them and persuade them to return, be was not permitted by those author­
ities to communicate with them. These Indians were put under the protection of the 
civil and military authorities then in power in Coahuila, and they commenced at once 
a ~eri~s of murders and ro.bb~I'ies, ?n this side of the river, which has continued up to 
t~Is time. ~bout th~ be~mmng of the summer these Indians extended their depreda­
twns.so far mto the mtenor as to be out of the reach of the troops, which were near the 
frontier. Drove after drove of horses were stolen and taken at once across the Rio 
~rande, where they were protected from pursuit by the Mexican minor civil authori­
ties. Now, I beg yon to observe what I say llere particularly, because it is the orio-in 
of all the late difficulties, and we have taken pains to obtain the fullest proof a;' to 
wha~ I assert. .P~rty af_ter party of Lipan Indians, living under the protection of the 
MexiCan author;.tws behmd Laredo and near San Fernando, came into the settlements 
singly, and joining here in parties of from five to thirteen, stole horses from all the 
ranches on the M_ediJ?a, San Antonio, ~nd Cibolo R~vers, murd~recl. several persons, and 
escaped, by a rap1dfhgltt across the R10 Grande, with much of their plunder. Citizens 
o0f Texas, from several different neighborhoods, followed them peaceably, found the 
stolen animals, recognized them, and endeavored to purchase them back-some from 
the Indians who stole them-but most of the horses were in the hands of miuor civil 
<>fficers, on the Mexican side, who refused all aid, or even permission, for the recovery 
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of them. Finding it impossible to obtain redress for wrongs so flagrant, they deter­
mined to pursue the next band of robbers even into MexicJ, which they had a right to 
do, seeing that the Mexican authorities not only refused redress, but aided and pro­
tected the Indians and shared their plunder. Under cover of this right, which is 
undoubted, other parHes may have contemplated a wrong, but Mexico herself bad so 
completely sheltered them from our pursuit that it can only be after a development of 
of their true designs that our authorities can act, and it is then too late for prevention. 

* * * * *' * 1f 

I have the honor to remain, with the highest respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFER F. SMITH, 

Sr. Don EMILIO LANGBERG, 
Brevet Major Gene1'al, Commanding Depm·tment. 

Commanding the Forces of the Mexican Rep11blic in Coahuila. 

~0. 62. 

HEADQUAHTERS DEPAUTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, December 6, 1855. 

SIR: I have the honor to inclose herewith copies of communications from Brevet 
Major Paul, commanding Fort Belknap, dated September 16, October 7 and 21, and 
from Mr. R. S. Neighbours, Indian agent, dated October 20, on the subject of Indian 
affairs in the northern part of the department. The reasons set forth in t;hese several 
communications, taken in connection with the implied discretion conveyed in your 
indorsement referring to me the petition of Mr. Woodward to have two companies of 
mounted troops stationed at Fort Belknap, have determined me to post four companies 
of the Second Cavalry on the Comanche reservation. The other six companies and the 
headquarters are directed to encamp in· the vicinity of Fort Mason, agreeably to the 
wish of the Secretary of vVar, expressed in your communication of the 20th ultimo. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, · 
PERSIFER F. SMITH, 

Brevet Major General, Commanding Depm·tment. 
Colonel S. COOPER, 

.Adjutant General, U. S . .A., Washington, D. C. 
Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of ·war. 

S. COOPER, .Acljutanl General. 
ADJUTANT Gmnm.\ r!s OFFICE, December 24, 1855. 

No. 64. 

EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT, Austin, Texas, December 18, 1855. 
Sm: Reposing trust and confidence in your capacity and integrity, I appoint you 

paymaster, to carry i11to effect" An act making appropriations to pa.y the expenses of 
volunteers called into the service of the State for the protection of the frontier, and 
for other volunteer service," approved December 17, 18fl5. The volunteers alluded to 
in this act are the companies of Captain J. H. Callahan, Captain Benton, and Captain 
Henry. Under the provisions of said act you will be required t9 give bond and secu­
rity to the State of Texas in the sum of $22,000, for the faithful performance of your 
unties under this act. You will repair to the t9wn of Marcas, in Hayes County, and 
make the payments authorized under said act, on the 7th and 8th days of January, 
1856, and the following days, if necessary, previous to which detailed instructions will 
be given you. Your compensation under the law will be $100, which is entirely inade­
quate to the service, but as the service is one that will greatly benefit your neighbors 
and friends, I trust you will undertake it. 

Yours, with respect, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Colonel JoHN D. PITTS. 

No. 65. 

ExECUTIVE OFFICE, .Austin, Texas, February 4, 1856. 
Gentlernen of the senate ancl honse of 1'epTesentatives: 

I transmit herewith the muster-rolls of three small companies of mounted volunteers, 
one commanded by William Tom, which was in service on the frontier from the 18th 
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of October to the 16th of November, 1855; another commanded by W. G. Tobin, which 
served on the frontier from the 12th of October to the 15th of November, 1855; the other 
commanded by Levi En,glish, whose precise term of service is not known to me. These 
companies were voluntarily organized and supported by tile citizens of the frontier, for 
their defense during the past fall, while they were suffering from the constant attacks 
of hostile Indians, there being no mounted troops of the United States near enough to 
afford any protection. . 

Small parties of the last-named company had several encounters with and killed 
many of the Lipan Indians, and all of the companies were in active service at a time 
when the frontier settlements were nearly broken np by the incursions of the In­
dians, and contributed greatly to restore peace and confidence to those settlements. I 
think it but an act of justice that they shoulu receive from the State a reasonable 
compensation for their services and expenses, and therefore submit the ma.tter to your 
consideration, with the hope that you will make suitable provisions for their payment. 

The circumstances under which these companies were organized and the service 
they rendered, are well known to Messrs. Maverik and McCullough, of the senate, and 
the Bexar delegation in the house of representatives, to whom reference is made for 
information on these points. 

E. l\f. PEASE. 

No. 66. 

EXECUTIVE DEP-\.RT)iENT, .d usfin, 1'cxas, Janua1·y 3, 1856. 
SIR: Yon are bcreby appointed an agent of this State, under the provisions of" An 

act to proYide for the payment of six companies of mounted volunteers that were 
mustered into the service of the State of Texas on the 1st day of November, 1854, 
under a requisit.ion of Brevet Major General Persifer F. Smitb, and to pay the expenses 
incurred by said companies, approved January 14,1856, and au act to amend the sev­
eral sections of said act, approveu February 1, 1l:l5G, witil full power and authority 
to receive from the State treasurer a portion of the appropriation made by said first­
named act, sufficient to pay tile compauies commanded by yourself and Captain J. G. 
Walker, for tilree months, at the same rate p er month as they weLe afterward paid by 
the United States while in their service. 

Upon the receipt of said money, you will, as early as convenient, give public notice 
of the time when you will meet the members of said companies at or near the places 
where they were respectively organized, for the purpose of paying them oft~ under the 
provision of said act. James R. Shaw, esq., the comptroller of public accounts, will 
inform you what amount of pay per mouth each member of said companies is entitled 
to receive; he will also advise you what character of vouchers you will be required to 
take for the payments you may make under this appointment ; and his instructions in 
regard to these matters must be strictly followed. 

Any assignment from any member of said companies of his pay which does not 
show on its face that the assignor knew at the time of its execution that he was enti­
tiled to receive three months' pay fi·om the State will only be recognized as convey­
ing to the assignee the pay due the assignor for the time he was actually in the ser­
vice of the State, which time of service was, for the members of your company, ono 
month and twenty-one days, and for the members of Captain Walker's company one 
month. 

Should any of the members of said companies fail to apply to you for their pay at the 
time and place you may appoint, or within a reasonable time thereafter, you will return 
the residue of the money, with the vouchers for the payments you have made, to the 
comptroller, and make a final settlement with him. 

The names of the persons who composed said companies you will ascertain from the 
duplicate muster-rolls furnished to the captains by the officer who mustered them, or 
from any authentic copy of said duplicate or original roll. You will be allowed for 
your services, on a settlement of your accounts, under this appointment, with the 
comptroller, a reasonaulo compensation, to be paid out of the appropriation made by 
this act. 

E. M. PEASE. 
GILES S. BoGGESS, Esq. 

No. 67. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, 1'exas, JJ'ebmary 5, 185G. 
SIR: You arc hereby appointed, under the provisions of "Au act to provide for the pay­

ment of six companies of mountetl volunteers that were mustered into the service of 
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the State of Texas on the 1st day of November, 1854, under a requisition of Brevet Major 
General Persifer F. Smith, and to pay the expenses incurred by said companies," approved 
January 14, 1856, and an act to amend the seventh section of said act, approved Feb­
il'uary 1, 1856, as the agent of the State to receive from the State a portion of the ap­
propriation of money made by said act, sufficient to pay the company commanded by 
Captain William Fitzhugh, that was organized at the town of McKinney, in Col'lin 
·County, for three montlls. 

Upon the receipt of said money, you wi1l proceed, as early as convenient, to pay the 
members of said company, at said town of McKinney, after giving a reasonable public 
notice of your authority to make such payments, for three months' services, at the 
-same rate for such time as they were paid by the United States while in their service, 
which rate will be furnished to you by James B. Shaw, esq., comptroller. The names 
()f t.he persons composing said company yon will ascertain from the copy of the mus­
ter-roll that will be furnislled 'you by Mr. Shaw. You will recognize no assignment ·of 
any member of said company which does not show on its face that the party knew 
that he was entitled to three months' pay as conveying a right to any more than one 
mouth and twenty-one days' pay; service all over and above that amount is a gratuity 
from the State, and should only be paid to the party who rendered the service, unless 
the said party has assigned it with a fnll knowledge of his right. 

The comptroller will advise you fully what character of vouchers you are required 
to take for the payments you may make under this appointment, and his instructions 
must be strictly followed. As soon as convenient, after you shall have paid all the 
parties that may apply to you at McKinney, within the time yon may :fix for their pay­
ment, you will return the residue of the money, together with the vouchers for the 
payments you have made, to the comptroller, and make a final settlement with him of 
your proceedings. 

You will be allowed for your services, on a settlement of your proceedings under 
this appointment, a reasonable compensation, to be paid out of the appropriation made 
.by said act. 

E. M. PEASE. 
JAMES vV. THROCKMORTON; Esq. 

No. 68. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, A~tstin, March 22, 1856. 
DEAR Sm: You are hereb-y appointed as the agent of this State to pay the company 

·of Captain Patrick H. Rodgers, which was enrolled at the town of Brenham in the 
month of October, 1654, for three months' services. · 

The pay of the members of said company will be the same as that allowed by the 
laws and regulations of the United States to mounted volunteers, a statement of which, 
together with the muste~roll and particular instructions as to the manner of payment 
-and the vouchers necessary to be taken by you, will be furnished to you by the comp­
troller of public accounts_, which must be strictly followed. 

You will recognize no assignment from any member of said company as conveying 
more than his pay for one month and twenty-two days, unless it shall appear from said 
-assignment that the assignor knew that he was entitled to receive full three months' 
pay and intends to convey that amount. 

You will C(lmmence paying said company at the town of Washington, on ihe 31st 
{lay of March instant, and remain at that place a reasonable time for the members of 
.said company to apply for their pay. You will receive fi:·om the comptroller the funds 
necessary to pay said company, aud, after the expiration of the time you may deem 
reasonable for the members to apply and receive their pay, yon will return what funds 
may remain in your hands to the comptroller and make a settlement with him of your 
-accounts and doings under your appointment. 

The amount of compensation canuot be stated at this time, but it will be :fixed 
,so soon as I can ascertain the amount of the appropriation that will remain after the 
payment of all of said company. 

E. M. PEASE. 
Colonel A. M .. M. UPSHUR. 

No. 69. 

ExECUTIVE OFFICE, .dustinr Texas, MaTch 31, 1856. 
GENTLEMEN: Your communication of the 12th instant, representing that, unless 

so nething IJe done immediately for the protection of the citizens residing on the Up-
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per Blanco, Gnadalu~e, Curry's Cre_ek, and Perdinales, they wil~ be compelled to give 
up their homes, bas JUSt been rece1ved. I have not been unmmdful of your exposed 
condition, aud some time since requested the commanding general of this department 
to have mounted troops sent to your vicinity for its protection, bnt I have heard noth­
ing from him in reply. 

You must be well aware that no means have been placed at my disposal for frontier 
protection, and, without means, I can do nothing effective. I would: however, advise 
that your settlement organize a company of mim"tte-men. Let a small number, say ten 
or fifteen, be kept scouting, whose duty it shall be to notify the company to assemble 
and pursue the Indians whenever it shall be ascertained that they are in tbe neighbor­
hood. Snch a course will enable you to rally a respectable force at a short notice and, I 
think, wm tend to restore confidence. Should you conclude to act on this ad vice, you 
will keep mo advised of your proceedings, and I shall take pleasure in urging the legis­
lature to make a suitable compensation for the service of those who may be employed, 
and to pay for all reasonable expenses that may be incurred. I do not intend to ad­
vise the organization of a force for ofl'ensive warfare at a distance from your bomes, 
but that you shall endeavor, by this plan, to give yourselves protection against the 
Indians who may come into the vicinity of our sett.lements. 

Yours with respect, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Messrs. J. H. CALLAHAN, E. BEN. GEORGE, R. W. JOHNSON, OTTO \VUPPERMAN, and 
others. 

No. 70. 

_ EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Texas, Apl'il 10, 1856. 
DEAR Sm.: You are hereby appointed as the agent of this State to pay the company 

of Captain William H. Henry, which was enrolled at the town of Goliad in the month 
of October, 1854, for three months' services. The pay of the members of said compailY 
will be the same as that allowed by the laws and regulations of the United States to 
mounted volunteers, a statement of which, together with the muster-roll and particu­
lar instructions as to the manner of payment and the vouchers to be taken by you, 
will be furnished to you by the comptroller of public accounts, which must be strictly 
followed. 

You will recognize no assignment from any member of said company as conveying 
more than his pay for one month and fourteen days, unless it sl.tall appear from said 
assignment that the assignor knew that he was entitled to receive full three months' 
pay and intended to convey that amount. 

You will commence paying s~tid company at the town of Seguin, ou the 15th clay of 
April instant, and remain at that place a reasonable time for the members of said com­
pany to apply for their pay. 

You will receive from the comptroller the funds necessary to pay said company, and, 
after the expiration of the time you may deem reasonable for the members to apply 
and receive their pay, you will return what funds may remain in your hands to the 
comptroller aud llHtke a settlement with him of your acts and doings under your ap­
pointment. 

The amount of compensation cannot be stated at this time, but it will be fixed so 
soon as I can ascertain the amount of the appropriation that will remain after the 
payment of all of said company. 

E. M:. PEASE. 
Colonel JonN D. PITTS. 

No. 71. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Texas, May 1, 1856. 
SIR : You are hereby appointed to pay off the company of Captain Charles E. Travis, 

under the provisions of "An act to provide for the payment of six companies of mounteit 
volunteers that were mustered into the service of the State of Texas. on the 1st day of 
November, A. D. 1854, under a requisition of Brevet Major General Persifer F. Smith, 
and to pay the expenses incurred by said company," approved January 14, 1856, and 
an act to amend the seventh section of said act, approved February 1, 1856. 

Your compensation for services will be the same as may hereafter be allowed to the 
persons appointed to pay off the companies. 

E. ::M:. PEASE. 
JAMES H. RAYMOND, Esq. 

H. Ex.277-8 
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No. 72. 

Ext1'act j1'ortt generalremm·ks on J. M. Davenpm·t's company 1·oll. 
1st.-On the 20th day of March, 1856, a party of Indians, supposed to be Comanches, 

came into the Lower Sabinal settlements arid stole seven head of horses and mules. I 
took the trail with my men, which was followed up to the head-waters of the New 
Esses, then crossing we proceeded to the south prong of the Llano, and on arriving 
there late in the afternoon discovered the Indians encamped barbecuing a horse. We 
charged the camp, but being on an elevated position and the Indians in a low ravine, 
discovered our movements and made their escape through a mountain pass, being then 
dark, and in the morning no trail was visible. 

Scout 2d.-On the night of the 16th day of May, a party of Comanche Indians, eight 
in number, came into old Fort Lincoln and stole eight head of horses. We took their 
trail next morning, and followed them to the head-waters of the Medina River, but, 
owing to a heavy rain, we lost the trail and could not proceed any further. 

Scout 3d.-On the night of the 7th June, 1856, there was a party of Inilians, supposed 
to be twenty-fi-ve in number, came into the Upper Sabinal settlements, known as the 
Carrion Valley, five of them ent,ering the yard of Mr. Aron Anglon and killed two 
dogs; being fired on by John Leaky, a private of my company, who was stopping for 
the night in Mr. Anglon's house, and from his exertions the Indians left the yanl. I sent 
five men next morning to hunt for their trail while I was collecting the balance of the 
men about three miles southwest from Anglon's house. The above-mentioned five men 
came on the Indians in camp on the Frio Mountains, (this being the place where Mr. 
Leaky and Baremore received their wounds.) On the morning of the 9th I took the 
trail with twenty of my men, and followed it for eight days, and finally came up with 
them in camp on the Leon River about thirty miles from Fort Inge, (south.) vVe 
charged the camp and killed seven of them, which lay on the ground, aud wounded 
several others. We also captured four bead of horses, three shields, six quivers with 
bows and arrows, two rifle-guns, and one Government revolver. We made variou5 other 
scouts too numerous to report, but all of which came off with success. 

I remain, sir, your obedient servant, 

No. 73. 

JOHN M. DAVENPORT, 
Captain M. M. Voluntee1·s. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, A ·ustin, Texas, August 4, 1856. 
Gentlemen of the senate and house of 1·epresentatives : 

I ha-ve the honor to inform yon that, about the month of March last, communications 
were received from the settlements on the Upper Blanco, Guadalupe and Corny's . 
Creek, complaining of their exposed situation and asking protection against the 
Indians, who committed frequent c epredations about that time in those settlements 
and also in the settlements farther west. 

I replied to the eommnnications that no means bad been placed at my disposal for 
the protection of the frontier, and advised them to organize a company of minute-men 

· for their own protection, and that I would urge the legislature to compensate them for 
their services and expenses. 

Acting upon this adviCe, a company was organized in the -vicinity ,of Corny's Creek, 
a muster-roll of which, together with _an appraisement of their horses and arms, was 

· forwarded to me. 
Since the meeting of the legislature, I have received a communication from J. W. 

Sansom, captain of this company, informing me that be had been discharged and in­
closing a statement of the number of days ser:vecl by each man. 

I transmit herewith the origina;l petition for relief, a copy of my letter in reply to it, 
the original muster-roll of the company, appraisement of horses and arrps, together 
with the communication of Captain Sansom informing me of the discharge of the men 
and t.he time they served, which papers are numbered from one to four. A similar 
company was organized on Bancharos and Sabinal Creeks in March last, of which John 
M. Davenport was elected captain. I transmit herewith jibe letter of Captain Daven­
port advising me of its organization, and also another letter from him of a more recent 
date, giving an account of a fight with the Indians. · 

A letter was addressed to Captain Davenport of a similar character to that written 
to the citizens of the Upper Blanco. 

More recently a similar company has been organized in Uvalde County, of which 
Reading W. Black has been elected captain, and I transmit herewith his letter inform­
ing me of the organization. 

I am well satisfied that these companies were actually necessary to keep the frontier 
settlements from breaking up, and they have clone good service in their protection. 
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Several members of your own body are well informed of the situation of the settle­
ments where the companies were organized and the necessity that existed for them ; 
I trust the legislature will e,ncourage such efforts on the part of our citizens to protect 
themselves and will make provisions for paying them a reasonable compensation for 
their services and expenses. 

E. M. PEASE. 

No. 74. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Texas, October 1, 1856. 
Sm: Having been unable to find any person who will accept the office of paymaster 

for the companies of Captain William Tom, jr., Levi English, and 'Villiam G. Tobin, 
and pay them in the manner and for the compensation pro-vided for by "An act pro­
-viding for the payment of the companies of mounted -volunteers commanded by Cap­
tains William Tom, jr., Levi English, and ·william G. Tobin, organized for the tem­
porary protection of the western portion of Texas," approved August 30, 1856, I have 
concluded to appoint you to make said payments at the treasury. You will therefore 
proceed and make the payments to said companies at the State treasury as the parties 
may apply for the same, being go-verned in other respects by the provisions of said act. 

E. M. PEASE. 
JA~ms H. RAYl\IO~D, Esq. 

No .. 75. 

WAR DEPART:\IENT, Tra87tington, Sfptcmber 16, 1857. 
SIR: I received your letter yesterday, stating that a rumored expedition was prepar­

ing in the western part of Texas for the invasion of Mexican territory, and that the 
names of distinguished men were connected with it. I hope -very sincerely, for the 
sake of this country, that this report may prove to be unfounded. 

\Ve are not only at peace with Mexico, but that peace is guaranteed by the most 
~:;olemn undertaking and deliberate pledges which it is possible for one country to gi vo 
another. It should be borne in mind, too, that these pledges are the work of the people 
themselves; they have pledged their word, they have plighted their faith, that peace 
shonld be preserved between the two sister republics. By many, these pledges have 
the sanction of an oath, for, ~mder the Constitution, which we haYe swor11 to support, 
the treaties entered into by the Government are made the supreme la~ of the land. 
\Vithout provocation, therefore, to e11ter upon the territories of Mexico for any hostile 
purpose whatever is au act as indefensible and as repugnant to every sentiment of 
bonesty, manliness, and good faith as an act of open piracy upon the high seas. Such 
outrages tarnish our national honor and materially damage the high and deserved 
reputation of our people for courage and chivalry. 

It would be very hnmiliatiug to think that any respectable number of American 
citizens could be instigated by a knowledge of Mexican feebleness to commit an act of 
outrage upon that nation which fear would restrain them from committing against our 
mnre powcrfnl neighbors in the north. It is the part of magnanimity to spare the 
feeble, even in legitimate warfare, but it is good cause of eternal reproach to those 
whom the weakness of a friendly nation could incite to acts of rapine, plunder, and 
outrage. 

It is your duty to prevent, by all the means within your power, the consummation of 
any such design, and I am instructed by the President to say that the whole force 
under your command must be used, if necessary, to arrest any movement whate-ver of 
the sort, and you are hereby directed to enforce obedience to the law in such cases 
made and provided. These provisions are deemed amply sufficient ana are hereby 
transcribed for your instruction and direction. (See sixth and eighth sections of the act 
of April 20th, 1818, Statutes at Large, vol. 3, page·449, "An act in addition to an act 
for the punishment of certain crimes," &c.) 

Yon will see the necessity for great vigilance and acti-vity in preventing such a 
movement, if, in truth, such an one is serionsly thought of. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Brevet Major General D. E. TwiGGs, 
San Antonio, Texas. 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Secreta1·y of War. 
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No. 76. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, .AusMn, Texas, November 3, 1857. 
GENTLEMEN: Some correspondence has taken place between this office and Rrevet 

Major General Twiggs, commanding this department, in regard to the inadequacy of 
the force he now has to give protection to our extended frontier against the depreda­
tions of the numerous bands of Indians who are scattered along our northern and west­
ern borders. I inclose herewith copies of the letters received from General Twiggs, 
together with the copy of the draught of a bill for raisiug a regiment of mounted volun­
teers from this State. You will perceive that General Twiggs has asked for an increase 
of troops, and, in case none can be sent here from other departments, he is desirous of 
having this volunteer regiment of our citizens for one or two y~ars. The only altera­
tions I would suggest in the bill are that there should be two majors, as that number 
is allowed to each regiment in t,he Regular Army ; that the term of service should be 
changed from one to two years, and that all after the word "montll," in the third line 
of the last section, be stricken out. Within the last few months the mail train from 
San Antonio to El Paso was attacked and robbed of many of its animals, and I have 
now before me a communication just received from a large number of citizens residing 
on the waters of the San Saba and Upper Colorado Rivers, stating that the Indians have 
recently made several incursions into those settlements and stolen and carried off nearly 
three hundred horses. These aggressions show conclusively that the force now assigned 
to our frontier is inadequate to its protection and that there is a pressing necessity for 
this regiment. You must be aware that our citizens have long been desirous of having 
such a regiment for our defense, and the present seems to be a favorable opportunity 
for securing it, since I am assured that General Twiggs will co-operate with you in 
urging the measure upon the attention of Congress. 

Very respectfully, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Ron. GuY M. BRYAN and JOHN A. REAGAN. 

No. 77. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Novembm· 23, 1857, 
SIR: You are hereby authorized to enroll a company of twenty mounted men in the 

counties of Erath and Palo Pinto, to serve for three months for the pro tAction of the set­
tlements in said counties against the incursions of hostile Indians. Each man will fur:. 
nish himself with a good rifie or double-barreled-shot gun, and one or more pistols, with 
a sufficient quantity of ammunition, a good horse, saddle, and bridle. When the com­
pany shall have been enrolled you will cause an election to be held for one lieutenant 
to command the company, and one sergeant and one corporal, and make out duplicate 
muster-rolls, one of which you will deliver to the lieutenant and. the other you will 
forward, as early as convenient, to this office. 

The officers and men, respectively, will be paid by the State while in actual service 
at the same rates as mounted volunteers were paid by the United States during the 
Mexican war. They will fnrnish themselves with subsistence and forage, and will be 
allowed therefor in accordance with the commutation fixed by the rules of the United 
States service. When the company shall have been organized you will deliver to the 

. lieutenant the accompanying letter of instructions for his government, and also a 
copy of this letter to yourself. Each officer and private will also be allowed pay for 
all ammunition necessarily used in service, on the certificate of the lieutenant. 

E. M. PEASE. 
THOMAS K. CARMACK, Esq. 

NoTE.-Similar authority at same time issued to John H. Conner for thirty men and 
Neill Robinson for twenty men, to be enrolle(l in other counties of this State. 

No. 78. 

ExECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Novmnbm· 23, 1857. 
To the lieutenant tvho may be elected to command the company of mounted nwn authoTized to 

be enrolled by John H. ConneT in the counties of Brown and San Saba : 
SIR : You will keep the whole or such portion of your company as you may consider 

necessary, in actual service, at such point or points upon the frontier in the vicinity of 
Brown and San Saba Counties, and the adjoining counties, as will best enable them to 
give protection to the inhabitants against the incursions of hostile Indians. 
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The object in raising your company being mainly for defensive operations, it is not 
expected that you will make any distant expeditions against Indians, unless it may 
become necessary to follow up hostile parties of them who have committed depreda­
tions upon our citizens. You will in no event interfere with the Indians who are set­
tled on the Government I'eservations, nor with any of those belonging to the 
reservations that you may meet with off the reservations, unless you find therh 
actually committing depredations upon the settlers or under such circumstances 
as shall leave no doubt that they have been actually committing acts of hos­
tility against our citizens. You will exercise extreme caution, so as not to give 
offense to any friendly tribes, as such a course of proceeding will be certain to 
increase the daugers to which our settlements are now exposed. It is not intended 
that you shall keep the whole or any part of your company in active service any 
longer at one time than there shall be au actual necessity for them, but that you 
shall, from time to time, keep only such number actively employed as will give security 
and confidence to the settlements you are designed to protect, so as to make the three 
months of service extend over as long a period of time as possible. You will keep an 
accurate account of the number of days that each officer and private is actually em­
ployed, and make a return of the same to this office, under oath, to serve as a guide 
in paying them for their services. You will make regular reports of all the operations 
of the men under your command to this ofiice as often as once in two weeks, which 
1·eport yon will transmit through the post-office nearest to yon. Should any of your 
c0mpauy fail to furnish himself in accordance with the reqmrements contained in the 
instructions to the enrolling officer, or fail in his duty under your command, it will be 
cleemed a sufficient cause for withholding his pay, and you vi'ill report all such cases 
without delay. 

E. M. PEASE. 

No. 79. 

A JOINT RESOLUTION requesting our Representatives and instructing our Senators in the United 
States Congress to call upon tho United States Government to refund the money heretofore paiu out 
by the State of Texas for the defense of her frontier since the 28th day of February, 1855. 

\Vhereas, under the compact of annexation, the State of Texas is entitled to protec­
tion from the depredations of Indians by the Government of the United States; mHl 
·whereas that protection, in many instances, has not been ~tfforded to the e:s.pose(l por­
tions of the frontier since the 28th February, A. D. 1855, in consequence whereof the 
governor of this State has, from time to time, been compelled to order ntngers or vol­
unteers into the :field to protect the lives and property of our citizens against 
predatory bands of Indians which h~we infested our frontier; and whereas the legisla­
ture has appropriated nearly one hundred thousand dollars out of the treasury of the 
State to pay the troops so called. out, which sums of money have not been refunded to 
tho State by the United States: Therefore, • 

Resolved, That our Senators in the United States Congress be instructed and onr 
Representatives be requested to urge upon the Go-vernment of the Unite(l States the 
necessity of refunding the amount of money paid out by Texas for tho defense of the 
frontier at the earliest day possible, and that the governor be requested to furnish 
each of our Senators and Representatives in the United States Congress, and the Sec­
retary of War, with a copy of this preamble and re~olution, accompanied by a full 
statement of all the sums of money paicl by the State for the defense of the frontier 
as aforesaid. 

WILLIAM S. TAYLOR, 
Speaker of the Honse of Representatives. 

H. R. RUNNELS, 
President of the Senate. 

No. 80. 

:ExECCTIVE OFFICE, .dustin, December 7, 1857. 
SIR: You are hereby anthorized to .enroll a company of twenty mounted men in the 

counties of Coryell and Comanche to serve for three months for the protection of the 
settlements in said counties against the incursion of hostile Indians. Each man will 
furnish himself with a good rifle or double-barreled shot-gun, and one or more pistols, 
with a sufficient quantity of ammunition, a good horse, saddle, and bridle. When the 
company shall have been enrolled, you will cause an election to be held for one lieu­
tenant to command the company, and one sergeant anu one corporal, and make out 
duplicate muster-rolls, one of which you will deliver to the lieutenant, ancl the other 
you will forward as early as convenient to this office. 
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The officers and men, respectively, will be paid by the State, while in actual service, 
at the same rate as mounted volunteers were paid by the United States during the Mex­
ican war. They will furnish themselves withsubsistenceand fomge, aud will be allowed 
therefor in accordance with the commutation fixed by the rules of the United States serT­
ice. When the company shall have been organized, you will deliver to the lieutenant the 
accompanying letter of instructions for his government, and nlso a copy of this letter 
to yourself. Each officer and private will also be allowed pay for a,ll ammunition neces­
sarily used in service, on the certificate of the lieutenant. 

E. M. PEASE. 
THOMAS C. FROST. 

No. 81. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

'Vhereas, under the authority vested in me by "A joint resolution authorizing the 
governor to raise and. muster into the service of the State mounted men for the protec­
tion of our frontier," approved November 17, 1857, I did, on the 23cl of November, 1857, 
authorize Neill Robinson, esq., to enroll a company of twenty mounted men in the set­
tlements on the waters of the Upper Blanco and Guadalupe, to serve for three months 
for the protection of said settlements against the incursions of hostile Indians, and to 
cause an election to be held by said company, when enrolled, for one lieutenant to com­
mand the same; and whereas the said Neill Robinson Ilas reported that he caused said 
company to be enrolled and said election to be held on the 14th day of December, 1857, 
and that John Seaborn Hodges was duly elected tile lieutenant to command said 
company: 

Now, therefore, I, E. M. Pease, governor of said State, by virtue of the authority 
vested in me by said joint resolution, do hereby appoint and commission him, the said 
J ol1\r Seaborn Hodges, as a lieutenant, from the day of his said election, hereby vest­
ing him with all such authority as pertains to his said office, under his letter of in­
structions, and such other instructions as may from time to time be given to him by 
the executive of this State for the time being. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused to be affixed the 
great seal of the State at the city of Austin this the 19th day of December, 1857, and 
of the independence of Texas the twenty-second year. 

[SEAL.] E. M. PEASE. 

By the governor : 
EDWARD CLARK, 

Secretary of State. 

No. 82. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

Whereas, under the authority vested in me by ''A joint resolution authorizing the 
governor to raise and mustc~r into the service of the St,ate mounted men for the protec­
tion of our frontier," approved November 17, 1857, I did, on the 23d day of November, 
1857, authorize John H . Conner to enroll a company of thirty mounted men in the 
counties of Brown and San Saba, to serve for three months for the protection of the 
settlements in those counties against the incursions of hostile Indians, and to cause an 
election to be held by said company, when enrolleu, for one lieutenant to command 
the same; and whereas the said John H. Conner has reported that he caused said com­
pany to be enrolled and said election to be held on the 2d clay of DecNn ber, 1857, and 
that John H. Conner was duly elected the lieutenant to command said company: 

Now, therefore, I, E. M. PeaHe, governor of said State, by virtue of the anthority 
vested in me by said joint resolution, do hereby appoint and commission him, the said 
John H. Conner, as a lieutenant from the day of his said election, hereby vesting him 
with all such authority as pertains to his said office under his letter of instructions, 
and such other instructions as may, from time to time, be given to him by tile executive 
of this State for the time being. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused to be affixed the 
great seal of the State at the city of Austin this the 19th clay of December, A. D. 1857, 
and of the independence of Texas the twenty-second year. 

[SEAL.] E. M. PEASE. 

By the governor: 
EDWARD CLARK, 

Secreta1·y of State. 
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No. 83. 

Extract of t·entarks on 1·oll of Thmna.s C. PJ·ost's company. 

COiu, CoMANCHE CouNTY, TEXAS, 
Decembe1· 22, 1857. 

To his excellency the govei'1W1' of the State of Texas :. 
ln. pursnance to ::tn order t.o me directed by your excellency, on the 7th instant, I 

have enrolled a company of twenty mounted men to serve for the term of three months 
for the protection of the settlements in the counties of Comanche and Coryell against 
the incursions of hostile Indians. 

I proceeded, in obedience to said order, to muster into service on the 21st instant 
said company, who v1rere furnished and equipped as the order directs. I caused an 
election to be held for the offices of lieutenant, sergeant, and corporal, have madP. out 
duplicate muster-rolls, one of which is hereby transmitted and the other delivered to 
the lieutenant of said company, and all the requisitions of said order have been com­
plied with, and the company is now in service. 

* * .. * * 
T. C. FROST. 

No. 84. 

EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT, .A·ust·in, Texas. 
To all to whom these p1'esents shall come, g1·eeti11g : 

Know ye that, by virtue of the power and authority in me vested by an act of the 
legislature of the State of Texas entitle!l ''An :wt for the better protection of the fron­
tier," approvecl Januar~T 27, 1858, I, H. R. Rnnuels, governor of said State, have 
this day appointed, and do by these presents appoint and commission, JohnS. Ford, 

· sr., captain to command the forces of tl1e State, as enrolled by virtue of that act and 
as specified in that act, and to superintend the protection of the frontier. 

In testimony whereof I have herennto set my hand and caused the seal of the Stat13 
to be affixed this the 28th day of January, 1858, and of the year of the Independence 
of the United States the eighty-second and of Texas the twenty-second. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 

By the governor: 
T. ;::i. ANDERSON, 

Secretary of State. 

No.85. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, 

To all to 1vhom these presents shall come, greeting : 
Know ye that I, H. R. Runnels, governor of said State, reposing special trust and fnl 

confidence in the honor and patriotism, fidelity, and capacity of Ed. Burleson, do hereby. 
appoint, him first lieutenant in Captain John S. Ford's company of Texas rangers, aucl 
quartermaster and ex-officio paymaster of the forces called out under the provisions of 
"An a;ct for the better protection of the front,ier," approved January 27,1858; and I do 
hereby authorize and empower him, the sa.id Ed. Burlesm), to exercise, discharge, exe­
cute, ancl perform all and singular the duties of this appointment according to law, for 
and during the term of six months from the date hereof, unless sooner discharged by 
the governor. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto set my hand and caused the seal of the State 
to be affixed tllis the 8th day of February, 1858, and of the year of the Independence 
of the United States the eighty-second, aucl of Texas the twenty-second. 

[SEAL.] . H. R. RUNNELS. 

By the governor : 
T. s. ANDEI~SON, 

Se&reta1·y of State. 

Memorand~trn.-Similar commission issued to William A. Pitts for second lieutenancy 
of ]! oid's company. 
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No. 86. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AuSTIN, May 20,1858. 
Sm: You are hereby authorized to enroll a company of twenty mounted men iri the 

counties of San Saba and Llano, to serve for sixty days, or until such time as may be 
hereafter advised, for the protection of the settlements against the Indians; each man 
will furnish himself with a good rifle, or double-barreled shot-gun, with one or more 
pistols, with a sufficient quantity of ammunition, a good horse, saddle, and bridle. 

You will yourself hold the rank of lieutenant, and take command of the company. 
You will cause an election to be held by the men, when enrolled, for one sergeant and 
one corporal, and make out duplicate muster-rolls, one- of which you will forward to 
this office as early as convenient and keep the other yourself, particularly noting the 
term of actual service of the company and of each of its members, and return the same 
to this office whenever the services of the company shall be discontinued; the officers 
and men will look to the legislature for compensation, which, if allowed, will be at 
the same rate for their services as is now allowed to other companies engaged in the 
service of the State, at the option of the legislature. 

They will furnish themselves with subsistence, &c., for which they will, at the 
option of the legislature, be entitled to the same pay as allowed to volunteers who 
have been called into the service; they will also be entitled to pay for all ammunition 
necessarily used in the service, on the certificate of the lieutenant. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
the State to be affixed. Done at the city of Austin this the 20th day of May, A. D. 1R58, 
and in the year of the independence of Texas the twenty-third. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 
JoHN .. WILLIAMS, Esq. 

By the governor : 
T. s. ANDERSON, 

Secreta1 .. y of State. 

No. 87. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, 

To all to whorn these presents shall come, greeting: 
Know ye that, reposing special trust and confidence in the honor and integrity of 

Neill Robinson, I do hereby appoint him p!llymaster, under an act of the seventh legis­
lature of the State of Texas, approved February 13, 1858, and entitled "An act to pro­
vide for the payment of three companies of minute-men, commanded by Captain 
.John W. Sansom, John D. Davenport, and Reading vV. Black;" and I do hereby au­
thorize and empower the said Neill Robinson to do and perform all the duties of this 
appointment, under and in obedience to the provisions of the above-entitled act. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
the State to be affixed at the city of Austin this the 25th day of May, A. D. 1858, and of 
the year of the independence of Texas the twenty-third. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 

By the governor : 
T. s. ANDERSON, 

Secretary of State. 

No. 88. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, 

TJ all to whom these presents shall come, greeting : 
Know ye that, reposing special trust and confidence in the honor and integrity of 

Neill Robinson, esq., of Blanco County, I, H. R. Runnels, goyernor of said State, by 
virtue of the authority vested in me by "A joint resolution authorizing the governor 
to raise and muster into the service of the State mounted men for the protection of the 
frontier," approved November 17,1857, do. hereby appoint him, thesai(l Neill Robinson, 
paymaster, to pay off a company commanded by lieutenant JohnS. Hodges, for their 
services according to the rates allowed by the United States to volunteer mounted 
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militia when called into their service; and I do hereby authorize and empower the 
said Robinson to do and perform all the duties of thiB appointment under and in obe­
dience to the provisions of the auove-entitlecl joint resolntion. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and cauBecl the great seal of 
the State to be affixed at the city of Austin this the 27th clay of May, A. D. 1658, and of 
the year of the independence of Texas the twenty-third. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 

By the governor: 
T. s. ANDERSON, 

Secretcwy of State. 

No.89. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, July 13, 1858. 
SIR: You are hereby instructed to disband the twenty men which you were author­

ized to raise for frontier protection when their term of sixty days' service shall have 
expired, and make due report of the smt~.e to this office. 

With due respect, I am, sir, very respectfully, 
H. R. RUNNELS. 

Lieutenant JOHN WILLIAMS, 
San Saba. 

No. 90. 

ExECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, October 4, 1858. 
DEAR Sm: I recived by last night's mail a letter from Major Bishop, of Wise County, 

inclosing the petition of a large number of citizens, giving such an account of the 
condition of that frontier as to require, if true, action by authority of the State, the 
General Government having failed to adopt the necessary measures for its protection. 
I was also much pleased to see from a paragraph in the Dallas Herald that you had 
taken the matter in hand, and, with a number of your fellow-citizens, bad determined 
to follow up and punish the Indian enemy. I hope before this reaches you you will 
have clone so and been successful. 

I inclose you, by the bearer of this, a commission, which will enable you to act with 
authority in the matter and give direction to the necessary movements against the 
common enemy, which I hope you will be able, consistently with your feelings, to 
accept. You are aware that it is impossible for me to know the requisites of such an 
emergency, situated so far from the scene as I am. 

There must be some one in whom I can and should confide in matters of so much 
moment, for, while I am willing to do everything in my power, it will not do to rely 
on every representation that is made. I know of no one in yonr section whose past 
experience will so well justify me in confiding the direction of affairs at this time as 
yourself. I therefore authorize yon to adopt such measures of defense as you may 
deem desirable to meet the existing emergency. You are authorized to raise a come 
pany of seventy-nine men, rank and file, for three months' service, or for such time a­
may be hereafter directed, but such company in no event to be kept under pay longer 
than their services are absolutely required. If yon shall have become satisfied of the 
tribes committing the depredations, and believe that an expedition against them at 
their own homes is necessary and practicable, you are then authorized to raise. such 
additional number of men as may be required for the purpose, and pursue and punish 
them, wheresoever they may belong and wherever they may go. 

If satisfied of their guilt, you will pay no regards to treaty stipulations between 
them and the Government of the United States in any event, without the uncondi­
tional surrender of the offending parties and the return of the stolen property of our 
citizens. If the General Government cannot or will not protect our citizens from her 
Indians, and the necessity devolves on them of doing so, the whole civilized world will 
justify and sustain them in exercising the right. 

If you should find it necessary to cross Red River, you can co-operate with Major 
Van Dorn's command or not, as you may think best. 

Yon will use all possible exertion to overtake and punish the offenders, find them 
where yon will, within our territory or out of it, without regard to time or place, ex­
cepting the Indian reserves only, but regarding the circumstances of your ability to 
do so alone. You will perceive the necessity of the greatest celerity of movement, at 
the same time that due caution should be exercised on attempting an expedition agai·nst 
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any of the bands in their own strongholds, lest the force of the blow should be foiled 
or weakened by giving them time for preparation or escape. 

If you should determine not to act under this commission, you are then authorized 
to raise the company or designate some proper person to do so, to the efficient and 
proper officering and manning of which I shall hope you will give some attention, as 
without good officers and good men there is no efficient service to be expected. ~ 

All reasonable expenses for ammunition will be paid to your requisition on the comp­
troller. The means for the pay and subsistence of the men will llave to be provided 
by the next legislature at its next regular session. You will please let me bear from 
you by the return of the messenger, and give me as exact an account of the situation 
of affairs and the requirements of the occasion as may be in your power. 

Oblige, very respectfully, 
H. R. RUNNELS. 

Colonel JAMES BOURLAND, 
Coolce County, Texas. 

AUSTIN, October 6, 1858. 
I have been disappointed in getting the messenger oft' as soon as soon as expected, 

and have opened the envelope to make an additional suggestion. I hope you will 
take no action, unless it is absolutely necessarj, without communicating further with 
me or until you are satisfied the emergency requires it fully. I know not how far the 
legislature may be willing to justify the step, as its indorsement will be necessary in 
getting an appropriation. I have taken this course in giving you authority because I 
cannot be present to know the requisites and because of the absolute necessity of 
checking the forays of the Kickapoos and other United States Indians who are believed 
to have been interrupting our territory. I have written to the President I would 
punish them if the Government did not restrain them. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

Copy of memoranda of instructions forwardecl to Colonel Bow· land. 

1st. To make a disposition of the force to cover and protect the exposed settlements. 
Making stations upon or near the trails or passes of the Indians. 

2d. Pursuing trails to the camp of the enemy, chastising him, and destroying his 
supplies. 

3d. Reclaiming stolen property, no difference in whose hands it is found. The pos­
session prima facie evidence that the possessor was the robber; where the property is 
not given up peaceably, to take it by force, and in the case of Indians to take life, if 
necessary to accomplish the object. 

4th. To b,..eak up the trade carried on between the friendly Indians north of Reel 
River and the Comanches and their confederates. To assure the former, if they do 
not desist, Texas will make war upon them, and the United States will, in the end, 
have to co-operate and send the Government troops to invade their territory. 

5th. To co-operate with Major VanDorn, if practicable. 
6th. To issue rations of subsistence and forage in accordance with the laws of the 

United States. To cover all issues by requisitions and returns. To issue ordnance and 
stores in a regular manner. 

In these matters there must be system and compliance with law and the regulations 
of the United States Army. 

7th. To nse strict economy, and purchase no article unless absolutely necessary for 
the good of the service, and within the line of articles used by the like army in the like 
United States service. 

f:lth. The rules and regulations of the United States Army and the Articles of War 
to be observed and enforced as near as can be. · 

You will, as soon as practicable after the company has been organized, forward to 
this office a copy of the muster-rolls, with the names of the officers elected and prop-
erly authenticated. · 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

No. 91. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, 

To all to whorn these p1·esents shall corne, greet·ing : 
Know ye that, by virtue of the power vested in me by an act of the legislature of the 

State of Texas entitled "An act for the better protection of the frontier," approved 
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January 27, 1858, I, H. R. Runnels, governor of said State, have this day appointed, 
and do by these presents appoint and commission, James Bourland, of Cooke County, 
captain to command a company of seventy-nine men to be raised and enrolled into the 
service of the State by him, under the provisions of said law, and to serve on the fron­
tier for the term of three months, if not sooner discharged from said service by the 
governor. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
the State to be affixed at the city of Austin this the 4th clay of October, A. D. 1858, and 
of the independence of Texas the twenty-third year. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 

By the governor: 
T. s. ANDERSON, 

Secreta1'y of State. 

:tto. 92. 

ExECUTIVE OFFICE, A~tstin, Texas, October 8, 185R. 
SIR: I have the honor herewith to inclose an abstract from the comptroller's office 

of the different sums appropriated by the State of Texas for protection against the 
Indians, and now remaining unpaid by the Government of the United States, which, 
if consistent with the views of the Department, we shall hope will be included in the 
estimatts of expenditure for the present year. The muster-rolls and vouchers are all 
on file in that office, and will be forwarded to the proper office at Washington as soon 
as intelligence shall reach here of an appropriation by Congress to cover the amonnt. 
I have also the honor to inclose herewith copy of a letter of recent date from this 
office to Colonel James Bourhmd, -with instructions for his guidance in regard to Indian 
disturbances on the northern frontier of this State. These particular disturbances are 
believed to be, in a great degree, attributable to certain predatory bands in treaty 
with the General Government, who have hitherto roamed on that part of our Territory 
at pleasure, and of which I have at former times taken occasion to give the Govern­
ment due notice, and to ask that they should be restrained to their own limits. 

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
H. R. RUNNELS. 

Hon. JOHN B. FI"OYD, 
SecretaTy of Wa1·. 

No. 93. 

EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT, Austin, Texas, November 2, 1858. 
CAPTAIN: You are hereby authorized and empowered to raise .a company of rangers 

to serve for six nwnths, unless sooner discharged. The said company will be organized 
in accordance with the laws of the United States, and will consist of one captain, one 
first lieutenant, one second lieutenant, four sergeants, four corporals, two buglers, two 
farders and lJlacksrniths, and seventy-four privates. You will rendezvous at this 
place and proceed to orga.nize by the election of officers at the earliest practicable 
period, and you will report the result of said election to the proper department imme­
diately. After the completion of the organization and the procurement of the neces­
sary supplies, the said company will move without delay to a suitable point to protect 
the exposed settlement,s, which have. recently suffered from Indians. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 
Captain J. S. Form, 

.Austin, Texas. 

No. 94. 

In the name and by the authority of the State of Texas. 

To all whom these pTesents shall come, g1·eeting: 
Whereas, at an election held in the county of Travis on the lOth day of November, 

1858, JohnS. Ford was elected to the office of captain of a company of Texas rangers, 
called into service for frontier protection for six months, unless sooner discharged: 

Know ye that I, H. R. Runnels, governor of the State of Texas, reposing .special 
trust and confidence in your courage, patriotism, and integrity, and in your :fidelity to 
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the constitution and laws of the State of Texas, and your attachment to the United 
States of America, do hereby commission you, the said John S. Ford, to the office of 
captain of the said company of rangers, to rank as such from the lOth clay of Novem­
ber, 1858; and the said company yon are to lead, train, muster, exercise, and command 
according to the existing laws and military discipline of the United States, and you 
are strictly to observe and execute all such orders and instructions as you shall, from 
time to time, receive from the governor (the commander-in-chief) for the time being, or 
any of your superior officers, according to the rules and discipline of war, and all inferior 
officers, or others belo:qging to said company, are hereby commanded to obey you as 
the captain thereof. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal 
of the State to be affixed at the city of Austin this the lOth day of November, A. D. 
1858, and in the year of the independence of the United States of America the eighty­
third and of Texas the twenty-third. 

[SEAL.l H. R. RUNNELS. 
By the governor : 

'1'. S. ANDERSON, 
Secretary of State. 

No. 95. 

In the name and authority of the State of Texas. 

To all to whom these presents shall corne, greeting: 

Whereas, at an election held in the county of Travis on the lOth day of November, 
1858, John R. Gibbons was elected to the office of first lieutenant of a company of 
Texas rangers, called into service for frontier protection for six months, unless sooner 
discharged : Therefore, 

Know ye that I, H. R. Runnels, governor of the State of Texas, reposing special 
trust and confidence in your courage, patriotism, integrity, and in your fidelity to the 
constitution and laws of the State of Texas, and your attachment to the United States 
of America, do hereby commission you, the said John R. Gibbons, to the office of first 
lieutenant of the said company of rangers, to rank as such from the lOth day of Novem­
ber, 1858; and the said company youlea.d, train, muster, exercise, and command accon)ing 
to the existing laws and military discipline of the United States, and you are strict.lyto ob­
serve and execute all such orders and instructions as you shall, from time to time, 
receive from the governor (the commander-in-chief) for the time being, or any of your 
superior officers, according to the rules and disciplin~;~ of war; and all inferior officers, 
or others belonging to said company, are hereby commanded to obey yon as the first 
lieutenant thereof. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
the State to be affixed at the city of Austin this the lOth clay of November, A. D. 1858, 
and in the year of the independence <1f the United States of America the eighty­
third and of Texas the twenty-third. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 

By the governor : 
T. S. ANDERSON, 

Secretm·y of State. 

NoTE.--Commission similar to the above was issued to Aaron Burleson, as second 
lieutenant of said company, November 10, 1858. 

No. 96. 

TREASURY DEPARTMENT, 
Second Auditor's Office, .January 8, 1859. 

Sm: I herewith respectfully return the papers connected with the claim of the 
State of Texas, now before the Committee on Military Affairs and the Militia of the 
Senate of the United States, with a list of six companies of Texas volunteers, called 
out in the year 1854, and paid by the United States, under the act of Congress ap­
proved March 3, 1855. 

By an examination of this list you will perceive that, up to this time, the United 
States has paid to these six companies $68,449.70, and the records of this office cannot 

. show that any stoppages were made in favor of the State of Texas. 
The records of the Third Auditor might show an additional allowance to these com-
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panies for subsistence, &c., whicll would increase the allowance made by the United 
Sta.tes. 

This office is not aware of any other companies of Texas volunteers in 1855 having 
been paid by the United States. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

S. UOOPER, 
Colonel and .Adjntant General, U. S. A. 

No. 97. 

T. J. D. :FULLER, 
Second .Audito1'. 

Six cornpanies of Texas 1:olunteers, tmder act Mm·ch 3, 1855. 

Names of captains of Texas 
>olunteers. 

Captain Giles S. Boggess ... 
Captain ,Jolm G. \Valker ... 
Captain William R. H enry _ 
Captain William :Fitzhngh 
Captain Charlrs E. Travis 
Captain P. H. Rodgers ..... 

A 
B 
c 
D 
E 
F 

Period of service paid for by 
the United States. 

Dec. 23, 1854, to Mar. 22, 1855 .. 
Drc. 1, 1854, to Mar. 31,1855 .. 
D ec. 14, 1854, to Mar. 31, 1855 .. 
Dec. 24, 1854, to Mar. 23, 1855 .. 
Dec. 1, 1B:i4, to April J, 1855 .. 
Dec. 22, 1854, to Mar. 21, 1855. _ 

$11,604 29 
13, 559 49 

9, 837 36 
10, 520 34 
11,075 49 

9, 266 05 

$785 23 
568 79 
114 95 
5;>0 97 
566 74 

$11,604 29 
14, 344 7:! 
10, 406 15 
10,635 2(1 
11,626 46 

9, 832 79 

TotaL .... . ..................... ------ ............ -------65, 863"""021 2, 586GB-68, 449 70 

TREASURY DEPAUTllfENT, SECOND AUDITOR's OFFICE, January 8,1859. 

No. 98. 

\VAR DEPARTi\IENT, Janua1'y 11, 1859. 
SIR: In reply to your communication of the 3d instant, inclosing Senate resolution 

No. 59, to provide for the payment of certain :volunteers called out by tile governor of 
Texas for the protection of the frontiers of that State, requesting me to furnish the 
committee with any information upon tlle subject now on file in tlle War Department, 
I herewith transmit all the information in the Department upon the subject of volun­
teers called out by the authorities of '£exas. The terms of the resolution are so com­
prehensive that I have felt constrained to communicate everything connected with the 
service of volunteers in Texas within the period stated. I may, therefore, have trans­
mitted something which may be considered irrelevant to the subject; but, under the 
circumstances, I could not undertake to discriminate. 

I beg leave to suggest to the committee, most respectfully, the propriety of appro­
priating money at once to pay off all the just claims which the State of Texas may 
have against the United States on account of services rendered by volunteers. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
JOHN B. FLOYD, 

Secreta1·y of Wa1'. 
Ron. JEFFERSON DA YI8, 

Chairman Cornntittee on Milita1·y Affai1·s, Senate. 

No. 99. 

OFFICE COMMISSARY GENERAL SUBSISTENCE, 
Washington, January 17, 1859. 

CoLONEL: In compli~nce with your request of the 14th instant, I have the honor to 
state, for the information of the Secretary of War, that subsistence was furnished by 
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this Department to the following-named companies of T~xas volunteers, and for the 
periods opposite, viz: 

Captain G. S. Boggess, Company A, from December 25, 1854, to March 22, 1855. 
Captain J. G. Walker, Company B, from December 9, 1854, to April 2,1855. 
Captain W. R. Henry, Company C, from November 29,1854, to April 4, U355. 
Captain W. Fitzhugh, Company D, from December 25, 1854, to March 23, 1855. 
Captain C. E. Travis, Company E, from December 9,1854, to Aprill, 1855. 
Captain P. H. Rogers, Company F, from December 24,1854, to March 21,1855. 
The records of this office do not show that any others of the Texas volunteer com­

panies named in the statement of the comptroller of that State received subsistence 
from this Department. 

The communication of Governor Runnels and the statement of the comptroller 
are herewith returned. 

Very respectfully, your most obedient servant, 

Colonel S. CooPER, 
Adjtttant Ge.neral. 

J. P. TAYLOR, 
Assistant Commissary General Subsistenc<> 

No. 100. 

QUARTEHl\IASTER GENERAL'S OFFICE, 
Washington City, Janua1·y 29, 1859. 

SIR: In reply to your request of the 14th instant, asking to be informed whether 
any issues or disbursements were made by the Quartermaster's Department on acconnt 
of the volunteers who were called into service for the protection of the fro.ntiers of 
Texas during the years 1854, ].855, 1856, and 1857, I have respectfully to inform you 
that all the supplies furnished through this Department which were required by them 
were provided, and when the vouchers for the same were analyzed in this office and 
sent to the Treasury for settlement, a request was preferred that the value of the 
articles with which they had been furnished, and the amount of the disbursement>: 
that bad been made on their accounts, might be charged to the appropriation for thE;l 
support of Texas volunteers, approved on the 3d of March, 1855, wbic~, from inquiry 
at the Treasury, I learn has been done: 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Colonel S. CooPER, 

TH. S. JESUP, 
Qnartennaster Geneml. 

Adjtttant General, U. S. A., Washington, D. C. 

No. 101. 

ADJUTANT GENERAL's Ol!' FICE, 
Washington, D. C., February 1, 1859. 

Sm : I have the honor to submit herewith copies of reports which have been re­
ceived from the Quartermaster General, Commissary General, and Chief of Ordnance, 
in further . response to the oaU made by the Military Committee of the Senate for 
information relating to the volunteers called out by the State of Texas for the protec­
tion of her frontier in the years 1854, 1855, 1856, 1857, and 1858, and in relation to the 
claim of that State, now pending before Congress, for re-imbursemenb of her expenses 
incurred on their account. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Secreta1·y of War. 

No. 102. 

S. COOPER, 
.ddjtttant General. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Febl'llary 2, 1859. 
S1R: I have the honor to transmit herewith a report from the Adjutant General, cov­

. eriug copies of communications from the Quartermaster General, . Commissary General, 
and Chief of Ordnance, in further response to your letter of the 3d ultimo, relative to 
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the claim of t,he State of Texas for re-imbursement of expenses incurred for the sup­
port of volunteers called out by the governor. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. JEFFERSON DAVIS, 
Chairman Committee on Military Affairs, Senate. 

No. 103. 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Secretary of War. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Ma1·ch 19, 1859. 
Sm: The muster-rolls for your company were received here some weeks since, and 

a report also soon thereafter, which would hav~ been acknowledged sooner if I had 
been able to arrive at a definite conclusion as to the time at which the services of the 
company could be dispensed with. Having received up to this time no definite infor­
mation when the United States troops will commence active operations, and learning 
from your last report (received a few clays since) that depredations have not only 
continued but increased in number, it is determined that the company shall be con­
tinued in service until the 23d day of April, at which time yon will cause it to be 
disbanded, unless otherwise ordered. 

Your cotuse in calling into service an additional number of twenty or twenty-:fiye 
men, to meet existing emergencies, is approved. 

You will not, however, further augment the present number, unless the opportunity 
should be presented of attacking the Indians in body and striking a sign;>~,} blow. You 
will acknowledge the receipt of this and communicate any information of which you 
may be possessed in regard to the state of affairs on your part of the frontier. 

Very respeCtfully, 
H. R. RUNNELS. 

Captain JAMES BOURLAND. 

No. 104. 

April 12, 1859, Adjutant General. February 16, 1859, General D. E. Twiggs, Depart­
ment of Texas, forwards report of Brevet Major Van Dorn in regal'd to the treatment 
of In<1ians when found off their reservations. 

The commander of the Department of Texas may enforce hostilities against all 
Indians found off their reserves within the limits of this department. 

The rule should be applied with some discrimination, however, with reference to 
tribes or bands generally peaceful, individuals of which may be found beyond their 
limits with no evident hostile intention. 

The subject of combined operations against the Comanches will be deferred for such 
future action as the exigencies and interests of the service may render expedient. 

War lJepartment, April 5, 185~. 

No. 105. 

STATE OF TEXAS. 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Secretary of Wa,r. 

Whereas late information bas been received at my office to the effect that a large 
body of men are nO\Y assembled in arms near the Brazos agency for the avowed purpose 
of attacking and making war upon the Indians of said agency; and whereas this 
movement is the resultofthe many difficulties and continued quarrels and disturbances 
between the citizens on that frontier and the Indians at the agency, which have iucreased 
for months past; :mel whereas all the best interests of the State require an immediate 
peaceable and permanent settlement of said disturbances : 

Now, therefore, I, H. R. RUJ.lnels, governor of said State, do hereby constitute and 
appoint the following-named citizens, to wit, George B. Erath, John Henry Brown, 
Richard Coke, J. M. Steiner, and J. M. Smith, a board of peace commissioners, with 
power and authority to repair to said Brazos agency and represent the State of Texas 
in the peaceable and lawful adjustment of said difficulties. 

In testimony whereof I have'hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
• 



128 CLAIMS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

the State to be affixed at the city of Austin this the 6th day of June, A. D. 1859, and 
in the year of the independence of Texas the twenty-fourth. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 
By the govern or : 

T. S. ANDERSON, 
Secretm·y of State. 

Instructions to Mess1·s. Erath, Colee, Smith, Bl'own, and Steiner, pQace c~nwtissione!'s, <fc. 

1st. The first and main object of your mission is to prevent all further violence 
between the citizens of Texas and the friendly Indians on the reservation and the 
United States troops there stationed. You will therefore repair at the earliest possible 
time to the lower reservation, and if you find any arm('d body of citizens assembled 
there, or in that vicinity, you will confer with them and wit,h the agent at the reserve 
and officers in command of the United States troops there stationed. 

2d. With acts of violence which may have beeen already committed, you have 
nothing to do, as they must be adjudicated upon by the courts of the county, but you 
will use all your exertions to gather facts for the purpose of ascertaining the true 
cause of the difficultieR, and to remove by all legal means those causes in the future, and 
thereby secure a settlement between the parties which will insure permanent peace. 

3d. You will use all peaceable and lawful means to induce the citizens to desist from 
further violence, and return to their homes, by giving them assurance of the determi­
nation of the Federal Government to remove the Indians bevond the limits of the 
State at an early day, as well as of the earnest desire and m:iceasing efforts of the 
State ant_horities to hasten that consummation, and at the same time warn them of the 
evil consequences of any unlawful acts which must result, not only to themselves, but 
to the citizens on the whole frontier. 

4th. Yon wiH also use your efforts to induce the agents and superintendents to adopt 
conciliatory measures and prevent any hostilities ou the part of the Indians, and to 
keep all Indians within the limits of the reservations, in onler that non-intervention, 
except with persons coming on the reserve for peaceable purposes, may avert the possi­
bility of suspicion on either part, and insure peace till the final removal of the tribes 
can be effected. 

Finally, to effect the object of your mission, you are clothed with the power in the 
last resort to call into the military service of the State one hundred men, for the purpose 
of preserving the peace and preventing violations of the law as between the parties, 
and with all other lawful powers with which I can invest you; aU of which you exer­
cise with the utmost prudence, and report tlte facts and your action to this office. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

P. S.-You are also authorized and empowered to associate with you, as a member 
or members of the board, any other person or persons, if you think it will further the 
ends of the mission. 

No.106. 

fExtract.J 

Pay-roll of two detachments of Texan mounted rangers * * * called into ser-
vice by orders of the peace commissioners appointed by Governor H. R. Runnels for 
the protect,ion of the frontier adjacent to tlJe Indian reserves. 

MEMORANDUM. 

Dates of service. 

Captain. Aggregate 
force. 

From- To-

John Henry Brown. ___ ... ___ •• _ . _. __ .. ___ .. 84 June 28, 1859 Sept. 12, 1859 
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No. 107. 

July 14, 1859, Adjutant General. Aprill9, 1~59, Brevet Major. Gener.al: D. E. T':iggs, 
San Antonio, incloses a letter from the supermtendent of Indtan Affairs, relative to 
difficulties between citizens of Texas and the _Indians on the lower reservation; thinks 
the United State::! troops should not interfere in the matter. 

A sufficient force will be employed to protect the Indians on the reservations. It 
should be large enough to overawe and prevent extreme measures. 

"\Var Department, J1tly 14, 1859. 
WM. R. DRINKARD, 

Acting Se01·etary of Wat·. 

No. 108. 

July 18, 1859, Adjutant General. July 7, 1859, submits letter from Brevet Brigadier 
General Twiggs, San Antonio, in regard_ to the ~em oval of the ~nclians ~rom the Texas 
reservations, and suggests that a compltance wtth the order wtllleaye maclequate pro­
tection to the frontier. 

The orders contemplate a temporary arrangement merely. Two companies of in­
fantry will be supplied for the purpose. 

War Department, July 16, 1859. 
WM. R. DRINKARD, 

Acting Secretary of Wm·. 

No. 109 

Captain W. G. TOBIN, San Antonio: 
EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Octobet· 13, 1859. 

You are hereby authorized and instructed to muster into the temporary service of 
the State one hundred men, for the purpose of assisting the civil authorities in the 
county of Cameron in quelling the lawless and bloody disturbances at the city of 
Brownsville. . 

1st. You will immediately, upon the organization of the company, and at the 
earliest possible day, repair to the city of Brownsville, and there with the force under 
your command you will repel a,ny invasion or quell any insurrection which may be 
attempted Ly armed bodies of lawless men in that county or vicinity within the limit 
of the State of Texas. 

2cl. You will promptly and at every hazard arrest the parties charged with the 
murder of peaceable citizens in Brownsville on the 28th of September last, resist all 
further attempts on the part of said offenders against the lives and property of the 
citizens, and protect said against such until the offenders are secured and the civil 
authorities are enabled to enforce the law. 

3d. You will be prudent and refrain from disturbing Mexican or American cit­
izens, or encroaching upou Mexican soil, the sole object of your mission being to arrest 
offenders and prevent further violent and lawless assaults upon the citizens in that 
vicinity and their property, and when this object is obtained and the people are se­
cure in their lives, you will disband your men from the service of the State. 

4th. You will, by reports, keep the department regularly and fully informed of 
your action and movements. -

The men brought into service will be expected to arm and equip, furnish themselves, 
and look alone to the next legislature for such remuneration therefor, and for such 
pay as they deserve. You are authorized to increase your force after reachino· Browns-
ville, if absolutely necessary, to carry out the above instructions. "' 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

No. 110. 

JOHN S. FORD : 
EXECUTIVE. OFFICE, Austin, November 17, 1859. 

Yon are hereby authorized to enlist and organize a company of mounted men, to 
consist of one captain, one first lieutenant, one second lieutenant, four sergeants, four 
corporals, two buglers, two farriers and blacksmiths, and seventy-four privates, or a 
number and an organization approximating the above. Your company will proceed 
to Goliad and elect their commissioned officers, unless otherwise ordered by John s. 

H. Ex. 277--9 
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:E'ord, the mustering officer. The service required is to protect the western frontier 
against Cortinas and his band and to arrest them if possible. The term will expire 
at the discretion of t,he governor or legislature. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 
Duplicate of this directed to M. B . Highsmith. 

ExECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, November 17,1859. 
Sm: You are here hereby authorized to muster into the volunteer militia service of 

the State of Texas --- mounted men, for the purpose of quelling the insurrection 
or resisting the armed invasion of one--- Cortinas and his followers in the south­
western border of said State. In executing this authority you will be guided by the 
following in-structions, to wit: 

1st. The companies of men already raised in Bexar, Victoria, Gonzales, and other 
counties will be adopted into this service and organized under these instructions. 

* 
2<1. You will organize the force as nearly as possible upon the basis adopted in the 

United States Army, having each company to consist of one captain, one first lieuten­
ttnt and one seeond lieutenant, four sergeants, four corporals, two buglers;two farriers 
and blacksmiths, ~tnd seventy-four privates. 

3d. Immediately upon the organization of each company the men will elect their 
commissioned officers, and as early as possible they will also elect their fielu officers, 
and commissions will be forwarded for all of said officers from this office to you at 
any designated point immediately upon the receipt of the i1iformation of said elec­
tions, and until said elections of :field officers you will command the entire corps. 

4th. When the force is organized the commanding officer will appoint a quartermas­
ter, paymaster, &c. 

5th. As the companies are organized, and until the organization of the whole corps 
is completed, you are authorized to cout,ract for, upon the credit of the State, and thus 
fnrnisb, snpplies of subsistence, forage, ammunition-, and all other needful articles, and 
also for the necessary menus of transportation for the same. . 

6th. The point at which the troops raised under these instructions shall be the town 
of San Pelvecia, if practicable; but, if not, then the selection of said point is left to your 
discretion. 

7th. You will, as far as may be possible, or as the emergency will permit, rflceive 
only such men as are able-bodied, well mounted, a.Jd well armed. You are expected 
to execute the duties imposed by these instructions by the earliest day, and when said 
duties are performed the commanding officer of the whole force will proceed in obe­
(lience to other instructions, which are herewith handed you. 

8th. Instnwtion.-During the time required to complete said organization all the 
men enlisting in said service, commissioned or non-commissioned officers, privates, or 
persons in anywise attached to the service, are hereby required to pay due respect and 
obedience to your orders, and you will adopt the Articles of War and the Regulations 
of the Unit,ed States Army in the governance of said force, except where manifestly 
inapplicable. 

9th. You will rank aA major, and receive the same an1l reserve the pay and emolu­
ments of a like grade in the cavalry arm of the United States service until the services 
above designated have been performed and the field organization completed. 

H. R. RUN NELS. 
JOHN S. FORD. 

No. 111. 

EXECUTIVE DEPARTJ\'I:ENT, January 23, 1860. 
SIR: You are l1ereby appointed paymaster, for the purpose of paying off the com­

panies of Captain JohnS. Ford and Captain Jobn H. Brown. 
You will be careful to 1lischarge the dut.ies ih0ident and belonging to the appoint­

ment, and will be entitled to such compensation as is by law allowed, and before enter­
ing on the duties yon will give bond according to law and take an oath to discharge 
the duties of the office of paymaster. 

I have the honor to be, your obedient servant, 
[SEAL.] SA.M HOUSTON. 

P . S.-You will also proceed to pay off Captain J. Bourland's company, at Gaines­
ville, Cooke county, Texas. 

SA.M HOUSTON. 
JOHN M. SWISHER, Esq. 
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No.112. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Ji'ebntary 28, 1860. 
Sm: Your dispatch was received and promptly submitted to the President, \Yheu 

action was immediately had to carry out your ·wishes. . 
Such measures as the means and the power of this Department conld command have 

been taken for the defense of the Texan frontier on the Mexican border. 
An officer of great discretion and ability has been dispatched to take command of 

the Department of Texas, and has no doubt arrived at the scene of action before this 
date. Strong additional re-enforcements \vill be sent into Texas as soon as the season 
of the year will render a movement of troops possible. 

Hon. SAMUEL HousToN, 
Governo1· of Texas. 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
SecretCl1'!J of Wm·. 

No. 113. 

Tm~ASURY DEPARTMENT, 
Second Auditor:s Office, Ma1·ch 3, 1860. 

SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the recel.)!t of a letter from the. c11ainnan of 
tlu~ Committee on Military Affairs and the Militia of the United States Senate, with 
its inclosnres, with a request for a report thereon. 

The object of the letter is for the purpose of acting understandingly on the claim of 
the State of Texas for money advancecl by her for services rendered by volunteers 
called into service by the governor of said State for the protection of the frontier of 
said State. 

The letter embraces three points, to wit: 
First. The amount of claims of Texas now pending in the \Var Department; 
Seconllly. The nature of the claims; and, 
Thirdly. Any information in relation to these claims which the \Var Department 

can furnish. 
In reference to the first and second points, this office can give no information, inas­

much as no claims ha\'C ever been filed or received from the State of Texas. 
As to the third point. I have nothing to report directly touching- the qnestion, but 

as one of the papers submitted is called a statement of the amounts paid and assumed 
by the State of Texas for the support of volunteers called into service for the protec­
tion of the frontier since the 2~th clay of February, 1855, I beg leave to offer a few rc­
lllarks touching the matter incidentally, which may be the means of eliciting further 
iuqniry. 

This statement presents the snm of $55,000, having been appropriated by the State 
of Texas for the pay of Captains W. R. Henry, Giles S. Boggess, John G. vValker, W. 
Fitzhu()'h, P. H. Rodgers, and Charles E. Travis, companies of volunteers, being six 
compa;ies called out by Geneml P. F. Smith, United States Army. 

The State of Texas alleges to have paid these companies $4S,975.38, leaving a bal­
ance of $9,024.62 subJect to be drawn for said purpose. 

Section 1 of act of Congress, 3d March, 18i5, ehapter 169, provides the sum of 
$137,755.38 for pay, supplies, and traveling expenses of six companies of Texas volun­
teers, called into service by the governor of Texas and mustered into the service of 
the United States; and secllion 21 of the civil and diplomatic expenses of Government 
for the year ending J nne 30, 1856, and for other purposes, approved March 3, 1855, pro­
vides the sum of $25,000 to pay the necessary expenses of six companies of volunteers 
called into the service of the United St.ates by Brigadier General Smith, in the State 
of Texas, to be paid under the direction of the Secretary of War. 

The six companies alluded to in the aforesaid sections are the identical companies 
stated in the abstract of particulars submitted by the State of Texas, and by a letter 
addressed to Colonel S. Cooper, Adjutant General1 United States Army, on the 8tlt 
.January, 1859. It will be observed this office has paid these companies to the amount 
of $68,449.70, a copy of saiu letter, with a list of the companies, being inclosed. 

All the papers snbmittecl to me I herewith respectfully return. 
I remain, truly yours, 

Hon. JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Secretm·y of War. 

T. J. D. FULLER, 
Second Auditor. 



132 CLAIMS OF THE STA.TE OF TEXA.S. 

No. 114. 

TREASURY DEPARTMENT, 
Third Auditor's O.Uice, Mm·ch 12, 1860. 

SIR: I had the honor to receive from you on the 6th instant, for a report, the letter 
addressed to your Department on the 18th of January last by Ron. Jefferson Davis, 
chairman of the Committee on Military Affairs of the United States Seoate, relative to 
claims of the State of Texas, on account of volunteers called out for the protection of 
said State against Indian hostilities. 

Mr. Davis transmits Senate Resolutions No.3, referred to his committee by the Senate, 
and desired that said committee may be informed wha,t amount of claims of the State 
of Texas is now pending in your Department; what is the nature of said. claims; if 
they were for the payment of volunteer troops; whether, in the opinion of your De­
partment there was a necessity for calling them into service at the time; also, for any 
information in relation to the Texas claims which you may be able to furnish, so as to 
enable said committee to act understandingly npon them. The resolution limits the 
inquiry to claims created or assumed by said State subsequent to 2"tlt February, 1855.' 

In reply I have the honor to state that no claim of the State of Texas, of any de­
scription, has been presented at or :filed in tllis office since the 2d day of January, 1852. 
'l'he letter of Mr. Davis and accompanying papers are herewith returned. 

I am, with great respect, your obedient servant, 

Ron. J OH.c~ B. FLOYD, 
Secretary of W a1·. 

No. 115. 

R. J. ATKINSON, 
Auditor. 

vVAR DEPARTMENT, March 14, 1860. 
SIR: Your dispatch of the 8th instant has been received and submitted to the Presi­

dent. He directs me to say that he declines your tender of volunteers, inasmuch as a 
dispatch has this day been received by the Adjutant General of the Army from Brevet 
Colonel Harvey Brown, Second Artillery, dated New Orleans, March 13, 1860, in which 
he says, " I left Brownsville on the 8th instant. All was quiet on the frontier. The 
disturlnmces were believed to be over, and Cortinas to have given up the contest and 
to have retired into tlle interior of Mexico. Major Heintzelman llas officially reported 
the war to be enl1ed." 

This information, being so much later and more direct from the scene of the late diffi­
culties than you could have received at Austin at the date of your dispatch, leads the 
President to believe that you are mistaken or have been misinfc)rmed. 

Besides, there are now in Texas, ready for active service, two thonsand six hundred 
and fifty-one troops, wllich force will soon be increased by the addition of ten com­
panies, comprising eight huudred and. forty-two men, now under orders to proceed 
there from New Mexico. Of these last, five companies are to be st.ationed at Ringgold 
Barracks and five at Fort Clark. The quota of arms now due to the State of Texas, 
under the law, amounts to one hundred and sixty-nine muskets, which, in an emergeucy, 
may be donbled by anticipating the quota for the next year, and which will be 
promptly delivered upon your requisition. As the money value of the arms for the two 
quotas does not amount to $5,000, you will readily perceive that it is entirely im­
practicabl~.>, to meet the requisition for arms, appendages, and accouterments made 
in your dispatch, the cost of which, at the lowest estimate, is within a fraction of 
$100,000. 

The President further directs me to say that, with a sincere desire in every practic­
able way to meet the wishes of the governor and people of Texas, he conceives he has 
already performed his whole duty in the premises, under the circumstances. 

Very respectfully, 
W. R. DRINKARD, 

His Excellency SAM HOUSTON, 
Act-ing Scarctm·y of War. 

Govcr1w1· of Texas, Austin, Texas. 
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No. 116. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, March 31, 1860; 
SIR: I had the honor to receive on the 1st instant your letter of the 18th January 

last, inclosing a resolution to provide for the payment of the claims of Texas for the 
re-imbursements of money expended for the support of volunteers called out for the 
protection of the State, and asking information on the subject. In reply I have the 
honor to transmit herewith reports of the Second and Thircl Auditors, from which it 
will be perceived iihat there are no claims of the State of 'rexas now pending before 
this Department. 

The statement of the comptroller of Texas, transmitted with the report of the 
Second Auditor, is the only evidence received at tl.lis Department that Texas has suclt 
claims against the United States. 

The resolution is returned. 
Very respectfully, your obedient sen-ant, 

Hon. JEFFERSON DAVIS, 
Chairman Comm-ittee on Military Affairs, Senate. 

No. 117. 

JOH~ B. FLOYD, 
Secretm·y of War. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, September 11, 1860. 
Rm: In answer to the inquiries contained in your letter of the 14th ultimo, I have 

the honor to state that, in order to procure the settlement of the account for expenses 
incurred by the State uf Texas for frontier defenses, a full statement of that account, 
})roperly sustained by original vouchers, shoulU be transmitted to this Department. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. E. S. N. CAVE, 
Secretm·y of State of Texas, Austin. 

No. 118. 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Secretary of War. 

November 15, 1860, Seconcl Auditor, (F 115,) reports on letter of E. S. N. Cave, calling 
attention to the two appropriations to re-imburse the State of Texas for money paid on 
account of frontier defenses. 

I have examined and considered the evidence submitted for roy decision on the ques­
tion presented in the proviso to the sixth section of the act of June 21, 1860, making 
"appropriations for the support of the Army for the year ending 30th .J nne, 1861," 
and am sat,isficd that there was a necessity for calling out the Texas volunteers men­
tioned therein, and that they were called out by competent authority. 

The Second Auditor will, therefore, have the claim of Texas audited under the pro­
visions of tbe said sixth section as soon as the proper vouchers of the claim of the 
State are received by him. 

War Department, November 15, 1860. 
J. B. FLOYD, 

Secretary of War. 

No. 119. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Decembe1· 17, 1860. 
Sm: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your communications by mail 

of the 28th ultimo, and by telegraph of the 6th instant, desiring that a corps of Texas 
rangers may be called into the service of the United States in view of late depreda­
tions anc1murders committed by Indians on the frontiers of Texas. 

In reply, I h[tve respectfully to inform you that, Congress having given no sanction 
for such a measure, this Department is without the necessary power to adopt it. In 
connection with this subject, [Leg leave to say that, in consequence of vrevious repre­
sentations from your excellency and the unprotected state of the frontier settlements 
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in Texas, the number of regular troops in that military department bas been recently 
much augmented, so tbat it now exceeds what it has been at any time before. It now 
consists of five companies of artillery, two of which are armed with light batteries, ten 
companies of cavalry, and twenty-five companies of infantry, in all, eqnal to four I"egi-
ments. · 

I cannot permit myself to d.oubt that these troops win be found efficient and ready 
for any active service the Indian relations in the State may demand, and tllat, so soon 
as the proper commanders 011 the spot benome aware of tile need of their ~ssistance in 
any quarter, it will be promptly and successfully applied. 

I have the honor to be, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

His Excellency SAM HousTON, 
Govenwr of Texas, Aus#n. 

No. 120. 

THE STATE OF 'TEXAS, Executive Depm·trnent: 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Secretm·y of War. 

I, the undersigned, governor of the State aforesaid, do hereby cert.ify that a company 
of mounted rangers, mustered into the service of the State of Texas on tbe 28th da.y 
January, 1858, commanded by Captain JohnS. Ford, were duly recognized as having 
been called out by competent authority, and ordered to be paiu by act of the legisla­
ture of the State of Texas approved January 27, 1858. 

In testimony whereof I have caused the seal of the State to be affixed. Done at the 
city of Austin this 25th day of January, A. D. 1861, and in the year of the Independence 
of the United States the eighty-fifth and of Texas the twenty-fifth. 

[SEAL.] SAM HOUSTON. 

By the governor: 
E. w. CAVE, 

Secreta1·y of State. 

No. 121. 

TREASURY DEPARTMI~NT1 
Second Attdito1·'s Office, FebTuary 13, 1861. 

Sm: The State of Texas, through C. R . .Johns, esq., comptroller of the State, pre­
sents the claim of said State under the sixth section of act of Cougress, June 21, 1860, 
and his authority for so doing, I derive from a certified copy of an act of the legisla­
ture of the State, passed January 28, 1861, inclosed. Inasmuch as your predecessOl', 
on the 15th November, 1860, decided the necessity for calling ont troops by the State 
of Texas, and that they were called out by competent authority, I have now only to 
consider at present two points; to v-vit: first, that the amount, now claimed was 
actually paid by the State of Texas; secondly, the compensation to be allowed i:s 
only for the period during which said troops were actively employed in military ser­
vice. .From the limited period allowed me to examine the claim presented, arising 
from Mr . .Johns's desire of a speedy action, I am satisfied the papers are very loosely 
made out, and very deficient in many essential particulars, as is more fnlly elucidated 
in an exhil>it marked A, herewith inclosed.'* What is that but evidence, if paid by 
an agent, tha,t said agent was duly appointed and recognized as snch; that certa.in 
sums were advanced to him by the State for said purposes, and t.hat he made pay­
ments, giving the time of said payments as evidence of his disposition of funfls 
advanced to him and paid by the State. If paymeuts were directly made by the 
treasurer, we should have some tangible evidence of the fact, showing the time when 
paid and the warrant on which payment was made. Every fact should be substan­
tiated by affidavit, and the whole submitted under the broad seal of the State. Now, 
as to the period for which payment should. be mad.e, the law requires it should be for 
the time the troops were actively employed in military service. From the evidence 
produced by what is called the muster-rolls, does it appear that the time is actually 
given as to the troops' active employment~ I think not. Take for instance Captain 

. Black's company-roll, which says, "organized in the year 1856." The pay-roll embraces 
a period of one year, from January 1 to December 31, 1856. a.nrl yet on that pay-roll 
but sixty days have been paid for; what sixty out of tbe three hundred and sixty-

*To satisfy the United States that the State of Texas actually paid her troops the amount claimct1 , 
we should require the best proof that. could be obtained. 
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five days is not shown. This is one out of many cases, as yon will perceive by the 
Exhibit A. In or<ler to fnlly adjust the claim of t.he State of Texas under the act of 
Congress of 21st June, 1tl60, in conformity with the practice of this office in like cases, 
it would IJe necessary to have regular muster-rolls, showing the time when each were 
mustered in and ont of l'!ervice; how long each was actually employed during the 
period of service. To these rolls proper affidavits should be annexed, and to the pay­
rolls the exact time pttid for during the whole period should be noted; also by whom 
paid, and when paid, and every voucher should give the period of service and by 
whom paid, so as to show clearly that the St.ate has actually paid the amount claimed. 
Unless this is done I cannot conceive how the Government can refund to the State of 
Texas any amount which she claims. All of which is respectfully submitted. 

Your oiJedient servant, 

Ron. J. Hor.T, 
Se01·etary of Wm·. 

Approved. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, February 14, 1861. 

T. J. J:). FULLER, . 
Second Anditm·. 

J. HOLT, 
Secreta1·y of Wm·. 

List of exceptions to the claim of Stcde of Texas nncle1· act 21st June, 1860, section 6. 

Captain J. H. Callahan's Company.-The pay-roll does not state from whom the 
money was received. 'The three officers of the company produce receipts without ren­
dering any accounts. The amount was received from Colonel John D. Pitts, as pay­
master. 

Captai.n N. Benton's C01npany.-No muster-in roll, but a muster-out one on 15th Octo­
ber, ltl55. No evidence as to who paid the company by the pay-roll, nor at what time 
paid. 

Captain W. R. Hem·y's Company.-No evidence as to who paid the company. 
Captain W. lorn's Company.-The pay-roll does not state the specified month paid or 

by whom paid. The officers were paid on vouchers by one J. H. Rttyrnond, called a 
paymaster. One private paid at treasury of State, a certified copy presented; the 
originals in all cases have been required IJy the Secretary of vVar. 

Captain W. G. Tobin's Company.-A list is given of the company as to the commence­
ment and ending of service, called a muster-roll, and is alleged as a copy of his com­
pany. No evidence on the pay-roll who paid the company. Captain Tobin is pai(l 
for ot1e month's service by J. H. Raymond, called paymaster, but the year and precise 
month is not given. 

Captain Levi English's Company.-A list is furnished for a muster-roll. Officers paid 
on vouchers by J. H. Raymond, caJlecl treasurer. Length of time given but the par­
ticular month and year not given. The pay-roll does not state from yvhom received. 
Privates paid at treasury are known only by copies.· The originals not produced. 

Captain Sansom's CornpanJJ.-A muster-in but no muster-out roll. Mustered in on 
19th April, 1856. Pay-roll paid by N. Robinson, called paymaster, from 16th April to 
16th July, 185-6. The pay commences three days before muster in. 

Captain Davenpo1't's C01npany.-Paid by N. Robinson, called paymaster. Period, 
MaL"ch 13, 1856, to 1st June, 1H57. But three months' time paid. 

Captain Black's Cornpany.-A ro11 is presented which says organized in year 1856-
sixty days. Pay-roll is from 1st January to 31st December, 1856, one year; yet but 
sixty days is paid for by N. Robinson, called paymaster. 

Lieutenant T. K. Cm·rnaclc's Company.-A list of names is called a muster-in roll. 
Pay-roll paid by J. H. Raymond, called treasurer. No voucher received of the private 
paid at treasury. 

Captain J. H. Connor's Company.-The muster-roll purports to be a mere copy; the 
original is not produced. Pay-roll does not state from whom received. 

Lieutenant IJ'. C. Prost's C01npany.-A muster-in but no muster-out roll. The pay·roJl 
does not state by whom paid. Lieutenant Frost p~1>id on voucher, but by whom is 
not mentioned. 

Captain J. S. Hoclges's Company.-A must.er-in roll, 14th December, 1857. Thepay-roJI 
is for three months; but uy whom paid is not stated. Captain Hodges is paid for 
four and one-half months, a one and one-half beyond the company. No evidence ex­
cept his own statement of services as to the excess, nor is it stated from whom he 
received pay. Privates paid at the treasury are stated, bnt no vouchers. 

Captain J. S. Ford's Company.-Pa.y-roll purports to be paid by EchYarcl Burleson, 
called paymaster. Officers' vouchers fail to st.ate from whom paid. 
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No. 122. 

TREASURY DEPARTME:NT, 
Third Auditm·'s Office, Febnta1'Y 2.3, 1861. 

Ron. J. HOLT, Secretm·y of War: 
On the 16th instant I received from the Second Auditor a large mass of papers repre­

senting a claim of the State of Texas against the United States, under the acts of March 
3, 1854, chapter 83, and of June 21, 1850, chapter 163, for re-imbursement of moneys 
expended on account of military services of Texas volunteers in 1854, 1855, 1856, 1857, 
1858, anc11859. Accompanying was a report thereon by the Second Auditor, of the 
13th, which you approved on the 14th instant, by which it is required "that evidence 
must be furnished that the payments made by the State were by officers of sai<l State 
regularly authorized and commissioned to do so." It is also required, not only that the 
volunteers were called out by proper authority, but the dates of muster in and muster 
out of service must also be established, together with "the periods during which said 
troops were actively employed in the military service," as the law requires. 

The allowances and payments through the Third Auditor's Office will essentially de­
pend upon a compliance by the State with the a hove decision of the Secretary of War 
upon the report of the Second Auditor. The accounts and vouchers to be acted upon 
by the Second Auditor are separate from those belonging to the Third, and upon the 
latter the following remarks are submitted: 

Lieutenant John H. Connm-'s company. 

In service from December 2, 1859, to March 2, 1858: 
Amount .........•.......................•.. _._ ............. _ .•..•.. _ ..• 
Account of W. L. vVilliams for horse lost, no date of loss........ $105 00 
Account of J. Gayne, for mule-hire, receipt not filled up......... 24 00 

No remarks upon t,he rest of the voucher. 

Lieutenant John S. Hodges's company. 

In service from December 14, 1857, to March 14, 1858: 
Amount . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ........................•..• 
Account of Thomas Johnson for mule-hire, the receipt not signed 

or dated ..........................................•........ 
Account of John Campbell ................................... . 
Account ofT. M. Martin ..................................... . 
Account of Joseph B. Miller .................................. . 
Account of JohnS. Hodges, for blacksmithing, receipt not filled up 
Accounts of sundry persons for blacksmithing; no evidence of 

payment to the parties entitled .......................•....• 

Lieutenant C. Frost's company. 

In service from December 21, 1857, to March 21, 1858: 

$24 00 
24 00 
24 00 
24 00 
4 00 

51 50 

Amount ..............•...........................••...••.•......•...... 
Accounts o:tJ ames M. Hornsby, vVilliam Reed, William R. Cowen, 

and Charles W. Neal, for mule-hire, $24 each; the receipts are 
not dated...... . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . • $96 00 

Lieutenant Thomas K. Carmack's company. 

In service from December 14, 1857, to March 14, 1858: 
Amount .....•...........................•.•.........•.•..•...........• 
No objection to payment for mule-hire. 

Captain J:{at. Benton's company. 

In service from September 15 to October 15, 1855: 
Amount ... _ .................................................•..•...... 
A roll of losses of horses and arms by H. B. King and ten others, 

with affidavits of loss. There are no receipts, and it is very 
doubtful whether the acts of 1859 and of 1861 provide for any 
payments other than the pay aud allowances of the troops .... 

$201 00 

129 00 

151 50 

96 00 

96 00 

935 00 

935 00 
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Captain James H. Callahan's company. 

In service from July 20, to October 19, 1855 : 
Amount.·.---·-----···--····--····-·········--·····-··········-········· $7,988 60 
Sundry accounts, from 1-14, such as are objectionable, are so 

noted on the account ....................................... $5,750 60 
Roll of losses of horses and arms by W. H. Wood and twenty-
eight others; same remarks as to Captain Nat. Benton's com-
pany, above...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • 2, 238 00 

• 
7,988 60 

Captain WWiam R. Hen1·y's company. 

In service from September 15, to October 15, 1855 : 
Amount .........•.•.•.......•..................................•...•.. 1,290 00 
A roll of losses of horses and arms by W. R. Henry and fourteen 

others, with affidavits of loss ; same remarks as to Captain 
Nat. Benton's company, above .............................. $1,290 00 

Captain William Tom's company. 

In service from the 18th of October, to 16th November, 1855: 
Amount .............•...•.......•............................•...•...• 
Account of Ezra Keyser, for amount paid for subsistence ; the 

quantity of each article and the rates of charge should be 
given, and the receipts of the parties to whom Mr. Keyser paid 
the several amounts should be stated.......... .. . . . . . .. . . . . . $408 97 

Captain John S. FoTd's company. 

In service from January 10, to August 5, 1858: 

408 97 

Amount belonging to Third Auditor's office.... . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . 46, 884 57 
And :first a roll of losses of horses and arms, amounting to $568, 

to which the same remarks are applicable as to Captain Nat. 
Benton's company; upon the vouchers for the balance of the 
amount, such as are objectionable are so noted on the account $46,884 57 

Miscellaneous expenses for frontier defenses, amount Third Audi-
tor •.•..•.....•. Q ~ ••• ••••••••••••••• _ ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• , 755 85 

Th~ objections are noted on the several accounts................... 58, 807 49 

Six companies of Texas rangers, called into service by Governor E. M. 
Pease, from October 30, until mustered into the service of the United 
States, for the three months as follows: 

Captain J. G. Walker, mustered into the service of United States, Decem­
ber 1, H354. 

Captain C. E. Travis, mustered into the service of United States, Decem­
ber 1, 1854. 

Captain W. R. Henry, mustered into the service of United States, Decem­
ber 14, 18M. 

Captain J. H. Rodgers, mustered into the service of United States, Decem­
ber 22, 1854. 

Captain G. S. Boggess, mustered into the service of United States, Decem­
ber 23, 1854. 

Captain William Fitzhugh, mustered into the service of United States, De­
cember 24, 1854. 
And the following amounts belong to the Third Auditor's Office for set­

tlement: 

Captain J. G. Walker's company ............................. . 
Captain C. E. Travis's company ........ _ .......... ~ _ ......... . 
Captain W. R. Henry's company ............................. . 
Captain J. H. Rodgers's company ... _ ....................... .. 
Captain Giles S. Boggess's company ......................... . 
Captain William Fitzhugh's company .. _ •...•••.•. _ ..•........ 

$958 20 
70 70 

269 42 
985 95 

2,059 99 
381 87 

4,726 13 

Total amount retained by Third Auditor........ . • . • • • . • . . . • • . . . . • 63, 533 62 
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· The circumstances of the raising, organizing, and muster into service of the abo,-c 
six: companies are set forth in my report to the Secretary of ·war, upon the claim of 
S. M. Swenson, of .Austin, Texas, dated June 5, 1855, which is snlnnitted herewith. 
That claim was under a contract dated October 30, 1854, with E. M. Pease, governor 
of Texas, for supplying said companies with subsistence, forage, and medicines, camp 
equipage, stationery, ammunition, aud transportation, from the date of said contract 
nntil the companies were mustered into the service of the United States, and was paitl 
through this office in June and .August, 1855, amounting to $20,990.69. 

Of course any part of the present claim of the St~tte for supplies that were furnished 
said companies to the extent they were entitled to, according to existing regnlations, 
ought not to be allowed. With respect to the accounts and vouchers, they appear to 
have been very loosely made out, many of them wanting tbtes and receipts. I would 
therefore suggest that they all be returned to the authorities of the State, through h er 
comptroller, Clement R. Johns, esq., ·to be perfected as follows: Every acconut for 
any kind of. supply should have all the items distinctly set forth, with date, when fur­
nished, and rates of charge, and every account for service of all descriptions should, 
in like manner, have set forth the dates when performed, with rates of charge, and be 
certified to as to correctness by the commanding officer if possible, and, finally, all 
accounts and vouchers should h~~ve the receipt of the parties to whom due, in favor of 
the State or its authorized agent. 

It is proper to state that the objections heretofvre noted to the papers as presentell 
relate almost exclusively to matters of form in making them out, and the require­
ments are preliminary to an investigation with reference to the character of the items 
charged for. The questions of the propriety of the charges, and other questions going 
to the merits of the claims, are reserved for future consideration, when the claims 
shall be again presented with the additional evidence required be tl1e law. 

It is also proper to say that all property purchased by the State agents, not of~~ 
perishable nature, such as horses, mules, oxen, wagons, camp equipage, &c., mnst lw 
accounted for by bci11g shown to have been used up iu the service, or afterward solcl 
for the benefit of the State, or turned in to its proper agents. 

I am, with great respect, your obedient servant, 
R. J. ATKINSON, 

.A~lditor. 
Approved: 

J. HOLT, Sec1'eta1·y of War. 
WAR DEPARTMENT, Feb1'tla1'Y 27, lt:l61. 

No. 123. 

W ASIIINGTON, Febnta1'Y 23, 1861. 
SIR: From your report on the claim of Texas, recently filed, I learn that there a.re 

informalities in the papers and deficiencies in the evidence of such a character as to 
render it necessary that the papers should be returned to Texas for the purpose of being 
perfected and returned to your office. I would therefore ask permission to withdraw 
all the papers in the case. 

Very respectfully, &c., 
CLEMENT R. JOHNS, 

Comptrollm· of the State of Texas. 

Papers returned, accompanied by letter 23d February, 1861. 
C. H. 

No. 124. 
TREASURY DEPARTME~T, 

Thi1'd Audito1'1s O.tfice, Februm·y 2:3, 1861. 
Sm: In compliance with your request, I herewith return all the papers pertaining to 

your office received with your tw<? letters of the 16th instant, transmitting the claim 
of the State of Texas, under the second section of the act of Congress ::tpproved March 
3, 1859, chapter t;3, and the sixth section of the act approved June 21, 1860, chapter 
163. .All the accounts and papers received therewith, referable to this office, have been 
withdrawn and retained for such action as is required in t.he premises. 

I am very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

T. J. D. FULLER, Esq.,­
Second .Auclit01·. 

R. J. ATKINSON . 
.duditor. 

i' 
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No. 125. 

Extractf1'0'tn 1'cmm·7cs on 1·oll of John McDavenport's company. 

TIIE STA'l'E OF TEXAS, Connty of Uvalde: 
I, J. M. McCormick, clerk of the county court in ancl for said county, do hereby certify 

under my official oath that the company of monnted minnte-men commanded by John 
M. Davenport was mustered into service on the 13rh day of March, A. D. 1856, and 
kept up an organization and took the field scouting and pursuing Indians whenever the 
safety of the settlement required it up to the 1st day of June, 1tl57, when said company 
was disbanded from service by the said Captain John M. Davenport, and this roll 
n.dopt.ed as t!Je muster-out roll. And I further certify that the memuers of said 
company were actually employed in the 'military service of said State for the term 
of three months, out at different times between the aforesaid dates, and that the said 
Captain John M. Davenport departed this life on or about the 28th day of October, 
A. D. 1859. 

In testimony whereof I hereunto sign my name and affix the seal of the county court 
of said county at office in Uvalde the 11th day of May, A. D. Hl61. · 

[SEAL.] J. M. McCORMICK, 
Clerlc County Court Dvalde County. 

No. 126. 

[Extract.] 

Mttster-1·oll of Captain Reading W. Black's company of minute-men, o1'ganized in the year 
A.D.1856. 

I certify upon honor that the above-named men served under Captain Reading vV. 
Black as officers and privates in the year 1856, as minute-men, and served the number 

.of days affixed to their names. This the 2d day of August, A. D. 1858. · 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, County of Uvalde: 

JAMES MOSELEY, 
Lieutenant Mimtte Company. 

I, J. M. McCormick, clerk of the county court in and for said county, do hereuJT 
certify that Reading W. Black, captain of said minute company, is at this t1me absent iu 
Mexico. To certify 'vbich I hereunto sign my name and affix the impress of the seal 
of the county comt of said county at office in Uvalde, this the 2d day of August, A. D. 
1858. 

[SEAL.] 

Approved August 31, 1858. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, Uvalcle County: 

J. M. McCORMICK, 
Clerlc County Cmwt Dvalde County. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

Reading W. Black, after being duly sworn, states that he was commander of the com­
pany of mounted minute-men mustered into the service of the State of Texas on the 
1st day of January, 1856, for the protection of the citizens of said county against the 
incursions of Indians, and that said company was held in readiness to pursue and chas­
tise the Indians whenever the alarm was given or they notified of their hostile incur­
sions into said connty, and that the members of said company were at different times 
actively employed in the military service of said State, "between the said 1st day of 
January, 1856, and the 31st day of December 1858, in all two months, and that said 
company was disbanded on the said 31st clay of .March, 1857, there being no regular 
mustering-out officer, and this roll was adopted for a mustering-out roll, and that this 
roll and the remarks thereon are correct and just, to the best of my knowledge and 
belief. 

R. W . BLACK. 

Sworn to and snbscribed before me. To certi{r which I hereto affix the impress of the 
seal of my office at Uvalde this 13th clay of May, 1861. 

[SEAL.] J. M. McCORMICK, 
Clerk Cou·nty CouTt Uvalde County. 
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No.127. 

AN .ACT to authorize the governor to receive from the Treasury of the United States the money 
due the State of 'l.'exas from the United States. · 

SECTION. 1. Be it enacted by the legislatm·e of the State of Texas, That the governor be, 
and is hereby, authorized to receive from the Secretary of the Treasury or other propt~r 
authority of the Government of the United States aU money now undrawn by tbis State 
which has been appropriated by the Congress of the United. States to the State of Texas 
for military services paid by Texas, or for other claims of t.his State; and the money so 
I'eeeived shall be placed by,the governor in the treasury of this State, subject to appro­
priations made for the support of the State government: Provided, That all sums 
received in gold for these claims may be converted into lawfnl money at the market 
value thereof, by the governor, aud the proceeds thereof placet! in the treasury. 

SEc. 2. That whatever the goYernor is authorized to do in person under this act 
he may also do by agent appointed: Provided, That if any other officer of this St.ate is 
authorized a,nd directed by him to perform these services, then such officer shall re­
ceive no compensation therefor beyond his necessary expenses iu performance of 
the same; aud the sum of one thousand dollars, or so much thereof as may be neces­
sary, is hereby appropriated out of any moneys in the treasury to defray expenses 
under this act, to be paid under the n,pproval of the governor. 

SEC. 3. That this act take effect and be in force from and after its passage. 
Approved May 12, 1871. 

No. 128. 

ST.A.TE OF TEXAS, Cmwfy of Tra'Vis: 
Know all men by tbese presents that I, Edmund J. Davis, governor of the State of 

Texas, by virtue of the authority auu power vested in me as governor as aforesaid, by 
act of the legislature of the State of Texas approved May 12, 1871, entitled "An act to 
authorize the governor to receive from the Treasury ofthe United States the money due 
the State of Texas from the United States," have constituted and appointed, and do by 
these presents constitute and appoint, James P. Newcomb, esq., secretary of state of the 
State of Texas, my agent and true and lawful attorney for the performance of the duties, 
and exercise of the powers imposed upon and vested in me by the said act, and do 
hereby authorize and empower the said Jn,mes P. Newcomb, for me and in my place 
and stead, to receive from the Secretary of the Treasury, or other proper authority of 
the Government of the United States, all money now undrawn hy this State of Texas, 
which has been appropriated by the Congress of the United States to the State of 
'l'exas for military services patd by Texas, or for other claims of this State of 'l'exas, 
and I do hereby ratify aud confirm all and every acts or act of my said agent rightfully 
and lawfully uone aud performed by him in the premises for me aud in m.v stead, and 
I do hereby recognize the same as fully and completely as if done by myself by vir­
tue of said a,ct. 

In witness whereof I hereto subscribe my name and cause the seal of the State of 
Texas to be hereto affixed at the executive office, in the city of Austin, this 28th 
day of October, A. D. 1871. 

[SE.A.L.J .. 

By the governor: 
JAMES P. NEWCOMB, 

Searetary of State. 

No. 129. 

EDMUND J. DAVIS, 
Governor. 

Memo1·andnm relative to the claim of the State of Texas on the Gcne1·al Govemment for 
advances made for frontier drfense fr.orn 28th February, 1855, to Ist Scpternbe1·, 1859, and 
amount paid for military services on the Rio Gmndc, 1859 and 1860. 

The statement of advances made for frontier defense from 28th February, 1859,to 1st 
September, 1859, and accompanying papers, embraces the accounts of twenty-five com­
panies of rangers, and amounts to $209,656.99. The transcript from the records of the 
office of the comptroller will show when the money was paid from the State treasury 
and determine the period of time for the computation of interest. Wben the papers 
were presented, in 1861, objections were raised to many accounts, besides the general 
objections that the Government had no proof of the necessity for calling out companies to 
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protect the front.ier. It is now attempted to remove these causes of objection to par­
ticular accounts, it is hoped successfully, and the general objections alluded to are met 
by copies of communications to and from the executive, which will fully demonstrate 
the necessity. The claim for military_services on the Rio Grande amounts to $1~,354.77 
and interest. 

NoTE.-The foregoing appears to have been made by Ron. J.P. Newcomb, secre­
tary of the State of Texas. 

No. 130. 

WASHINGTON, D. C., Nove1nber 11, 1871. 
Sm: I am here to submit to your consideration the original papers pertaining to the 

claim of the State of Texas for re -imbursewent for moneys paid out for frontier defense 
under acts of Congress March 3, 1859, and June 21, 1860, and to ask in behalf of the 
State as speedy an investigation and settlement of the matter as possible, consistent 
with t.be convenience of your Department. 

In the spring of 1861 t.he State of Texas, through its agent, Mr. Clement R. Johns, 
presented this claim, but the rebellion bad already been inaugnrated in the South, and 
the hesitancy of the Department and obstacles thrown in the way of a settlement 
at that time were largely attributable io the threatening condition of the South, and 
actual hostilities began while Mr. Jolms was in Washington, effectually and fortu­
nately putting an end to all further negotiation. The matter bas lain dormant up to 
the inauguration of the present State administration, and it has been with much diffi­
culty that the original papers relating thereto have been gotten together, as the records 
of t-he State W6re thrown into confusion and destroyed to a great extent dmingthe re­
bellion. The papers are now presented in the best possible shape, and constitute the 
only showing the State can make. The objections raised at the time Mr. Johns pre­
sented the case were mainly of a technical nature, to wit, that the vouchers and papers 
were not made on t in all particulars in a business-like manner, lacking formality, 
&c. ; in fact, that the State had done its business in a very loose way. 

vVe have attempted to remove many of the causes of objection then raised, by sup­
plying the evidence required. The State paid these frontier claims, and the only 
fact, it appears to us, necessary to be established, in order that the appropriations 
made by the General Government may be applied to re-imburse the State is that the 
State has liquidated these claims. I believe the evidence I have to present does this 
satisfactorily. The lapse of time and the war have placed it beyouil. our power to make 
good all technical defects, as many of the parties connected wit.h the transactions are 
either dead or their residences unknown, while the whole matter has passed into his­
tory, aud beyond the remedy of technicality. 

Hoping that this business, which is of great importance to onr State, will enlist your 
earnest attention and be dealt with in a liberal manner, I have the honor to be, very 
respectfully, your obedient servant, 

JAMES P. NEWCOMB. 
Ron. GEo. S. BOUTWELL, 

Secretm·y of the Treasm·y, Washington, D. C. 

No. 131. 

W ASRINGTON, D. C., Novernber 16, 1871. 
GENERAL: During our interview on Saturday last, you suggested that there was no 

appropriation to pay the claim of the State of Texas, or rather that by act of J nly 12, 
1!:370, such appropriation had been covered into the Treasury. I hope this point will 
be thoroughly examined before passed or decided adversely to the claim of the State of 
'l'exas, it being, in fact, preliminary-to any settlement of the mat,ter at this time. If 
you will take the two acts, March :1, 1859, and July 21, 1860, together, I think yon will 
conclude that the consideration involved must be construed under the head of a per­
manent appropriation until the matter is finally disposed of by t.he compliance of both 
parties, the State of Texas and the United States Government, with the provisions of 
the act. 

The act of March 3, 1859, section 2, provided for the repayment to the State of Texas, 
out of any moneys not otherwise appropriated, moneys advanced by the State for the 
payment of six companies of mounted volunteers called into service by General P. F. 
Smith, with the proviso, that the allowance should be no greater than for United States 
troops, and for a period of three months. The act of Juue 21, 1860, section 6, extends 
the provision of the act of March 3, 1859, to include all moneys advanced by the State 
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in payment of volunteers called out in defense of tho frontier since 28th of February 
1855, with proviso that the Secretary of 'Var shall be satisfied. that there was a neces­
sity for calling out these troops, that they were called out by competent autlwrity, 
and the amount claimed by the State was actually paid by the State, and the amount 
to be allowed limited to $123,544.51, &c. Had this limit not been statcu, tho State of 
Texas could have come forward and claimed the full amount of her outlays under 
the act. 

I regard the acts cited as a contract, bargain, and agreement on the part of the 
United States Government and the State of Texas. The State of Tt>xas has 1narle good 
its part of the agret~ment; it remains for the United States to complde the matter. If 
the act of July 12, 1870 eliminates the $12:~,544.51 from the act of Jnne 21, 1860, then 
w·e claim a general adjustment of all our claims within the dates mentioned and the 
entire amount expended by the State. 

Respectfully, 

General W. W. BELKNAP, 

JAMES P. NEWCOMB, 
Secretary of State. 

Secretary of War, Washington, D. C. 

No. 132. 

W.\.R DEPATITl\IENT, 
Washington, D. C., Korcmber 16, 1871. 

Sm: Yonr letter of tho 11th instant and certain claims of tho State of Texas, which 
\Yere therewith submitted by you to the honorable tho Secretary of the Trcasnry, have 
been received at this Department, as has also ~·our statement, dated to-day, in relation 
to the application of certain laws. 

The aggregate of the claims, as submitted by your abstract, is $209,656.99. Of this 
amount it is alleged that only $50,001.81 were expended for the six compa.nies referred 
to in the act of March 3, 1809, and the balance, $159,655.18, is claimed, it is supposed, 
under section 6, act of June 21, 1860. 

Regarding the expenses of tho six companies, I have to state that various United 
~tates laws, made '"'ithin the last decade of years, in reference to the applicability of 
appropriations made by former acts, as well as in reference to tho cousidemtiou of cer­
tain claims against the Government, convey to my mind an impression that no officer 
of the Government can at this time admit or pay any portion of these claims. It is un­
clerstoocl that a discretionary power, in rchtion to them, was granted to the bead of 
this Department in the act of March 3, 1859, by which he was "authorized," uut not, 
as in many other cases, specially directed to act, and in thiR instance I prefer to adopt 
the above impression. No claim can now ue considerellmHler section 6 of the act of 
.June 21, 1860, as the amount thereby appropriated, viz, $123,544.51, was carried to the 
'·surplus fund," under section 10 of the act of August 31, 1852, by a warrant <.1:-tted 
.Jnne 30, 1863. 

In view of the foregoing facts, I have to inform you that the claims submitted uy 
yon cannot be favorably entertained at this Department nntil Congress acts further in 
regard to them. 

Very respectfully, your ouedient servant, 
I WM. w. BELKNAP, 

JAMES P. NEWCOi\t:B, Esq., 
Secretary of the State of Texas. 

Secretary of Wa1'. 

No. 133. 

'V ASIIINGTON, D. C., Norember 18, 1871. 
GENERAL: Your reply of November 16 is at hand. Having performed my duty as 

the agent of his excellency Governor E. J. Davis, governor of Texas, in presenting 
the claim of the St.ate of Texas for repayment of moneys advanced by the State to fron­
tier troops called into service by authority of the Unitecl States Govemment, and as 
by your ruling we are entirely excluded from a settlement, unless by further act of 
Congress, I respectfully ask that the papers and vouchers pertaining to this claim be 
Tetained in the custody of your Department, to await further action. 

In conclusion, allow me to thank you for the kindness aud consideration you have 
shown me, and I only regret that the business could not have been settled without 
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fmther delay, as tho money would have been of great assistance to our struggling State 
administration at this time. ' 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
JAMES P. NEWCOMB, 

SecretaT!J of State of Texas. General WM. W. BELKNAP, 
SecTetaTy of Wa1·, Washington, D. C. 

No. 134. 

FORTY-SECOND CONGRESSJ SECOND SESSION. 

CONGRESS OF THE UNITED STATES, 
In the House of Rep1·esentat·i'Ces, Jamtary 18, 1872. 

On motion of Mr. 'VILUAM T. CLARKE, 
Resolt·ed, That the Secretary of w ·ar be, and is hereby, directed to inform this House 

why the money appropriated nuder the acts of Congress, March 3, 1859, and June 23, 
1860, has not been paid to the State of Texas as provided for in said acts. 

Attest: 
EDWARD McPHERSON, Cle1·k. 

By ISAAC STROHM, Assistant Clerk. 

No. 135. 

\VAR DEPARTMENT, January 19, 1872. 
The Secretary of vVar has tue l10nor to send to the House of Representatives, in com­

pliance with a resolution of the 18th of January, 1872, inquiring'' why the money ap­
propriated under the acts of Congress, March 3, 1859, and June 23, 1860, has not been 
paid to the State of Texas as provided for in said acts," the following-mentioned papers, 
which give the requisite information. 

A copy of a letter of November 11, 1871, from the secretary of the State of Texas to 
the Secretar~r of the Treasury, showing why the money had not been paid prior to tlmt 
date. A copy of a letter of November 16, 1871, from the Secretary of War to the sec­
retary of the State of Texas, showing why the money has not been paid since the last-
mentioned date. · 

Wl\L W. BELKNAP, 
Secreta1·!J of War 
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No 136. 

Statement of advances made by the State of Texas, for front·ier defenses, front February 28, 
1855, to September 18, 1858. 

For what purpose. Amount 
paid. 

.A mount Balance 
appropriated. undrawn. 

Amount appropriated December 17, 1855, to pay the three fol- . . . . . . . . . . . . $16, 091 12 . ..... _ ... _. 
lowing-named companies, viz: 

Commanded by Captain James H. Callahan------------ .... $10,080 18 .............. -------- - ---
Commanded by Captain Nat. Benton....................... 2, 509 83 ..................... ___ .. 
Commanded by Captain W. R. Henry .. . .. . . . .. .. .. .. .. . .. . 2, 981 00 .. .. . .. . .. . . .. $520 11 

Amount appropriated, same date, for their subsistence . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5, 755 22 ........... . 
.Amount paid thereon to snndr_y parties . .. .. . .. .. .. . . . .. . . . . . . 5, 750 60 .. . . . .. . .. . . . . 4 62 
.Amount appropriated, same date, for compensation of pay mas- ........... _ 100 00 ........... . 

ter to above-named companies. 
Amount paid John D. Pitts, paymaster ... . . . ... . .. .... .. ... . . . 100 00 ......................... . 
Amount appropriated January 14, 1856, to pay the six following- .......... . . 

named companies called out by General P .. F. Smith: 
55,000 00 ........... . 

Commanded by Captain W. R. Henry....................... 7, 791 58 ......................... . 
Commanderl by Captain Giles S. Boggess . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8, 489 05 ......................... . 
Commanded by Captain John G. Walker................... 7, 980 55 ............ . ............ . 
Commanded by Captain William Fitzhugh................. 8, 213 76 ......................... . 
Commanded by Captain P. H. Rodgers...................... 5, 936 16 ......................... _ 
Commanded by Captain Charles E. Travis.................. 7, 564 28 . . . . . . .. .. .. .. 9, 024 6!2 

~\.mount appropriated, same date, for payment of balances due . . . . . . . . . . . . 6, 000 00 ........... . 
on contracts for support of above companies. 

Amount paid thereon from February 2, 1856, to September 6, 4, 026 43 1, 973 57 
1858. 

Amount appropriated August 30, 1856, to pay the three follow- ........... . 4, 489 20 .. - .. - .. - .. -
inp;-named t:.ompanies, v!z: . . 

Commanded by Captam Wilham Tom...................... 1, 494 72 ........................ .. 
Commanded by Captain W. G. Tobin....................... 917 46 ........................ :. 
Commanded by Captain Levi English . . . . . .. . . . . . . . .. . .. . .. 1, 764 86 .. . .. . .. .. .. .. 312 16 

Amount approp1·iated, same d!tte, to pay for supplies furnished . . . . . . . . . . . . 408 97 .......... . . 
Ca.ptain William Tom's company and to compensate paymas-
ter of above-name•d companies. · · 

Amount paid thereon........................................... 408 97 ........................ .. 
Amount appropriated N ovem her 17, 1857, to pay the four fol- . . . . . . . . . . . . 20, 000 00 ........... . 

lowing-named companies, viz: . 
Commandell by Captain T. K. Carmack..................... 2, 924 80 .............. .. ......... . 
Commanded by Captain John H. Conner.................... 4, 273 0:2 .... . .................. . . . 
Commanded by Captain J. C. Frost......................... 2, 863 25 ................... . .... . . 
Commanded by Captain J. S. Hodges .. .. . .. .. .. . . .. .. .. .. .. 3, 028 25 . .. .. .. .. .. .. . 6, 910 68 

Amount appropriated January 13, 1858, to pay the three follow- ...... ...... 6,600 00 .......... .. 
ing-named minute companiefl, viz: 

8~::!~~:~1 ~~ ~~~~1~ ·j~t~ ir·B:~!~~o~-t~~:::::: ~~ ~~~::: :::::::::::: :::::: ~: :::::: :::::: :::::~ 
Commanded by Captain Reading Black..................... .. . .. . . .. . . . .. ...................... .. 

Amount paid Neill Robinson, pa_,·master of same.... . ... . ...... 4, 000 00 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2, 600 00 
Amount appropriated January ~7, 1858, to pay Captain JohnS. ...... ...... 70,000 00 ........... . 

Forll's companies. 
Amount paid Edward Burleson, paymaster of same, and to S. 55,800 00 ............ .. 

M. Swenf;on for supplies furnished. . 
14,200 00 

Total ..................................................... m,89875l84, 44451135,545 76 

I, the undersigned, comptroller of public accounts of the State of Texas, do hereby 
certify that the foregoing statement is a correct and true exhibit of the amounts paid 
and assumed by the State of Texas for the pay, subsistence, and forage of volunteer 
troops, called into service for the protection of the frontier since the 28th February, 
1855. 

Given under my hand and seal of office this 18th day of September, 1858. 
[SEAL.] JAMES B. SHAW, 

C omptrolle1·. 
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No. 137. 

Statement of advances mcu7c by the State of Texas for frontier defense, from, Febl'ltary 28, 
1855, to September 1, 1859. 

Abstract. Company. 

.Abstract A __________________ .Ltmes H. Callahan's. ---------------- .. ---. 

Abstra,•t B _ --- _________ -- __ _ 

Nat. Benton's _ ---- .. ----:. ----.----------­
\V. K Henry's. ---------------------------. 

\V. R. Henry's ... _____ ----- _ -- _--- -------- -
G. S. Bol!grss's- --------------- ·------ --- .. 
J. G. ·walker's. ---- .. ---------------------­
W. Fitzhul!h's. ------------------ ... ------. 

~: M: .~;~~~~::~---_ -_ -_-_ -. ~ ~ ·_ -_-_ -_ -_ -_ ~ ~ -_-_-_ ~ ·_ ~ -. ~~: ~: 
Ab;,tract U ______ ----- _ ·---- _ W. Tom's-- _. _- -------.--.------ -····· ... . 

\V.G.Tobin's ............................ . 
L. English's. ·-- ___ ...................... .. 

Abstract D------ ........... _ P. ll. Carmack's .... -------- ............. .. 
J. H. Conner's .. _ .. _ ........ - .. -··· ....... -
T. C. I•'ro»t's ............................. .. 
J. S.llodgos's ............................ . 

Ab11tract E _..... .. .. . . .. .. .. J. W. Sansom's ........................... -
J. M. Dasenport's ........ _ ...... _ .. ____ . _. 
R. W. Black's ............ ------ .. . ........ . 

Abstract l!' ............ ------ J. 'Williams's ....................... -- .... . 
.T. S. :Ford's . _ .. __ . _. ___ ..... __ . _ .. _. _. _ ... . 
\V. N. 1>. Marlin's ... __ ... __ . _ .. - .. _. _ ..... . 

Abstract G- .................. J. Boml::tnd's . .. ___ ...................... .. 
J. II. Brown's ............................. . 
J. S. ]ford's ...... __ ..... _. __ .. _. _. _ ...... __ 

.Amomtt. 

$16, 595 46 
2, 566 83 
.l, 212 60 

8, 043 81 
10,369 29 

8, 048 30 
8, 487 63 
6, 872 11 
8. 288 18 

1, 903 69 
917 46 

1, 764 86 

2, 717 30 
4, 046 02 
2, 863 25 
3, 100 25 

1, 155 00 
1, 699 62 

791 98 

1, 085 60 
56, 992 83 

752 59 

13, 073 74 I 
8, 807 91 

35,500 68 

Total. 

;ii22, 374 89 

50, 109 32 

4, 586 01 

12, 72() 82 

3, 646 60 

58, 831 02 

---- 57,382 33 

Grand total .......... _ ............... ---------- ... -~-209,'65699 

Statement of aclranees made by the State of 1exas fm· milita1'y se1·viceR on the Rio G-rande, 
1859 and 1860. 

No. I Description. Total. 

-------------------------------------------------------------
1 1

1 

Hampton, G. J., captain and quartermaster ................ _ ....... _ ......... _ ....... -I $399 98 
2 M~Cord, ,J. E., for Captain Bmlcson's company ................. .. - .. - .. ---- 2,000.00 S 6, 943 46 

:I ~~:~:y?:~~~~~~··~: :~: ::: :: _:-:::: ::> : : : :··:<6: i .::~~: 

No. 138. 

_\.N .AC'.r for the relief of Giles S. Boggess. 

SECTION 1. Be it enacted by the legislature of the State of Texas, That the comptroller 
of the State be, and he is hereby, authorized and required to settle with Paymaster 
Giles S. Boggess, upon his presenting to sa.id comptroller a copy of the muster-roll of 
.J. G. \Valker's company, made ont by him, the said Boggess, upon the best data he 
can get, and certified to by him, before some person authorized by law to administer 
oaths, to be just and correct, according to the best of his knowledge and belief, and 
that the original muster-roll was' either stolen from, taken from, or lost by him; said 
copy of mnster-roll, when so ma(lf~ out and certified to, shall be received in lieu of the 
original roll, the amount or amounts returned by said Boggess as paid shall be passed 
to his credit upon the books of the comptroller's office. 

SEC. 2. That. should said Boggess report as paid any person who was a member of 
said J. G. Walker's company, who has not been paid, it shall be incumbent upon the 
person wishing to contest the matter to make affidavit, before some person authorized 
to administer oaths, that he has not been paid; and upon the filing of sairl affidavit in 

H. Ex. 277--10 
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the comptroller's office, it sbaU be the dut,y of the comptro1ler to notify sairl Boggess, 
and allow him sixty days' time to make the proof of payment,; and should the said 
Boggess fail to satis:(y the comptroller that S<1id person has been p:-tid, it shall be the 
duty of the compt,roller to draw his warrant upon the treasurer in favor of snch incli­
vidua1, which warraut shall IJe pai<l by the treasurer out of the appropriat,ion for the 
payment of said company; and for each amonnt so paid, the said Boggess shall be 
held responsible to the St,ate upon bond as paymaster. 

SI<~C. 3. That any rnemiJer or members of sairl comp::tny who, according to the retnru 
made by said Boggess, stand as unpaid upon the ceetifiell cory of the muster-roll of 
said compauy, sba1l be entitled to his or their pay by application at the office of the 
comptro1ler all<l treasnrer, upon filiug au affirlavit that he or they have uot been paid, 
anrl that the amount due them for services rendered in said J. G. Walker's company 
js stHl dne and owiilg. 

SI<;c. 4. That this act take effect from its passag-e . 
. Approved August 25, 1tl56. 

DEPAHT.I\IENT OF S1TrE, 
Anstin, Texas, March 5, 1850. 

I, the undersigned, secretary of state of the State of Texas, do ltereuy certify that 
the transcript ou the reverse hereof is a correct copy of the original act on file in tho 
department of state. 

Given under my band and the sea,l of the rlepartment of state the day and ye~tr 
first aiJove writteu. 

[SEAL. J E. W. CAVE, 
Sec1·e tm·y of Stat e. 

No. 1:~9. 

THE STATE 01:<' TEXAS, Connty of Be:cm·: 
On this llt;h day of November, A. D. 1856, personally came before me, James E. 

Gardner, a justice of the peace in and for !!aid county, Levi English, who, after being 
duly sworn, says that lHI is the indeutical person who was a captain of a company of 
mounted men who served against the Texas Indians; that be commenced his service 
about the-- day of August, 1tl55, and :servetl until about the-- day of NoYernber, 
1856; U1at l1e furnished his own horse, forage, sulmistence, and a servant; and tllat he 
has not received tlle pay due him for said serviue, or any part tllereof. 

I hereby empower H. W. Sublett, esq ., of Austin, Texas, to collect any and all pay 
which may be due me by virtue of said service. 

his 
[SEAL.] LEVI + ENGLISH. 

mal'k. 

Personally came before me, Jame;;; E. Garduer, a justice of the peace in aud for said 
county, Y. P. Alsbury and William H. Long, who, upon their oaths, declare that they 
are pt>,rsonaJly acquainted witll Levi English, aud that they saw him sign the affi­
davit on the reverse hereof by maldn~ his mark, declaring Lis inaiJility to write, and 
that they kno>v him to be the identical person who was a captain of a mouute(l com­
pany against the Texas Indians. 

Y. P. ALSBURY. 
WM. H. LONG. 

I, James E. Gardner, justice of the pr>ace for Bexar County, do hereby certify tha.t, 
the foregoing, and on the reverse hereof, was ~:~igned by making his mark, declaring 
his iuability to write, and aek11owledged in my presence; and that I know the affiauts 
to IJe creditable persons, and that tl.Je claimant is the person he represents himself 
toLe. 

Given under my hand and official signature, at office, in the city of San Antonio, 
on the day and year above written; and tllat I haYe uo interest in tllis claim. 

JAlVll!~S E. GARDN"ER, 
Justice of Peace, Bexar County. 

'l'HE STATl!: OF TEXAS, County of Bexar:· 
I, Samnel S. Smith, clerk of the county court of Bexar County, do hereby certify that 

James E. Gardner, esq., before whom the f<lrt>goiug affidavit and declaration on the 
reverse hereof was made, was an acHng .i nstice of the peace i u and for the county of 
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Bexar at the time the same was made, and that his sigt:ature, h{lrewith attached, is 
genuine. 

In testimony whereof I her?nnto sign my na.me ann affix the seal of said county, 
at office, in tho city of San An couio, this 11th day of Novewlle ·,A. D. 1R~6. 

[SEAL. j SAM. S. SMITH, 

No. 140. 

Clerk of County r;onrt, Bexm· County, 
By ED\VARD MILES, 

Deputy. 

IK THE AMERICAN AND MEXICAN .JOINT COMMISSION. 

PEDIW TAUNS (No. 679) AND OTHERS V8. THE UNiTED STATES. 

To the honomblc American and Mexican Joint Comm·i.ssi.on, in the city of Washington, 
D·ist1··ict of Colu.rnbia : 

The memorial of Pedro Tanns respectfully showeth : 
That in the month of October, A. D. 18fi5, an armed force of more than two hundred 

Americans, under the commarid of Captains Callahan and Henry, Llaving crossed the 
Rio Grandt~ from Texas in the United States, entered and took possession of the town 
of Pit~dras Negras, in the state of Coahuila, Mexico, aud by force of arms disarmed all 
the iulmbitants of the town, ann with many immlts, threats, and crnelties drove them 
from their houses and caused them to flee from the town to the woods. After having pil­
laged them of all their most valnable and ea~ily tun sported cont.euts, the said forces set 
all the houses on :fire, reuncing th<J town to ruins and ashes, and then retumed with the 
body to the opposite side of the river by the public ferry. All this was done by the said 
forces with the aid and protectiou of tile regnlar officers and soldiers of the United States 
of America, at that t.ime occupying Fort Duncan, on the left bank of the Rio Grande, in 
front of Piedras Negras, which regular officers and soldiers, upon a dominant point, 
planted all their artillery booring directly npun the town of Piedras Negras, wit.h 
intent to bombard and deHtroy the town, in case the inhabitants thereof should reAis~ 
the forces of Captains Callahan and Henry; and they aided the said forces of Callahan 
and Henry to cross the Rio Grande to Piedeas NP-gras, one oC the said regnlar officers 
drow11ing himself in the act. The sai!l forces of Callahan and Henry were received with 
their booty jn the United Btates, on the left Lank of the Rio Grande, under protection of 
the said regnlar officers and soldiers, an!l permitted to march with t.he.ir booty to the 
interior of the St.ate of Texas, where t.hey received the appeobation of, and pay trom, 
the said State of Texas for the t.ime they 'vere in Piedras Negras committing the 
wrougful ~wts aforesaid; and the Government of the United States of Am!~rica, by sec­
tion 6 of an act eutitled" An act making appropriations for the support of t.he Army 
for the year ending the 30t.h of Jnne. 1~61," approved June 21,1860, provided to re-im­
burse the State of Texas for the said payment; but the people of the State of Texas 
having theroaftee gone into rebellion against t.be Government of the United States, 
the said re-imbursement was, therefore, withheld. 

vVh0n the Raid forces of Callahan and Henry took possession of Piedras Negras, your 
memorialit>t was living in that town with his family, six in number, and had there, of 
his own sole and exclusive property, two housP.s, constructed of lumber, anu all the 
other things set forth in an ac<!ount hereto annexed, marked .Exhibit A, to which 
reference is here had, making it. a part of this memoria, which properly was then and 
there ·worth the snm of $5,550, gold. 

Yonr memorialist further sta.t.es t.hat the said forces of Callahan and Henry, in the 
Raid pillage and bnrning which t.hey did in Piedras Negras, on the :1d, 4th aud 5th days 
of October, A. D. Hl55, pillaged aml bnrned his said houses, together with all the other 
thiugs set forth in au acconut aforesaid, whereby they very greatly injnred him in his 
property and business, cansiug him to lose the use, benefit, profit, aud eujoyment of 
his said property ever ::;iuce he so lost the §lame, thereby darnagiug him, iu addition to 
the value of his said property, in t.he fnll snm of $8,000, gold. 

The said forces of Callahan and Henry drove your memorialist from his home, and 
compelled him to iiee to the woods with all his family, whP.re he wandered for thre6 
days, exposed to death tmdcr the tomahawk of the barbarous Indians, who frequented 
the snid woods at that time, sufferiug from hunger and thirst in a degree almost 
insupportable, w bereb:r they caused him gn·at wjnry in his person anu tlmt of hi8 
family, damaging him iu the full sum of $5~,000, gold. 

By all tlwir illegal acts aforesaid, the said authorities of the United States of 
America did greatly iujure your nH·morialist in his person and that of his family, and 
in his property and b11siner,;s , whm·eby they damaged him, iu the aggregate, in a great 
.sum, to wit, in the full snm of $65,550, gold; and t.h(•refore he prefers this hi~ clair:~ 
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against the Government of the United States of America, for the saitl sum of $65,550, 
gold, amount of damages done to him by the authorities tllereof. 

Your memorialist is, and 1rom his birth bas been, a citizen of the Mexican Republic, 
born in t,he town of Nacogdoches, State of Texa.s, (then Mexico,) July 1:3, A. D. 1811; 
his domicilfl at the present is in the town of Fuente, state of Coahuila, and when this 
claim bad its origin was in Piedras Negras. 

The whole amount oftLis claiw does now, and did when it had its origin, belong 
solely and absolutely to your m~:morialist; and be has never received any sum of 
money or other equivalent or inclemnitication for the whole or any part of the losses 
and injudes upon which this claim is founded. 

This claim was not presente<l before the 1st of February, A. D. 1869, to the Depart­
ment of State of the United States or that of the Mexican RepuiJlic, or to the minister 
of the United States in Mexico, or that of t,he Mexican RepniJlic in Washington. 

Your memorialist, in ad eli t,ion to the testimony filed and to IJe filed in this case, r espect­
fully refers to the memorials and papers in all other cases before the commission, 
giving fnll details of the same transactions upop which this claim is founded, and 
especially refers to the memorials of Ma. Juana Hernandez, Francisco Herrera, Santos 
Loy, Pedro Villareal, and Dimas Sandobal, in their claims against the Government of 
the Unit,ed States, and the testimony of the follo\\'ing witnesses, tiled therein, to wit: 
Luis Sandohal, Manuel Rodriguez, Francisco Salenas, Francisco Gonzales, Francisco 
Guedea, Antonio Montes, Ramon Rodriguez, Lorenzo Guevara, Timoteo Gonzales, 
Anestacio Jimenes, Jose Maria Rivera, Jesus Frias, Santos Loy, Jose Ma. Carbajal, aud 
Margari to Teposte. 

Wherefore, your memorialist respectfully prays the llonorable commission to 
award in his favor, against the Government of the United States of America, t,be sum of 
$65,550, gold, amount of injuries and damages done to him Ly the authorities thereof, 
and that there be a waTde<l to bim such ot,ber indemnification as by law and equity he 
may be entitled to in the premises. 

PEDRO TAUNS, 
By his attorney in fact, JAMES B. SIMPSON. 

E. W. RICE, Solicito1·. 

CITY OF WASHINGTON, District of Columbia, ss : 
I, James B. Simpson, solemnly swear that I am the attorney in fact of the claimant, 

Pedro 'fauns, who is absent from the District of Columbia, aud that the matters and 
things set forth in the foregoing memorial are true, to the best of my knowledge, 
information, and belief. 

JAMES B. SIMPSON. 

Sworn to aud subscribed before me, the undersigned notary public in and for said 
city, this 24th day of March, A. D. 1870. 

EDMUND F. BROWN, 
Notary Public. 

EXHIBIT A. 

THE UNITED STATES OF A?.IERIC.A, 
To PEDRO TAUNS, 

For property destroyed and taken by the authorities thereof in Piedras 
Negras, state of Coahuila, Mexico: 

October, 1H55.-0ne house and one kitcllen ....... ~"'- ............•....... 
Groceries ............•...•....... - .................... . 
Household furniture and decorations, and kitchen furni-

niture and cooking-utensils .........•.....•........... 
"\\

7 earing apparel. ....... ---- .. -- .•• --.··---··----······ 
Fifteen head of cattle ..........•....................... 
:For injury caused by tLe loss of the use of his said prop-

erty ...... . ·.~ .............•.......................... 
For injury to his person and that of his family .......... . 

Total amount ...•....•.. _ ••......•.................. 

STATEMENT AND ARGUMENT FOR THE UNITED STATES. 

THE CLAIM .AND THE CLAIMANT. 

DR. 

$3,000 00 
1,000 00 

750 00 
500 00 
300 00 

8,000 00 
52,000 00 

65,550 00 

The claimant, otherwise known as Peter Towns, is shown by the testimony of one 
of tlle witnesses on the part of the United States to be a mulatto, born in the State of 
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Texas, and who now professes to be a citizen of the United States, and a voter in the 
State of Texas. It appears that. he resided for some time in Mexico, and it is not im­
probable that he was living- in Piedras Negras when that village was burned by Cap­
tains Callahan and Henry, in October, 1855. 

Mr. Amos 0. StricklanJ, whose deposition has been taken on behalf of the United 
States, states as follows: ''I know Pedro Tauns, who is one of the cla.imants for the 
destruction of Piedras Negras. He now resides in Kinney County. He is a native of 
Texas. He is a mulatto, and was the servant of the late General Sam Houston. He 
resided some time in Mexico, bnt claims now to be a United States citizen, and told me 
at the last election how lle was going to vote in Kinney County. Tauus is well known 
to the United States officers at Fort Clark; to Major Bacon, (who was on General Sher­
idan's staff,) of the Ninth Unitec1 1States Cavalry, colored. Tauns has hePn. working 
lately as a mason in the employ of the Government at Fort Clark, and for the last year 
or so has been burning lime, or has been employed in small jobs about tlle post; he is 
also a fiddler, and plays at fandangoes and for the officers when they make a party 
there." 

This colored fiddler alleges that at the time of the destruction of Piedras Negras he 
was the owner of a honse and kitchen in that viLage worth $3,000, and personal prop­
~rty to the amount of $2,500; that; the same were destroyed and taken by the men un­
der Callahan and Henry, and that the amount of damages sustained by him in conse­
quence thereof was $65,550. This amount be demands from the United States, as a 
citizen of the Mexican Republic. 'Ve ha.ve already shown that he is not and never was 
a citizen of Mexico. 

The testimony of Mr. Strickland, to which reference has been made, shows that if 
this.claimant lost anything on that occasion the amount has been monstrously exag­
gerated, and it also dircctlyproves that hedeliberatelyintended to defraud the United 
States. Mr. Strickland savs : ''He told me also tbat he was one of the claimants for 
the destruction of Piedras ·Negra.s, and had made claim therefor against the Govern­
ment of tbe United States. I asked him the amount he claimed, and he answered, 
' 0, I am ashwned to tell yot£; it is so big.' He has never been worth $100 at any time 
since I have known him, and that is eight years." 

These observations a.re sufficient to dispose of this particular claim. But inasmuch 
as it is onr present object to direct the <1ttention of the commissioners to the general 
subject of the Piedras Negras claims, particularly to the proofs taken by the United 
States, which show that these claims, as preferred, are the result of a criminal con­
spiracy to defraud the United States, and are snpportod by false and forged papers 
transmitted by these conspirators through the Mexican govemment to this commis­
sion, we will proceed to present a general summary of the contents of the depositions 
.and other proofs introdnced by the agent ofthe United States. 

The testimony shows that many of the expedientes filed in the office of the commission 
are, in whole or in part, forged docnment.s; that persons are represented as having 
signed as claimants documents contained in these expedientes, who, it is proved, never 
.affixed their signatures to such papers; that in numerous instances individuals are 
represented by written signal ures as having appeared as witnesses in support of the 
claims of others, who, it is shown, never subscribed the documents to which their sig­
natures purport to be attached, and that this fraudulent work was done by persons 
engaged in the business of getting np t.he claims for presentation to this commission. 
We will speak more in detail hereafter of this wholesale fraud. 

It is apparent also, nprm the most hasty inspection of the expedientes on file in the 
·office of tlw Mexican secret;uy, that many of thern have been manufactured by the 
.same hand or hands. It needs no expert in hand writing to prove that numerous 
signatures of different persons have been made by the same hand, and the sworn testi~ 
mony on the part of the United States clearly shows that this is undoubtedly t.he fact. 

Under these circumstances it will be for the commissioners to determine whether 
any of the expediertt.cs filed on the part of the claimants are justly entitled to be received 
.as evidence to snpport the claims, or whether the whole uod,v of them should not be 
thrown ont of the cases alt.o<gether, and the claims dismissed for \Yant of proof. 

TUE TRANSACTION AT PIEDRAS NEGRAS. 

These clai111s, some one hundred a.nd nine-three in number, arise ont of the burning 
of the village of Piedras Negras uy a number of mounted volunteer troops, organized 
under the authority aud in the exclnsive service of the State of Texas, and commanded 
by Captains Callahan and Hemy, on the 5th of October, 1855. These troops, as it ap­
pears, had been mustered into the service of the State* by the governor of Texas, in 
the month of July, 1855, to serve for three months, unless sooner discharged, for the 

,. The War Departmfmt poo::sesses nothing to show that Henry's company was actually recognized by 
the governor of Texas in 1855. It was mustered out, not by order of the go>crnor, but. b.v order ofCal­
lahan.-T. H. B. 
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purpose of protecting the frontier settlements against hostile incursions of the In­
dian. On tlte night of the 1st of October a portion of tbem, together with a number 
of citizens of Texas from Hays, Guad.ulnpe, Bexar, and other conn ties, crossed the Rio 
Grande several miles from Fort Duncan, without the knowled~e, appt·obation, or 
assistance of the military authorities of the United States, ostensibly for the purpose 
of following and chastising a band of Lipan Indians from the west side of the river, 
who had. previously committed, as was alleged, depredat.ions on the sett.lements in 
Texas. Tbe Texans were resisted, as it wonld seem, hy Indians and Mexicans, and in 
the progress of the affair they occupied the Mexican village of Piedras Negras. 

On the 5th they set tire to the town, and a number of houses, or rather huts, belong­
ing to the iuhabita.nts were burned. It is probable that otller property \vas destroyed. 
ancl perhaps some articles were carried a.way by the Texans. 'l'he actual extent of 
the loss sustained by the inhabitants will be stated more particularly hereafter. 

The circumstances under which this expedition iuto the territory of Mexico took 
place may be ascertained, so far as they are now discoverable, from the public docu­
me.1t.s filed in evidence, consisting of papers in the possession of the State of Texas, and 
the military and diplomatic correspondence in the possession of the War and State De­
partments of this Government. 

It is to be regretted that t.lle affair was not subjected, at the time it occurred, when 
the recolleetion of witnesses wa~ fresh, t.o a thorough and searching investigation. An 
effort was made by the Mexican authorities to prove that the commancler of the United 
StatPs troops at Fort Duncan connived at this mvasion of Mt1xican territory, and, after 
the Texan volunteers were driven back by the Mexican forces, rendered them active 
assistance. On t.he other hand, the tllen Secretary of State, Mr. Marcy, in corl'espond­
ence with the Mexican minister, took t.be ground that the Texans had been in fact in­
vited across the river lly compet.ent Mexica.n aut~ority in order to aid the Mexicans in 
chastising the Lipan Indians, \\> bo bad committed roblleries and murders in Texas; that 
tlley 'had been treacherously led into an ambuscade of an overwhelming hostile force 
of Mexicans and Indians; and tllat therefore they were justified in adopting any meas­
ure which would tend to secure their safe retreat to the other side. 

· A candid consideration, however, of the contemporary documents will show beyoncl 
all doubt of controversy t.hat the imputation against the commanding officer at Fort 
Duncan was wholly without foundation, as that officer neither connived at the origi­
nal invasion nor rendered the party afterward any assist.ance in carrying on the hos­
tilities in which they bad become involved. Tile Texan volunteers crossed tile river 
during tile night, auout two miles below Fort Duncan, without the knowledge or con­
sent of Captain Burbank. When that officer found that something in tile nat.ure of a 
battle was transpiring on the other side, he so disposed of some of his artillery as to pre­
vent any violat.ion of American territory, as he l::.ad the right and it was his duty to do. 
And when he was iufi:mned lly Callahau, after the place had been fired, that his men 
were deserting him and lie \Vas not able to resist the Mexicans, be replied that they had 
deliberately determined to make a stand against the Mexican forces, and that after 
what had transpired the Texans must abide by their determination. 

The correspondence a1so shows that as soon as the Inilitary commander of the depart­
ment, General Persifer F. Smith, was advised of wllat had occurred, he took all proper 
measures, under the direction of the Government at Washington, to prevent any fur­
ther violations of the neutrality laws of tile United Rtates. 

There can be no uoubt tllat the authorities of the United States were free from blame 
in tllis transaction. It was an afl'air of the State of Texas and Texan volunteers and 
citizens; it was no affair oftbe National Govermnent or any of its proper autboriLies~ 

The tlleory advanced by the Secretary of State, in correspondenee with Ml'. Almonte, 
that Callahan crossed the river upon the invitation and with tile assistance of the Mex- . 
ican alcalde or other authority, and upon assurances of the aid of the Mexican officers 
in pursuing tile Indians, appears to llcwe heen founded npon the report of Callahan to 
the governor of Texas, in which that statement woulct. seem to have been made. This 
report, however, cannot now be found, and wa~ probably destroyed or mislaid during 
the confusion of the recent rebellion in Texas. (See letter.of the secretary of state of 
Texas to Mr. Ashton, May 10, 11:370.) 

A darker shade seems to have been given to the tra.nsaction by the suggestion that 
this inroad into Mexican territory was undertaken for the recapture of fngit.ive sla.ves. 
Whether this was the object of these men, or the real object of the expedition was in 
good faith to inflict chastisement upon Indian robbers and murderers who had taken 
shelter on Mexican soil, it may be, perhaps, drfficnlt at this day to a~certain with posi­
tive certainty. But whatever was the real object or motive of l·hese men, and whether 
they crossed into Mexico with or wit.l . .10ut the consent of the authorities, their act of 
setting fire to the town of Piedras Negras, we are bound to say, was without justifica­
tion or valid excuse. 

The question, however, of the responsibility of the Government of tbe United States 
for the destrnetion of this village is another matter. That these men were not in the 
military service of the United St.ates is admitted. They were purely and simply a part 
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of the militia of the State of Texas. We have already said that the United States mil­
itary authorities hatl no knowledge or notice of this intended expedition into Mexico; 
that they were not apprised of the fact that the Texans had crossed the river until 
after t.beir forces were on the other side; that the military commander at Fort Duncan 
rendered them no assistance in the beginning, and afforded them no aid in the progress 
or at t.he end of the affair; and that he denounced, in proper terms, their act in occu­
pying and destroying the Mexican village. 

It is, indeed, almncla.ntly clear that the Government of the United States, neither by 
stljfemnce nor r·eception, (patient-ia aut 1·eceptu,) to~nse the words of Grotins, knowingly 
aided or abetted the invasion or the subsequent acts of the Texas militia. And under 
these circnmstances no responsibilit.y cnn be held to attach to the Uuited States for tbe 
injuries sustained hy the i11 habitants of Piedras Negra.s, unless it should be determined 
that Captains Callahan a.ml Henry, officers of the State of Texas in command of this 
militia force, orga11ized under the authority of the State, were within the legal desig­
nation of" authorities of the United States," in the sense and meaning of the treaty of 
July 4, 1Fl68. 

'iV e have thus presented a brief outline of the facts of the transaction at Piedras 
Negras in 185[), and stated the only ground upon which any liability therefor can be 
imputed to the Government of the United States. We now proceed to show, inde­
pendently of any legal gronnd of objection to the recovery of these claims arising out 
of the character of the parties inflicting the injury, the claimants have, Ly their own 
acts of fraudulent exaggeration of their losses and. damages, and presenting through 
their agents, or otherwise, false and forged papers in support of their recla.mations, 
placed their elaims in such a position as to be without credible or trnstworthy proofs 
before this commission. 

FHAUDGLE~T EXAGGERATIO:c;r OF LOSSE.-; AND DXi\IAGES. 

Piedras Negras, according to the evidence introduced by the United States, was at the 
time in question one of the mot:>t wretched and insignificant of all the villages and small 
towns of the Mexican Republic. It dicl not contain more than five hnndred souls, men. 
women, and children, or more than one hundred families all told. Geneml Bnrbank 
states t.hat, it was settled after the establishment of the post of Fort Dnucau, in the 
spring of 1849, and that the inhabitants lived mostly, if not entirely, on the small trade 
carried on vi'ith the troops stationed there, and such employment as was given to them 
from time to time by the Government, as guides, muleteers, and laborers. Their houses 
were cbietl.v jacales, or Mexican huts, and many of them consisted of holes or cellars dug 
in the bank of the river, covered with thatch, without door, window, or sides. These 
honses wen~ built of pickets stuck int.o the ground, with grass roofs, without windows 
or floors. The people were wretchedly poor; aud, as the testimony shows, the whole 
village, inclndiug lots, houses, and ·all the personal property of the inhabitants, could 
have been bonght, iu 1855, for less than $50,000. 

Let us see now what the expedientes on file pretend to have been the amount of 
property, real and personal, destroyed ancl stolen by the Texan volnqteers in October, 
H355, and. of the damages actnally sustained by the claimants. 

Tbe property destroye(l or taken is valued in these cases at $2,872,070.31, anc1 the con­
seqneutial dan1ages alleged to have beeu snstained are estimated at $t3,52f>,918.12. The 
reclamatiolls tllns arnonnt in all to $11,397,9~8.43. 

We su lJjoiu a carefully prt>pared analysis of the expedientes on file in the office of 
tJw Mexican secretary, showing the estimated valncs of the several species of property 
a,lleged to ha.ve been destroyed or taken ou this occasion. It presents such a case of 
wicked and recklcRs falsehood as has never before occnrred in the historv of interna-
tional recla,rnatious. The abstract of the expedientes is as follows: • 
.Honses,(287) . _ .. _. _. _ .... __ .. _. _ .... __ .. ___ ... ___ .. ___ . _ . _ ..... ____ . 
Corn (12,4Hi fanegas). __ --. __ ..... __ ..... _ .. _. __ . _ ...• _. _______ . ___ . _ 
Corn, ( 3 :fi elcls) . _ _ _ _ ___ . ___ . ___ . ___ ... ____ .. ____ . _____ .. ___ . ___ . ___ _ 
Horses, (208). __ . _ .. ____ .. _ ... ____ .. _____ . ____ .. ____ .. __________ . ___ _ 
Honseholcl furniture. ____ . _. __ ... __ .. _____ . _. ___ .. _____ . __ . ___ . ____ . _ 
Wearing apparel . ____ .. _____ . ____ .. _. ___ . ___ . _ . ____ . ____ .. ____ . ____ _ 
Jewelry-----· ...... -----· ____ -----··----·-··- ______ -----· _________ _ 
Money. ___ . ___ _ . _________ ... _____ . __ . __ . ____ . _ .. ______ . ___ ... ___ .. __ 
Cattle, (3,440). _ . __ ... _ .. __ . __ ... ______ .. _. __ .. __ . _ ..... __ . _. ___ . _. _. 
Pigs, (i:\04). ____ . _ . _ . . ... _. _______ ... ____ .. __ .. _ ... ___ .. _. ___ . _ ... __ . 
Implements._.- ...... _ ... ___ .... _ ..... - ...... - .... - ...... -... - .. - .. -
Fencing ......... ___ ..... __ .. ____ .. ____ ... _____________ . ___________ _ 
Merchnndise .. __ ...... _ .... _ . ___ ... _ .. . .. _ ........ ___ .. .. .. __ ..... . 
Fire-anns. __ ..... _ ... _ ...... _. _ .. _ .... __ ................ _ ... _______ . 
Carts.·-- ____ . .. ___ .---· ____ ..... __ ... _. __ ·-----. _____ .. __ .. --· ..... 

$234,218 00 
59,774 00 

4, 140 00 
25,110 00 

121,359 00 
90,702 00 
45,375 00 
29,364 31 
26,911 00 
37,300 00 
24,384 00 
10,611 00 

222,702 00 
3,858 00 
9,4~2 00 
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Libraries ..•........... _ ••.. __ ...... _ .•. _ ... _____ . ___________ .. _. __ _ 
Claims without details .......... . .. __ ..... ___ ....... _ . . __ ... __ .... __ 

Loss of use and damages ....... _ ·.• ___ . ____ ... _ .. ___ . _. _ _ _ _ _ __ ... __ . 

$9,352 00 
1,917,488 00 

2,872,070 31 
8,525,918 12 

Total ...............•.......... _ .. __ .............. _____ .. ___ .. 11,397, 9R8 43 

It will be unnecessary to occnpy much time or space with a detailed examination of 
the proofs taken by the United States for the purpose of exposing this fraud before the 
commission. Those proofs consist of numerous depositions of persons of resper.tability 
and credit, who were perfectly familiar with the character of this place, the condition 
of the inhabitants, the value of the property they possessed, anrl. the extent of the de­
predations committed. The commissioners will read these proofs, and will determine 
that the papers filed in evidence by the claimants are absolutely and wholly dis­
credited by the evidence introduced on the part of the Unit-ed St.ates. They will dis­
cover t.hut the losses and damages have been exa-ggerated with a deliberate purpose to 
defraud the Government against which the reclamations are presented. We shall 
contend that these facts, together with the actual forgery of documents which it is appa­
rent has here been committed, are sufficient to warrant the determination that the 
entire mass of claims must be rejected. 

We will now briefly review tbe substance of the testimony for the United States. 
Mr. Edward T. Moore says that about fort.y small jacale houses, v~1luecl at ahout $40 

each, were burned; that not more than $5,000 worth of property was taken from the 
inhabitants; and that $10,000 would amply compensate them for all damages an<.llosRes 
sustained. 

Mr. John Newton says that thejacales were not worth more tlum $50 each. 
Mr. Adolfo Duclos says that be knows from personal observation that the articles 

stolen by the filibusters could not have amounted in act.ual value to $1,000. 
Mr. A. 0. Strickland says that the town did not contain $50,000 worth of property, all 

told. 
Mr. Brackenridge testifies that. be made an estimate of the injury that had been 

caused, a few days after the act, and that he thought it could not amount to $50,000. 
Mr. Lorenzo Castro states that there was only one t.wo-story house in the town; that 

the inhabitants had some extra articles of clothing and je'"elry; and that $50,000 or 
$60,000 would have paid liberally for all the damage done. 

Mr. F. Groos testifies to the same effect. 
Ramon Perales, a claimant, says that thirty or forty buts were burned, which might 

ha-ve been worth $50 each, and that the majory of the inhabitants did not possess more 
than $200, $300, or $400. 

Florencio Canales testifies that the majority were poor people, who bad $200, $300, 
or $400. 

Gregorio Garza, who resided there at the time, states that the majority of tbe resi­
dents were very p"or, and had not more than $300 or $400 in value of furui ture or goods; 
he swears that the sums claimed are greatly exaggerated. 

Manuel Ban states that the majority of the inhabitants were day-laborers; "some 
had a little horse; some cows, with calves, or a little pig, or a cart t.o carry water." 
Very few persons bad cows; a cow, with calf, was then worth $10, and a fat pig ·was 
worth abont $25; but he does not recollect to have seen many fat pigs. 

Adelaide Van, a claimant, says few of the inhabitants bad much more than $300, a,nd 
she states the value of pigs and cows. 

Pedro Salazar, a claimant and resident, says that the nnmber of st.onc-honses did not 
exceed six; that the ot,her dwellings were buts, calJins, and cellars; that be was living 
in an underground but; that all the houses were uot burned. 

The testimony of R:1fael Salinas, J eSLlS Lf)y, J use Luciano de la Garz:t , J esns L:11UOra, 
Tomas Martines, .Jose Maria Cn.rvasar, and Rafael Tijerina, as to the notorions po,rerty 
of the inhabitants, and the a,mount of property lost by them, is to the same general 
effect. 

The American •vitnesscs examine<l iu "\Vashington by the agent of the Unitec1 States, 
viz, General Sidney Burbank, General James B. Hicket,ts, and Mr. E rlmund. \V. Wallace, 
corroborate in their depositious, in substance and elfect, all that is said by the wit­
nesses examined in Texas and Mexico. 

It thus appears that, according to the highest estimate of the vnlne of the town, if 
the commissioners were to dist.ribute among the claimauts the full valne of all the 
property, real and personal, that it coutaiued, the aggregate amonut of the awards 
wonld not exceed $50,000. 

We pass now to the last bnt the most unpleasant featnre of this class of claims. vVe 
allude t.o the evidence which shows that the claims have not ouly Leen frandnlently 
exaggerated in amounts, but that they are also supported by false docuweuts, in 
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some cases with tbe actual knowledge of the claimants, and in others, perhaps, without 
their direct connivance or consent. 

FALSIFICATION OF TilE EXPEDIENTES. 

We will now, as briefly as posRible, refer to the testimony which establishes the fact 
alleged in regard to these documents: 

Ramon Perales, wbo is a claimant, swears that Luis Muzquiz, also a claimant and 
one of the persons concerned in the concoction of this fraud, came to him and advised 
him to present an exaggerated demand, and stated that the residents of Piedras Negras 
had agreed to make up their claims anJ. to divide the proceeds with him (Muzquiz) and 
others who commenced the lmsiness. 
· Gregorio Garza testifies that the expedientes were made up by Luis Muzquiz and 

others; that Mnzq uiz carne to his house and asked bis wife the amount of bis loss, and 
that she replied that she was not competent to state how much it was. He proceeds as 
follows: "Luis Muzqniz then pnt down the sum which be wished, and he did the same 
with the other residents. I never signed any expediente or declaration of my loss. I 
was never at the house of the judge, nor at the court, for the purpose of giving testi­
mony on this subject. I believe that he did the same with the others, and that he has 
put down and claimed $8,000 or $10,000 in favor of persons who did not lose $100." 

In another deposition the same witness states: "Luis Mnzqniz never spoke to me, 
nor any other one about this matter concerning me, nor with reference to other claim­
ants. I know .J esns Salinas aud Maximo Garcia and Arcadia Ramirez, but I never pre­
seutcd them as witnesses in the matter of my claim, inasrn_nch as I myself did not 
know That they ·were claiming an amount so exaggerated for me. Jesus Salinas 
lives at Eagle Pass, Maximo Garcia lives since four years on a ranch in Texas, eleven 
leagues from Piedras Negras, nud Arcadia Ramirez lives in the little town; and in 
order to present them as witnesses in my claim, I would have been under the 
necessity of goi11g to seek them in those phtees; tbis I never did, because no one ever 
spoke to me about doiHg it. I know Antonio Montes, and Jesus Frias and Nicanor 
Valdes, but at no time did I make a deposition with respect to their expedientes in 
their cla.ims. I also know Pedro Gonzales, but neither did I make a deposition about 
him or about the property wltieh he lost. It surprises me to see my name as a witness 
in the matters touching the claims of these parties against the United States, inasmuch 
as I never made and never was called to give testimony respecting them. I do not know 
MariaN. de la Garza, a11d it is not possible that, I could have made a deposition of who 
she was or what she had. I am completely ignorant of the persons who appear as wit­
nesses in the expediente which was made up for me, and it is my opinion that in these 
transactions many rascalities have been committed. I never knew the amount which 
they claimed fur me, inasmuch 

1
as I never had the intention of claiming one cent more 

than what I lost. It is, in my opinion, very wrong to use the names of persons as wit­
nesses without their knowledge, and I believe what \vas done in my case was done in 
many others.'' 

Adelaide Van, another claimant, testifies that she made no deposition nor subscribed 
any document in ref?pect t.o a claim before the jnclge at Piedras Negas, nor before any 
other authorit.y. She implicates a person named William Stone in the fraudulent trans­
action, and gives a fnll acconnt of an interview with that person. She also state~, like 
Gregorio Garza, that many of the claimants were children at the time of the occurrence. 

Pedro Salazar testifies that he communicated with Luis l\fuzquiz, and that he and 
his secretary, Abram Jimenez, handed him a paper to sign, telling him it was the ex­
pediente of his claim, but that he did not read it, and did not know what it contained. 

Jesus Loy testifies that Luis Muzquiz and Mr. Coopwoocl were engaged in preparing 
claims for the residents of Piedras Negras; but that they never called on him to make 
depositions, anrl. that if he appears as a witness his name has been fraudulently used. 
The analysis of the expedientes herewith presented shows that Jesus Loy appears as 
a witness injive cases. 

K~1rnon Perales, in another deposition, swears that he was never asked to subscribe 
any document or expP.diente, anJ. if Luis l\inzquiz or other agent has placed his name 
in expedientes, snch agent has committed a fraud by using his signature. It appears, 
however, that Perales is a claimant in one case, and a witness in jour ·others. 

There is other t.estimony to the same effect; and it is all corroborated by the appear­
ance of the expedientes, which shows the most superficial ol1server that t.ht;Jy have been 
manufactured by the wholesale uy the getters up of these absurd claims. 

Muzqniz, the principal Mexican eonspirator, claims on his own account $51,797, while 
the testimony is that he was extremely poor a,ll(l was at one time in jail. The other 
parties concerned with him in the franrl. unfortunately appear to be Arnericam1. 

The Government of the United States having determi ned to expose this fraud, a 
special agent was sent to Mexico, aud the valuable results of his inquiries are con­
tained in the depositions to which we have referred, and the principal part.s of which 
we have indicated. The proofs show beyond all doubt-
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Firstlv. That the claims have been grossly exaggemted, with intent to defraud the 
United States. 

Secondly. That numerous perwns appear as claimants who were either not in Piedras 
Negras at the time of its destruction, or were children, and owned nothing at that 
t,ime. 

Thirdly. That the names of claimants have been placed without their consent to 
representations of claims and of papers. 

Fourthly. That numerous persons are representeit as having signeddocuments as wit­
nesses who swear that they never signed such documents or authorized their names to 
be signed thereto. 

Fifthly. That these documents have been gott.en np by and between Luis Muzquiz, 
\Villi:1m Stone, and-- Coopwood, doubtless with the assistance of the locall\iexiran 
judge. 

TJIJ<; PROPEU. DISPOSITION Ol!' THE CL.UMS. 

Upon this st:-~te of facts it will become necessary for the commissioners to determine 
whether or not, the entire body of these Piedras Negras claims shoultl not btl rPjected, 
on the ground of frand practiced or attempted to be practiced against the United 8t~ttes 
in the expedientes on file in the office of the comrnissiou. 

On behalf of the United States the undersigned conttmds thl1t such disposition 
should he given to these claims. The proofs on file, he contends, are not entitled to 
be received in evidence and read in snpport of the claims. 'l'he~i ~tre all t[~iuted with 
fraud, and are vitiated thereby absolutely and entirely. The ca~;es, therefore, sta.ud as 
if they were entirely without attempted proof. They shonhl be rejected and disu1tssed 
for want of evidence to support them. 

There is an analogy in the legislat.ion of the Unite(l Slates which might also be 
profitably considered in connection with these claims, in view of the fraud to which 
we have referred. We allude to that provision of the st,atnte of March 3, 1863, 
concerning t.he Court of Claims, which declares: "That any person or persons who 
shall corruptly practice or attempt to practice any fraud against the United States in 
the proof, st.atement, establh;hruent, or allowl1nce of any claim against the United 
States, ip80 facto. shall forfeit the same to the Government,; and it shall be the duty of 
the Court of Claims, in such cases, to find specitic:-~lly that. such fraud was practiced 
or attempted to be practiced, and thereupon give judgment that sneh cbim is forfeited 
to the Government, and tlmt the claimant be forever barred from prosecuting the 
same." (12 Stats., p. 767.) This statute proceeds ou the ground of forfei Lure; !Jut the 
special ground on which the undersigned now asks the rejection of these claims is, 
that the documents :filed in evidence on behalf of the petitioners before this com­
mission are shown to be utterly untrustworthy, a.nd therefore inadmissible as proof in 
support of the reclamatious. 

If, however, contrary to the view now presented, the commissioners determine to 
make awards in any cases, it >vill be necessary to determine who among all these 
claimants there is jnst reason to believe were ,;Mexican citizens residing in tile place 
and were owners of property, or subjected to injur;v, a.t the time of the occurrence, anrl 
to estimate the dawa.ges according to the effect of the evidence iutrodnce(l by the 
United States. Under this rnle of decision the number of Cl1Ses in which a\vanls can 
be made wnl be extremely limited, aud the amouut of the awards will be exceedingly 
small. In no possible cout.ingency, however, will the commissioners be entitled. upon 
these- proofs to award in the aggregate a greater amount tllau $50,u00. If they should 
believe that every hom;f' iu the town was bunted, and every dolh1r's worth of 
property destroyed and carried away, and that ever~' individual here a.ppearing was 
an actual sufferer, and is entitled to appear l1S l1 claimant, against the Uuited States, 
the above arnount is t,he largest which could possibly be distributed as awards among 
these claimants. 

In the confident belief, however, that sufficient has been shown to justify the 
commissioners in rejecting the entire body of claims, the f(>regoiug observatious are 
submitted for their t:onsideration. 

The undersigned prints herewith the depositions taken on behalf of t,be United 
States. He also submits, in cmmection with this argument, a m<wuscript, volume, 
containing a full list of the claimants aud of the witnesses, whose nallles are att,ached 
to the expediente8, and also a complete abstract of tLe claims, giving schedules and 
amounts of ·an the property for the allege(l loss of which indemnity is claimed, 
together with ohservl1tions upon ea.ch claim which will aid the commissioners iu 
appreciating the full extent of the fraud here attempted. 

This book lms been carefully prepared by a skillful hnnd, \Vith a view to facilitate 
the iuvestigation of the~-;e cases. 

.J. HUBLEY ASHTON, 
Cou·nsel of the Unitnl Statcl'l . 
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DEPOSITIONS TAKEN ON THE PART OF THE UNITED STATES. 

Deposition of James B. Rickett8, Majo1· General, United State8 Army, (1·eti1·ed.) 

The deponent, heing duly sworn, says: In the summer and fall of 1855, I was a 
captain of artillery in the Army of t!Je United States, and was stationed at Fort 
Duncan, in Texas, situated on the cast side of the Rio Grande, nearly opposite to the 
town or village of Piedras Negras, in Mexico. While stationed there I frequently 
visited Piedras Negras, ancl had a fair opportunity of acqniring some knowledge of 
the country in the neighborhood, and of the resources, business, and loss sustained 
from its invasion by a p~uty of armed Texans in October, 1t:l55. The town or village 
of Piedras Negras contained at that time not more that eight hundred persops, and 
was situated about one mile from Fort Duncan. They were very poor, beiug 
principally a fl.uctnating population of Mexican herders and carriers, wi tb their 
families, who resided in huts built of adobe, covered with a coarse grass, with earthen 
floors. There were about one hundred of these huts, anJ. probably ten others wit.h 
gravel roofs. There was hnt one two-story brick house, the property of a man named 
Rich, which ·was not molested, and was the principal place of business. There was 
considerable transit trade in raw cotton and honded goods from the Unitecl SLates; 
corn, hides, lead, wool, and brood mares to the United States, the freight mainly 
carried ou ox-carts. The country was unproduc1ive and without cnltivation. The 
Texans remained about twenty-four hours, barricading the streets with ox-cat·ts, and 
setting fire to these grass-covered huts, which were easily consumed, with a number 
of ox-carts, besiues destroying all they could uelonging to the defenseless people, 
after which they recrossed to the Texas side of the river in a panic, using the flat­
boats and skiffs, and in such baste that their own horses were abandoned until they 
conld subsequently return for them. I am of the opinion that no heavy articles were 
carried away, and it is impossiule for me to st~ate the v~Llue of any propP,rty stolen or 
dest,royed be~7 0ntl the fact that the impoverished condition of the inhabitants, thetr 
insufficient clothing and scanty suusistence, prove the impossibility of their being 
pilla.ged to any large amount. 

JAMES B. RICKETTR, 
Major Geneml, Dnited State8 Army, (retired.) 

Depoiiition of Sidn ey Burbank, Brevet B1·igad'ier Geneml, United State8 Army, (rcti1·ed.) 

The deponent, being duly sworn, deposes and says: I was a captain in the Army of 
the United States in October, 1~55, and was stationed at Fort Duncan, Texas, and in 
command at that post. I bad a fair opportunity of knowing something of the 
population· ancl business of the people, and could very well judge of their wealth or 
poverty. Fort Duncan was established in the spring of 1849, at which time there 
were no inhabitants on either side of the river, up or down, for a great number of 
miles. The town of Piedras· Negras, situated directly opposite Fort Duncan, was 
settled and grew up after the establishment of that post. The inhabitants were very 
poor, anu lived mostly, if not entirely, from the small trade carried on with the troops 
stationed at Fort Duncan and the dependents thereon, and such employment as was given 
them from time to time by the Government as guides, muleteers, and laborers. Occa­
sionally there were Mexican troops st.ationed at Piedras Negras, but it was not a regular 
garrisoned place, and the inhauitants could receive unt little support from this source. 
In October, 1R55, I should judge the number of inhabitants to be about five hundred 
men, women, and children. The honses, huts, or dwellings of the inhabitants were of 
the cheapest construction, built of adobes or upright poles and tbatche!l with grass; 
in some cases the d \veilings were caves or excavations in the banks of the river, and 
these dwellings were furnished in a manner equally plain and cheap. Iu my opinion 
these houses or huts could not cost, on au average, more than $50, and the furnishing 
could not exceed that amount. There were, to the best of my knowledge aud belief~ 
from eighty to one hundred of these huts or houses burned by the Texans on the 6th 
of October, 18~5, and the entire and total damage caused by t.he conflagration would 
not exceed, in my estimation, $10,000. 

S. BURBANK, 
Brevet Brigaclim: Ueneml, United Si(ttes Army. 

Deposition of Eclmund W. Wallace. 

The deponent, being duly sworn, says: That he is an American citizen by birth, is 
forty years of age, ancl is residing· at Georgetown, District of Columbia. That iu 1850 
he sojourned at Fort Duncan, where be was in business in connection with his brother, 
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who was sutler to the post; that he remained so in business until 1853, when he was 
appointed deputy collector of customs at Eagle Pass, Texas, directly opposite Piedras 
Negras, by Mr. Guthrie, the Secretary of the United States Treasury. He remained 
such collect,or, discharging the duties of his office, until March: 1861. His business 
office was in Fort Duncan, contiguous to Eagle Pass. His business and residence af­
forded him fair opport,unities of becoming very well acquainted with the town of Piedras 
Negras, he having almost daily intercourse with it, and becoming acquainted with 
very many of the inhauitants, their occupatious, and pursuit~. He was in that town 
when it was burned by the troops under the command of Captains Callahan and 
Henry, who were said to be in the service of the State of Texas. He estimates the 
numuer of the inhabitants of Piedras Negras at the time of the burning, including 
men, women, and children, at about eight huurlred souls, anu they were generally very 
poor incleed. Some of them, perhaps a majority of the heads of families, were owners 
of small lots of cattle, which were allowed to gr::tze during tho day-time in the neigh­
borhood, and which were brought up to the village at night for protection against the 
Indians. Home of them were owners of carts and ox-teams, and v;rere engaged in 
freighting between Sao Antonio and Eagle Pass. Some of them were little shop-keep­
ers, haYing a meager supply of miseraule Malaga wine, mescal, cigarritos, and other 
little articles. Some few, also, had Mexican blankets for sale. There were four stores, 
and he can remember no more, which had a better supply of goor'ls-one managed by 
Mr. Rich, one by Mr. Duclos, one by Mr. O;;wald, and one uy Mr. Stone. H e thinks 
that t,he supply of goods which these four stores may ha,ve had on hand at the time of 
the burning could not have exceeded in value $100,000 in the aggregate, and he does 
not know that the value was as 'great. The goods in the little shops and stores 
could not, in his opinion, have exceeded in value $i5,000. The retail trade of the town 
of Piedras Negras was mostly carried on across the river at Eagle Pass, the inhabitants 
buying there their coffee, sngar, c~tlicoes, and other dress-goods, and no consideraule 
stock of goods was kept at Piedras Negras. The houses in Piedras Negras were mostly 
small, built of adobe, and thatched with a species of country grass or straw. The 
military barracks on the plaza were covered with a kind of concrete roof. There was 
one brick-bouse in town, belonging to 1\fr. Rich. There were no frame or wooden 
houses in the town. The houses were generally without floors, and were wort·h gen­
erally on an average about $400 apiece. The deponent built au . a(lobe house at Fort 
Duncan for his use, better than the average of houses iu Piedras Negras, at a cost of 
$500; the labor employed was Mexican. The furniture of the houses was meager in 
quantity and very primit.ive in character. He thinks, on an average, the furniture to 
each house was not worth over $100, including the ''vhole, beds, bedding, &c. Tlleir 
little gardens about in the village prodnced very little; some little cultivation was 
carried on out of town in the neighborhood. The Mexicans are generally fond of 
jewelry, but the iuhabitants of Piedras Negras were so poor that the quantity in that 
town was inconsiderable. It was very uncommon to find a watch among the in­
ha.bitants. The food of the inhabitants consisted of tortillas, jerked beef, and peppers. 
The corri they ground by hand-mills. Thirt.y bushels of corn on hand at the time of the 
burning is a reasouaule estimate for each family, and calculating about six persons in 
each family, there were about one hundred and thirty-three families. The price of 
corn was from $1 to $1.25 per bushel. There was a considerable number of ox-carts in 
the toWJJ, of very simple and primitive character, the wheel being generally compoAed 
of one piece. There were a few modern carts, with hubs, spokes, and iron tires. The 
deponent thinks.it likely that a number, perhaps thirty or forty, of these were burned, 
as he saw them piled together in the form of a barricade. They were worth on an 
average about $40 apiece. The Callahan troops did uot carry off any carts, oxen, cows, 
or other animals, and he does not think any considerable number of these could have 
been lost by the occupation and burning of the town by Callahan. It is possible some 
few may have stampeded and strayed oft', but deponent thinks not many. 

The deponent, says that he was messing with the officers at Fort Duncan at the t.irne 
the burning took place, and he knows that no officer or soldier of that post participated 
therein or sanctioued it in any llanner. Himself and Dr. Wood were in Piedras 
Negras, from curiosity, in the afternoon of the day that the town was fired. As soon 
as they discovered that t.he town was being :fired, they immediately rrossed the river to 
the American side. The town of Piedras Negras was not compactly built, but scattered 
over an area of about a quarter of a mile square. The brick house referred to was not 
burned. 

The deponent resided at Fort Duncan twelve years, and knew the people of Piedras 
Negras very well. 

'l'he·der1ouent says he has no interest in any claim before the commission. 
EDMUND W. WALLACE. 
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[Translation.j 

STATE OF TEXAS, Mave1'iclc Cotmty, ss: 
Deposition of Manuel Ban, of Eagle Pass, Texas, tuken on behalf of the United States, 

and intended to be used before the joint commission between the United St,ates and 
Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pending before that said commission. 
The said MANUEL BAN, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I was born 

in the State of Arkansas, in the Unitetl States of the North; I am an American 
citizen and resident of Eagle Pass; thirty-nine years of age, and a carpenter 
by occupation. I am well acquainted with Piedras Negras since the year 1851. 
Since the 24th of June, 1855, I have lived in Eagle Pass, and during the time be­
fore and after the destruction of Piedras Negras by Texas volunteers, nuder the orders 
of Callahan and Henry, my business, as agent of one of the business houses of Eagle 
Pass, ouliged me to go every day, and even five times a day, to Piedras Negras. I was 
acquaint.etl with almost every honse and cabin in Piedras Negras, ~tnd a.!so the greater 
part of the inhabitants. At the time of the burning by the aforesaid Texans, it did 
not have more than three or four hundred honses. Juan Jose Patino had a honse 
about ten va1·as ( ~·ards) long, and four and a half wide; Jose Ma. Flores had a house, 
in dimensions a little more or less than that of Patino; Dofta Isabel Milian also had a 
house, and lJesidPs these three houses, it had houses which were the quarters of troops, 
and in one of these Captain Saiz, the hnsband of Dof1a Onofre Villareal, lived, and 
when the lJurning took place Captain Saiz was not in the town, and Dona Onofre Vil­
lareal alone in the house. Besides the houses mentioned, the dwellings consisted of 
huts, cabins, and stra\'1'-thatcbed huts, the number of which did not exceed one hun­
dred and twAuty-fi.ve ; it only had three streets. The inhalJitants in general were ex­
cessively poor, with the exception of eight or ten persons who had means of living. 
One of these was Jesus Maria de la Garza; he had a little shop, and, estimating in all 
conscience the goods, their v alne did not exceed $3,000 ; and it was the only store which 
had supplies. The capit,al of the other rich people did not exceed from $tl00 to $1,000. 
Almost all these had a little bar-room, but they did not have supplies of the goods in 
which they traded, and they always crossed to Eagle Pass to buy their liquors hy a 
gallon at a time. The majority of tho other inhabitants were day-laborers, and who 
before were soldiers, and I did not know that they bad any property besides their 
labor; some had a little horse, sorne cows with calves, or a little pig, or a cart to carry 
water. The d welli ugs were of a very inferior kind, and the construction of the greater 
part of them could not have exeeeded $100 in cost; they were of mesquite posts, and 
covered with hay or straw. The material for the construction of cabins was then very 
close to the town. The furniture of the house was little, and of very slight cost; the 
richest, including their furniture and the ornaments of their houses, were not worth 
above $400. The houses of Dona Isabel Miflan, of Dona Onofre Villareal, of Pedro 
Lechuvia, husband of Dof1a Dolores Salinas, were the houses best furnislwcl and 
adorned, but the value of the furniture and adornments could not have exceeded $400. 
In each hut lived one family, but as every da.y new emigrants arrived, it might have 
been that in one or other hut families lived in a crowded state. The number of horses 
was not large, and the best was not worth alJove $80, and the majority of them were 
wort.h from $15 to $~0 each, because they belonged to poor men wb.o did not have the 
means to keep a good horse. I believe that all the inhalJitants of Piedras Negras to­
gether did not lose more than twenty-five horses. I saw the · Texans when they 
crossed from Texas to Mexico, and I saw them all well mounted, and I also saw them 
when they returned from Piedras Negras, and I believe that the Texans left as many 
of their own horses in Piedras N egras as they carried away from the inhalJitants of Piedras 
Negras. Very few persons had cows, and a cow with calf was then worth $to. I do 
not recollect to have seen many fa.t pigs; a fat pig was worth at that time as much as 
$25, and I have uever seen a fat pig which was worth more at an,y time lJefore or after, 
nor have I known of a case where more than $25 was asked for a pig. The persons who 
had jewelry were few, and all who had wore it, and they had time to hide it before 
the Texans commenced to rob and burn the houses. From the moment that the 
Texans crosse,l to the Mexican bank, (side,) the families in Piedras Negras began tog 
out, leaving everything of value, and this rlight (emigration) lasted until the volun­
teers returned after four or five days, when they commenced to rob and burn the 
houses, and I believe that the inhabitants rernovecl everything which they had of value 
out of the city, inasmuch as they had time sufficient to do it. The day before the 
burning of Piedras Negras.I went into the majority of the houses, and for this (reason) 
I know very well what was their situation; I myself assisted families to cross to the 
American side. The inhabitants in general were very poor; t.he persons who had 
more than $300 were very few and very famous. I was acquainted with Mariana J nan a 
Hernandez; she had a few little bottles aud some sweetmeats, and a little soap; she 
was a working (laboring) woman, and had a little cabin joined to a straw-thatched 
hut "KOrth $100. The wines and other merchantable effects did not exceed $70 in value. 
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I am acqnainted with, :md was acquainted with, Loreuzo Gnevara; he was ver~· poor; 
be had a cahiu, half above and half underground; he had nothing, anrlli ved with his 
mother. I was acqnaiuted \Yith Jnan Jose Patifw; he was poor, and he did not have 
more than one bouse, the same which he still bas; and I only knew him as a day­
lahorer, and sometimes he was engaged in the courts and other employments; iu the 
event of his owning carts and property he bad them outside. I am acqnaiuted with 
Santos Loy; be was a soldier, and very poor-a laborer who worked from llay to day for 
a liviug. I am acquainted with Guadalupe Ramos; he was very poor, and burdened 
with a family; he lived in a straw-thatched cabin, where he had eight or t en bottles 
of wine, aud he gave balls to support himself in a very straightened way. I am ac­
quainted with .Francisco Gonzalez; he was a very poor day-laborer; he diu not have 
property of any kind; be worked on the riVf~r to support himself. I am acqnainted 
with Melchora Zimenez; she was very poor, and nothiug bnt her labor with which to 
support herself; her son Francisco Quiritero lived with her, who was under age, and who 
bad no property separat.Bd from his mother. I am acquainted with Geronimo Gonza­
lez; be was very poor; he harl a few lHtle carts, witll which he supported himself. I 
am acquainted with Pablo Valadez; he was very poor; he lahoreu wit,h his sons cov­
ering cabins in order to support himself; there lived with him his sons, who were 
under age, Nicanor and Silverio, who did not have and flo not yet have any property 
separa.te fi·om their father. I am acqnainted with Simon Ramire11; he was a very 
poor laborer. 1 am acquainteu with Angel Yturriaga; be was an ex-solLlier, very 
poor, anll was a servant iu the bonses of different persons; he worked very little, be­
cause he was almost always drunk. I likewise am acquainted wit.h Secundino B~u·­
bosa; be was a retired soldier, very poor, a little drnn karu, anll aU his property was 
au ass. I am acquainted with Manuel Rodrigues; he bad a little shop, (cabaret,) with 
a few little bottles, and by this be supported himself. I am aequaiuted with Jose Ma. 
Carhajal, 'Yho was in the same condition as Barbosa; he was au ex-soldier, and 
a drunkard. I am acquainted wit.h Victor Gonzalez; he was a silversmith, but be 
did not have any independent place of business; he was very poor. I do not 
rernemht>r to have seen Gregorio Gonzalez at that time, and I oelieve he was 
not in Pierlras Negras. I was acqnaint.ed with Julian Rodriguez before and 
after the hurning of Piedras Negras, but I never knew of his living in 
Piedras Negras before the year 1862. I am acquainted wit.ll Antonio Montez; he was 
very poor; he had a few little bottles, and played the violin. I am acquainted with 
Jesus Losoya, but be did not li\'e in Piedras Negras. I am n.cquainted with Jnan N. 
Lopez; he ball some cows, and sold milk; he was poor, aud worked wherever they 
engaged him; in this way he was supported. I was acquainted with Mariano Agnirre 
for a long time, and at the time of tbe hnrniug he was not more than t.hitteen years 
of age, autl never hall auy property except tbc clothing which h e 'vore. I am ac­
quainted with Lnis Mnzquiz; he had nothmg t>lse in this world bnt the pen with 
which be wrote lies. I am acqnainted with Cervero Bareara; he liverl with hil' 
mother, Dofta Isauel Mifia.n; he ht>.cl lit.tle cows, carts, horses, the property of his 
mother, under his management. ; she, moreover, had a little shop, ( ca.ba.rct,) and ';';aR 

one of the richest. I am acqnaint.efl with Pedro Gouzalez; he ha,d no more capital 
than his carts and little cows, with which he snpported himself; he lived in a cabin, 
lmt this cahin was not bnrned, because I saw it afterward. I am acqnainted with 
Jnan Cacerrs; be was very poor; he worked on halves in a hoat (ferry) iu order to 
maintain himself. I am acqnaiuted with AnastasJO Gonzale11; he was very poor, and a 
rohber; I did uot know that he had any other occnpat.ion exct>pt to rob, and by this means 
he supported hilnsPlf; a few days before the fire ho stole stock from the American 
carnp. I ant acquainted with Severo de la. Lnua; he was poor, a day-laborer. I am 
acqnainted with Jose Ma. Hoclrignez; he was very poor; I uever knew that he had 
any property; he was a day-laborer, and a very good worker. I was acquainted with 
Domingo San Miguel; he had nothing more than the little ornaments of his house, 
which did not exceed $400 in valne. I am acqnaiuted with Jesus Salinas; he lived in 
a sufficieutly dilapidated cabin; he had nothing more than some cart,s ' ·hich be had 
bonght, and tlwse carts w·ere ahsent on a jonruey at the time of the fire. I am ac­
C]Uainted with Maria Delila Tanus, and her claim ought to be the sam<' which Domingo 
San Miguel claims, with whom she live1l at that time as wife. I nm acquainterl with 
Je:;ns l\la. Herrera; be was poor, working in a foundery. I am acqna.iute1l with Dy­
onisio Gonzalez; he is the father of Francisco Gouzalez; he was very poor, a da,y­
lahorer. I always knew Jose Jimenez was a very poor devil. I am acquainted with 
Adelaide Ban; she is my sister; she was a widow, engaged in washing and ironing, 
and made clothing in order to support herself; and her loss did not excee<l $~00, and I 
am convincerl that she never inteudecl to claim a cent more than what she lost. I am 
acqnaintPd with Miguel Patino; he had carts with whicll lle supported himself, a.nd I 
thi11k at the time of the fire he was on a journey with tlle carts. I am acqnttinted witl1 
Catarino Rios; he was poor, working for me as a ''mgoner on the Yery day of the fire , 
wlwn be asked leave to cross to Piedras Ncgras to see bis honse. I am acquainted with 
Leonardo R01lrigne11; he was YelT poor; an<.l worked hy the day in order to snppor t 
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himself. I am acquaintecl with Gabriel G. Cordero; he was a poor man, a card-player. 
I am a.cqnainted with Julian Ortiz, who is now a g·nard; and if he is the same who 
presents a clairu for losses caused by the bnming of Piedras Negnts, I say that he never 
lived in Piedras Negras at t,hat time; he was a resident of San Juan de Allende. I am 
acqnainted with Jacinto Rocleiguez; he is a card-player Ly profession, and never had 
anytuing. I am acquainted with Vidala de la Cerda; he was poor; had fifteen or 
twenty Lottles of wine, and made bread; witll this he supported himself. I am ac­
quainted with Eleno H,oclrignez; he is the son of Ramon Rodrig-uez; he lived with 
his f~tther, and did not have any property what.ever separate from his father. I am 
acquainted with Manuel Perea; he was employed as clerk in the business of Jesus de 
la Garza. If Jose Ma. Perez, who presents claims, is the one who was a gnard, and 
lives to-<lay in the little town, (the town of Fuentes,) I say that he came a long time 
after the destruction to live in Piedras Negras; he was (then) a resident of San Juan 
'Allende. I am acquainted with Maria Telesfora Sosa; she is the wite of Geronimo 
Gonzalez, and she could not have sustained losses apart from her husband. I am ac­
quainted with Blas Palos; he was as poor as Lorenzo Gnevaera, with whom he was 
hrougb t n p, in tile same house, and he was not at that t1 me above fifteen years of age. I 
believe that the values which claimants have put in their e.xpedientes are ritlicnlonsly 
exaggerated, and I believe tha.t everything that existed in Piedras N egras, together 
with all the land on which the town was built, could have been bought at that time 
for $100,000. MANUEL BAN. 

(Hero follows, in English, the certificate. under seal, of .Albert Tiirpe, notary public 
of Maverick Couuty, Texas.) 

STATE OF TEXAS, Maverick County, 88.: 

Deposition of V\Tilliam ~chuchardt, of Piedras Negras, t.aken on behalf of the United 
States, and intended to be used before the joint commission between the United 
States and Mexico, iu the matter of various claims now pending before the said com­
mission. 

The said \Vn.LIAM ScHUCHARDT, being first duly sworn, deposes and sa.ys: I am a. 
citizeu of the United States, a resident of Piedras Negras, forty years of age, and com­
merciaJ agent of the United States at Piedras Negras, Mexico. I am well acquainted 
with Manuel Ban, of Eagle Pass, Texas, who has signed anrl sworn to a deposition 
taken before Albert Tiirpe, on the 6th clay of March, 11:571. The said Manuel Ban is 
entirely worthy of credit, and his statements are to be believed. His general reputa­
tion for truth aud veracity is very good. 

WILLIAM: SCHUCHARDT. 

(Translateu ll,\7 A. P . M:., Vi/ashington, May :n, 1871.) 

f Translation. 1 

S'L\.TE OF TEXA::l, Mavtrick County : 

Deposition of Gregorio Garza, of Piedras Negras, Mexico, taken on behalf of the United 
St.ates, and int.endetl to be used before the joint commi:ssion between the Unitecl 
States and Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pentlincr before the said com-
mission. "' 

The said GREGOHIO G.\117-A, being iirst duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citizen 
of Mexico aud resident of Piedras Negms, in the district of Hio Grande, State of Coa­
huila, forty· six years of age, ~wd a laborer by occupation. I know Antonio Montez 
and Pedro Gonzalez, anu Jesus Frias, and Nicanor Valadez; I do not know MariaN. rle 1~ 
Garza, and I do not recollect having knowu her at that time. I was a resiflcnt of Piedras 
Negras at the time that this town was destroyed Ly volunteers under the orders of Cal­
lahan and Henry, and I was at that time in the town. I know many of the residents 
who at tuat time lived in Picuras Negras who have prrsentecl claims :owainst the United 
States of the Nortl~ for losses which they sustained by the destrncti;;'n of the town of 
Piedras Negra~ at th.at. time. At the time the expedientes ~~ c~ai~tants were made up 
I was ausent from Pwdras Negras, and on my return my wife mformed me that Luis 
Muzquiz had talked with her about making up an exped-icntetouchingthe loss which I 
had suffered by the destruction of my property when the volunteers rob Led and burned 
the houses; but Luis Muzquiz never spoke to me, nor any other one, about this matter 
concerning me, nor with reference to other claimants. I know Jesns Salinas and Max­
imo Garcia, and Arcadio Ramirez, but I never presented them as witnesses in the mat­
cier of my claim, inasmuch as I myself did not know that they were claiming an amount 
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so exaggerated for me. Jesus Salinas lives at Eagle Pass; Maximo Garcia Jives, since 
four years, on a ranch in Texas, eleven leagues from Piedras Negras, and Arcadio Ram­
irez lives in the little town; and in order to present them as witnesses in my claim, I 
would have been under the necessity of going to seek them in those places; this I 
never did, because no one ever spoke to me about doing it. I know Antonio Mont.ez, 
and Jesus Frias, and Nicanor Valdes; but at no time did I make a deposition with re­
spect to their expediente8 in their claims. I also know Pedro Gonzalez, but neither 
did I make a deposition about him, or about the tm;>perty which he lost. It surprises 
me to see niy name as a witness in the matters touching the claims of these parties 
against the United States, inasmuch as I never made and never was called to give tes­
timony respecting them. I do not know Maria N. de la Garza, and it is not possible 
that I could have made a deposition of who she was or what she bad. I am completely 
jgnorant of the persons who appear as witnesses in the expecliente which was made 
up for me, and it is rny opinion that in these transactions many rascalities have been 
committed. I never knew the amount which they claimed for me, inasmuch as I never 
had the intention of cla.iming one cent more than what I lost. It is, in my opinion. 
very wrong to use the names of persons as witnesses without their knowledge, and I 
believe what was done in my case was done in mauy others. I am informed that some 
persons, such as Eleuo Rodriguez, Arcadio Ramirez, Miguel Villareal, a1;1d o1Jhers also 
present claims, and at t,he same time their fathers claim very large sums. Eleno Rod­
riguez lived wit.h his father, Ramon Roddguez, and he was a boy-just as Arcadio Ram­
irez and Miguel Villareal were children, and did not have any separate property at 
that time. I know Rafael Flores; be was a soldier; had two cabins; I lived opposite 
to him in the one in which Ma. Ramona Muzqniz now lives; and Rafael Flores li\'ed 
where I now live. As Rafael :F'lores was a soldier, be was out of the town when Pie­
dras Negras was destroyed by the Texans. The wife of Rafa,el Flores was sick in bed 
at that time, and she was not able to move. I know very well that her cabin was not 
burned, and none of his property was taken, because he bad nothing of value. In a 
few days the wife of Rafael Flores died, and then he sold me his property, which con­
sisted of two cabins and a lot, the two cabins being the same which he had before the 
fiTe. Aft.er the wife of Rafael Flores dieu be withdrew from Piedras Negras, anll never 
returned; and I wonder where Luis Muzquiz seized (founrl) him in order to make him 
a claimant. 

Witness: WM. SCHUCHARDT. 

STATE OF TEXAS, Maverick County: 

his 
GREGORIO + GARZA. 

mark. 

(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal, of Albert Tiirpe, nota.ry public, 
Maverick County, Texas.) 

(Translated by A. P.M., Washington, May 19, 1871.) 

[Translation.) 

STATE OF TEXAS, Maverick County, 88 : 
Deposition of Adelaida Van, of Eagle Pass, Texas, taken on llcbalf of the United States, 

and intended to be used before the joint commission between the United States and 
Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pending before the saiu co._mmission. 

The said ADEI~AIDA VAN, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I was born in the 
State of Georgia, in the United States of North America, and I am now a resiuent of 
Eagle Pass, Texas; my occupation is that of seamstress, and I a.m forty-three years of 
age. I am well acquainted with Piedras Negras, and I was well acquainted with it 
before its destruction by fire by the Texans, who entered Piedras Negras, under the 
orders of Callahan and Henry, in the year 1855. At that time the town of Piedras Ne­
gras was recent.Iy settled, and its appearance was poor, and the inhabitants was like­
wise poor. The dwellings which it contained were cabins, badly dilapidated little 
houses, (malanquito8,) straw-thatcbeil. huts, (charnacuero8,) and underground abodes, 
{80le'ITaneos.) The furniture and adornments of the houses which the inhabitants had 
at that time were very few and of an inferior kind, and their cost very little. Some 
bad a few pieces of jewelry, but in general there was not much jewelry among the peo­
ple. The construction of a but now costs from $:30 to $40; but at that time it cost 
much less, the timber and grass being very near the town, while to-day it must be 
brought very much farther. There were few horses and cows in t,be town, neither 
were there many pigs. The price of a cow with a calf, of good quality, was, a.t that 
time, from $12 to $18, inasmuch as at this price I bought many for the officers of the 
American camp, who intrnstedme with this commission. The veryJattest.pigs uid not 
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exceed $2G in valn(', and pigs which were worth as mnch as thi.;; were very few. At no 
time was a, pig of the best quality worth above $:25. I believe th;tt few of the inlutoit­
ants bad as mnch as $:300, because they were poor, ancl what they h:ul wrts of little 
yaJne : it contained umuy iullal>itauts who ditl not have a hundred dollars. I rtm ac­
quainted with l'aulo Valades; he had c;tuills and carts and oxen, aufl was engaged, 
together witll his sons, in making cabins; :tnd he was poot·. I am acquainted with 
.Tosc Ma. C:troajal; he was a servant of Captain Saiz; and I di<l not know he had any 
property. lam aCfluainted wit.h Vidor Gonzalez; he is a silversmith, and did not have 
anythiug. I am acquainted with Juana Longoria; she was poor; she had a cabin. I 
!till acquainted with Dolores Salinas; she had good honschohl furniture, unt, with the 
exception of these, she was very poor. I <litlnot. know that Julian Rodriguez had any 
property \YhateYor. I am acqnaintecl with Antonio 11antcz; he was a music-teacher, 
:wd snpported himself by his occnp;ttion; he waH poor. I am aequainted with Mari­
HJIO Agnierre, but he did not haYo anything. I am acquainted with Jesus Almen­
<larcs; he was poor; be did not h<we :wything. I nm acquainted ·with Jnau 
CaeerPs ; he was Yer.v yonng a1Hl <t boatman; he was very poor. I am acqnaiuteu 
with Auastasio Gonzalez; he \VHS poor; he had four children, and never h:ul 
auything to givt\ them to eat. I am acqnainted with Jose 1\fa. Rodriguez; he 
was a servaut and bad nothing. I am n,cqnaiuted witll Domingo Ran l\Iignel; 
h e was a sen'ant, and be llad 110 property out hiH bonse and arms. I am acqmtintctl 
\dth Cecilio V:trn, ; he was a poor workman; he made cauins. I am ac<pHtinted 
with Caspar Salaz;ar; he was 111,\" ueighbor; he lived in a hnt; be was poor. I am 
a t.: <luaiute<l with Vicente de los Snuto:>; he was a ~Soldier; I dicl llllt kuow that he 
had auy property except his lwrse and arms. I am acqnaintcd with Dionieio Gonznlez; 
he lived with hiH father, and was poor. Jose Jimenez; was a boatman and clhl not have 
a uytlliug. I am acquainted with Rafael Zepeda; he was very poor; the little that he 
po:>SCSI:led he bad lo::;t in a fire oefore the pl:tce was bmncd uy the Texans. I am ac­
(lllaiuted with baoel Galindo; she was a widow and very poor. I am acquainted with 
.Tesns Pineda, uriel·laycr; he h:Hl caoins awl workc<l at his trade, and l>y it made his 
li,·ing. I am acqnaiute<l with Lcouanlo Hotlrignez; be was very poor. I am ac­
(lnaintetl with Gauriel G. Conlero; he was Yery poor. I am acqnaiuted with ~1aria 
clel Pilar Galindo; she \Yas a single wolllan, who had no honse and was very poor. I 
am acqnainte<l with Jesus Frias; he was a solclier; I did not know that he had any 
property at all. I am ac<rnaintetl with Jacinto Rodriguez, gambler; he did not h:we 
auythin~ in Piedras Negras; hec:tmeancl wont. I am acquainted with Maria Ygnacia 
)Iesa; sne was a poor woman. I am acqnahited wit.h Eleno Rodriguez; he was the 
son of Ramon H.odrignez, aml was very small at that time, and did not llave any prop­
erty. I am acquainted with Mmmel Perea; he was a clerk of Jesus de la Garz~t; he 
liYed with his f~1ther, Ignacio Perea, and Manuel did not have any property separate 
from him. I mn acqnainted with Maria H.efngio Gnrcia, out she did not live in Piedras 
Negras at that time. I am acquainted witll Gnadalnpe Perez; he had a but and was 
poor. I am acquainte(l with Bias Palos; he was a little follow and had uothinn·, I 
am also a claima,nt for losses which I suffered by the roobery and fire of the To~ans, 
and my losses altogether cannot exceed the value of $4GO; aud this sum will pay for 
the losses which I Hust<tined. I have not wa<1c a deposition nor have I snuscribetl a 
document with respect to a claim before the judge of Piedras Negras, nor beforA any 
other anthority. They informed me that I onght to present a claim for tho losses 
which I sn:ffered by tho bnrning of Piedras Negras by the Texans, becanse the Govern­
ment of the United States waH going to pay liS for what we had lost; and in a short 
time l\Ir. William Stone sent for me. ·when I went to see him he told me that the 
Government was going to pay, and that I would lose nothing by making the attempt. 
I was telling him all tllat I llad lost, out it appeared to him very little, and he wished 
to make it more, bnt to this I did not agree. He told me it was necessary to place it 
at a high fignre in order that they should give us some, and in order that there wonlcl 
result some to pay him for his labor, and we wonlcl divide, (or go httlves,) he au<l I. 
He \note a document, bnt did not read it to me; he told me it was the value of what 
I hacllost, and then I took the pen with which he subscribed the document, believinO' 
that he bad put down what I had indicated. This document is the only paper \Yhich 
I have signed concerning my claim, and no authority or uotarr pnblic was present. I 
appointed William Stone my a,ttorney to receive any money whatever, aml t,o take the 
steps desirable for the success of my claim . I did not snl>scriue this power. vVhen he 
made up the document of my claim he tol<l me I mnHt return to sign it, but he never 
sent for me; I oelieve that he saw that the business did not please me. It seemR to . 
me that all the claims are ridiculously exaggerated. 

her 
ADELAIDA + VAN. 

mark. 

(Here follows, in English, the certificate, nntl cr seal, of the notary public, Alber ~ 
'l'iirpe, of Maverick Couuty~ Texas.) 

H. Ex. 277-11 
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STATE OF TEXAS, Maverick County, 88 : 

Deposition of William Schuchardt, of Piedras Negms, Mexico, taken on behalf of the 
United States, and intended to be used before the joint commission between the 
United States and Mexico in the matter of various claims now pending before the 
said commission. 

vVILLlAM ScHUCHARDT, being first duly sworn, deposes and says : I am a citizen of 
the United States of Amm·ica, a resident of Piedras Negras, Mexico, forty years of age, 
and United States commercial agent at Pied'ras Negras, Mexico. I am acquainted with 
Adelaida Van, of Eagle Pass, Texas, 'Tho has signed and sworn to a deposition taken be­
fore Albert Tiirpe, on the 26th day of April, 1871. I always knew the said Adelaida 
Van to be an honest and true woman, and entirely worthy of credit, and her state­
ments are to be believed. Her general reputaiion for truth and veracity is good. 

'VM. SCHUCHARDT. 

(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal of Albert Tiirpe, notary publi c 
of Maverick County, Texas.) 

(Translated by A. P. M., Washington, May 24, 1871.) 

[Translation.] 

STATE OF TEXAS, Maverick County, 88: 

Deposition of Pedro Salazar, of Piedras Negras, state of Coahuila, Republic of Mexico 
taken on behalf of the United States, and intended to be used before the joint com­
mission between the United States and Mexico, in the matter of various claims now 
pending before said commission. . 
The s~tid PEDRO SALAZAR, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citizen 

of Mexico and resident of Piedras Negras, thirty-two years of age, a boatman by oc­
cupation. I was born in San Fernando de Rosas, in the district of Rio Grande, state 
of Coahuila, Republic of Mexico, and I was a resident of Piedras Negras some time be­
fore its destruction by Texas volunteers, under the orders of Callahan and Henry, 
wbich destruction, as I recollect, took place in the year 1855 . . I was well acquainted 
with the town of Piedras Negras before it was destroyed and afterward. The number 
of (stone) houses did not exceed six; the other dwellings were lmts, cabins, and cellars. 
I was then living in an underground but (sotm'rctneos) covered with earth, and I bad 
established in it a hat manufactm·y; I lost by the destruction (of the town) everything 
that I had in my house. I had about five dozen bats finished and for sale, and about 
four dozen unfinished ; at that time I sold a hat for $4; I also lost all the furniture 
and other things in my house. When I knew that claims were presented against the 
Government of the United States for the losses which we had suffered by the destruc­
tion of the town of Piedras Negras, I presented myself, as one who bad also lost, 
to Luis Mnzquiz, in order that be might present my claim for me, but as I neYer gave 
him a list of what I had lost, nor have·told him of it, I do not know whether or not he 
bas done it, bnt Abram J imenes, secretary of Luis Mnzq uiz, handed me a paper to sign, 
telling me that it was the expediente of my claim; but I did not read said paper, neither 
did they read it to rue, nor do I know what it contained. At the same that I subscribed 
the paper Zernardo Valdez, a friend of mine, subscribed another paper similar to it, and 
Abram Jimenes, the secretary of Luis Mnz!J.niz, said to Bernardo Valdez that it was the 
eX]Jediente of his claim. I do not know what was exactly the number of cabins which it 
contained when the 'town was destroyed, but I know that they were not all burned. 
At that time the price of a breeding cow was $12, and the price of the best cow did not 
exceed $15. A fat bog sold at that time for $25 and $30. 

PEDRO SALAZAR. 

(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal, of Albert Ttirpe, notary public of 
Maverick County, Texas, under date of 4th March, 1871.) 

(Translated by A. P. M.,May 20, 1871.) 

STATE OF TEXAS, Mare1·ick County, 88: 

Deposition of William Schuchardt, of Piedras Negras, Mexico, taken on behalf of the 
United ~tates, and intended to be used before the joint commission between the UnitP.d 
States and Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pending before the said com­
mission. 
'l'he said WILLIAM SCHUCHARDT, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a cit­

izen of the United States, a resident of Piedras Negras, forty years of age, and a com­
mercial agent of the United States at Piedras Negras. I am well acquainted with Pe-
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dro Salazar, of Piedras Negras, who signed and swore to a deposition taken before 
Albert Tiirpe on the 4th clay of March: 1871. The said Pedro Salazar is entirely worthy 
of credit, and his statements are to be believed. His general reputation for truth and 
veracity is good. 

WM. RCHUCHARDT. 

(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal, of the notary public of Maverick 
County, Texas, under date of 21st April, 1871.) 

[Translation.] 

STATE ol!~ TltXAS, Mm,erick County, 88: 
Deposition of Jesus Loy, of Piedras Negras, Mexico, taken on behalf of the United 

States, and intended to be used before the joint commission between the United States 
and Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pending before said commission. 

The said JESUS LoY, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: My namt- is Jesus 
Loy; many persons call me Jesus Loy a; I was born in the town of Guadalupe, near 
Monterey, in the State of New Leon; I am a Mexican citizen and resident of Piedras 
Negras, in the district of Rio Grande, in the state of Coahuila, Republic of Mexico; I 
am a boatman by occupation, and twenty-nine years of age. My father was a soldier, 
and his name was Santos Loy, and he was in Piedras Negras when this town was de­
stroyed by the Texas volunteers iu 1855; but I arrived at Piedras NegTas about three 
years after it was destroyed, and I do not know anything about what happened before 
my arrival in said town. I knew that Luis Muzquiz and Mr. Coopwood were engaged 
in preparing claims for the residents who had lost by the destruction of their property 
when tLe Texas volunteers robbed and burned Piedras Negras; but they never spoke 
to me on this subject, neither did they call me to niake a deposition concerning the 
losses which had been suffered by me or others; and if certain (any) persons present 
me as a wi tnoss in their expedieute8 they have acted in bad faith, and they have used 
my name with frand, since I never made a deposition, because I did not know anything, 
and noitllf\r di(l they call me to do it, and I wonder bow I can appear in the list of wit­
nesses without having been one. I do not know Guadalupe Salinas and Francisco 
Hernandez and Maria Dolores Hernandez. I know Jose Ma. Carbajal, but I never 
made a deposition concerning his claim; I knew from hearsay that be bad suffered 
(lost) in the destruction referred to. I knowN on a to Patino, but I do not know whether 
or not he lost in the destruction of the town, and I never made a deposition concern­
ing him, nor was I called to do so. 

JESUS LOY. 

(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal, of the notary public of Maverick 
Com1ty, Texas, under date of MarcL 10, 1871.) 

(Translated by A. P.M., Washington, May 17, 1871.) 

STATE orr TEXAS, Maverick County, 88: 
Deposition of William Schuchardt, commercia,! agent of the Unit~d States at Piedras 

NegTas, Mexico, t.a,ken on behalf of the United States, and intenclell to be used before 
tlte joint commission between tlte United States and Mexico, in the matter of various 
clairns now pending before tho said commis:::;ion. 

The said WILLIAM ScHUCHARDT, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citi­
zen of the United Stat.es, a resident of Piedras Negras, forty years of age, and eommer­
cial agent of the United States at Piedras Negras. I am well acquainted with Jesus 
r~oy, of Piedras Negms, who has signed and S\YOI'U to a deposition taken before Albert 
Tiirpe on t.he lOth day of March, 1871. The said Jesus Loy is entirely wortlty of 
credit, a,ncl his sta,tements are to be belieYecl. His general reputation for truth an(l 
veracity is a good one. 

'VM. SCHUCHARDT. 

(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seaJ, of Albert Tiirpe, notary public 
of 1\Lwcrick County, Texas, under date of April 21, 1871.) 
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[Translation.] 

STATE OF TEXAS, Mavm·iclc County, 88: 
Deposition of Rafael Salinas, ·of Pn:sidio de Rio Gr:uHle, taken on behalf of the United 

States, and intemled to be nsed before the joint comroi:;sion between the United States 
and Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pending before the said commis­
sion. 
The said RAFAEL SALINAS, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I was bnrn in the 

Presidio de Rio Grande; I a.m a citizen of Mexico, and a resident of the Presidio de 
Rio Grande, district of Rio Grande; my occupation is that of an ordinary mail-carrier, 
aud fil)' age is fifty-five. I am acquainted with the town pf Piedras Negras, and I knew 
it before its destrnctiqu by Texas volunteers in the year 1855. At that time Piedras 
Negras waR a very little town. The number of stone houses did not exceed six, the 
other dwellings were buts, cabins, and mud and straw-thatched ranches, (charnacum·o8.) 
I cmmot estimate bow many of the inferior class of dwellings it then had. I was ac­
quainted With tbosf\ residents of Piedras Negras who bad come from my country to this 
t.own. I was acquainted with Octaviano Cervera; he is the sun of Miguel Cervera; 
tlwy were poor; they had some few cows and one or more beasts, (horses.) I am ac­
quainted with Antonio Flores Salinas; he was one of the most substantial. I was 
acquainted with Geronimo Gonzales; he lived in one of tlie two straw-thatched huts or 
ranches, ( cllamacuero8j) he had corrals, bnt I do not know whether or not it was burned; 
he also llatl carts a.mt oxen and cows; but I <lid not know whether he had any cap­
ita.l. I was acquainted with Maria Telesfora ~osa; she was the wife of Geronimo Gon­
zales, and they lived together in the same house, which was well furnished and decor­
ated, but in t.be nsnal wanner. I was acquainted with Juan N. Lopez; he was poor, 
and had a cabin, a little ranch, (chamacnero,) and cows. I was acquainted with Naza­
rio Moya; he was poor; be lived at the expense of a sister; he had a little cart and 
three yoke of oxen, and I did not know that he had a house of his own. 

RAFAEL SALINAS. 

(Here follo\vs, in English, the certificate, tmder seal of Albert Ti:irpe, notary . 
1mblic of Maverick Couuty, Texas, nuder tlle date of March 11, 1tl71.) 

(Translated by A. P. M, Washington, May 20, 1871.) 

STATE OF TEXAS, Maverick County, 88: 
Deposition of William Schucharclt, of Piedras Negras, taken on behalf of .the United 

States, and intended to be used before the joint commission between the United 
States a.nd Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pending before said com­
mission. 

The said \iVILLIAM ScHUCHARDT, being first dnly sworn 1 deposes and says: I am a 
citizen of the United States, a resident of Piedras Negras, forty )7 ears of age, and com­
meTcial agent of the United States at Piedras Negras. I am well acquainted with 
Rafael Salinas, of Presidio de Rio Grande, wlw has signed and sworn to a deposition 
taken before Albert Tlirpe on the 11th day of March, 1871. The said Rafael SaJinas 
is entirely worthy of credit, and his statements are to be believed. His general repu­
tation for truth and varacity is excellent. 

WM. SCHUCHARDT. 

(Here follows, in.English, the certificate, under seal, of Albert Tlirpe, notary public 
of Maverick County, Texas, nuder elate of April 21, 1871.) 

[Translation.] 

I, Jose Luciano de la Garza, lieutenant colonel of cavalry of the national guard of the 
:;tate of Coahuil<1, of Zara.goza, Mexico, employed by tlle federal government of the 
Republic of Mexico as inspector of the post-office of' this city, certify, by t.he power 
which the laws confer upon me to issue certiticates, th:::tt I am certain, (of the follow­
ilw things to be true,) of my O\Yn knowledge, because since the year 1835 I have been 
eu~raO'ed in public affairs, under the oath which I have taken, that in the year 1855, 
rh~ time in which an armed force of Texan volunteers, under the command of Callahan 
n.ud Henry, burned the town of Piedras Negras, that (town) was in p, state of poverty, 
and the inhabitants were poor; and this was a notorious fact by public fame andre­
port; and moreover my oath and my knowledge compel me to say that I knew the in­
habitants who migrated before the fire to the said towu of Piedras Negras, and that 
t,liey lived in this city some, perhaps as many as eight, who canied a small amount of 
stock \vith them. I also certif~T that, when the Texan volunteers burned Piedras 
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Negras, that town was composed of plain huts, built of grass and supported by rough 
posts with the bark on, and that tho value of each one was $30! because that is what 
it cost to build a hut. All tho dwellings were huts, except four or six houses, \Yhich 
were constructed of earth. 

In testimony of which I witness the present at the request of William Schuchardt, 
vice-consul. I do not use a seal to subscribe, because the law does not permit me to 
use one. 

JOSE LUCIANO DE LA GARZA. 
ZARAGOZA, A.ptil17, 1871. 

(Translated by A. P.M., Washington, June 10, 1871.) 

STATI~ OJ? TEXAS, Maverick County, ss: 
Depositi~n of \Viiliam Schuchardt, of Piedras Negras, taken on behalf of the United 

States, and intended to be used before the joint commission between the United 
States and Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pending before the ::;aid com­
mission. 

The said \Vn.u.Dr ScnucrrARDT, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a 
citizen of tho United States, a rcsidcut in Piedras Negras, forty years of age, and com­
mercial agent of the United States at Piedras Ncgras. I am well acquainted with 
Jose Luciano de la Garza, of Zaragoz:1, who signed a hereon-annexed certificate on 
the 17th da,y of April, 1871. The said Jose Lucia,uo de la Garza is entirely worthy of 
credit, and his statements arc to be believed. His general reputation for truth and 
veracity is very good. The signatnre on the said annexed certificate is his true ancl 
genuine signature. 

WM. SCHUCHARDT. 

(Here follows the signature, under seal, of Albert Tii.rpe, the notary public of 
Maverick County, Texas.) 

[Translation.] 

STATE OJ? COAHUILA DE ZARAGOZ.\, MEXICO, 
District of Rio Grande : 

Proceedings had at 'the 1·eqnest of William Schuchardt, the vice-consul of the united States at 
Piedras Negras. 

To the acting judge of the first instance of the district of Rio Grande, belonging to the 
state of Coahuila, Mexico: 

Jose Lnciano de la Garza, resident of the city of Zaragoza, and agent (special a111l 
solcl~' for this business) for William Schuchardt, vice-consul of the United States iu 
Piedras Negras, come before yon and respectfully state: That desiring a complete in­
vestigation may be made, in order to enable the United States to idemnify the inbabi­
tants who were domiciled in Piedras Negras, and who suffered losses in the year 1855, 
in the bnrniug of the place by an armed force of Texan Yolunteers, under the orderf.\ 
of Callahan and Henry, ancl to bring to light what I desire as agent of the vice-consul, 
I req·uest you, as is my right, to make appear in the court over wkich you preside tlw 
citizens whom I offer to present, being residents of this town, and of lawful age, who 
may testify under oath concerning t,be points of the following interrogatories: 

1st. Let them state their name, age, condition, occupation, residence, &c. 
2d. Let them say whether they \vere well acquainted with Piedras Negras at the 

time of its destruction by fire by Texan volunteers under the command of Callahan 
and Henry, and what was the wealth or poverty at that time of the inhabitants of the 
town of Piedras Negras. 

3d. Whether they knew anything about the residents who emigrated from this cit~· 
to the mentioned town of Piedras Negras, what was their comfort (condition) tllen. 
and what was it when they suffered from the fire. 

4th. And finally let them testify about whatever they may know, and about what­
ever may have reference to the true proof of what they suffered at the fire, the wit­
nesses stating whether they are connected with the claims before the mixed commis­
sion between the United States and Mexico. 

For the reason before stated, I beg yon that when the proceedings are concluded yon 
will please return the originals for the purposes requirecl by my principal. 

JOS:g LUCIANO DE LA GAHZA. 
Z.\HAGOZA, April H, 1871. 
Received on the 14tll of April, 1 71. 
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ZARAGOZA, Apl'il 15, 1871. 
As asked, and for the purposes indicated by petitioner, let him be notified to present 

the witnesses which he offers in the foregoing interrogatory. Ignacio Fuentes, judge 
of the first local of this city, and acting judge of first instance of the district of Rio 
Grande, have so o1·dered and subscribed in this decree, with assistant witnesses. In 
witness: 

JOSE MARIA VALDES. 
RAFAEL ZA::\IOZA. 

IGNACIO FUENTES. 

Immediately Jose Luciano de la Garza appeared, and, having been informed of the 
foregoing decree, said that he hears it, and will comply by presenting the witnesses 
which he offers in his memorial, and which appears he subscribed with me and assist­
ant witnesses. In witness: 

JOSE MARIA VALDES. 
RAFAEL ZAMOZA. 

Y. FUENTES. 

In the aforesaid city, on the 17th day of April, 1871, came the first witness, Jesus 
Zamoza, (who) having been duly sworn to tell the truth about what he might know 
and be questioned, said that he is called as stated; is more than forty years of age, a 
widower, resident of this place, and by occupation a farmer; and having been shown 
'the interrogatories at the beginning of this proceeding, and being well informed of 
them-

To the second question he said that he was well acquainted with the town of Piedras 
Negras at the time of its destruction by fire by Texas volunteer~, under the command 
of Callahan and Henry, and that, as to the wealth of the town, it was, in fact, at that 
time, one of poverty, because there was not a person who had any capital ; that the 
houses in which the inhabitants lived were huts made of grass, supported by rough 
posts with the bark on, with the exception of some houses of earth, among them the 
maritime custom-house. 

To the third question (he replied) that he was well acquainted with the residents 
who emigrated from this city before the fire to the before-mentioned town of Piedras 
Negras, and that their condition was one of poverty, and this same (condition of) pov­
erty continued when the fire (occurred;) that some of the emigrants carried a mod­
erate 1mmber of cattle and oxen with them; that he does not remember whether all 
did so, but that he knows, or has in his mind some, such as Severo de Luna, Martina 
Lopez, Antonio Montes, Luis Muzq uiz, Filipe de ]a Garza, Pedro Gonzales, Dionicio 
Gonzales, Francisco Gonzales, Juana Heruandez, (widower,) Melchora Zimenes, (wid­
ower,) Antonio Hamirez, Arcaclio Hamirez, Hamon Rodriguez, Catarino Hivo, Miguel 
Villareal Herrero, Rosa de la Garza1 (widow;) and he explained that if some were 
omitted they are few. 

To the fourth question he explained that as so many years had passed he does not 
remember other details; and testifies that he is not comprehenrlecl in the claim before 
the mixed commission between the United States and Mexico; that this is true, under 
the oath which he declared he had taken, and (he) subscribed with me and the assist­
ant witnesses. In witness: 

JOSE MARI.A VALDES. 
HAFAEL ZAl\10ZA. 

JESUS ZAMOZA. 
Y. FUENTES. 

Without any interruption, the second witness, Thomas Martines and Zulaica, ap­
peared, (who,) having been duly sworn to speak the truth about what he might know 
and be questioned about, said: That he is named as stated, is more than fifty years of 
age, a bachelor, a resident of this place, and by occupation a mechanic; and, having 
been shown the interrogatories at the beginning of this proceeding, and having been 
w~U informed of them-

To the fiTst question he said that the general prohibitions of the law, which were 
explained to him, do not include deponent. 

To the second question he replied that he was well acquaintec1 with the town of 
Piedras Negras at the time of its destruct.ion by fire by Texas volunteers, under the 
command of Callahan and Henry ; and that the condition of that town, and in t,hat 
time, was one of poverty, because the inhabitants, as well as the town, were recently 
settled. 

To the third qnestion he said that he also was well acquainted with residents who 
emigrated ti·om this city to the before-mentioned town of Piedras Negras before the 
fire, and that t.heir condition was not one of "'vealth, but of poverty, which continued 
even to the time of the fire; that he is satisfied that some of the residents who emi-
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grated, such as Marcelino Lopez, Antonio Ramirez, Ramon Rodriguez, Guadalnpe Peres, 
Guadalupe Ramos, Gaspar Zalasar, carried to their new home a moderate number of 
cows and oxen, as did also Jose Ma. and Pedro Gonzales, and Dionicio Gonzales, who 
brought some little sheep with them; and Juana Hernandez, (widow,) Rosa de la Garza, 
(widow,) Melchom Zimeues, (widow,) Luis Muzquiz, Francisco Gonzalez, Severo de 
Luna, also carried cattle with thom; that although he is aware that some (who took 
stock with them) are omitted, these are very few, as he recollects. 

To t,he fourth question he said that as so many years have passed since the fire oc• 
currecl, he does not remember otller details, and that he is not interested in the claim 
before the mixed commission between the United States and Mexico; that this is the 
truth under the oath which he sa~rs he has taken; and he subscribed with me an(l 
assistant witnesses. 

YGN. FUENTES. 
THOMAS MARTINES and ZULAICA. 

R. ZAMURAH. 
A. J. MA. VALDES. 

Then the third witness, Jose Maria Camanca, appeared, (who,) having been duly 
sworn to tell the truth about what he might know and be questioned, said that he is 
named as stated, is more than thirty years of age, resident of this place, by occupa­
tion au artisan; and having been shown the interrogatories at the beginning of these 
proceedings, aud ha.ving been well informed of them--

To tho first question he said that the prohibitions of the law, 'vhich have been ex­
plained to him, do not comprehend deponent. 

To the second question lw replie<.l t,hat he was well acquainted with the town of 
Piedras Negras at the time of its destruction by fire by Texas volunteers under the 
command of Callahan and Henry, and that the condition of wealth at that time of said 
town was a condition of poverty, becanse there was no person who had any capital 
whatever, owing to the circumstances of the time. 

To the third question he said that he was well accJuaintecl witb some of the residents 
who emigrated, before its destruction by fire, from this city to the before-mentioned 
Piedras Negras, and that their condition was one of piwerty; and that some of them 
who migrated. carried with them au ordinary numuer of cattle and oxen; that he does 
not remember whether all of them did, but he recollects tha.t sotne of them did; for 
instance, tho following: Marcelino Lopez, Autonio Montes, Luis Muzc1niz, Pedro Gon­
zales, Antonio Ramirez, Ramon Rodriguez, G:1spar Zalasar, Guadalupe Pera, Gnada­
lnpe Ramos; but be clid not remember any more. 

To the fourth quest,ion he explains th:1t as so many years have passed he does not 
recollect anything else, and he declares that he is not connected with the claim (be­
fore the commission) between the Unitecl States and Mexico: that this is true under 
the oath which he said he hacl taken; and }le subscribed with me a.nd assistant wit-
nesses. 

JoSE ::M:ARIA VALDES. 
A. RAFAEL ZA:\101U. 

Y. FUENTES. 
J. MA. CAMANCA. 

The fourth witness, Rafael Tijerina, appeared, (who,) having been duly sworn to 
tell the truth abou"L what he might know and be questioned auout, said that he is 
called as stated, is more than fi ft.v years of age, is married, resident of this place, 
by occupatiqu an artisan; and luwinp; been shown the interrogatories which are at the' 
Lead of t.hcse proceedings, and luwing been well informed of them-

To the first question he said that M1e prohibitions of the law, which have been ex­
plained to him,.do not compreheud deponent. 

To the second qnestion he answered that be was well acquainted with the town of 
Piedras Negras at the time of its destrnction by Texas volunteers under the command 
of Callahan and Henry, and that the condition at that time, of said town, was one of 
poYerty, for the reason that its inhabitants, as well as the town, were recently set­
tled. 

To the third question he said that he was also well acquainted with the residents 
who emigrated from this city to the said Piedras Negras before its destruction by fire, 
nud that their condition was not one of wealth, but of poverty, ancl this continued 
e\'en to the time of the fire; that he is satisfied that some of the residents \Yho 
migrated, snch as Marcelino Lopez, Antonio Ramirez, Ramon Rodriguez, Guadalupe 
Peres, Guadalupe Hamos, Gaspar Zalasar, carried to their uew home an ordinary num­
uer of cows and oxen, (as did also Jose Ma. and Pedro Gonzales, and Dionicio Gonzales 
some few little sheep,) and the following persons also C<trried catile with them, viz: 
Juan Hernandez, (widow,) Rosa deb Garza, (widow,) M:elchora Zin-tenes, (widow,) Luis 
l\inzquiz, Francisco Gonzales, Se\'ero de Lun:o; that although he knows he has omitted 
some, they are very few, as he remember.:;. · 
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To the fourth question he explained that ns so many years have passed since the 
fire occurred, he does not recollect other details; and that be is not interested in the 
claim before the mixed conUllission between the United States and Mexico; that this 
is the truth under t,he oath which he said he bad taken; and he subscribed ·with me 
and the assistant witnesses. In witness: 

JOSE MARIA VALDES. 
A. RAFAEL ZAMORA. 

Y. FUENTES. 
RAFAEL TIJERINA. 

I, Ygnacio Fuentes, acting judge of first instance of the district of Rio Grande, belong­
ing to Coahuila, Zaragosa, Mexico, certify that the foregoing witnesses who have testified 
are of age, residents of this city, and that what they have deposed is to the best of 
i heir knowledge and belief; as also that they testi(y that they are not included, nor 
have they any interest in any claim pending before the mixed commission between the 
United States and Mexico; or, better said, that they have no claim before the cabinets 
to w hicb they refer, for the reason that said witnesses so depose. 

And in testimony I subscribe with the seal of my office in the said city of Zaragosa, 
Coahuila, chief city of the district of Rio Grande, and in the State Of Coahuila, of Zara­
gosa, on the 16t,h day of Apnl, in the year 1871, with assistant witnesses. In witness: 

Jost MARIA VALDES. 
A. RAFAEL ZAMOHA. 

Y. FUENTES. 

Let the originals of the present proceedings be delivered, as requested, and upon 
five written sLeets. 

Pnt the seal of my office. 
Fees of the court, according to the tariff, $7.50; and of the certificate, $1.95. 
(Translated b,y A. P.M., Washington, June 10, 1871.) 

Deposition of Amos 0. St1·ickland. 

'l'be said AMOS 0. STmCKLAND, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citi­
zen of the U11itecl States, DativeofBraclfOld County, Pennsylvania, and for the last eight­
een years a resident of Texas. I now reside in Kinney County, near Fort Clarke, nine 
miles from there. I have a st,ock ranch there and farm. I know and am well known to 
the officers of the garrison at Fort Clarke. I know Pedro Tauus, who is oi1e of the 
claimants for the destruction of Piedras Negras. He now resides in Kinney County. 
He is a native of Texas; he is a mulatto, aud was the servant of the late General Sam 
Houston. He resided some time in Mexico, but claims now to be a United States citi­
zen, and told me at the last election how he was going to vote in Kinney County. He 
told me also that he was one of the claimants for the destruction of Piedras Negras, 
and had made claim therefor against the Government of the United States. I asked 
him the amount he claimed, and he answered, "0, I am ashamed to tell you, it is so 
big !n He t,hen saiu he was one of the first settlers of the town of Piedras Negras, 
wLich was settled when the post of Fort Duncan was established, or soon after. He 
has never been worth over $100 at any time, at least since I have known him, and that 
is eight years. Tauns is well knewn to the United States officers at Fort Clarke; to 
Major Bacon, (who was on General Sheridan's st,aff,) of the Ninth United States Cav-

• alry, (colored.) Tauns has been working lately as a mason, in the employ of the Gov­
ernment at Fort Clarke, and for the last year or so has been burning lime; or has been 
employed in small jobs about the post; he is also a fiddler, and plays at fandangoes, 
and for the officers when they make a party' there. I am well acquainted wit,b Piedras 
Negras, that is, since it was burned. I know a great many of the inhabitants of the 
village; they are generally poor, and always have been; their houses are chiefly 
jacales, or Mexican huts; those of the common kind would cost to construct from $10 to 
$100, according to its size and finish; the furniture they have, where they Lave any, 
is of a very poor description; many are without a cLair, bedstead, or even table, in 
fact, the greater part of them; many of their houses consisted of boles or cellars dug 
right in the bank of the river and covered vi'ith thatch, without door, wiudow, or 
sides. The inhabitants were chiefly cartmen or laborers, :mel very few of them hafl 
auy property ·whatever. From all that I know of Piedras Negras, and all I have heard 
from its inhabitants, who are now claimants, and from others, I should say that in the 
attack upon the place, in 1855, it is impossible that more than $50,000 worth of prop­
erty could have been destroyed or taken ; in fact, I believe far less than that, but not 
oYer that snm, because 110 such amount of property existed there. It was a new set­
tlement, inhabited by the poorest class of laborers, with some very few exceptions, 
and had not, like the older settlementG farther back from tLe river, farmers and men 
of some property residing there. 

A. 0. STRICKLAND. 
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Deposition of Edwa1'd T. Moore. 

The said EDWARD T. Moom~, being first duly sworn, deposes and sa;ys: I was born 
in Pittstown, Rensselaer County, State of Ne\Y York. I am now a resident of San An­
tonio, Bexar County, State of Texas, and am by occupation a stock-raiser. I am a cit­
izen of the United States. I am fifty years of age. I was in Piedras Negras, Mexico, 
and in Eagle Pass, Texas, from the year 1849 to 1856. During this period I was a per­
manent resident of Eagle Pass. In the years 1849 and 1850 I was employed by the 
United States officers to repair buildings and to erect what is now known as Fort Dun­
can. During the balance of sa.id period I was employed as a ferryman between said 
towns. I know the town of Piedras Negras perfectly well, having built the first house 
ever erected in the town. I was, during the period hereinbefore mentioned, constantly 
in said Piedras Negras, and was well acquainted with every person occupying each town. 
I was at Piedras Negras when the raid of Callabau and Henry occurred, in October, 
H:l55; t.be circumstances of said mid were as follows, viz: About the middle of the Jay 
on which said raid occnrred, about ten men on horseback, belonging to the command 
of said Callahan and Henry, made a charge through Eagle Pass aud seized my ferry­
boats on tho river Rio Grande; shortly after about one hnndred men of said command 
followed, took possession of said ferry-boats, and immediately crossed to Piedras Ne­
gras, of which place they took control. About sundown of the same day they crossed 
the river, they passed through said town of Piedras Negras, and camped three miles 
beyond that place, on the road to San Feruanclo, without committing any depredation 
whatever. On the second day after crosssng to Piedras Negras said command of Cal­
laban nnrl Henry returned to said town, and remained therein two clays and a part 
of one night, during which time not more than forty small jacal houses, tile value of 
which was not more than $40 each, were burned, and some property taken from the 
inhabitants, in value about $5,000. Some other property, not enumerated above, 
amounting to about $1,000, was taken for the purpose of constructing breastworks as 
protection against the M•~xicans :111d Indians who assembled in force, which E:aicl prop­
erty was burned. I believe that $10,000 would amply compensate the inhabitants of 
said Piedras N egras for all damage and loss sustained by them on the occasion of said 
raid, they being very poor. There was only one person in said town who was worth 
$:3,000; the average value of the property owned by each family was $~00. I do not 
believe that it was pussible that $50,000 worth of property could have been destroyed 
on said occasion. The command of Callahan and Henry committed no depredations 
and fired no buildings until the Indians and Mexicans assembled around Piedras Ne­
grns, closed around them, and commenced au attack upon them, at which time four 
32-pound guns were run out and bearing upon Piedras Negras, by authority of the 
officer in command of Fort Duncan, Major Burbank, to proteet the return of Callahan 
and Henry's command to Eagle Pass. 

EDWARD T. MOORE. 

Deposition of Ge01·ge W. Brackenridge. 

GEORGE W. BRACKENRIDGE, being first duly sworn, deposes and says : I am at tllis 
time a citizen and resident of this place, San Antonio, and am president of the San 
Antonio National Bank, and am thirty-nine years of age; have resided in San Antonio 
since 1866. In the year 1855 I resided at Seguin, in Guadalupe County, in this State. 
In October, 1855, as soon as the news of the affair at Piedras Ne,gras reached Seguin, 
where it was stated that the Mexicans were coming across into Texas in retaliation of 
the attack made upon Piedras Negras, I started, in company with others, for Eagle 
Pass, or the frontier, to defend the expected attack. Our company halted on the Sabinal, 
and I, along with one or two others of them, proceeded to Fort Duncan to inquire 
into the particulars of the affair. We arrived there some days after tlw occurrence, 
and while all the marks of what Lad taken place were still visible and fresh. I crossed 
the river into Piedras Negras, accompanied by some others, and for the purpose of as­
certaining: what bad really taken place, and the extent of the damage clone. We found 
that about two-thirds of the. buts, or jacales, in which the inhabitants bad resided had 
been burued. My information was obtained from the Mexican men and women, in­
habitants of the town, aucl whose property had been destroyed; and my sympathies 
were very much eulistecl in their favor, because I saw they had been deprived of their 
homes aml property by what I thought an outrage and very unwarrantable act. I 
made an estimate of the injury that bad been caused, and the losses then occasioned 
there, from the testimony I could obtain from the injured parties on the spot, and 
within a few days after the act; aud I carne to the conclusion, as I recollect, that 
$50,000 would cover it alL The inhabitants were all poor, principally engaged in cart­
ing or stock-driving, and perhaps in sn1.nggling in a small way. They were chiefly 
laborers, and very many ·would hire out at $6 or $7 a month. I thought that they had 
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lost what little property they had, which, though small in amount, was everything to 
them, and was entirely changed in the opinion I hacl formed before arrival, for I had 
supposed tllat they were coming over in force to revenge the robbery. I thougllt the 
affair a very shameful one on the part of our people, and tllat a compensation was 
justly due these poor people. vVitll that view it wa.s that we estimated tlle damage, 
which, after inquiry, we put clown at tlle sum I have named. I remained there two 
weeks engaged in tlle inquiry, and daily learning some further particulars of the affair. 
I do riot know or now recollect the particular losses of individuals, or the details of 
each case; but the sum I have named is the total amount of the damage, so far as we 
could ascertain it. The population were generally of a low and vicious class, and I 
remember it was said of many individuals pointed out to us that they" could not 
drink wat,er on the other side," meaning that they could not cross over to the Ameri­
can side for fear of arrest or punishment for some crime or offense, in consequence of 
which they bad sought asylum on the Mexican side of the river. The respectable por­
tion of the inhabitants were also poor, and there was no furniture of any value in any 
house I saw in the town. After remaining there some two weeks we returned to Se­
guin. I have not since visited the· place. 

GEO. vV. BRACKENRIDGE. 

Deposition of Lorenzo Castro. 

The said LORENZO CASTHO, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citizen 
of the Uuitecl States, born in London, England; and coming to the then republic of 
Texas when I was nine years of age with my fatller, Henry Castro, who colonized and 
settled Castroville, D'Hanis, and otller plac.es in vVestern Texas. I have resided in Texas 
ever since; not now engaged in business, and thirty-six yenrs of age. In 1851 I first 
went to Eagle Pass, then just settled, and established a business there, 'and remained 
till June, 1t562, after the store belonging to my father was burned. I knew Piedras 
Negras well at that time, crossing over almost every day. It was a miserably 11oor 
settlement. The Mexican comr:1andant was then the only person who llad a decent 
}aca even, the majority, three-fourtlls of them, living in holes dug in the bank of the 
river, some in llnts and chamacneros, which are dwellings built of post,s and covered 
with earth. Tllere were no persons there of any wealth. It was a military colony, 
composed of a company of soldiers of one hundred and forty men, under command of 
Captain Arredondo. To these were added some laborers and camp-followers, and 
persons engaged in smuggling in a small way. The wealthiest man tllere was De la 
Garza. His property was chiefly at Santa Rosa, one hundred miles back. DelaGarza 
had a small store. There was no other store, nor any place wllere auy article could be 
procured. I returned to Eagle Pass in 1853, and again visited Piedras Negras. At 
that time there were more }acales built, a,nd tlle number of inhabitants had increased 
some, but it was still a miserable place, and tlle same in all its essential features as 
the year before. I was there then two weeks. I returned again to Eagle Pass, crossed 
to the other side, and remained several months in Hl5tl, after the burning which took 
place in 1855. The place had -ver,y much improved; some buildings of adobe and stone 
had been erected after the fire. At the time of tlw fire the only two-story house in the 
town belonged to John B. Rich, who llad married a claugllter of Mr. de la Garza. At 
the time of tlle fire, in 1855, there were not more than two hundred }acales, and these 
were worth on an average from $40 to $100. These con tainecl small articles of fnrnitnre 
of very little value. The inhabitants llacl some extra articles of clothing and jewelry; . 
and $50,000 or $60,000 wouldllave paid liberally for all the damage clone there. 

. LORENZO CASTRO. 

Drposition of John Newton. 

The said JOHN NEWTO::.-<, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I was born in 
that part of the Indian Territory occupied by the Cherokee Nation. I am now, an(l 
have been since 1848, a citizen of tlle State of Texas, and always a citizen of the United 
States. I am thirty-four years of age, and a merchant by occupation. I am now a 
resident of Fort Concho, Texas; I was a resident of Piedras Negras, Mexico, from 
Jan nary, 1855, to March, 1856; was employed there, and knew that town and the larger 
part of its inhabitants well, and knew them in 1855. I was there in October, 1K55, 
''hen the raid of Calla,han and Henry occurred, and ·witnessed what was done. The 
circumstances were as follovi's, viz: The command of said Callahan and Henry cror:;secl 
the R:io Grande hom Eagle Pass to Piedras Negras, through which last-mentioned tovvn 
they immediately marched, and encamped twenty miles beyond. Being attacked by 
Indians and Mexicans, while in camp, they returned to Piedras Negras the second clay 
after first entering that town, and there constructed some rough breast-works to 
protect themselves against the Indians and Mexica11s. During the presence of said 
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command in Piedras Negras, on their return as aforesaid, they burned some one 
hundred jacales, or huts, of a rude and very cheap construction, together with a few 
houses of tt better character; they also pillaged the town, but as the inhabitants were 
very poor they could not have inflicted much damage thereby. The jacales were \\Orth 
about $50 each, on an average. From what I know of the place and its inllabitants at 
the time of said raid, I would consider $50,000 ample compensation for aU damage 
done, inclndiug the values destroyed and taken. There were very few, if any, persons 
in Piedras Negras at the time of said raid worth $3,000. 

JOHN NEWTON. 

Deposition of Frederick Groos. 

FREDI~IUCK Gnoos, being duly sworn, deposes and says : I am a citizen and resident 
of Texas, and have been so for more than twenty years. In the year 1855 I resided at 
Eagle Pass, in this St,ate, opposite the town of Piedras Negras, in Mexico, and was 
there at the time of the raid by troops under Captains CaHahan and Henry on said 
town, which took place in the autumn of that year. I saw them cross over the river, 
Rnd I went over there once while they were in Mexico. They had advanced from 
Piedras Negras into Mexico, and bad an encounter with Mexicans, and then returned 
to Piedras Negras. ·when they returned they fortitied themselves in some of the 
strongest-built honses, and they burned or destroyed some thatched huts, or jacales, so 
as to give muge to their fire. They set fire also to some houses in the town, to the 
nulllber, perhaps, of twenty, not more, and some stores were robbed and some houses 
were plundered, if M1ey could be called houses, and some small articles were carried 
ofi:-tlliugs that could be found readily and easily carried-such as saddles and Mexican 
blankets. The whole amount of damage done could not exceed, altogether, $50,000. 
The houses, or jacales, which are thatched huts, destroyed were not any of them 
worth more than $100 or $200; possibly two or three of them might been wortll $200 or 
$:300 each, bnt the town was a collection of jacales, (huts,) and inhabited almost ex­
elusively by poor people. Any inhabitant there who was worth or had $2,000 would 
lutve been considered rich. I knew Maria ·Juana Hernandez, who claims $127,000. 
She was a poor woman. She had no particular business. She was not worth $1,000. 
She may have owned a sm::tll house and lot. Lorenzo Guevara was also known to me, 
wllo claims $2:31,429. He was as poor as the above-mentioned. If he had $1,000 it 
certainly was not known at that time. I have seen the list of claimants before the 
commission for the destruction of their propertyiu Piedras Negras. They are all grossly 
exaggerated, with the exception of those who claim a few hundred dollars. The inr 
jnry done on that occasion by robbery and pillage could not have exceeded the sum I 
llave mentiu11ed, because the values were not there. There were very few, if any, 
horses or mules carried off, because the river was high, and the invaders were obliged 
to leave some of their own horses in their flight to the American side. Any house that 
contained furniture to the value of $100 or $200 would be looked ou t>,s very rich. No 
house, except some store, or containing a stock of goods, could have lost more than a 
few hundred dollars aside from the value of the house. I had been living at Eagle 
Pass, opposite Piedras Negras, and in daily business intercourse with the inhabitants 
of that place, and I knew well the condition and circumstances of most of them, and, 
aside from the value of goods in a store or two, there is not one amotlg the claimants 
who conld bave lost $1~000. Most of them did not lose anything like that. As I have 
stated, $50,000 would amply pay all the damage that was occasioned by that invasion. 
I knew Melchora Jimenes. She might have been wortll $1,000. I knew Manuel Rod­
riguez. He might bave been worth $2,000. Dolores Moya had nothing that I knew 
of; she was very poor. Jose Maria Nuncio-if he had anything it must have been 
only a few hundred dollars. Louis Muzquiz was very poor. He claims $51,000. 
Jesus Almendares claims $156,000. I knew all the merchants there, and almost all 
who traded there and who frequently came over to buy goods. If he had any stock of 
goods or value I would have known it. He had none to my knowledge. Pedro Gon­
zalez claims $83,000. He was a cartmnn, a,nd I have occasionally employed him as a 
servant and escort. I paid him a dollar a day, and took him with me about that time 
or the year previous. I see several others in the list situated in the same way, ancl 
who make claims for large amounts which they never owned. I have alrencly stated 
that tlle town was inhabited by poor people, and any man ·who had a few thousand 
dollars was looked upon as rich or in good circumstances. The claims are for amounts 
which are grossly exaggerated. Felipe de la Garzq was perhaps the best off in the 
town. The owner of the store he was in was Jesus de la Garza, his father. That store 
was robbed to some extent"; I do not know to what extent. He could not have lost 
more than $2,000. I am forty-three years of age, a,nd am a merchant i~ this city, 
where I have resided now five J"ears. 

FREDERICK GROOS. 
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STATE OF TExAs, County of Bexm·, ss: 
I, Robert D. Burns, of the city of San Antonio, county and State uforesaill, do hereby 

certify that Lorenzo Castro and E. T. More, citizens of said State, are well known to 
rue; that they are truthfnl and creclible persons, and that fnll faith and credit are due 
and should be given to all'deposi tions and statements made by them. 

R. D. BURNS. 

Sw'orn to and subscribed before me. In witness whereof I have hereunto set my 
band and official seal, at office, in San Antonio, this 15th day of March, A. D. 1871. 

[SEAL.] J. MILLS HOYER, 
Notary Public Bexm· Com1ty. 

STATE OF TEXAs, County of B exar, ss: 
I, Tbomas D. Johnston, of t.he city of San Antonio, State and county aforesaid, do 

hereby certifY that Frederick Groos, George \V. Brackenrit1ge, and John Newton, citi­
zens of said State, are well kno\>n to me; that they are highly respectable and credible 
persons, and that all depositions or statements made by them are entitled to and 
should receive full credit and belief. 

THOl\fAS D. JOHNSTON". 

Sworn to and subscribed before me. In witness whereof I h:we hereunto set my 
hand and official seal, at office, in San Antonio, this 15th da.y of March, A. D. 1871. 

[SEAL. J J. MILLS HOYER, 
Rotary Public Bexa l' County. 

Deposit,ion of Adolfo Duclos. 

The snid ADOL1'0 Ducr,os, baing first duly sworn, deposes ::tnd says: I am by birth a 
Frenchman, a merchant by profession, forty-five years of age, now a resident of the 
city of Monterey, where I am established in business, and was formerly a resident of 
Eagle Pass, in the State of Texas, and during my said residence there the occurrences 
to which this deposition relates took place, I being present at the time. I know the 
village of Piedras Negras, and was well acquainted with the condition and circuw­
stances of all of its inhabitants at the time of the raid of filibusters, under Callabau 
and Henry, from Texas, took place. I know that nearly all of the inhabitants of the 
village were of the poorest class of Mexicans, living in huts built of pickets stuck into 
the ground, with grass roofs, and without windows or floors; and that all their prop­
erty was of little value, and in keeping with the character of their houses. At the 
time referred to there were three or four houses of a better class, but none of the iu­
habitnnts could be considered rich. I am perfectly satisfied that the whole village, 
including lots, houses, and the personal property of t,be inhabitants, could, in 185f>, 
have been bought for less than $20,000, the village being at the time one of the most 
insignificant of the small towns of the state of Coahuila. I know, from personal obser­
vation, what articles were stolen by the filibusters, and I am satisfied that they would 
not amount, in actual value, to :til,OOO. I know this, also, from the fact that, owing 
to the poverty of the bulk of the inhabitants of Piedras Negras, there could not have 
been a robbery of a large amount of property or money. I know, also, from having 
seen the houses which were burned, that not over a half dozen were so destroyed, and 
the most of them jacales, of very little value, worth, sa,y, $25 to $50 each. I have read 
what is written above, and here confirm_ it. 

ADOLFO DUCLOS. 

Deposition of Florencio Canales. 

[Translation.] 

The said FLORENCIO CANALEs, being first duly sworn, deposes and says, in the 
Spanish language, since he does not speak English: I am a native of Lampasas, in 
the state of New Leon, seventy years of age, now and since the annexation of theRe­
public of Tex~lS a cil izen of the United States of theN orth, I living then in Old Laredo, 
on the Rio Grande. I am a butcher by occupation. I came to Fort Duncan, or, that 
is, Eagle Pass, when it was established, and since then I have lived here. I was h~re 
in the year 1855, and at the mom.ent when the attack occurred by the volunteers of 
Callahan and Henry ou the colony of Piedras Negras. I -witnessed that burning, and 
saw that all the cabins there were burned. :Fonr davs aft.er that occurrence I crossed 
to the other side of the river and saw the remains of the colony. All ·was burned. The 
day after the fire the volunteers who had burned the colony came to this side. I knew 
many of the residents of Piedras Negras. I can mention the greater part of them and 
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those who had some propert~y. They were poor people who lived by their labor. They 
had their carts aud oxeu, some r-;hops with bottles of liquors. The strongest house 
\Yas tllat of J esus de la G<trza. H e might have had, in wy opinion, $2,000. No otber 
resident had so mnch. Tlwre were some who had $500 or perhaps eveu as much as 
$1,000 in every kind of pr·operty and goolls. Bnt the greater part did not have snch 
amounts. Tlte majority 1rere IJoor people, and they had $200, $300, or $400 in all. 
Luchtno de la Cerda might ltave Lad $500 in all, and he, after Jesus de la Garza, was 
one of those who had most. 

Before witnesses. 

his 
FLORENCIO + CANALES. 

Deposition of Rarnon P erales. 

[Translation.] 

mark. 

The sai<l Rx:-.10~ PERALEs, 'being fii'st duly sworn aceol'(ling to law, deposes and says, 
in the Spanish hwguage: I am a uative of Sau Bneua Veutum, fifty-eight years of age, 
umrried, allCl a merchant. In the year 1b55 Twas in Piedras Negras as a contractor 
alld merchant., and in the month of October, in the same year, I ""'itnessed the attack 
made by Texas volunteers, nuder the orders of Captains Callahan ancl Henry, on that 
town, au<l I know the ruin they committed there. They bnrue1l some cabins with 
com-say t.hirt~T or fi.n't.y huts-which might be worth $50 each. I had a hnt at tlJat 
time which was worth sotue $40. There were, perhaps, one hnn<lre<l families, with 
five h nmlred iu<li viclnals, all poor. Some individuals possessed $1,000 or $1,500 at most; 
they were the richest. The lllajority, being ppor people, did not have in this class (any) 
who had more than $.200, $:300, or $400. It was a new town, recently established, aud 
composefl of families who had come front Presidio de Hio Grande, San Fernauclo, aud 
other towns of the district. Being iu Nava, twelve leagues from here, Luis 1\iuzquiz 
Callie from Piedras Negras t,) find me, in order that I might come to make a depositiOn, 
:md give my testimony a.bont the claims which were being made up in Piedras Negras, 
in order to present them in Washington iu favor of the resi<lents in this town. I went 
to Piedras Ncgras and made the deposition in the house of Luis Muzqniz. He asked 
me how much I had lost in the attack, and I answered him that the total value might 
reaclt $1:l00. He replied that I ought to claim much more, since they had ontra.ged my 
person and had cansed me considerable damage and injury. I said to him that it was 
trne, but that. I did not propose now to demand this in account, and that the true 
valne of what they had t.aken fi:·om rue was a.s jns~ stated, some $800. Don Luis re­
plied tha.t the residents of Piedras Negras bad agreed to make up and present their 
claims in Washington against the Government of the United States, and to this end 
they llacl to incur mnch expense in making up the expedientes, and to secure the de­
li very of the money, which would be on shares, that is to say, half for me aucl the 
other half for him and the others who commeuced the business; that so all the others 
had agreed; and he said to me that I ought to say $ ·W,OOO. I a.uswered him that he 
might place the amouut which he might wish, bnt tllat I ft)r my :wconnt would be 
satisfied with the value of the goods which I had lost. He said to me that the Gov­
ernment of the United States wa.s very powerfnl, a.nd conltl well pay the sums indi­
cated. I replied to him that t.his might well he, but what it ought to pay was the 
valne of the things which the resident.s of Piedras Negras had lost; tllat this was jnst, 
~tnd that I did not wish more. 1 have seen tile list of the residents who claim and the 
amounts demanded, and they are much exaggerated. Lorenzo Guevara is a resident 
of Piedras Negras. All that he hfLd at tha.t time did not exceed $SUO. He had two old 
carts and a cabin, two little oxen, five yoke::;, and he had recently come; wagoner. 
Juan Jose Patiiio was a sub-contractor with the qnartermastt•.r at Fort Dnncau; he 
was a vYagoner; he had two carts, anu all that he had could not exceed $tlOO, and he 
was one of the most powerful and rich of Piedras Negras. Tlw sums which claimants 
claim are much exaggerated. There was no one who had more than $2,000. Mari~L 
Juana Hernandez might have had $:100 or $400: it could not he more. Victoriano 
Roclrignez was a wagoner, and his capital and the value of his stock did not exceed 
$400. Maria clel Hefngio Menchaca might have had $200. She claims $99,000. For 
every dollar lost they put down as much as $1,000 of reclamation, saying that they had 
to cnt down half, and after that leave t.he half that remained for expenses and com­
missions. The residents of Piedras Negras who had shops or stores tlid not have in . 
their stores more than some bottles of liqnor, leather, shoes, and ·wares of little value. 
'Vben the town \\·as formed lots were given to all who 'vishecl to bnild a house, because 
the object was to attract population from the other towns, and the people whom they 
might expect \Yere pool' and coulcluot. pay for them. Jose Olallo Delgado had a store, 
au<l he may have htLll $1,000 in all. I know Antonia Sanchez de Fernandez. She had 
a little shop 'vith some IJottles of liquor, a.ncl she may have had $400, with her cabin 
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:mel all. I also know Domingo Miguel; he "\Yas a laborer and could not have had more 
than $200. Juan Flores might have had $1,000 or $1,200, and he was one of the most 
powerful. Gasper Salazar did not haYe more than $200 in all. Gregorio Salinas was a, 
silversmith by occupation. In the colony of Piedms Negras he bad nothing. He lived 
with his brother in San Juan. Those who charged themselves with the business of 
making up the expedientes of the claims, and of obtaining testimony, were Mr. Luis 
Muzquiz :1nd an American, who is lame and is called ''of the ean1els," because be had 
a corral with camels, in Piedras Negras. Secunuino Barbarosa was a soldier and had 
been a laborer. ·what he possessed could not exceerl $200. Luis Mnzqniz did not have 
more than $1,000 ; he had a hut and bottles; he sold liquor; he was a clerk. Dolores 
Moya did not have $300. In my judgment, the whole valne of all the property and 
stock which was stolen and destroyed in the attack do3s not exceed $70,000. I am at 
this moment resident of Navas on account of my business, aml 1 am passing frequently 
from Navas to Piedras Negras. I have always lived in this district and in Piedras 
Negms until the year 1866-'67. The colony of Piedras Negras was formed a little while 
after the camp of militar.r location or Fort Duncan. It had no existence before. I 
am a Mexican citizen. 

Deposition of G1·egorio Garza. 

[Translation.] 

his 
RAMON + PERALES. 

mark. 

The said GREGORIO GARZA, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a native of 
San Nicolas de Hidalgo, in the State of New Leon, and since eighteen years I am resi­
dent of Piedras Negras, forty-six years of age, and farmer. I was in tbR town of Pie­
dras Negras in 1855, and during the whole year, and in the month in which the attack 
and burning- of this town took place, at the hands of Texas volunteers, under the orders 
of Callahan :mel Henry; was then a resident of Piedras Negras; had a house covered 
with hay in which I lived at tbat time, and my dwelling was burned with the others; 
there were then some one hundred and fifty or one hundred and eighty cabins (huts) 
belonging to the residents of the town, and the value of tbem "\Yas from $:30 to $80 each. 
Ver~7 few bad articles of value. The generality of the residents were poor people. 
The richest among the inhauitant.s did not have more than $3,000 in all, and the gener­
ality umch less, not more than $300 or $400 in value of fnruiture, or goods which they 
had. All that I lost on this occasion by the bnrning ditl not {~:s:ceecl $500. I know 
Maria Juana Hernandez; \Yllat she conld have lost on that occasion did not exceed 
$400; she was poor. I know Dimas Sandoval. He did not have more than $:300 in 
value. Felipe de la Garza might have had $800. Lorenzo Guevara was then a boy, 
living with his mother. Juan Jose Patino bad some wagons, (carts,) and lost about 
$800. He was one of the wealthiest (men) there. Santos Loy "\YH.S a soldier, and he 
might have lost $300. Gntt(htlupe Ramos was a musician, and is now, and be might 
have lost, perhaps, as much as $500. Francisco Gonzales Heyes was poor; as was Mel­
cbora Jimenes. They have placed my loss at $63,98:3. I have alread.v stated what I 
lost. The cxpedientes were made up by Luis Muzquiz and others. He came to my 
house, and I not being there, he aske<.l my wife what was the amount; she replied 
that she was not competent to know how much it was. Luis Muzquiz then pnt down 
the sum which I have named, and he diu th'l same with the other residents. I never 
signed any expediente or declaration of my loss. I ·was never at the bouse of the judge, 
nor at the court for t,he purpose of giving testimony ou this subject. I believe that be 
did the same ·with the others, and that he has put down and claimed $8,000 or $10,000 
in favor of persons who did not lose $100. Jesus Almendares and Mariano Aguirre 
claim $126,2VO and $51,506, and they did not lose $100, becanse they never had it, and 
neither did they have it :pow. Lt1ciano Arredondo -was poor; he had nothing more 
than his cabin and furniture, of small value. There was not then more than six stone 
hou&es; almost all were of timber aud co\cred witb hay. Secondiuo B::ubarosa was a 
soldier, ~t confirmed drunkard; he had notbiug. Jose .1\Iaria Carbajal was a soldier. 
Juan Caceres 'vas a boy. I do not know who Jesus Cobos is. I knew almost all the 
residents at that time. Santos Cervantes was poor; be luul some furniture in his 
house. Rafael Cespeda was a soldier; be was poor. Miguel Cervera was a cartwright; 
he might have lost $600. I do not know Manuel Amarillo Castro, nor Jose Maria Cortes, 

• nor Cruz Cifuentes, nor Juan Castro, nor Jose Olallo Delgado, nor Rosa Elquezabal, nor 
Manuel Elquezabal, nor Gertrudes Floras. Jesus Flores was a peasant; he was poor. 
Antonio Flores Salinas "\vas a boy. .Juan Flores, the same. Jesus Frias was a soldier. 
Rafael Flores, soldier. Gregorio Gonzalez was then a poor baker, and he had no house. 
Albino Guevara.was poor; he never bad here the occupation of bat-maker. Anastasio 
Gonzalez was also poor; he claims $51,339 ; he did not have $200. I say the same of Dio­
nisio Gonzalez, and of Francisco Guecla, and of Francisco Gonzalez. Maximo Garcia was a 
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sohlier. .Jesus Maria Hcrrcnt, a smith, claims $.tl5,350, :mel he could not have 1Hic1 $GOO. 
Clemente Herrera claims $72,688; this ·would be on behalf of his father, Theodore, and 
he might have bad $600 or $o00. Eufemia Hemandez was poor; she claims $44,500; 
she might ba.ve lost $500. .Jose .Jimenes was a poor man. .Juana Longoria >vas tbeu a 
girl ; she claims perhaps on accouut of her parents. They were also poor, and they 
could not have lost more than $400. .Jesus Losoya was poor. Severo de Luna was 
also a poor man. Marcelino Lopez, the sa,me. Crescenciana Martinez was poor. An­
tonio Montez was a mnsidau, and poor. Luis Muzquiz claims $51,797. I believe that 
he was not in the town then. He was the one who made up the expeclientes. I be­
lieve that he bas nothing now. He is a bad man. He was a prisoner in Saragosa, (San 
Fernandez,) and broke jail aud escaped. .Jose Maria Nuncio was poor. .Julian Ortiz 
is a guard now; be was not in Piedras Tegras then. Guadalupe Olvera is poor. No- , 
nato Patifio the same, and .J es11S Pineda, audl\liguel Patifio, and :Francisco Quintero, 
and Simon Ro<lriguez. Manuel Rodriguez had a little shop, and might have lost some 
.. · 00. Julian H.odrignez was a soldier, poor, aud .Jesus Ramon the same. Rosalia Rocl­
riguez might haYe lost $500. .Jose Maria Rodriguez 'vas a poor man; the same was 
Antonio H.amirez, carpenter. Ramon Rodriguez might have lost $800. Catarino 
Rios -was a poor man ; the same was Leonardo Rodriguez. Eleno Rodriguez claims 
$52,196; he is son of Ramon Rodriguez, who claims $65,350. At that time Eleno 
Rodrignez was a minor, and he had nothing. Dolores Salinas is a poor woman; the same 
is Francisca Znlaica. Domingo San Miguel was ensign of a company of soldiers at 
that time; be had Y~ry little; he was poor. .Jesus Salinas was corporal of ibe com­
})ttny; poor also. Gregorio Salinas, silversmith, had very little. Gasp:u Salazar 
was poor. Vicente de los Santos was sergeant of a company of soldier.:>; poor. 
Vi delia de la Serda, was poor; he "~as a boy then. Iaria de la Luz Salazar was t,he 
wife of a corporal of the compa.ny; she claims $43,871; she might have had $300. 
Margarito Teposte, solclier, and poor. Casimiro Trtjo was corporal of the company, 
and poor. Pedro Valades \Yas a poor man, and so "·as Estanislao ¥a1aclP.s, and his 
brother Silverio Valades, peasants and laborers .. Onofre Villareal was the wife of 
Captain .Jo~c Maria 8aiz, and had one of tho best houses; she was among the wealthiest 
people tbt're. I haYe seen her manifest, or list of the things which she lost, an<l it 
does not reach $2,000, and she claims $113,736.50. Trinidad Vasquez vms sergeant of 
the company of soltliPrs, and poor. Bernardo Valdes is now hoatmau, (on the Rio 
Grande,) and claims, "·ithout donbt, on account of his parents, because be wM nuder 
age then. Cecilio Yarn. was a poor man; the same ·was Miguel Villareal. Nicanor 
Valdez, poor man. Angel Ytnniaga -was a soldier, aucl poor. There are some names 
in the list which I do not recognize, and I do uot know tba.t they 'Yere there at that 
time. Tho snms which they claim arc Ycry extra\·agant, (or exaggerated.) The)" 
conld not havl:' had, nor conl<l they have lost, sneh an mnonut. Tllere are claimants 
who theu were uot in Picclras Ncgras. 

his 
GREGORIO + GARZA. 

mark. 

Fir8i deposition of Trilliam Sclwchardt, United States commercial agent at Pialras Kegra8. 

The said "TILLL\l\I ScnrcuA'nDT, being first duly sworn: deposes and sa~'S: I am a 
citizen (natnralized) of the I_Tnited ~tates, thirty-nine years of age, now temporaril)· 
resident in Piedras Negras, whern I am commercial agent of the Uuited States. I have 
resided in Piedras Negrns since the latter part of the year 1863. I am \Yell acquainted 
with Hamon Perales, wlJO has made a deposition before Alhert 'l'ii.rpe, notary public, 
this day, aud intendecl to be used brfore the mixed commission between the "United 
States and Mexico, afld now sitting at 'Vashington, in the matter of various claiws of 
Mexican c)tizcus against the Uuited States, and especially in favor of certain claimants 
because of the destruction of a part of the town of Piedras Negrns in 1855. I have 
lmown Mr. Perales since H3G7. He is a man of integrity of character, honest aucl 
worthy of crPdit and belief. Such is his general reputation. I have seen the list of 
the claima.nts against tho United States for the destruction and robbery of their 
hom;es and pillage of their property in Piedras Negms by the rai<lcrs nuder Callahan 
and Henry in 1855, and am acqnaiutcd with a good many of thc'm. 'l'he claims are all 
for extraYagant amounts. .Konc of them ever had any snell amonnt of property. It 
is notorious that the amounts claimed are inflated an<l very extraYagant. I ha>e 
frequently conversC<l with those who allege tha,t they lost their property and all they 
had on that occasion, and I know their present COlH.li tions aud occupations, and, j mlging 
from their own declaratim.1s of the articles they then possessed, ancl which were taken 
from them, I should judge that the whole amount of the property destroyed and taken 
at that time ancl on that occasion could not exceed, in all, $50,000. Ramon Perales 
was one of those who lost property on that occasion, and, as he states in his deposition, 
he desired to make claim for about $800; and any larger amount thau that is an ex­
aggeration, made for the purposes he has stated, and not with his consent; and fi:om 
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that may be judged the exaggera.tion in other cases, in hll of them, for they are all 
well known in Piedras Negras to be exaggerated, and so stated openly to be exagger­
ated, with the expectation t.hat they will he cnt down at least one-half or more; and 
of the snrns that may be a\Yardetl unt a portion will reach the claimants. These facts 
are notorious in Piedras Negras, and of general reputatiou and Hotoriety. 

WM. SCHUCHARDT. 

Sccon(l dPp08ition of TFilliwn Schuchardt. 

The said \VILLTA:\1 ScnecH.U~DT, being first duly S\Yorn, dt>poses atHl says: I am 
commercial agent of the Uuited States at Piedras Negras, in Mexico, opposit.c to Eagle 
Pass, and resident there since 1863. I a.rn well acquainted with Gregorio Garza, of 
Piedras Ncgras, who h<.LS made deposition before Albert THrpe, notary pnblic in this 
place~ on the 15th c1ay of February, and who, after the same \vas ta.ken down by me 
a.ml re:1d to him by me, signed (marked) said deposition. He is entirely worthy of 
credit, anc.l his general reputation is that of a.n honest and reliable man. I hrwe for 
seyeral years had occasion to employ him, from time to time, on business of importance, 
antl requiring a m<w of confidence mHl integrity, antl have always found him correct 
a.nd truthful. Such is his general reputat.ion in Piedras Negras, where he lw::; resided 
for a. long time. I am acqna.inted also with many of the persons mentioned by him as 
inhabitants of Piedras Negras, who are among tho claimants for tho destruction of 
their property in that town in 1850, and his st<ttoments thoro made, bot.h as to them 
and as to the modo of preparing and prcsent,ing tho expedientcs or documents in sup­
port of his ~wd other claiius by Luis l\Iuzquiz antl others, are true. I am acquainted 
also with Luis l\1nzquiz, and his character and reputation are not good, :.md the state­
.ment of Gregorio Garza in relation to him is true. The agents of the cbima.nt::; in 
Piechas Negras; Bet.hel Coopwood ancl \Villiam Stoue, ca:ne to mo and proposed to pay 
me the fees for my official certificates to the sea.l a.nd signature of tho judge before 
whom the expe(lienfe8 or testimony in snpport of those claims was takon-shoultl be 
paid on condition that the claims were successful. I refused, stn.ting that for every 
certiticate and fee I had to render \"tccotmt, aud I conl<l make no snch stipulation. 

Deposition of Ramon Perales. 

fTrmislation.] 

Wl\I. SCHUCHARDT. 

'fhe saic.l Rx.\10~ PERALES, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a. 
~Iexican citizen and resident of Na.\ra, and I am abont fift.y-eight years of age, <Wcl 
merchant aml laborer by occupation. I was a resident of Piedras Negras at the 
time that this town was destoyed by Texas force!'<, under the command of Calbhan 
and Henry, and I lost by sa,icl destruction property of some valne. The past year Luis 
~luzquiz sent for mo. in order that I might m:tke my claim through him, n.s my agent. 
I g:n·e him a deposition (statement) of what I had in reality lost, :LUd I never expoctetl 
that they would pay mo more than what I haLl lost, aud if they paid me what I have 
lost I wonhl be satisfied. I signed a power of attorney, iu order that Luis Mnzquiz 
might act as my attorney in this business, but they never asked me to make deposi­
tions concerning what other residents had lost by the s:Lme cause, and I ueYcr made a, 
tleposit.iou, nor subscribed any document or e.rpccliente with respect to persons or losses 
which they sustained by the destruction of Piedras Negras by Texans in 1855. I know 
'l'rinidad Vazquez. I know Pedro Gonmlez a.nd Domingo San :Miguel. I do not know 
Albino Guevara.; at least, I do not recollect him. I htwe not been a. witness in the 
expediente of Pedro Gonzalez, nor of Albino Guevara, nor of Trinidad Vazqnez, nor of 
Domingo San Miguel, and of no other person, and if Lnis Muzquiz or other agents have 
placed me (my name) in the expedientes of tho a.uove mentioned persons, or of any other 
person whatsoever, these agents ha.Yo committed a, fraud by using my sign:Lture. I 
believe that many persons have made claims for losses who were not in tile town at 
that time. I knew Ma.rcelino Lopez; lte \Vas very poor; he had a cabin, and worked 
with a little cart. I kuew Secomlino Barbarosa.; he \Yas very poor a.nd was a retired 
soldier, and he did not have more than one cabiu. The same was Jesus Frias; he was 
building a cabin, and did not have anything more. I knew Triuitlad Vazquez; he did 
not have anything but a. cabin, and sold chickens an(l vegeta.bles; ho was very poor. 

his 
RAMON+ PERALES. 

mark. 
·witness: 

MARIDAD FUHZA. 
·(Here follows, in English, the certificate of Albert Tiirpe, notary public of ~Iaverick 

County, Texas.) 
(Translated by A. P. :M., May 19, 1871.) 



CLAIMS 01<' THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

Index to Piedras hTegras clwi_ms. 

General Notice 
docket docket. 

number. number. 
Claima.ut. 

:n7 
3:~6 
:344 
:~!1 0 
7i4 

·:{to 
351 
:n9 
:H7 
656 
660 
664 
668 
696 
703 
70d 
755 
768 
794 
705 
310 
775 
308 
341 
652 
674 
684 
692 
724 
771 
782 
297 
298 
303 
305 
307 
309 
a2o 
331 
349 
:354 
355 
356 
653 
662 
663 
665 
669 
693 
700 
712 
713 
718 
719 
722 
725 
763 

' 784 
785 
788 
795 

257 Almausa., Jnan . .............................. ..... . 
276 An!Seles, M~rced de los ............ . -....• ·•· ......... . 
2d4 Agure, Mana no ...........................•........ 
290 Almendares, Jesus .................. . .............. . 
109 Arredondo, Luciana ............................... . 
2f>6 Barbosa, Secundino ................................ . 
29l Barrera, Severo ...... . ............................. . 
259 Carbajal, Jose Ma ................................. . 
287 Calderon, J nana .................•.................. 
:301 Caceres, Juan ...........•....•..................... 
:305 Cobos, J esns ....................................... . 
309 Ce;rvantes, Santos ................................. . 
:n:3 Cevera, Octaviano ...•.............................. 

91 Cepeda, Rafael .................................... . 
9H Cevera, Miguel. .......................... ......... . 

10:3 Castro, Ma. Manuela de ............................ . 
124 Cortees, Jose Ma .................................. . 
137 Cifuentes, Crnz .................................... . 
16:3 C.a.stro, Juan ...................................... ·1 
100 Delgado, Jose OlaJlo ............................. _ .. 
250 Elquezabal, Rosa ..............................•.... 
144 Elqnezabal, Manuel ............................... . I 
248 Flores,. Gertrudes .. _ .... _ ............. _ ......... __ .. ' 
281 Flores, J esns .................. · .................... . 
297 Flores, Antonio Salinas ............................ . 
319 Flores, Juan ..........••............................ 
80 l!'lores, Antonio Cad en as .......•.................... 

1~~ ~;;:~' le~ .. ~~~i~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~· ~ ~: ~: ~ ~ ~: ~: ~: ~ ~ ~: ~: ~ ~: ~ :: ~::: ~:: ~ 
140 Fuentes, Victoriano ................................ . 
151 Flores, Rafael .....•.........................•...... 
237 Garza, I!.., eli pe de la ................................. . 
238 Guevara, Lorenzo .................................. . 
243 Gonzales, Francisco Reyes ......................... . 
245 Garza, Gregorio ................................•... 
247 Garza, Jesus Sanchez ............................•.. 
249 Gonzales, Geronim.o .... "' ......................... . 
260 Gonzales, Victor... . . . . . . . . ....................... . 
271 Gonzales, Gregorio .........•........................ 
289 Galindo,Martina ..........•................... ------ 1 
294 Garza, J fiSUS Ma. de la ............................. . 
295 Gutierrez, Ma. Silvestre .....................•....... 
296 Garcia, Josef~1 Elizondo ...•.........•............... 
298 Gonzales, Pedro .........•.......................... 
307 Guevera, Alvino .. ~ ..............•.......... ~ ....... . 
308 Gonzales, Anastasio .................. -~-- ......... . 
310 Gonzales, Trinotor ................................. . 
314 Garcia, Dario ...................................... . 
89 Gonzales, Dionisio ................................. . 
95 Galindo, Ysa.bel .................................... 

1 107 Guedea, Francisco ................................. . 
108 Gonzales, Francisco ................................ . 
113 Garcia Cordero, Gabriel. ........................... . 
114 Gutierrez, Josefa ................................... . 
117 Galindo, Ma. del Pilar ....••.....•.................. 
120 Garcia, Maximo ................................... . 
132 Gonzales Salinas, Dolores .......................... . 
153 Galindo, Clara ..............•.•....••....•.......... 
154 Garda Vela, Antonio .............................. . 
157 Garcia, Ma. del Refugio . . . . • • . ....•.........•...... 
164 G~cia, Benito .......•.........•.•................... ! 

H. Ex. 277-12 

177 

Amount 
Claimed. 

$47,072 00 
63,860 00 
51,506 00 
15 ~i, 242 10 
13,950 00 
21 59~ 75 
97:986 00 
21,792 00 
41,834 00 
23 026 00 
3'720 00 

26:492 00 
37,836 00 
93,051 00 
82,167 00 
37,636 ou 
48,197 00 
24,791 00 
38,917 00 
48,615 00 
81,409 00 
65,890 00 
73,371 0() 
54,240 00 

210,032 00 
70,170 00 
59,850 00 
25,620 00 
25,226 00 

101,942 00 
256,597 00 
121,125 00 
281,429 00 
62,731 00 
63,983 00 
21,102 00 
52,818 00 
52,225 00 
42,006 50 
83,026 00 

105,811 00 
43,390 00 

377,505 00 
83,0tl0 00 
92,124 00 
57,339 00 
61,536 00 
52,387 00 
47,700 00 
30,850 00 
65,6RO 00 
54,095 00 

111,050 00 
24,325 00 
13,286 00 
51,869 00 
79,454 00 
47,651 00 
53,336 00 
:35,119 00 
63,142 _00 
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Index to Piedras Negra.~ claims-Continued. 

Claimant. 
General Notice I 
docket docket 
number number.!_ 

- , 
797 
799 
901 
293 
295 
32S 
689 
704 
720 
772 
778 
780 
791 
304 
694 
301 
322 
335 
340 
666 
667 
687 
717 
721 
756 
757 
903 
:~21 
323 
329 
334 
346 
348 
352 
659 
675 
716 
759 
760 
767 
789 
7~6 
33H 
723 
764 
299 
324 
327 
34.2 
654 
657 
661 
702 
709 
773 
774 
790 
793 
798 
800 
!)00 . 

166 
168 
173 
2:33 
235 
268 

!:l5 
99 

115 
141 
147 
149 
160 
244 
90 

241 
262 
275 
280 
311 
312 
83 

112 
116 
125 
126 
174 
261 
263 
269 
274 
286 
288 
292 
304 
220 
111 
128 
129 
136 
158 
165 
278 
ll!:l 
133 
2!39 
264 
267 
282 
299 
!:W2 
306 
97 

104 
142 
143 
159 
1G2 
167 
169 
172 

Garza, Ma. M. de la ................................. . 
Garcia, Coleto .•................•................... 
Gualdarrama, J osc ................................. . 
Hernandez, Ma. Jnana ...............•............... 
Herrera, Francisca ................................. . 
Hernandez, Martina, .............•................... 
Herrera, Jesus Ma ...............................•... 
Herrera, Clemente ................................. . 
Hernandez, Eufemia ............................... . 
Hernandez, Rafael ................................. . 
Hernandez, Olivarez ............................... . 
Hernandez, Francisco ......................... .. .... . 
Hernandez, Ma. Dolores ............................ . 
Jimenrs, 1\-felchora ................................. . 
Jimenes, Jose---. -- ---. -- -. -- - -.. - -. -.-. -- ... -..... -
Loy, Santos ........................................ . 
Longoria, Juana ............................•..•.... 
Losoya, Jesus ...................................... . 
Lopez, Juan N ..................................... . 
Luna, Severo de ............•....................... 
Losoya, Refugio ................................... . 
Lopez, Marcelino ................................... . 
Luna, Maria Juana de .............................. . 
Losoya, Michaela ....••.....•.................... _ .. . 
Lara, Santiago ..................................... . 
Leon, Feliciano de ............. " .................. .. 
Longoria, Maria Rita ............................... . 
Moya, Dolores .............................•........ 
Martinez, Manuel~---··· ..................•......... 
Martinez, Crescenciana ............................. . 
Montee, Antonio ...........................•........ 
Muzquiz, Luis ..................................... . 
Menchaca, Clemeucia .............................. . 
Menchaca, Ma. del Refugio ......................... . 
Martinez, Jose 1\fa ................................. . 
Mesa, Jesus ...................................... . 
Martinez, Pedro .................................... . 
Munoz, Angelita .........•.......................... 
Mesa, Jesus ........................................ . 
Mesa, Maria Yguacia ................................ , 
Moya, Nazario ..................................... . 
Martinez, Maria Ygnacia ............................ , 
Nuncio, Jose Ma ................................... . 
Ortiz, Julian ......... -- . - - . - - - -· - ·- --- · ---- -· · · ·-- · ·· I 
Olvera, Guadalupe ......................... . .. ······ I 
Patino Martinez, Juan Jos6 ............ .............. , 
Patino, r{ on a to ............................ , ........ . 
Prado, Luis .................... . ...............• , .. . 
Perez, Socorro ..................................... . 
Perez, Francisco ............... . ................... . 
Perales, Ramon .................................... . 
Perez, ~fanuel ..................................... . 
Pineda., Jesus ...................................... . 
Patifio, Miguel. ........ . .... .. .................. . .. . 

~:~:~; }!:~~~~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ : ~ ~ ~ : ~ ~ : : ~ ~ ~: :. : ~ ~ _: ~ ~ ~ : ~ ~ : ~: : ~ :: : : 
Perez, Guadalnpo ............... , .................. . 
Perez, Marcelino .................................... 1 

~~1~~: M~~ ~~~-~~~~1~~ .-::: ~: .·:: .- .- :::: : ·:: :::::: :::: : ::: 1 

Amount 
claimed. 

$174,932 00 
!)2,270 00 
83,375 00 

127,210 00 
33,145 00 
41,822 00 
46,350 00 
72,688 00 
44,500 00 
28,655 00 
38,360 00 
38,653 00 
69,965 00 

107,786 00 
42,140 00 
63,105 00 
33,092 00 
43,010 00 
42,642 00 
33,445 00 
57,990 00 
83,750 00 
33,6CO 00 
26,2EO 00 
95,328 00 
52,858 00 

112,190 00 
53,500 00 
41,675 00 
52,259 00 
52,969 00 
51,797 00 
21,312 00 
99,775 00 
73,867 00 
35,389 00 
47,235 00 
S5, 990 00 
37,475 00 
58,645 00 
49,450 00 
24,594 00 
43,808 00 
41,e70 oo 
3fi,846 00 
54,847 00 
41,641 00 
:~1' 371 00 
7S,764 00 
:~2. 525 00 
70,024 75 

111' 225 00 
30,612 00 
81,777 00 
94,045 ()0 
48,675 00 
80,177 00 
73,847 GO 
48,220 00 
47 225 00 .w: 010 00 



CLAIMS OJ<' THE STATI<~ OF TEXAS. 

Index t.o PiedraB Neg-ras· claims-Continued. 

-Genera~ N~ti~e- ~ 
docket docket 
number. number. 

792 
302 
:n3 
318 
~~:~o 
:_~33 

345 
353 
658 
672 
683 
·699 
701 
707 
710 
711 
715 
753 
761 
762 
770 
781 
899 
294 
296 
325 
3:32 
337 
~339 
343 
673 
680 
682 
686 
690 
691 
706 
752 
754 
758 
765 
769 
776 
777 
779 
71:l3 
801 
306 
655 
670 
679 
685 
(\88 
786 
787 
676 
300 
311 
312 
314 
.326 

161 
24i 
253 
258 
270 
273 
285 
293 
303 
317 
79 
94 
96 

102 
105 
106 
110 
122 
130 
131 
139 
150 
171 
234 
236 
265 
272 
277 
289 
283 
308 
76 
78 
82 
86 
H7 

101 
121 
123 
137 
134 
138 
145 
146 
148 
152 
170 
246 
300 
315 
75 
81 
fl4 

155 
156 
321 
240 
251 
252 
254 
266 

Claimant. 

Quintero, Francisco ...........•..................... 
Ramos, Guadalupe ................................ .. 
Ramirez, Simon .................................. .. 
Rodriguez, Manuel. ................................ . 
Reyes, Gabriel de los .................... __ ........ .. 
Rodriguez, Julian, ....................•.••...••..... 
Ramon, Jesus .....•................................. 
Rodriguez, Victoriano .............................. . 
l~odriguez, Rosalia .................................. . 
Rodriguez, Jose Ma ............................... .. 
Ruiz, Maria Juana . . . . . . . . . . . . . ................... . 
Ramirez, Antonio ................................. .. 
Rodriguez Valdes, Manuel. ......................... . 
Ramirez, Arcadio •..•........••..................... 
Rodriguez~ Ramon .........•...........••..•......... 
Rios, Catari no ..••......••.......................... 
Rodriguez, Leonardo .................... -- ........ .. 
R?drig~ez, J a~_i_nto •.......... - ..................... . 
Rws, tlermemJ!ldo ................................ .. 
Robles, Nieves ..................................... . 
Rodriguez, Eleuo .................................. .. 

~f~s~i§~1f~~-~s_a:~~. ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~:: :: :::: :: : ~: ~ : ~ ~ ~:: ::: ~ 
Sandoval, Dimas ................................. .. 
Sandoval, Luis .................................... . 
Salinas, Dolores .............. ·-- . , .................. . 
Sauceda, Antonia ..................•...••........... 
Sanchez, Encarnacion .............................. . 
Sulaica, Francisca ..•. " .....•...........•.••••....•.. 
Sanchez, J oHe Maria ............................... . 
San Miguel, Domingo ............................. .. 
Salinas, Jesus ........................... .......... --

~:~~~~~~, ~~~~~~i-~. ~ ~ ~: : : ~ ~ ~ ~ : ~ ~ ~ :: : :: ~ : ::: : : : : ~ :: ~: :: 
Salinas, Francisco ................................ .. 
Santos, Vicente de los ............................ .. 
Sanchez de Fernandez, An to ...................... .. 
Salinas Guevara, Jesus ............................. . 
Salinas, Facundo ................................... . 
Serda, Vidala de b ............................ c ••••• 

Salazar, Maria de la Lnz .......................... .. 

~~~~~~du~jcf~1~:: ~:: : ~ ~ .·: ~::: ~::: ·: ~: :: ~ ~:::: ~::::::: 
Salinas, Guadalupe .......................... - .••... 
Soto, }<,ran cisco ................................. -.. .. 
Salinas,Ma.Antonio .............................. .. 
Sosa, Maria. Talesforo ............................... . 

~r~:11.~3~l~I~~~~;~ ~ ~ ~: ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~:: ~ ~ ~:: ~ ~ ~:::: ~::::::::: 
Tauns, Pedro ..... .. ........ .. ....................... . 
Tijerina, Juan Jose ............................... .. 
~r~_un_s, Maria_ Delila .. _ ............................ .. 
TJJerma, Mana Anton La .......................... --. 
'l'rejo, .Josefa ...........•............................ 
Urteaga, Antonio .................................. . 
Villareal, Pedro ................................... .. 
Vahtdes, Pedro .................................... .. 
V alades, Estan isla us .............................. .. 
Valades, Silverio ............................. --~ .. .. 
Villareal, Onofre .................................. .. 
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Amount 
claimed. 

$50,280 00 
114,077 00 
55,378 00 
86,243 00 
10,804 00 
73,588 00 
72,401 00 
10,224 00 
53,543 00 
53,657 00 
54,750 00 
89,150 00 
49,138 00 
38,624 00 
65,350 00 
57,15(} 00 
67,065 00 
71,747 00 

10~, 790 00_ 
70,012 00 
52,176 00 
86,617 00 
8,585 00 • 

43,139 00 
54,075 00 
89,775 00 
93, 125 (10 
62,610 00 
67,800 00 
63,886 00 
13;752 00 
63,200 00 
~~9. 660 00 
33,840 00 
83,020 00 
25,793 00· 
50,450 00 
59,373 00 
77,947 00 
56,300 00 
43,861 00 
71,341 00 
48,528 00 
45,264 00 
57,548 00 
70,272 00 
31,302 00 
24,640 00 
58,178 50 
45,416 00 
65,550 00 
57,402 00 
38,300 00 
38,943 00 
53,337 00 
93,080 00 
63,501 00 
93,262 00 
82,871 00 
84,000 00 

113,736 50 
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Index to .Piedras Negras claims-Continued. 

General~ Notice ! 
docket docket 1 

·number.
1

nnmbcr. i 

- ---r- -
(i71 1 :n6 
677 :~~2 
678 I :~~:~ 
()81 77 
t.i07 92 
698 ~);{ 
766 l:{.') 
:ns ~;)5 

Cbima.ut .. 
I 

I 
I 

,., • • • I Vazquez, lnnHlad ....... _____ . _ .................... 
1 

Valdes, Bernardo ............................. .... . : 
Valades, Silverio ...... _ . . . ........................ - 1 

~m~~-~~~~fg~-ei·.-.·. ·.:: ~ ~ ~ ·. ~ ~ ~: ~: ~ ~ ~ ~ :: ~: ::: ~:: ~ ~:::: 1 

Van,Adelaida .................................. ····j 
Valde_s, Nicanor ..................... : . .......... .... . 
Yturnaga, Angel ................................... . 

I 

R:x:iractji·om. llte Jllashinylou. Bepublicttn of Ap1·il Hl, 187:t. 

Amount 
claimed. 

$12,522 00 
~3:3, 619 00 

192,618 00 
54 H02 ·00 
53:640 00 
:~2, 620 00 
66,677 00 
:n, eo2 oo 

THE JOINT CoM.MISI:iiO~ OF THE UNn:En STATES AND Ml~XJCO.-The commissioners 
aunounceu yesterda.y their decision disposing of the class of cases known as the Pieurn.s 
Negras claims, some one hundred and ninety in number, against the United State;,, 
arising out of the sacking of the Mexican town of Piedras Negras by two companies of 
Texas militia in October, 1855. An award of $50,000 is made in favor of the Mexican 
Government, to be by that Government distributed among one hundred and fifty of 
the claimants, as named in a list prepared by the commissioners, or such of them as 
may be found meritorious; while the demands of forty of the claimants, as named by 
the commissioners, are rejected outright. 

Additional evidence being offered, both for the chtimants' and deftmdants' govern­
ments, it was announced by the commissioners that, under the operation of the order 
closing all cases on the 1st of April, they would decline to r6ceive evidence, exeept for 
substantial cause shown in each case, accompanied by satisfactory explanation of the 
delay in offering it. For want of this explanation, they declined to receive the evi­
dence offered in several cases. · 

The large class of cases against the United States known as the "Indian depredation 
c~ases" was submitted to the consideration of the commissioners upon the legal pointR 
involnd. 

0 
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